### H5N1/Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Cambodia:

Evaluating poultry movement and the extent of interaction between poultry and humans



### Maria D. Van Kerkhove

### Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Department of Epidemiology and Public Health Infectious Disease Epidemiology Unit

> University of London 2009

#### LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE



#### Statement of Own Work

All students are required to complete the following declaration when submitting their thesis. A shortened version of the School's definition of Plagiarism and Cheating is as follows (the full definition is given in the Research Degrees Handbook):

The following definition of plagiarism will be used:

Plagiarism is the act of presenting the ideas or discoveries of another as one's own. To copy sentences, phrases or even striking expressions without acknowledgement in a manner which may deceive the reader as to the source is plagiarism. Where such copying or close paraphrase has occurred the mere mention of the source in a biography will not be deemed sufficient acknowledgement; in each instance, it must be referred specifically to its source. Verbatim quotations must be directly acknowledged, either in inverted commas or by indenting. (University of Kent)

Plagiarism may include collusion with another student, or the unacknowledged use of a fellow student's work with or without their knowledge and consent. Similarly, the direct copying by students of their own original writings qualifies as plagiarism if the fact that the work has been or is to be presented elsewhere is not clearly stated.

Cheating is similar to plagiarism, but more serious. Cheating means submitting another student's work, knowledge or ideas, while pretending that they are your own, for formal assessment or evaluation.

Supervisors should be consulted if there are any doubts about what is permissible.

#### Declaration by Candidate

I have read and understood the School's definition of plagiarism and cheating given in the Research Degrees Handbook. I declare that this thesis is my own work, and that I have acknowledged all results and quotations from the published or unpublished work of other people.

Signed:		Date:	2. January 2009
Full name:			(please print clearly)

### Abstract

Since 2003, highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI), subtype H5N1, has spread across the Asian, African and European continents at an exceptional rate. To date, H5N1 remains primarily a pandemic within poultry populations with limited onward transmission to humans. Since there have been a limited number of human cases throughout the world, epidemiologic uncertainties exist regarding the extent of contact necessary to result in successful transmission between infected poultry and humans. In this thesis I undertook two large-scale surveys to evaluate poultry movement and the extent of interaction between humans and poultry to better define the risks of sustained transmission of H5N1 in poultry and onward transmission to humans.

The thesis begins with a review of current knowledge on the epidemiology of HPAI, specifically subtype H5N1, and current options for its control worldwide and specifically within Cambodia. The first half of the thesis presents the methodology and results from a large-scale cross sectional survey of 3,600 rural subjects from 115 villages in six provinces throughout Cambodia. The results from this survey are used to explore animal ownership and husbandry, poultry mortality experienced and poultry mortality reporting, and the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of subjects and how they differ by age and gender.

The second half of the thesis presents results from a second cross-sectional survey of 715 rural villagers, 123 rural, peri-urban and urban market sellers and 139 middlemen from six Provinces and Phnom Penh, which was conducted to evaluate poultry movement and trading practices. The results from this survey are used to construct poultry movement networks using social network analysis techniques, to identify critical points for surveillance and to understand the potential transmission and control of HPAI over this network and to identify a spatial model to predict poultry movements. Finally in the last chapter the key findings are presented and discussed in the context of HPAI transmission in the region.

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	
Table of Contents	4
Acknowledgements	8
List of Tables	9
List of Figures	
List of Appendices	15
Abbreviations	16

Chapte	r 1 Introduction	17
1.1	Research Aims and Objectives of the PhD Thesis	17
1.2	Structure of the PhD Thesis	19
1.3	Role of the Author	19

#### Chapter 2 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI/H5N1) and the Risk of Onward 2.1 2.1.1 2.1.2 2.1.3 H5N1 Detection Methods ......27 2.2 2.2.1 2.2.2 2.2.4 2.2.5 2.3 2.3.1 Modes of Transmission of H5N1 in Human Populations ......46 2.3.2 2.3.3 2.3.4 Review of HPAI/H5N1 in Cambodia Prior to 2006 ......58 2.4 Data on HPAI/H5N1 in Cambodia......59 2.4.12.4.2 2.4.3 2.5

4

Chapter 3 Cross-Sectional Survey of Rural Cambodians: Study Methods and Subject 3.1 Objectives of the Chapter......67 3.1.1 3.2 3.2.1 Questionnaire Development......72 3.2.2 3.2.3 Questionnaire Translation ......77 Recruitment of Staff, Interviewer Training and Questionnaire Piloting ......77 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6 3.2.7 3.2.8 Compensation ......82 3.2.9 Data Entry......82 3.3 Results ......84 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.4 Chapter 4 Results 1 of the Cross-Sectional Survey of Rural Cambodians: Animal Ownership and Husbandry, Poultry Mortality and Understanding of Avian Influenza ...93 4.1 4.1.1 4.2 4.2.1 Poultry Production Systems in Cambodia......95 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.3 4.3.1 Extent of Wild Bird Mixing with Domestic Flocks ......104 4.3.2 Overview of Cambodia's Poultry Sector in Rural Cambodia......104 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 4.4

5.1	Int	roduction	
5.1	.1	Objectives of the Chapter	
5.2	Me	ethods	
5.2	.1	Risk Assessment Framework	117
5.2	.2	Statistical Methods	118
5.3	Re	sults	
5.3	.1	Poultry Handling Behaviours of Adults and Children	120
5.3	.2	Principal Component Analysis of Food Preparation Variables	
5.3	.3	Other Poultry Contacts of Adults and Children	
5.3	.4	Use of Personal Protective Equipment when Handling Poultry	127
5.3	.5	Awareness of Avian Influenza	
5.3	.6	Estimates of Exposure Risk	
5.4	Di	scussion	

#### 

<b>6</b> .1	In	troduction	136
6.	1.1	Objectives of the Chapter	137
6.2	M	ethods and Materials	138
6.2	2.1	Data Collection: Rural Cambodians	138
6.2	2.2	Data Collection: Poultry Traders	139
6.2	2.3	Recruitment of Staff, Interviewer Training and Questionnaire Piloting	145
6.2	2.4	Data Entry and Analyses	146
6.2	2.5	Contact Network Analyses and Interpretation	147
6.2	2.6	Risk-Based HPAI Surveillance Recommendations	149
6.2	2.7	Ethical Considerations	151
6.3	Re	esults	151
6.3	3.1	Subject and Market Characteristics	151
6.3	3.2	Characterizing Poultry Movement	155
6.3	3.3	Seasonality of Poultry Movement	167
6.3	3.4	Potential for HPAI Viral Spread Across the Poultry Networks	168
6.3	3.5	Risk-Based Surveillance Recommendations	170
6.4	Di	scussion	172

7.1 In	troduction	176
7.1.1	Objectives of the Chapter	178
7.2 M	ethods	178
7.2.1	Model Structure	178
7.2.2	Evaluation of Model Fit	
7.2.3	Description of Data	181
7.3 R	esults	184
7.3.1	Model Fitting	
7.3.2	Evaluation of the model fits	192
7.4 D	iscussion	

Chapter	8 Conclusions and Future Work	201
8.1	Key Findings	201
8.1.1	1 HPAI and Poultry Populations	201
8.1.2	2 HPAI Transmission Risks at the Human/Animal Interface	206
8.2	Limitations of the Research	208
8.3	Dissemination of Findings	210
8.4	Future Research	211
8.4.	Persistence of H5N1 in Poultry Populations	211
8.4.2	2 Epidemiologic Data Gaps	213
8.5	Conclusions	216

<b>Appe</b> ndices	
<b>Appe</b> ndices	

## Acknowledgements

I would first like thank my supervisors Azra Ghani from Imperial College London, Punam Mangtani from LSHTM and Javier Guitian from RVC. I am truly indebted to this committee for their constructive suggestions, insightful questions, and overall lively discussions regarding avian flu. Their guidance and support throughout my PhD from the prospective of their various backgrounds have been extremely valuable.

I am very grateful to the Institut Pasteur du Cambodia, particularly Sirenda Vong for hosting me and supervising my field work in Cambodia; Sowath Ly and Sreypech Lim of IPC for facilitating my PhD studies in Cambodia and also their generosity of time and effort when answering my many questions: and to "my interviewer teams" for their hard work, enthusiasm and humour during the data collection.

I am also extremely grateful to Drs. Sorn San, Davun Holl, Vutha Chhim and Nget Kiry from the National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI) for their support and assistance in conducting the field work and to UNICEF and IPC for providing the funding for the studies.

I would especially like to express my appreciation to each of the approximately 4,000 participants who agreed to take part in my studies, particularly the village chiefs, district veterinarians and provincial veterinarians for their generous assistance in my studies.

I am thankful to Tini Garske and James Truscott for answering queries and reading draft chapters of my gravity model analyses; to Jamie Griffin who was very kind to answer questions about STATA; and to Andy Tatem for providing calculated road distances in Cambodia.

I would also like to thank my high school AP Biology teacher, Peter Goodfriend, for his *infectious* nature of teaching science to eager high school minds. He was the first to open my eyes to science and I am forever grateful. I also would like to acknowledge and thank Matthias Borchert from LSHTM for introducing me to Sirenda Vong at IPC.

I am eternally thankful to my friends and family, especially my parents, for their tremendous love and support throughout this PhD and always; and to my grandmother, who passed away during the writing of my thesis; she never missed a chance to ask me how my "book was coming along."

And finally to Neil, your unconditional love, support and patience has enabled me to pursue my interests in infectious disease epidemiology. You are my driving force and without you I would not have been able to do this. Thank you for always believing in me and supporting me, even when we were more than 6,000 miles apart.

### **List of Tables**

### Chapter 2

Table 2-1 Reservoir for HA and NA subtypes	22
Table 2-2 Major outbreaks of HPAI (H5, H7) in poultry	30
Table 2-3 FAO defined poultry production sectors	35
Table 2-4 Summary of experimental studies of vaccine efficacy in chickens	41
Table 2-5 Summary of experimental studies of vaccine efficacy in ducks	42
Table 2-6 Advantages and disadvantages of control options for HPAI in poultry	44
Table 2-7 Human pandemics and epidemics of the last 150 years	45
Table 2-8 Case fatality rate of H5N1 in humans by country as of 30 December 2008	46
Table 2-9 Risk factors for H5N1 infection: summary of published case-control studies	48
Table 2-10 Results of seroprevalence studies to determine the frequency of asymptomatic or         subclinical infection of H5N1 virus.	54
Table 2-11 Summary of existing data on H5N1 in Cambodia in 2006	60
Table 2-12 Summary of existing data on H5N1 in human populations in Cambodia in 2006	62

### Chapter 3

Table 3-1 Baseline population data of study areas	68
Table 3-2 Recruitment of rural Cambodians	72
Table 3-3 Recruited subjects for the cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians	85
Table 3-4 Characteristics of study subjects	87

### Chapter 4

.

Table 4-1 Proposed subcategories within sector 4 poultry production	96
Table 4-2 Animal ownership among households in rural Cambodia (n=600)	99
Table 4-3 Household water source and poultry access	103
Table 4-4 Characteristics of reported poultry morbidity and mortality in Kampong Cham and P Veng, 2007	'rey 105
Table 4-5 Within-flock mortality and poultry mortality reporting in Kampong Cham and Prey V provinces, 2007	'eng 107

### Chapter 5

Table 5-1 Prevalence of practice associated with poultry in rural Cambodian households, main	
sources of potential exposure and weighted transmission risk potential ( $\beta$ )	. 121
Table 5-2 Food preparation practices by age group (n=3,600)	. 123
Table 5-3 Eigenvectors for each principal component	. 124
Table 5-4 Reported use of PPE by subjects caring for poultry (n=1746)	.127

### Chapter 6

Table 6-1 Characteristics of poultry traders recruited1	.54
Table 6-2 Numbers of people responsible for the practices associated with preparing poultry for sa         at markets	le .55
Table 6-3 Locations with the highest in- and out-degree measures in the chicken network1	.64
Table 6-4 Locations with the highest in- and out-degree measures in the duck network	.65
Table 6-5 Number of connections of each node in the networks         1	.66
Table 6-6 Temporal trends in poultry trading by market sellers and middlemen in Cambodia1	.68
Table 6-7 Recommended priorities for active HPAI surveillance in Cambodia	.71

Table 7-1 Summary statistics of poultry movement for 45 <i>i</i> , <i>j</i> pairs	
Table 7-2 Parameter estimates for models fitted to poultry movement and human popula	ation data
Table 7-3 Parameter estimates for model using Euclidean distance	
Table 7-4 Parameter estimates for model using calculated road distances	
Table 7-5 Parameter estimates for model using journey time between I and j	191
Table 7-6 Parameter estimates for models using Euclidean distance, calculated road dista journey time	ance and 192

### **List of Figures**

÷.

### Chapter 2

Figure 2-1 Illustration of the structure of influenza A virus	22
Figure 2-2 Illustration of antigenic shift or genetic reassortment of influenza A viruses	23
Figure 2-3 Countries reporting confirmed H5N1 in (left) domestic and wild birds from 2003 to 3 October 2008 and (right) humans from 2003 to 10 Sept 2008	30
Figure 2-4 Number of poultry outbreaks reported to OIE and FAO	31
Figure 2-5 Major pathways of migratory birds	33
Figure 2-6 Known and suggested pathways to infection from poultry to humans	47
Figure 2-7 Population density in Cambodia	59
Figure 2-8 Locations of confirmed H5N1 outbreaks in poultry and humans	61
Figure 2-9 Culling operations in Cambodia following detection of H5N1 in poultry	64

### Chapter 3

Figure 3-1 Population density in Cambodia6	58
Figure 3-2 Map of Cambodia showing study areas6	59
Figure 3-3 Map of Cambodia showing study districts (grey), the locations of the included villages (blue dots), and locations of the 8 human H5N1 cases	70
Figure 3-4 Sample size calculations7	71
Figure 3-5 Team leader subject tally sheet used during field collection	30
Figure 3-6 Interviews of subjects recruited and included in the first cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians	32
Figure 3-7 Distribution of village populations8	36
Figure 3-8 Age and gender breakdown of study subjects included in the survey (n=3,713)8	38

Figure 4-1 Median chicken and duck flock size by province	99
Figure 4-2 Chicken (a) and duck (b) flock size by province	100
Figure 4-3 Husbandry characteristics used in chicken (left) and duck (right) raising	101
Figure 4-4 Husbandry practices of duck flocks	102
Figure 4-5 Distribution of chicken (a) and (b) duck flock size by how birds are kept	103
Figure 4-6 Poultry mortality vs. mortality reporting by province	106

Figure 4-7 Poultry mortality reporting by province (To whom did you report?)	
Figure 4-8 Poultry mortality reporting (What would encourage/discourage you from reporting question)	<i>ng</i> ? open 108
Figure 4-9 Practices with poultry that died from illness (restricted to subjects that had expendent poultry mortality, n=1,325)	rienced 109
Figure 4-10 Perception of risk in domestic poultry by adults (n=2,398)	110

### Chapter 5

Figure 5-1 Conceptual pathway for transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans via contact with	
poultry11	18
Figure 5-2 Food preparation practices by age group12	22
Figure 5-3 Scree plot of eigenvalue by principal component12	23
Figure 5-4 Practice 1-general food preparation-by age and gender	25
Figure 5-5 Practice 2-slaughtering and removing internal organs-by age and gender	25
Figure 5-6 Source of AI information among adults by province (≥ 16 years old, n=2,400)12	28
Figure 5-7 Source of AI information among children (1-15 years old)	29
Figure 5-8 Beliefs on transmission of AI among adults (Do you think AI can be transmitted by; n=2,398)	30
Figure 5-9 Exposure risk scores by age and gender13	31
Figure 5-10 (a) Exposure Risk Scores by Age and Gender weighting β1, β2, β3=1 and (b) Exposure Ris Scores by Age and Gender weighting β1=20, β2=5, β3=113	sk 32

Figure 6-1 Focus group discussions with Phnom Penh market vet inspectors139
Figure 6-2 Interview of middlemen at inspection point along National Road No. 6
Figure 6-3 Market seller from Poipet (Akak) Market, Banteay Meanchey province, Cambodia143
Figure 6-4 Example of a sketch of poultry movement collected from a study subject
Figure 6-5 Table in middlemen questionnaire to obtain poultry origin data
Figure 6-6 Example of an adjacency matrix148
Figure 6-7 Illustration of an example of a directed network148
Figure 6-8 Examples of (a) a highly centralized network and (b) a network with clear cut points149
Figure 6-9 Example of disease spread across duck network150
Figure 6-10 Markets locations (blue dots) identified in study districts (shaded gray) in Cambodia; the inset identifies market locations in Phnom Penh152

Figure 6-11 Poultry markets in Phnom Penh153
Figure 6-12 Total number of poultry traded each week by distance and the median number of poultry carried on each journey
Figure 6-13 Poultry market chain in Cambodia158
Figure 6-14 Poultry carried via middlemen on trucks (left) and motorbikes (right)
Figure 6-15 Chicken trading network in Cambodia160
Figure 6-16 Duck trading network in Cambodia162
Figure 6-17 Weekly trading of poultry into Phnom Penh markets
Figure 6-18 In-degree and out-degree of the nodes in the chicken network
Figure 6-19 In-degree and out-degree of the nodes in the duck network
Figure 6-20 Core and periphery of the chicken network167
Figure 6-21 Connectedness of the network: a-d) Potential for disease spread across duck network by seeding the outbreak in a) Kampong Cham Market b) Svay Rieng Market c) Ang Roka Market, Takeo Province and d) a semi-commercial farm in Phnom Penh
Figure 6-22 The number of locations potentially infected based on the location of H5N1 identification

Figure 7-1 The probability of movement declines exponentially with distance
Figure 7-2 The probability of movement as a function of distance as given by a power law function 179
Figure 7-3 Human and poultry population size by district, Cambodia
Figure 7-4 Directed network of chicken (above) and duck (below) trading in Cambodia shown on map of human population density
Figure 7-5 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement by distance fitted to a gravity model using human population data and an exponential spatial kernel
Figure 7-6 Cumulative of poultry movement by distance fitted to a model using human population data and a power law spatial kernel
Figure 7-7 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement by Euclidian distance
Figure 7-8 Euclidean distance (km) vs. calculated road distance (km)
Figure 7-9 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement using calculated road distances
Figure 7-10 Euclidean distance (km) vs. Time to travel between <i>i</i> and <i>j</i> (min; left) and Calculated road distance (km) vs. Time to travel between <i>i</i> and <i>j</i> (min; right)
Figure 7-11 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement using distance as a function of time192

Figure 7-12 Fitted spatial kernel parameters plotted for models using Euclidean distance, calculat	ed
road distance and journey time	193
Figure 7-13 Observed vs. predicted poultry flow between $i - j$ using Euclidean distance	. 193
Figure 7-14 Observed vs. predicted poultry flow using a log scale for the model using Euclidean	
distances	. 194

`

### **List of Appendices**

### Appendix A Published Manuscripts as the result of PhD work:

Ly S, **Van Kerkhove MD**, Hull D, Froehlich Y, Vong S. Human and Poultry Interaction, Rural Cambodia. Emerg Infect Dis, 2007;13(1)130-132.

**Van Kerkhove MD**, Ly S, Holl D, Guitian J, Mangtani P, Ghani A, Vong S. Frequency and types of contact with poultry and potential risk of H5N1 transmission to humans in rural Cambodia. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses, 2008; 2:155-163.

**Appendix B** Questionnaires for rural Cambodians:

Village chief, head of household, adult household members and children

- Appendix C Interviewer Training Manual
- Appendix D Consent Forms
- Appendix E Ethics Approval Forms from LSHTM and the Cambodian Ministry of Health
- Appendix F Questionnaires for poultry market sellers and middlemen

### Abbreviations

AI	Avian Influenza			
β	Transmission Risk Weighting Score			
CDC	Communicable Disease Control Department, Ministry of Health			
CFR	Case Fatality Rate			
CP Company	Charoen Pokphand Poultry Company			
DAHP	Department of Animal Health and Production			
DIVA	Differentiating Infected from Vaccinated Animals			
dpi	Days post innoculation			
EIA				
FAO	Eood and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations			
GPS	Global Positioning System			
HA	Hemagalutinin			
HI	Haemagalutination Inhibition			
HPAI	Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza			
	Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza			
	Inging Factogenic Avian Influenza, Subtype H5N1			
	Innuenza A viruses			
	Institute Destaur of Combined			
	Institute Pasteur of Cambodia			
	Interquartile Range			
KAP Ka	Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices			
ng Ka Oham	Kilograms			
Kg Cham	Kampong Cham Province, Cambodia			
kg Speu	Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia			
KM	Kilometre			
LBM	Live bird markets			
LPAI	Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza			
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine			
MAFF	Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Cambodia			
MN	Microneutralization			
MoH	Ministry of Health			
NA	Neuraminidase			
NaVRI	National Veterinary Research Institute, Phnom Penh, Cambodia			
OIE	World Organization for Animal Health			
OR	Odds Ratio			
PCA	Principal Components Analysis			
PC1	Principal Component 1 (Practice Score 1)			
PC2	Principal Component 2 (Practice Score 2)			
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction			
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment			
PPS	Probability Proportion to (Population) Size Methodology			
PV	Prey Veng Province, Cambodia			
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid			
RR	Rate Ratio			
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction			
SNA	Social Network Analysis			
VAHW	Village Animal Health Workers			
VN	Virus Neutralization			
VSF	Vétérinaires Sans Frontières			
UNICEE	United Nations Children's Fund			
US	United States			
	US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention			
	US Health and Human Services			
	World Health Organization			
VVIIU	Tota fount el geneeren			

# **Chapter 1 Introduction**

### **1.1 Research Aims and Objectives of the PhD Thesis**

The overall aim of this thesis is to evaluate poultry movement and the extent of interaction between humans and poultry in Cambodia to better define the risks of sustained transmission of H5N1 in poultry and onward potential transmission to humans.

HPAI/H5N1 outbreaks in poultry populations have far outweighed the number of reported human cases of H5N1 (FAO 2008). Given that exposure to H5N1 infected poultry is believed to be the main route of transmission of H5N1 from poultry-to-humans (Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008) and that a large proportion of the developing world may be living in close proximity to poultry (Epprecht & Robinson 2007; Gilbert et al. 2007), there is substantial risk for further human cases. To date, transmission of H5N1 from poultry-tohumans has been limited; however the extent of interaction between poultry and humans is unknown.

The first aim of my PhD thesis is to identify populations living in rural Cambodia with the highest H5N1 (or other subtypes of avian influenza) exposure potential.

# Research Question 1: What is the frequency and extent of exposure to poultry in the general as well as occupationally exposed populations in Cambodia?

The specific objectives are to:

- Determine the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of rural adult males, adult females and children and how they differ by age and gender;
- Determine the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of poultry traders (i.e., poultry market sellers and middlemen); and
- Use risk assessment methods and the study subjects' patterns of contact with poultry to generate risk indices of potential H5N1 transmission to different populations in contact with poultry.

Additionally, despite their likely role in the circulation and spread of HPAI in South East Asia, little is understood about the poultry market chains, legal or illegal trade of poultry or the types and frequencies of contact that exist between rural people raising poultry, local markets and large-national poultry markets in the major cities. The connectedness of animal networks via poultry can lead to large and widespread epidemics of disease and an understanding of human and animal movement and their contact structures could be used to design more targeted surveillance activities and inform models of disease spread which could result in more cost-effective disease prevention and control (Dent et al. 2008; Green et al. 2008; Kiss et al. 2008; Truscott et al. 2007). Because trade of poultry may be responsible for some transmission of H5N1 within countries (Normile 2005a; WHO 2006-2009), controlling the movement of live poultry and poultry products could contain or reduce the spread of the virus.

The second aim of this thesis is to describe the current movements of poultry throughout Cambodia and determine how these movements influence the potential spread of HPAI at local, regional and national levels.

### Research Question 2: How do current movements of poultry influence the potential spread of HPAI at local, regional and national levels? What are the implications of these movements for control and containment of H5N1 in poultry and/or human populations?

The specific objectives are to:

- Identify poultry selling markets and their trading characteristics in rural Cambodia and Phnom Penh;
- Identify market sellers and middlemen responsible for commercial trade of poultry;
- Characterize poultry trading practices of rural Cambodians, market sellers and middlemen;
- Identify and characterize the poultry (chickens and ducks) selling network in Southern Cambodia;
- Characterize the potential role of networks in HPAI/H5N1 virus circulation using social network analysis methods; and
- Identify a spatial model that can predict poultry movement patterns.

### **1.2 Structure of the PhD Thesis**

Chapter 2 describes the current state of knowledge on the epidemiology of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI), specifically subtype H5N1, with a focus on transmission in wild and domestic bird populations and the zoonotic transmission risk from poultry to humans. The chapter also reviews the importance of animal movement in disease circulation, current options for controlling H5N1 in poultry populations and in context of the PhD thesis presented, the chapter summarizes the occurrence of H5N1 in Cambodia prior to the initiation my field work in 2006. Chapter 3 presents the methodology of a large-scale cross sectional survey of 3,600 rural subjects from 115 villages in six provinces throughout Cambodia. Chapter 4 describes animal ownership and husbandry, poultry mortality experienced and reporting of rural Cambodians, as well as the study subjects understanding of avian influenza. The chapter also explores redefining FAO's poultry sectors in the context of countries with large sector 4 holdings and offers newly defined categories for such countries, which dominate some of Asia and most of Africa.

Chapter 5 describes the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of subjects and how they differ by age and gender. Using risk assessment methods, patterns of contact with poultry were used to generate risk indices of potential H5N1 transmission to different populations in contact with poultry. Chapter 6 presents the results of a second cross-sectional survey of 715 rural villagers, 123 rural, peri-urban and urban market sellers and 139 middlemen from six Provinces and Phnom Penh, which was conducted to evaluate poultry movement and trading practices. This chapter describes the current movements of poultry throughout the study areas and examines how these movements influence the potential spread of HPAI at local, regional and national levels. In addition, the results of this study were used to inform the Cambodia's HPAI strategies. Chapter 7 explores the driving forces that may be behind poultry movement by using gravity model theory and Chapter 8 presents the key findings of the thesis, how the results of the thesis have been disseminated and used by local collaborators and interpretation of results in context of HPAI in the Mekong Delta Region.

#### 1.3 Role of the Author

This PhD work has been developed and carried out by the doctorial candidate and principal investigator (PI), Maria Van Kerkhove, in collaboration with my PhD advisory committee, the Institut Pasteur du Cambodge (IPC; host institution), UNICEF (funding organization)

and the National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI), Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (MAFF; collaborating institution).

All fieldwork for the studies was conducted in Cambodia between April 2006 and December 2007, under the field supervision of Sirenda Vong, MD, Head of Epidemiology Unit, IPC. The field work was led by me with assistance from IPC, Cambodian interviewers, village chiefs and district, provincial and national veterinarians.

All of the results presented in this thesis and manuscripts resulting from the PhD (Appendix A) were written under the supervision of Azra Ghani, Punam Mangtani, Javier Guitian and Sirenda Vong, but are entirely my own work. I received input from Azra Ghani, Tini Garske and James Truscott on the analysis using gravity model theory (Chapter 7).

# Chapter 2 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI/H5N1) and the Risk of Onward Transmission to Humans

Highly pathogenic avian influenza, subtype H5N1(HPAI/H5N1) first crossed the species barrier in 1997 when an outbreak of 18 human cases resulting in six deaths was identified in Hong Kong (Claas et al. 1998; Lee et al. 1999). In late 2003, H5N1 crossed the species barrier a second time infecting a family from Hong Kong that had recently travelled to Fujian Province in China (WHO 2008b). Since 2003, H5N1 has been confirmed in domestic poultry and/or wild birds in 61 countries throughout Asia, Africa and Europe—largely in Vietnam, Thailand and Egypt (OIE 2008e)—and in 391 humans in 15 countries—largely in Indonesia and Vietnam (WHO 2006-2009).

The first half of this Chapter reviews the epidemiology of HPAI in poultry and humans, focusing on H5N1 but drawing on lessons learned from outbreaks of other highly pathogenic strains of avian influenza such as the H7 outbreaks in poultry and humans in the Netherlands and in poultry in Italy. The second half of this Chapter summarizes the situation of HPAI/H5N1 in Cambodia prior to the start of my PhD in early 2006 with some additional updates during the course of my studies.

### 2.1 Influenza A Biology

There are three types of influenza viruses – A, B and C – within the *Influenzavirus* genus and *Orthomyxovirdae* family. Only type A is capable of causing severe infections and pandemics in human populations (Webster et al. 1992), although type B can cause severe morbidity and mortality particularly in children (Jefferson et al. 2008). The central core of influenza A viruses contain eight single-stranded RNA gene segments surrounded by the surface glycoproteins hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) (Figure 2-1) (de Jong et al. 2000; Lee et al. 2006; Oxford 2000). Influenza A viruses are classified into subtypes based on the antigenicity of HA and NA glycoproteins. There are 16 HA and nine NA subtypes. Only three HA (H1, H2, H3) and two NA subtypes (N1, N2) are known to have been widely present in humans (Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001).



Figure 2-1 Illustration of the structure of influenza A virus Source (de Jong et al. 2000)

Influenza A viruses can infect several animal species including birds, pigs, horses, seals, cattle, and whales (Table 2-1). The natural host of all HA and NA subtypes are aquatic birds mainly ducks, gulls and water birds (Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001; Webster et al. 1992; Webster et al. 2006a).

Host	HA Subtypes	NA Subtypes	
Human	H1, H2, H3, H5, H7,	N1, N2, N3, N7	
Pig	H1, H3, H4, H9	N1, N2	
Waterfowl	All 16 subtypes	All 9 subtypes	
Horse	H3, H7	N7, N8	
Seal	H4, H7	N7	
Cattle	H3	N2	
Whale	H3, H13	N2, N9	
Cat, Tiger	H5	N1	

Table 2-1 Reservoir for HA and NA subtypes

The variability of influenza A viruses depends on the evolution of the virus through point mutations (antigenic drift) and genetic reassortment (antigenic shift) (Alexander & Brown 2000; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001). Minor changes in the surface glycoproteins occur from point mutations due to the absence of proofreading mechanisms of RNA molecules as the virus replicates in the host. These point mutations occur often resulting in annual variation in the human influenza strains circulating the globe. It is these changes that require the production of new human seasonal influenza vaccines each year (Jennings & Read 2006).

Humans are naturally protected from avian influenza viruses because we lack certain receptor binding sites ( $\alpha$  2-3 receptors) in our respiratory tracks that are required for infection to occur.

Humans possess  $\alpha$  2-6 receptors, which are susceptible to human influenza viruses (e.g., H1N1, H3N2) but not avian influenza viruses. Pigs are susceptible to both human and avian influenza viruses because they possess receptors for both avian and human influenza viruses ( $\alpha$  2-3 receptors and  $\alpha$  2-6 receptors, respectively), and therefore can serve as an intermediate host (i.e., mixing vessel) (Figure 2-2). Antigenic shift results from the reassortment of two distinct influenza A viruses (e.g., avian and human influenza viruses) within a single host (e.g., pigs) and represents a major change in viral composition. This can result in the formation of novel viruses (Capua & Alexander 2002; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001; Tambyah & Leung 2006).



Figure 2-2 Illustration of antigenic shift or genetic reassortment of influenza A viruses Source: Centers for Disease Control; image courtesy of S. Vong, IPC

### 2.1.1 Clinical Manifestations of H5N1 in Birds

Influenza A viruses occurring in birds are collectively termed avian influenza. Avian influenza strains are categorized as having high (HPAI) or low pathogencity (LPAI) based on the severity of disease and mortality caused in birds. LPAI strains are capable of mutating into HPAI as occurred in the Italian H7N1 outbreak in 1999-2000 (Capua & Alexander 2006; Capua & Marangon 2000; Mannelli et al. 2006).

HPAI/H5N1 has been further categorized into genetic clades. Phylogenetic analysis of the H5 NA genes circulating since 2003 indicate that Clade 1 strains have been circulating in Thailand, Vietnam and Cambodia whereas Clade 2 (and several subclades 2.1-2.3) have been circulating in Indonesia (subclade 2.1), Europe, the Middle East and Africa (subclade 2.2) and China, Japan and South Korea (subclade 2.3) (WHO 2005).

HPAI strains (always of the H5 or H7 subtypes) replicate rapidly in the gastrointestinal tract of birds and can systematically spread and replicate in multiple organs often resulting in rapid death (Capua & Alexander 2006; Mannelli et al. 2006). Chickens (order *Galliformes*) are more susceptible to influenza A viruses than ducks, geese and swans (order *Anseriformes*) and therefore are more likely to be diseased and die from infection (Swayne & Suarez 2000).

Symptoms of HPAI/H5N1 in birds range from asymptomatic, mild disease (anorexia, depression, weight loss) to severe neurological symptoms (e.g., tremors, shaking, lack of coordination, spinning, seizures) and sudden death (Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2007). Severe disease is usually caused by systemic virus replication affecting organs and tissues (Ellis et al. 2004a: Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2004; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005).

Experimental studies, which typically infect animals with high doses of virus, have demonstrated that chickens are almost always susceptible to HPAI/H5N1 infection with 80-100% mortality occurring within 1-5 days post inoculation (dpi) (Saito et al. 2009; Spickler et al. 2008; Tian et al. 2005; Webster et al. 2006b). Experimental evidence has shown that the pathogenicity and mortality of HPAI/H5N1 in ducks has changed since 2002 and varies depending on the infecting strain (Chen et al. 2004; Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2007; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005).

Mortality can occur faster in chickens (within 1-5 days) (Tian et al. 2005; Webster et al. 2006b) than ducks (6-7 days) (Beato et al. 2007; Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Tian et al. 2005). Morbidity and mortality of HPAI/H5N1 infection in ducks also varies by age (Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2007). During an outbreak of HPAI (H5N1) commercial domestic ducks in South Korea in 2003-2004, morbidity and mortality was higher in younger ducks as compared to older animals (Kwon et al. 2005).

Clinical signs are almost always present in chickens infected with HPAI/H5N1 with onset typically from 2-5 dpi until death (Mase et al. 2005; Shortridge et al. 1998; Tian et al. 2005; Tumpey et al. 2002). Tracheal viral shedding and cloacal/faecal viral shedding have been

24

experimentally shown to begin on or before day 2 (1-3) dpi (Bublot et al. 2007; Perkins & Swayne 2001; Swayne & Beck 2005; Tian et al. 2005).

Although the susceptibility of chickens to HPAI/H5N1 almost always leads to clinical symptoms and death, the susceptibility of wild birds and domestic ducks depends on several factors including the circulating strain (Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005) and the age of the ducks. This indicates that the pathogenicity with HPAI/H5N1 in ducks is somewhat inconsistent (Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2007) and may be a factor in the observed differences in geographic distribution of poultry outbreaks.

In experimental studies of ducks, the onset of clinical symptoms occurs 2-10 dpi (Beato et al. 2007: Middleton et al. 2007) and oropharyngeal and cloacal shedding can occur from 2-7 or up to 11-17 dpi (Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Shortridge et al. 1998). The infectious period of ducks is estimated to be 4.3 days (95% CI 3.8-4.8) (van der Goot et al. 2008). Virus titers have been found to be highest 1-3 dpi and reduce to undetectable levels by 13-20 dpi (Hulse-Post et al. 2008). Typically virus shedding is higher in symptomatic ducks. In experimental and in field settings, H5N1 virus has been detected in cloacal, tracheal and blood samples of asymptomatic ducks (Vong et al. 2006).

In wild ducks and waterfowl, H5N1 has been found to replicate in the gastrointestinal tract and can shed the virus for up to 30 days (Claas et al. 1998; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005). Some avian viruses are shed in higher doses in the pharynx than in faeces of wild ducks and mallards (Keawcharoen et al. 2008; Normile 2006; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005). However, many LPAI are shed at higher titres in faeces.

The stability of HPAI/H5N1 in poultry faeces is not well understood. Experimental evidence suggests that H5N1 loses infectivity in chicken faecal manure within 24 hours at 25°C and within 15 minutes at 40°C (Chumpolbanchorn et al. 2006), indicating that the infectiousness of contaminated faecal manure may be shorter in warmer climates. However, another study suggests that H5N1 is viable in faeces for 2 days at 37°C (Shortridge et al. 1998) highlighting that further experimental study is necessary to understand the persistence of H5N1 in the environment under various environmental conditions.

Data on the persistence of HPAI/H5N1 virus in tissues is limited. An experimental study of ducks challenged with HPAI/H5N1 demonstrated that the virus is detectable in breast and thigh tissue at 3-7 dpi, in the liver and intestine at 3-4 dpi and in the lung at 3-6 dpi. An

experimental study of chickens challenged with HPAI/H5N1 found virus detectible in the trachea, lung, bone, breast meat and thigh tissue at 1-5 dpi (Swayne & Beck 2005). These results suggest that systemic infection occurs at a faster rate in chickens than ducks and provides insight on why HPAI appears to be more virulent in chickens.

Since wild ducks, domestic ducks and geese infected with HPAI/H5N1 can be asymptomatic, they may act as silent vectors for transmission and represent a major challenge in controlling the spread of HPAI (Chen et al. 2004; Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Keawcharoen et al. 2008).

### 2.1.2 Clinical Manifestations of HPAI in Humans

The pathogenicity of HPAI/H5N1 and HPAI/H7N7 in humans ranges from undetected asymptomatic or sub-clinical to severe disease resulting in death. Although the CFR of HPAI/H5N1 is high, this may be an overestimate of the true CFR since relatively few seroprevalence studies have been carried out to determine the number of subclinical or asymptomatic cases in countries affected by H5N1 outbreaks in humans, domestic or wild poultry populations.

The incubation period of H5N1 in humans is believed to be less than 7 days (range: 2-9 days) (Areechokchai et al. 2006; Huai et al. 2008; Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008). The first symptoms of H5N1 disease—typical of seasonal influenza (fever, dyspnoea, cough, sore throat) and pneumonia but sometimes including gastrointestinal symptoms (abdominal pain, diarrhoea, or vomiting)—usually appear within 1-4 days after exposure, although they can take up to 8 days to appear. Among severely affected patients, severe respiratory distress syndrome can occur as well as bilateral pneumonia and multiorgan failure (Gambotto et al. 2008; Uyeki 2008; Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008).

The pathogenicity of HPAI/H7N7 in humans following an outbreak in commercial poultry farms in the Netherlands resulted in 89 infected subjects who suffered mostly from mild illness including conjunctivitis (87.6% n=78), influenza like illness (2.2% n=2), or both conjunctivitis and influenza like illness (5.6% n=5). However one subject (1.1%) died of acute respiratory distress syndrome and pneumonia (Fouchier et al. 2004).

### 2.1.3 H5N1 Detection Methods

HPAI/H5N1 infection can be detected through virologic and/or serologic testing methods. Serological tests (e.g., haemagglutination inhibition [HI] test, microneutralisation test, agar gel diffusion [AGID] test, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay [ELISA]) detect antibodies indicating that an individual or bird has been infected in the past but cannot determine when infection occurred and are therefore indirect markers for infection (Katz et al. 1999; Rowe et al. 1999; Suarez & Schultz-Cherry 2000). Virological testing (e.g., rapid antigen detection tests, polymerase chain reaction [PCR] for nucleic acid detection, virus isolation after inoculation into cell cultures or embryonated eggs) assesses the presence of influenza A viruses and allows subsequent identification of specific viral subtypes (Chen et al. 2007).

Typically, suspect specimens are first tested to determine the presence of influenza A viruses or influenza A antibodies. If positive for influenza A virus or M gene detection, specimens undergo further testing to determine the subtype of the infecting strain (e.g., H5N1, H9N2, H3N2. etc). There are various tests that can be used to identify the presence of H5N1 virus. However, some methods are not appropriate for all settings because most techniques require highly trained staff to carry out the tests, and others also require bio-safety level 3 laboratories (BSL-3) because they involve handling live HPAI viruses (e.g., virus isolation, microneutralisation tests) (Peiris et al. 2007).

#### 2.1.3.1 Sample collection

From all suspected H5N1 human cases, guidelines from WHO recommend collecting samples from the upper respiratory tract (e.g., nasopharyngeal and/or throat swabs) and blood samples (for serology and/or nucleic acid detection). If the patient is hospitalized and intubated, samples from the lower respiratory tract (e.g. tracheal aspirates, broncho-alveolar lavage) should be collected (WHO 2006f). For suspected H5N1 in poultry populations, guidelines from OIE recommend collecting oropharyngeal samples and cloacal samples (or fresh faeces) from live birds, and organ tissue (e.g., trachea, lungs, air sacs, intestine, spleen, kidney, brain, liver and heart) from dead birds (Alexander 2008).

Throat or nasopharyngeal swabs from suspect humans and oropharyngeal or cloacal samples from suspect birds should ideally be taken as soon as possible for the detection of H5N1 virus (Alexander 2008; WHO 2006f). Because antibodies require a few days to a week to develop in birds (Suarez & Schultz-Cherry 2000) and sometimes more than 14 days to develop in humans (Katz et al. 1999; Rowe et al. 1999), the timing of serum sample collection for anti-H5N1 antibody detection should be considered as antibodies are not immediately present following infection.

### 2.1.3.2 Detection of influenza A viruses and anti-H5N1 antibodies

<u>Detection in suspect cases</u>: The following procedures can be used to detect H5N1 virus from human and poultry specimens.

Rapid antigen tests are useful tools for influenza A virus screening. For humans specimens, rapid antigen detection using immunofluorescence assay (IFA) or enzyme immunoassay (EIA) methods are used to detect exposure to influenza A viruses (Peiris et al. 2007). AGID tests and ELISA are used to test for exposure to influenza A viruses from poultry specimens (Suarez & Schultz-Cherry 2000). These tests cannot distinguish between subtypes, rather they detect past or current exposure to all subtypes of avian and human influenza A viruses (Chan et al. 2007; Xu et al. 2005).

Several rapid influenza A antigen detection tests are available for field investigations of poultry outbreaks. An evaluation of five commercially available influenza A and H5 specific rapid antigen detection tests used during poultry outbreak investigations in Hong Kong between 2001 and 2003 revealed that the sensitivity of the detection tests (i.e., the proportion of true positives identified correctly) were higher when used on diseased bird specimens than for specimens from birds that appeared healthy. These results demonstrate that rapid antigen detection tests may be more appropriate for quick detection of H5N1 during outbreaks rather than routine surveillance of poultry flocks (Chua et al. 2007).

Furthermore, the clinical sensitivity and specificity of rapid antigen tests vary depending on the species tested (Chen et al. 2008; Peiris et al. 2007) and are poor for the detection of H5N1 in human and animal specimens (Beigel et al. 2005; Kandun et al. 2006; Oner et al. 2006). Therefore further testing is required to confirm the result and to determine the subtype of the virus present in human or poultry specimens.

RT-PCR or virus isolation in chicken embryos are methods used to test for the presence of H5N1 (Alexander 2008; Chan et al. 2007; WHO 2007). Viruses can be cultured using egg inoculation methods in which the allantoic fluid of embryonated fowl eggs are inoculated with specimens and incubated at 35-37°C for several days. Virus culture is typically

considered the gold standard for the detection of H5N1, but these methods are labour intensive and require BSL-3 laboratories (Peiris et al. 2007). RT-PCR can detect viral RNA and can specifically test for the presence of the H5N1 subtype by using specific primers targeting H5 and N1 genes within a few hours, thus this method is used most often to test for the presence of H5N1 (Chen et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2001). The World Health Organization only recognizes positive RT-PCR test results for human samples from WHO Collaborative Centres for Influenza, WHO H5 Reference Laboratories and from some National Influenza Centres (WHO 2008a).

<u>Population Screening</u>: Because immunity to influenza is long-lived, the presence of anti-H5N1 antibodies can be used to indicate that an individual or animal has previously been infected with an influenza virus and thus are useful for population screening. Serological tests for the presence of influenza A antibodies in human specimens include the HI, enzyme immunoassay (EIA), microneutralisation and virus neutralization tests (Katz et al. 1999; Rowe et al. 1999). HI, neuraminidase inhibition (NI) tests, AGID and ELISAs are methods used for the detection of influenza A antibodies in poultry (Shafer et al. 1998; Suarez & Schultz-Cherry 2000; Swayne et al. 1998; Zhou et al. 1998).

Human sera tested using an H5N1 virus specific microneutralisation assays are considered positive for anti-H5N1 neutralizing antibodies when titers are  $\geq$ 1:80 (Katz et al. 1999). For poultry specimens, sera is considered positive for anti-H5N1 antibodies when titers are  $\geq$ 1:16 (OIE 2005b). Human sera that test positive for anti-H5N1 antibodies are then tested using Western Blot techniques or HI tests using horse red blood cells. Sensitivity and specificity is highest when a combination of microneutralisation and Western Blot testing techniques are used (sensitivity 80-88%, specificity 96-100% depending on the age of the patient) (Rowe et al. 1999). The WHO requires a positive test result for both microneutralisation and confirmation with Western Blot or HI to be considered positive for anti-H5 antibodies (Katz et al. 1999; Rowe et al. 1999; WHO 2007).

### 2.2 Epidemiology and Transmission of HPAI/H5N1 in Birds

#### 2.2.1 History of HPAI Pandemics in Birds

All strains of influenza A viruses naturally infect a large variety of wild birds, including wild ducks and waterfowl, but do not usually cause disease (Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001). However, there have been several instances of major outbreaks of HPAI in poultry over the last two and a half decades (Table 2-2) (CIRDAP 2006; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001). HPAI/H5N1 was first detected in Hong Kong in 1997, but since 2003, HPAI/H5N1 has been confirmed in birds in 61 countries in Asia, Africa and Europe (Figure 2-3) (FAO 2008).

Table 2-2 Wajor outbreaks of HPAI (H5, H7) in poultry						
Year	Location	Subtype	Approximate number of poultry culled or dead			
1983	PA, USA	H5N2	17 million (culled)			
1994-2003	Mexico	H5N2	1 billion			
1995-2003	Pakistan	H7N3	3.2 million (dead)			
1997	Hong Kong	H5N1	1.5 million (culled in 3 days)			
1999-2000	Italy	H7N1	16 million birds (culled)			
2003	The Netherlands	H7N7	30 million (killed)			
2004	British Columbia, Canada	H7N3	>19 million (culled)			
2003-present	Asia, Europe, Africa	H5N1	220+ million (culled or dead)			

Table 2-2 Major outbreaks of HPAI (H5, H7) in poultry

Source: (CIRDAP 2006; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001)

### 2.2.2 Expanding Geographic and Host Range of H5N1

Since 2003, the geographic and host range of HPAI/H5N1 has spread. Figure 2-3 illustrates the countries which have reported H5N1 outbreaks in wild and domestic bird populations since 2003.



Figure 2-3 Countries reporting confirmed H5N1 in (left) domestic and wild birds from 2003 to 3 October 2008 and (right) humans from 2003 to 10 Sept 2008 Source: (WHO 2006-2009)

Approximately 6,500 H5N1 poultry outbreaks have been reported thus far, resulting in hundreds of millions of poultry culled (FAO 2008; OIE 2009a). Most outbreaks have been reported in Asia (65.6% of the outbreaks reported), and to a lesser extent in Africa, the

Middle East and Europe (FAO 2008). No outbreaks of H5N1 in domestic or wild birds have been reported in Australia, the Pacific Islands or the Americas.

The numbers of reported outbreaks reported in 2003-2008 among countries with the ten highest numbers of total outbreaks according to the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) are shown in Figure 2-4. This graph also shows the cumulative number of reported outbreaks according to OIE (turquoise bar) and Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (orange bar), which vary significantly from each other making it difficult to fully understand the extent of outbreaks in wild and domestic bird populations. Differences in rates of detection of HPAI/H5N1 between countries may depend on the active and passive HPAI surveillance systems established and whether the focus of the surveillance system in place, if any, is on the commercial or backyard sector of poultry production. It has been suggested that it is more likely that HPAI will be detected in commercial farms as opposed to backyard flocks (Graham et al. 2008).



Note: Only countries that have the ten highest numbers of cumulative outbreaks according to OIE are included in this figure. Also note the higher number of reported outbreaks reported by OIE despite a smaller number of years included in the total Source: (FAO 2008; OIE 2009a)

HPAI/H5N1 was first detected in a goose in Guangdong Province in China in 1996 and spread to Hong Kong in 1997. In late 2003, H5N1 was first detected in a family from Hong Kong that had recently travelled to Fujian Province in China. Within the first six months of 2004, H5N1 was reported among poultry in Korea, Thailand, Vietnam, Cambodia, Laos, Japan, and Indonesia. Between July 2004 and July 2005, H5N1 was repeatedly detected in poultry in Thailand, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Vietnam and Cambodia (WHO 2008b). During this same time period, H5N1 expanded its host range to dogs, palm civits, ferrets, mice, and small and large cats (Webster et al. 2007). Natural infection of HPAI/H5N1 was identified in tigers in a Thailand zoo who were likely infected from being fed contaminated poultry (Thanawongnuwech et al. 2005; WHO 2008b).

Since 2003, widespread outbreaks in domestic ducks in China may have lead to the endemic situation in ducks in many countries throughout South East Asia (Chen et al. 2004; Hulse-Post et al. 2005). Additionally, human cases were often identified before outbreaks in poultry within many countries in Asia. This delayed detection may have also contributed to the endemic or recurrent situation in these countries (Sims 2007).

HPAPH5N1 was first detected in Europe in July 2005 in Russia and in the Middle East in early 2006. Within eight months (July 2005- February 2006), H5N1 spread to domestic or wild poultry in 22 countries/territories including Kazakhstan, Turkey, Mongolia, Romania, Ukraine. the United Kingdom, Iraq, Italy, Slovenia, Kuwait, Bulgaria Croatia, Egypt, France, Germany, Austria. Hungary, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Slovakia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, and the West Bank/Gaza Strip (WHO 2008b).

H5N1 outbreaks in Europe have been more sporadic and to date, have only occurred in animal populations. Early detection in these countries is likely due to sufficient infrastructure and ample preparation time to establish surveillance systems for the early detection of incursion of H5N1 in their countries. Conversely, some countries where H5N1 has been detected have been affected by conflict or war (e.g., Afghanistan, Pakistan, West Bank/Gaza Strip). This has prevented proper HPAI surveillance due to limited financial resources, weak veterinary infrastructure and lack of access to some areas within these countries (Sims 2007). Within the Near East/North Africa region, the greatest number of outbreaks have occurred in Egypt, which has had outbreaks confirmed in poultry populations from almost all administrative regions in the country (MOH 2007).

In sub-Saharan Africa HPAI/H5N1 was first detected in Nigeria (Joannis et al. 2006) possibly transmitted to the country through migratory birds or trade of live day-old chickens (Cecchi et al. 2008; Ducatez et al. 2006)—in January 2006 and has sporadically spread to domestic and/or wild birds in Cameroon, Burkina Faso, Sudan, Cote d'Ivoire, Djibouti, and Benin (WHO 2008b). Only two human cases of H5N1 have been identified throughout the whole of Africa, which occurred in Nigeria in early 2007 and in Djibouti in 2006. Since 2007, no further outbreaks in poultry and/or humans have been reported in Nigeria and no human cases have been reported from any of the above named countries that have reported H5N1 outbreaks in poultry populations.

### 2.2.2.1 A Role for Wild Birds in Geographic Spread?

In 2005, H5N1 outbreaks occurred in wild migratory birds in Qinghai Lake, China (Chen et al. 2005). Because wild birds are believed to be the main reservoir of H5N1 and since all infected birds excrete high concentrations of virus in faeces (Claas et al. 1998; de Jong et al. 2000; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005; Webster 2002), it has been suggested that migratory birds are responsible for transporting HPAI/H5N1 to domesticated poultry in some countries in Asia (e.g., Japan, Republic of Korea (Sims 2007)) and to many countries in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (Figure 2-5) (Chen et al. 2005; Normile 2005a).

This suggestion is highly contested since data on wild bird outbreaks is largely incomplete and often incorrect (Yasue et al. 2006). It also assumes that infected birds are asymptomatic during migration since the impact of the disease on the fitness of the bird would be significant (Webber & Stillanakis 2007). Thus, it is unlikely that infected and symptomatic or asymptomatic, infected and virus-shedding birds are physically capable of carrying the virus over long distances (Webber & Stillanakis 2007).



Figure 2-5 Major pathways of migratory birds Source: (Normile 2005a)

Studies of wild birds and HPAI have largely focused on large scale influenza A (LPAI and HPAI) surveillance programs and have been implemented in various parts of the world including China, Northern Europe, North America, and Africa (Gaidet et al. 2007; Krauss et al. 2007; Parmley et al. 2008). Surveillance activities attempt to understand the viral-host

ecology, geographic dispersion (spatial patterns Figure 2-5), seasonality (temporal patterns) and host range of influenza A virus strains (Munster et al. 2007). Studies have included the sampling of tens of thousands of wild birds and have identified several previously unknown hosts for influenza A viruses (Munster et al. 2007) indicating that the natural host range of influenza A viruses has been expanding. Surveillance studies have suggested that wild migratory birds may have been responsible for the introduction of HPAI/H5N1 into western Europe (Bragstad et al. 2007; Starick et al. 2008) and Africa (Cecchi et al. 2008), demonstrating that wild birds may have had a role transmitting H5N1 between continents.

### 2.2.4 Animal-to-Animal Transmission of H5N1

Animal-to-animal transmission of H5N1 can be direct via the faecal-oral route (OIE 2008a) or indirect through contaminated feed, clothing, and equipment (fomites) (FAO 2005). Live markets may also be an important reservoir for H5N1 (Woo et al. 2006), as seen in H5N1 outbreaks in Vietnam, Thailand and Hong Kong (Amonsin et al. 2008; Kung et al. 2003a; Kung et al. 2007; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006) (discussed later).

Movements of domestic poultry may also play a substantial role in viral spread. A study of the spatial distribution of HPAI outbreaks in Thailand showed a strong relationship between free-grazing ducks in rice fields and viral spread (Gilbert et al. 2006). Large bodies of water such as lakes that serve as resting places for wild aquatic birds may also play a role in transmission (Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001) because all birds shed virus in faeces (de Jong et al. 2000; Sturm-Ramirez et al. 2005; Webster 2002). Experimental evidence has suggested that influenza A viruses are detectible in water and wet faeces for up to 6 days at 37°C (Brown et al. 2007b) and H5N1 can survive in carcasses for several days at room temperature and longer in cooler (+4°C) temperatures (OIE 2008a; WHO 2006-2009).

It is also possible that trade of commercial and domestic poultry and poultry products, often occurring across long distances is responsible for transmission between and within countries (Chen et al. 2005; Normile 2005a; Sims 2007; WHO 2006-2009). Transmission is also likely to be occurring between wild and domestic bird populations in both directions (Normile 2006).

### 2.2.5 Current Options for Controlling H5N1 in Poultry Populations

Control methods for HPAI/H5N1 in poultry focus on reducing between-flock and poultry-tohuman transmission and include increasing biosecurity measures, restricting poultry movement, culling or stamping out infected and/or susceptible flocks, and prophylactic or emergency vaccination of at-risk poultry.

Before discussing each of these control options, it is important to describe how FAO categorizes the poultry production systems. FAO has classified poultry production into four sectors (Table 2-3) in which Sector 1 is described as the poultry production system for "industrial integrated" production system; Sectors 2 and 3 describe "commercial poultry production system" with decreasing levels of biosecurity, respectively; and Sector 4 describes "village or backyard poultry production" (FAO 2006).

Poultry Production System	Industrial and integrated production	Commercial pou	Village or backyard production	
Sectors	Sector 1	Sector 2	Sector 3	Sector 4
Biosecurity	High	Mod-High	Low	Low
Market outputs	Export and urban	Urban/rural	Live urban/rural	Rural/urban
Dependence on market for inputs	High	High	High	Low
Dependence on goods roads	High	High	High	Low
Location	Near capital and major cities	Near capital and major cities	Smaller towns and rural areas	Everywhere. Dominates in remote areas
Birds kept	Indoors	Indoors	Indoors/Part-time outdoors	Out most of the day
Shed	Closed	Closed	Closed/Open	Open
Contact with other chicken	None	None	Yes	Yes
Contact with ducks	None	None	Yes	Yes
Contact with other domestic birds	None	None	Yes	Yes
Contact with wildlife	None	None	Yes	Yes
Veterinary service	Own Veterinarian	Pays for veterinary service	Pays for veterinary service	Irregular, depends on govt vet service
Source of medicine and vaccine	Market	Market	Market	Government and market
Source of technical information	Company and associates	Sellers of inputs	Sellers of inputs	Government extension service
Breed of poultry	Commercial	Commercial	Commercial	Native
Food security of owner	High	Ok	Ok	From ok to bad

#### Table 2-3 FAO defined poultry production sectors

Adapted from (FAO 2006): The values describing each criteria have not been modified.

HPAI/H5N1 has been detected primarily among Sector 4 poultry holdings in Asia and Africa (e.g., (Gilbert et al. 2006; OIE 2006b; Tiensin et al. 2007; Vong et al. 2006), but has affected commercial poultry farms in many countries (De Benedictis et al. 2007; Kwon et al. 2005; Mase et al. 2005; Team 2007a; Team 2007b). The options for controlling HPAI will depend on the poultry production system since the husbandry practices vary between production sectors.

### 2.2.5.1 Enhancing biosecurity measures

Biosecurity includes three major components: isolation, traffic control and sanitation (WHO 2006e). The use of biosecurity in poultry rearing according to FAO varies from high (closed, controlled heating and cooling system), to medium (open system, netting to prevent entrance of outside birds), to low (fences around poultry areas, poultry roam free in specified areas) to nonexistent (free ranging animals) (FAO 2006). In many resource-poor countries where the virus is or may be endemic. little or no biosecurity is employed in poultry farming (Desvaux et al. 2006; VSF 2004).

Improving biosecurity by restricting domestic and wild bird mixing, separating poultry areas from other domestic animal areas and separating poultry and human areas greatly reduces the likelihood of transmission between animals (FAO 2005; Kung et al. 2007). Also, practicing an "all in/all out" production system, which does not allow the introduction of new birds into the flock, and minimizing the number of people entering the farm or the amount of equipment shared between farms, reduces the potential of the virus from entering the farm either through infected animals or fomites (Meroz & Samberg 1995). Restricting poultry movement by fencing or caging animals is often difficult to implement in resource limited areas with free-ranging or organic farming because many farmers rely on animals to forage for their own food. It is also difficult to restrict poultry movement in international border areas because they are often open and uncontrolled.

### 2.2.5.2 Stamping out of infected and at-risk poultry

Mass culling has largely been successful at curbing transmission among commercial poultry in previous HPAI outbreaks in the Netherlands (H7N7) (Koopmans et al. 2004; Stegeman et al. 2004), Italy (H7N1) and Hong Kong (H5N1) (Capua & Marangon 2000; Capua et al. 2002; Ellis et al. 2004a; Mannelli et al. 2006). However, the economic costs associated with the loss of production and reduced livelihood are high (MOH 2007; Smith 2005).
Culling often focuses on the infected flock and uninfected, susceptible flocks (preemptive culling) located within a specific radius (usually between one or three km) around the infected farm (ring culling) or a larger area (e.g., all poultry in Hong Kong) (Rennie 2001). One modelling exercise suggested that immediate culling of infected flocks has greater efficacy in controlling viral spread than culling surrounding flocks (Le Menach et al. 2006). Another modelling exercise suggested that localized culling may have a limited impact on controlling viral spread and should include a larger radius around the infected premises (Truscott et al. 2007).

## 2.2.5.3 Controlling poultry movement

The economic forces driving the trade of animals and animal products have been shown to lead to wide spread and often uncontrolled/illegal movement of animals over large distances, particularly in regions of the world where movement is not regulated (Sims 2007). Nonregulated regions make movement exceedingly difficult to control. The movement of animals has played a key role in disease transmission for other animal disease outbreaks including the 2001 Foot and Mouth Disease (FMD) epidemics in the United Kingdom (Chis Ster & Ferguson 2007; Ferguson et al. 2001; Kao et al. 2006; Ortiz-Pelaez et al. 2006) and HPAI (H7N7) outbreaks in the Netherlands (Boender et al. 2007; Stegeman et al. 2004).

The connectedness of animal networks can lead to large and widespread epidemics of disease and an understanding of human and animal movement and their contact structures can be used to design more targeted surveillance activities and inform models of disease spread which could result in more cost-effective disease prevention and control (Colizza V et al. 2007; Dent et al. 2008; Green et al. 2008; Kiss et al. 2008; Truscott et al. 2007). For example, during the FMD outbreak in the UK, the movements of livestock facilitated the long-distance spread of the disease within a few months resulting in over 8.5 million animals slaughtered (Anderson 2002). The rapid analyses of livestock movements lead to the prompt implementation of control measures including restricting livestock movement that aided the control of the epidemic (Chis Ster & Ferguson 2007; Ferguson et al. 2001; Kao et al. 2006; Ortiz-Pelaez et al. 2006).

Poultry movement restrictions have been used within Europe, Asia and Africa following the detection of H5N1 (EU 2006; OIE 2006a; OIE 2009a). For example in England, following the detection of H5N1 in poultry in 2007, in addition to other outbreak control methods, a

three km "protection zone" was put in place around the location of the outbreak indicating that all poultry within the protection zone must be tested and kept indoors. In addition a ten km "surveillance zone" was put in place around the location of the outbreak prohibiting the movement of poultry to and from the area, restricted live bird markets in this zone, and placing footpath restrictions on free-range poultry farms within the zone (EU 2006). Upon detection of H5N1, other countries including Nigeria and Hong Kong restricted poultry movement outside their own country Kong (OIE 2006a; OIE 2008c). Local movement restrictions are also common. For example, a temporary restriction of poultry trade outside the province was implemented following the most recent H5N1 outbreak in Cambodia (pers. comm. NaVRI).

Despite their likely role in the circulation and spread of HPAI in South East Asia, little is understood about the poultry market chains, legal or illegal trade of poultry or the types and frequencies of contact that exist between rural people raising poultry, local markets and largenational poultry markets in the major cities. Because trade of poultry may be responsible for some transmission of H5N1 within countries (Chen et al. 2005; Normile 2005a; WHO 2006-2009), controlling the movement of live poultry and poultry products could contain or reduce the spread of the virus. However, it is virtually impossible to restrict all illegal cross-border movement of poultry between countries with large and uncontrolled land borders (Sims 2007).

## 2.2.5.4 Live bird markets

Live bird markets (LBM) are common in Asian countries because of a cultural preference to consume freshly slaughtered meat (Webster 2004; Woo et al. 2006). The dense concentration of live birds and a high turn-over rate of birds (i.e., hosts) in these markets provide ample conditions for virus amplification (Webster 2004) and may be an important reservoir for HPAI or "hub" for circulation (Senne et al. 1992). Additionally, LBM are an ideal environment for transmission of avian influenza viruses from poultry-to-humans since they are frequented by large numbers of people (Woo et al. 2006).

It is unclear what role LBM has played in the circulation of HPAI/H5N1 in many Asian countries where LBM are prevalent. The close contact with live animals at such markets has been identified as a risk factor for SARS (Guan et al. 2003) and HPAI/H5N1 (Mounts et al. 1999). It has been demonstrated from investigations of past and current outbreaks and from HPAI surveillance programs in Vietnam, Thailand, Cambodia, China and Hong Kong, that HPAI/H5N1 is circulating in the LBM (Amonsin et al. 2008; Guan et al. 2002; Kung et al. 2003a; Kung et al. 2007; MAFF Unpublished Data; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006). It can also be assumed that HPAI/H5N1 may be circulating undetected in the markets of many other countries.

The movement of poultry through LBM has been shown to be an important factor in the circulation and spread of HPAI (Kung et al. 2007; Sims et al. 2003). In early 2002 in Hong Kong, an investigation into an outbreak first identified in LBM led to the discovery of the virus on rural farms that had sold chickens to the LBM (Sims et al. 2003). Further work determined that the contact between the retail market and chicken farms via humans was a significant risk factor for infection among chicken farms (Kung et al. 2007).

Control of avian influenza viruses within LBM focuses on implementing rest days, in which poultry stalls are emptied, cleaned and restocked. These efforts, which have been implemented in Hong Kong, have shown to reduce transmission of HPAI (H9N2) and other viruses among birds in LBM (Kung et al. 2003a).

## 2.2.5.5 Vaccination in poultry

There are several vaccines that have been used or are being developed to "prevent, manage or eradicate avian influenza." The two most common vaccines used are oil-based emulsion inactivated whole low- or high-pathogenic virus vaccines and recombinant fowlpox virus-vector vaccines. Other vaccines include those based on reverse genetics or recombinant poultry vaccines made with HPAI and Newcastle diseases viruses (Swayne 2006; Swayne & Suarez 2007). When used correctly, vaccines have been shown to reduce infection rates, reduce morbidity and mortality rates, reduce viral shedding of the virus, and increase resistance to avian influenza virus infection by stimulating an immune response to the HA protein (Beato et al. 2007; Ellis et al. 2004b; Kim et al. 2008; Middleton et al. 2007; Peyre et al. 2009; Qiao et al.; Swayne 2006; Swayne et al. 2006; Swayne 2008; Tian et al. 2005; van der Goot et al. 2008; Webster et al. 2006b). Effective protection is conferred by the production of neutralizing antibodies of the NA protein and reached when clinical signs of disease are absent and mortality is prevented (Swayne 2008).

Vaccination can be implemented prophylactically, which could result in protective immunity in a susceptible population (usually applied in endemic situations), as a preventative measure for at-risk poultry, or as an emergency (reactive) measure during times of outbreaks or in areas where widespread vaccination is impractical (Capua & Marangon 2006a; Capua & Marangon 2006b; EC 2006). Emergency vaccination, in which only high risk poultry are vaccinated, is used in combination with culling of infected and suspected poultry. The DIVA (Differentiating Infected from Vaccinated Animals) strategy uses sentinel birds (e.g., non-vaccinated) to monitor viral activity within the flock by placing unvaccinated sentinel birds on the same premises of vaccinated flocks to differentiate naturally infected from vaccinated birds (Capua & Marangon 2006a; Capua et al. 2003; EC 2006).

A number of experimental studies have been conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of HPAI vaccination in individual birds (Ellis et al. 2004b; Kim et al. 2008; Swayne et al. 2006; Tian et al. 2005; Webster et al. 2006b). Experimental studies have evaluated the protection provided by vaccines by challenging vaccinated birds with H5N1 and evaluating clinical signs, mortality, antibody response and viral shedding. These have demonstrated that clinical signs, mortality, and viral shedding are all reduced in vaccinated birds (Table 2-4 and Table 2-5) (Ellis et al. 2004b; Kim et al. 2008; Peyre et al. 2009; Swayne et al. 2006; Swayne 2008; Tian et al. 2005; Webster et al. 2006b).

Study	Vaccine type/ Challenge Strain	Study type (experimental or field)	Mortality	Morbidity	Viral Shedding	Antibody Response
Ellis et al 2004	Single dose killed inactivated H5N2 virus / H5N1 Hong Kong	Outbreak response in Hong Kong	Reduction at 9-18 dpv and mortality ceased at 18+ dpv	no evidence of clinical disease in vaccinated chickens		81.7% of chickens had H5 antibody titer≥16 by 22 dpv
Webster et al 2006	Single dose reverse genetics- derived vaccine containing HA- H5 and NA-H3 virus/ H5N1 Vietnam	Experimental	no mortality at 3, 5, 7, 10, 14 dpc	no clinical signs following vaccination	Tracheal shedding : 2/75 at 3 and 5 pdc; 0/75 at 10, 14 dpc Cloacal shedding (chickens): no shedding at 3,5,7,10, 14 dpc	100% had H5 antibody titer≥16 at 21 dpv
Tian et al 2005	H5N1 inactivated vaccine/ H5N1 China	Experimental	no mortality at 2,3, 43 dpv	no disease signs at 2,3,43 wpc	3/40 had low doses of oropharyngeal shedding 3 dpc no cloacal shedding at 3,5,7 dpc	-
Swayne et al 2006	H5N2 inactivated vaccine / H5N1 Indonesia	Experimental	90% protection from mortality	90-100% protection from clinical signs	Cloacal shedding present in 6/20 at 2 dpc oropharyngeal shedding in 11/20 at 2 dpc	100% had H5 antibody titer≥10 at 21 dpv
Qiao et al 2009	Recombinant fowlpox virus vector-based vaccine/ H5N1 China	Experimental	100% protection from mortality		no viral shedding in vaccinated birds at 4 dpc when challenged at 1, 2 and 40 wpv	Hi antibody titer >6.3 at 3 wpv

-- Not reported dpv = days post vaccination; wpv = weeks post vaccination dpc = days post challenge; wpc = weeks post challenge

Study	Vaccine type/ Challenge Strain	Study type (experimental or field)	Mortality	Morbidity	Viral Shedding	Antibody Response
Kim et al 2008	1 μg of HA protein in a single dose of inactivated oil emulsion whole-virus H5 influenza vaccines (3 different vaccines) / H5N1 Laos	Experimental	no mortality in vaccinated ducks; 90% of controls died	no disease signs in any of the vaccinated ducks	no viral shedding in vaccinated birds at 3, 5, 7 or 10 dpc	100% of ducks given 2 of the vaccines and 40% given the 3rd vaccine had H5 antibody titer≥16 at 3 weeks p.v.
Beato et al., 2006	2 dose whole virus inactivated oil emulsion vaccine (H5N2 Potsdam)/ H5N1 Vietnam	Experimental	no mortality in vaccinated ducks	no disease signs in any of the vaccinated ducks	low levels of viral shedding at days 3, 5, 10 days post infection no viral shedding after 21 dpv	HI titers were significantly higher after second vaccination and detectible until day 135 of life
Middleton et al 2007	H5N3 reassortant virus vaccine and bivalent (H5N9 [Italy]+H7N1) vaccine/ H5N1 Vietnam	Experimental	no mortality at 6 wpv	no disease signs in any of the vaccinated ducks	no virus shedding at 5 and 7 dpc	no antibody response to challenge virus
Tian et al 2005	H5N1 inactivated vaccine/ H5N1 China	Experimental	no mortality at 3 wpv	no disease signs in any of the vaccinated ducks	no orophayngeal or cloacal shedding at 3,5,7 dpc	
Webster et al 2006	Single dose reverse genetics-derived vaccine containing HA-H5 and NA-H3 virus /H5N1 Vietnam	Experimental	no mortality at 3, 5, 7, 10, 14 dpc	no disease signs in any of the vaccinated ducks pc	no tracheal shedding at 3,5,10,17 dpc no cloacal shedding at 3,5,7,10, 14 dpc	100% of vaccinated chickens and ducks had H5 antibody titer≥16 at 21 dpv; titers rise after re- vaccination
van der Goot et al., 2008	Single or double vaccination with Inactivated oil emulsion vaccine based on Mexico H5N2 / H5N1 China	Experimental	Mortality was reduced in vaccinated ducks	90% protection from clinical signs 7 dpv; 80% protection from clinical symptoms at 14 dpv	Tracheal shedding reduced after 7 dpv	HI titers with H5 antigen detectible in 2/20 ducks 7 dpc; in 3/20 ducks 14 dpc

## Table 2-5 Summary of experimental studies of vaccine efficacy in ducks

-- Not reported

dpv = days post vaccination; wpv = weeks post vaccination dpc = days post challenge; wpc = weeks post challenge

Vaccines against HPAI/H5N1 have been implemented in control programs in several countries including Hong Kong, Vietnam, Indonesia, China, India, Russia, Egypt, and Pakistan (Peyre et al. 2009; Swayne 2008). However, vaccine coverage and evaluation of vaccination effectiveness at the flock level is more difficult to conduct and there have been few studies published on the subject (Peyre et al. 2009). Vaccination is difficult to implement, especially in low-resource settings because currently available vaccines are administered by needle injection, often requiring multiple doses and commonly involving the direct handling of infected poultry. An ideal vaccine, which does not yet exist, would be a single dose vaccine given orally that is efficient for a number species and does not require refrigeration, especially relevant for developing countries with limited resources (Peyre et al. 2009).

In poultry, poorly implemented vaccination can mask the disease by reducing symptoms but not viral shedding, thus allowing the virus to circulate undetected and increasing the risk of antigenic shift (Tian et al. 2005). Vaccination coverage in Indonesia, for example, has not been universally applied throughout the country but implemented to strategically cover high risk regions of the country because of budgetary constraints and a limited vaccine supply. Although the vaccines available have been reported to be of "good quality," they have not been "fully protective against some of the circulating strains in the country" (Siregar & Darminto 2008). Similarly, vaccine coverage in Vietnam has been incomplete and studies of vaccinated flocks suggest that protection is lower in southern areas of the country and that overall protection ranges from 28-55% (Nguyen 2008).

It is recommended that vaccination be used in conjunction with other HPAI control methods, including increased surveillance and detection (including both serologic and virologic testing), education for the public, culling of at risk poultry and enhanced biosecurity measures (Capua & Alexander 2006; Capua & Marangon 2006a; Capua & Marangon 2006b; EC 2006; Fasina et al. 2007; Guan et al. 2007; Peyre et al. 2009; Swayne 2006). Countries that have implemented a combination of control measures, including vaccination, restricting poultry movement, and culling of infected and susceptible poultry have been successful in controlling outbreaks of HPAI (Brown et al. 2007a; Ellis et al. 2004a; Henning et al. 2009; Tiensin et al. 2005), However, the results of these control measures are temporary as outbreaks continue to be reported (OIE 2009a). For example, in conjunction with other control measures, Vietnam introduced mass vaccination of over 100 million poultry in 2005 and experienced approximately one year without any outbreaks, However, in December 2006, several

outbreaks were reported and subsequently these have continued to be reported throughout 2007-2008, among unvaccinated flocks (ducks and geese) (Henning et al. 2009; Peyre et al. 2009).

As with any control strategy, there are advantages and disadvantages to vaccination. Table 2-6 outlines the major advantages and disadvantages for current control options for HPAI in poultry.

Control Methods	Advantages	Disadvantages
Increased biosecurity	Easy to implement in moderate, high income countries	<ul> <li>Difficult in settings with limited resources</li> <li>Difficult in settings with free-ranging farms</li> <li>Cost burden on farmer</li> </ul>
Restricting movement	Effective in industrialised poultry settings	<ul> <li>Difficult to implement and monitor in limited resource settings</li> </ul>
Culling	Fast, easy to implement	<ul> <li>Cost burden on farmer; compensation not always provided</li> </ul>
_		Loss of potentially healthy flocks
Vaccination	Decreased mortality	Difficult to implement
	Decreased viral shedding	<ul> <li>Often requires multiple doses of vaccination</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Time required for vaccine to become effective (e.g., 3 weeks)</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>May "mask" presence of disease in flocks; difficult to identify infection</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Differences in immune response by species</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Vaccine strain must be appropriate</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Inappropriate/incomplete vaccination will not reduce viral shedding</li> </ul>
		Possible economic repercussions on farmers

Table 2-6 Advantages and disadvantages of control options for HPAI in poultry

# 2.3 Epidemiology and Transmission of HPAI/H5N1 in Humans

## 2.3.1 History of Influenza A Pandemics in Humans

New human pandemics arise when a novel NA subtype emerges amongst a susceptible human population with the ability for effective and sustained human-to-human transmission (Peiris et al. 2007). Table 2-7 below summarises the human pandemics of influenza A viruses over the last 150 years. The pandemic of 1918-1919 (H1N1) was particularly lethal in young, otherwise healthy adults, killing an estimated 40-50 million people worldwide (Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001; Hsieh et al. 2006; Kilbourne 2006; Webster et al. 1992). Genetic analyses of specimens collected from victims preserved in the arctic suggests that the strain was a novel avian-like virus that adapted to humans (Taubenberger et al. 2005). The Asian Influenza Pandemic (H2N2) in 1957 and Hong Kong Influenza Pandemic (H3N2) in 1968 were less lethal and resulted from avian-human reassortment (Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001; Hsieh et al. 2006).

Year	Country of Origin	Serotype	Estimated Total Global Mortality (human)	Source/Emergence				
1889	Europe? China?	H2N2	1-6 million	Unknown				
1898	Europe	H3N2	500,000	Unknown				
1917-1 <b>9</b> 19	Europe? US?	H1N1	40 million	Novel avian-like virus				
1957	Asia (China)	H2N2	6 million	Avian/Human reassortment				
1968	Asia (China)	H3N2	2 million	Avian/Human reassortment				

Table 2-7 Human	pandemics	and	epidemics	of t	the	last	150 y	years

Source: (Gross 1996; Kilbourne 2006; Oxford 2000; WHO 2006-2009)

Since 1977 two subtypes (H1N1 and H3N2) have been circulating in humans worldwide. The isolation of H5N1 from a 3-year-old boy in Hong Kong in 1997 was the first occurrence of this novel strain in humans and signalled the emergence of a potentially new pandemic strain of avian influenza (Claas et al. 1998). H5N1 in Hong Kong in humans in 1997 did not emerge from reassortment; all of the genes found in this viral strain originated from an avian virus (Claas et al. 1998; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001).

As of 30 December 2008, HPAI/H5N1 has infected 387 individuals in 15 countries (WHO 2006-2009). The number of cases is not evenly distributed throughout the world. By far, the largest number of human cases reported has been from Indonesia and Vietnam each having reported more than 100 cases (Table 2-8). No human cases have yet been reported in Western Europe or the Americas.

Table 2-8 reports the number of cases and fatalities in each country affected by H5N1 in humans, the clade or subclade that is circulating in the country and the median age and gender (% male) of the cases (WHO 2009b; Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008). The overall case fatality rate (CFR) is 63.1% (median 62.5% IQR: 33.3-74.6) and varies by country (WHO 2009b).

Country	Total		Case Fatality Clade or		Median age of	% Male
country	Cases	Deaths	Rate (CFR) %	Subclade	cases (range)	n/ total (%)
Azerbaijan	8	5	62.5	2.2		
Turkey	12	4	33.3	2.2	16.5-10 (5-20) ++	9/16 (56) ++
Bangladesh	1	0	0	2.2	16 mo ()	1/1 (100)
China	30	20	66.7	2.3	30 (12-41) <sup>‡</sup>	3/8 (38) <sup>‡</sup>
Djibouti	1	0	0	2.2	2 ()	0/1 (0)
Egypt	50	22	44.0	2.2	12.5 (1-75) <sup>α</sup>	12/38 (32) <sup>α</sup>
Indonesia	137	112	81.8	2.1	18.5 (1.5-45) <sup>‡</sup>	33/54 (61) <sup>‡</sup>
Iraq	3	2	66.7	2.2	15 (3-39)	2/3 (66.7)
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2	2	100	2.3	28.5 (15-42)	0/2 (0)
Myanmar	1	0	0	NR	7 ()	0/1 (0)
Nigeria	1	1	100	2.2	22 ()	0/1 (0)
Pakistan	3	1	33.3	NR	25 (22-27)	3/3 (100)
Cambodia	7	7	100	1		
Thailand	25	17	68.0	1	14-22 (2-58) <sup>†</sup>	19/41 (46) <sup>†</sup>
Vietnam	106	52	49.1	1		
Cambodia <sup>tt</sup>	8	7	85.7	1	16(3-28)	3/8 (37.5) ††
Total	387	245	63.1			

Table 2-8 Case fatality rate of H5N1 in humans by country as of 30 December 2008

Adapted from (Biswas et al. 2008; WER 2008; WHO 2006-2009; Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008)

†Data from 2004-2005 cases only

Data from 2005-20006 cases only

<sup>a</sup> Data from 2006-2007 cases only

<sup>‡‡</sup>Data from 2006 cases only

<sup>++</sup> Data from all cases (n=8)

NR= Not released

#### 2.3.2 Modes of Transmission of H5N1 in Human Populations

The investigations of human H5N1 outbreaks in the field—usually in rural locations of developing countries—are difficult to conduct and have often involved collection of only basic information about exposures. Thus data on exposure are typically limited to "recent contact with infected poultry" (WHO 2004) or the preparation of sick birds for consumption (WHO 2006d). The specific mode of transmission from exposure to infected poultry remains unknown and the lack of exposure information has limited our ability to evaluate risk factors for infection. In addition, the lack of large-scale seroprevalence studies in areas where H5N1 is recurrent has limited our understanding of the extent of infection in these countries.

Bird and Farrar have proposed a data collection form that details the minimum amount of information that should be collected from suspected human H5N1 cases, and which includes questions on direct and indirect contact with poultry and the timings of such contact (Bird & Farrar 2008). However, this questionnaire covers only general exposure information (e.g., handling sick or dead poultry, handling faeces or fertiliser from sick or dead poultry, slaughtering poultry) and does not include any potential transmission via the environment (e.g., contaminated water).

An illustration of known pathways of poultry-to-human infection of HPAI, particularly subtype H5N1. is shown in Figure 2-6. Transmission of H5N1 can occur via direct or indirect contact with an infected bird. Direct routes include contact with infected blood or bodily fluids via food preparation practices (Greiner et al. 2007) (e.g., slaughtering, boiling, defeathering, cutting meat, cleaning meat, removing and/or cleaning internal organs of poultry); ingesting undercooked or uncooked poultry products (e.g., eggs, meat, blood); through the care of poultry (either commercially or domestically); cleaning poultry cages or their designated areas; or using poultry faeces for fertilizer. Little is understood about H5N1 transmission via indirect routes, though recent studies have suggested an association between exposure to a contaminated environment (e.g., water) either through ingestion, conjuctival or intranasal inoculation of contaminated water (de Jong et al. 2005; Vong et al. 2008) or via fomites, such as shared equipment or vehicles transporting products between farms (FAO 2004a). Other pathways may exist but are currently unknown.



LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis

47

HPAI is transmissible from poultry-to-humans directly via contact with contaminated environments, through close contact with infected poultry or possibly through another animal species (e.g., pig, cat, dog, tiger) that serves as an intermediate host or mixing vessel (Alexander & Brown 2000; CDC 2005; Koopmans et al. 2004; Lipatov et al. 2008; Thanawongnuwech et al. 2005). Intimate contact with infected poultry (e.g., slaughtering, removing internal organs, licking wounds of bloody fighting cocks) is believed to be required for transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans (Dinh et al. 2006; WHO 2006-2009). However, the extent of these behaviours is currently unknown and there is reluctance of individuals to disclose information on possible exposure from illegal activities. For example, an outbreak investigation in Azerbaijan in early 2006 found that the likely source of H5N1 in nine (eight confirmed, one probable) human cases was infected wild swans, with transmission probably occurring as a result of the illegal activity of de-feathering these birds (Gilsdorf et al. 2006).

A limited number of epidemiologic studies have been conducted throughout Asia and Africa to evaluate risk factors for human H5N1 infection. Most of these have been of a case-control design where they have evaluated exposure to poultry via visiting live poultry markets, through food preparation or caring or feeding poultry or contact with a confirmed human case. All of these studies, the results of which are summarized in Table 2-9, have included small numbers of subjects thus limiting the precision of their results.

Study, year	HPAI Subtype	Study Population	Risk Factors RR, OR, 95%CI
(Mounts et al. 1999)	H5N1	Hong Kong 15 cases 41 matched controls	Exposure to poultry at live/wet markets was associated with a 4-fold increased risk
(Dinh et al. 2006)	H5N1	Vietnam 28 cases 106 matches controls	Univariate Analysis: preparing/cooking unhealthy poultry (OR=31, 2.4-1150), having sick or dead poultry in the household (OR=7.41, 2.7-59), presence of sick/dead poultry in the neighborhood (OR=3.9, 1.0- 55.7), no indoor water source in the household (OR=5.0, 1.3-77.0) Multivariate Analysis: No water in the household (OR=6.5, 1.2-34.8), sick or dead poultry in the household (OR=4.9, 1.2-20.2), prepare and cook sick or dead poultry (OR=9.0, 0.98-82.0)
(Areechokchai et al. 2006)	H5N1	Thailand Matched case control study of 16 cases and 64 controls	Direct touching of unexpectedly dead poultry OR 29.0 (2.7308.2)

Table 2-9 Risk factors for H5N1 infection: summary of published case-control studies

## 2.3.2.1 Human Seroprevalence Studies

To date, a few small-scale human seroprevalence studies have been conducted in Hong Kong, China, Thailand, Nigeria, Cambodia, and Vietnam to determine the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection and evaluate risk factors for HPAI/H5N1 virus infection (Apisarnthanarak et al. 2005; Bridges et al. 2000; Bridges et al. 2002; Katz et al. 1999; Ortiz et al. 2007; Schultsz et al. 2005; Thanh Liem et al. 2005; Vong et al. 2006; Vong et al. 2009). These studies are summarized in Table 2-10 and can be categorized by the study populations evaluated in each study: occupationally exposed individuals (health care workers or poultry workers) or non-poultry related occupational settings (subjects living or working in close proximity to confirmed H5N1 case):

## Occupationally exposed persons: poultry workers

The following three studies evaluated the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection and evaluate poultry-to-human risk factors for H5N1 and H7N1 virus infection among poultry workers:

 Bridges et al 2002: The risk of H5N1 was evaluated among poultry workers involved in the culling of all poultry in Hong Kong following the first reported human H5N1 case in a child in Hong Kong in 1997. Among the 1525 poultry workers and 293 government workers enrolled, 83 (5.3%) poultry workers and nine (3.1%) government workers tested positive for H5N1 antibodies by both microneutralisation and Western Blot.

A nested case-control study evaluated the risk factors for infection among the poultry workers (n=81) when compared to unmatched controls. Risk factors associated with infection included work in retail vs. wholesale/hatchery/farm/other poultry industry OR=2.7 (95% CI 1.5-4.9); >10% mortality among poultry with which they had worked in the previous two months OR=2.2 (95% CI 1.3-3.7); butchering poultry OR=3.1 (95% CI 1.6-5.9); feeding poultry OR=2.4 (95% CI 1.4-4.1); and preparing poultry for restaurants OR=1.7 (95% CI 1.1-2.7). The study found that subjects exposed to intense contact with poultry during the culling processes were at an increased risk for infection with H5N1. It also found that exposure through trading poultry at retail markets was associated with increased risk of H5N1 infection.

- Ortiz et al 2007: Upon confirmation of a H5N1 outbreak in poultry in Nigeria in 2006, the risk of H5N1 infection among poultry workers and laboratory workers in contact with H5N1 was evaluated. Two-hundred and ninety-five poultry workers who had been exposed to infected poultry occupationally and domestically participated in the study. Home exposure to poultry included owning any (54%) or sick poultry (42%) or touching live or dead poultry (81%). None of the 295 poultry workers or 25 laboratory workers tested positive for H5N1 antibodies by microneutralization and HI assay using horse red blood cells. This study found no evidence of poultry-to-human transmission among poultry and laboratory workers in contact with infected poultry.
- Puzelli et al 2005: The risk of HPAI/H7N1 and LPAI/H7N3 was evaluated among Italian poultry workers of farms affected by an outbreak of HPAI/H7N1 between 1999 and 2003. No serum samples tested positive for HPAI/H7N1 (0/672).

#### Occupationally exposed persons: health care workers

The following four studies evaluated the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection and evaluated human-to-human transmission risk factors for H5N1 virus infection among health care workers:

Bridges et al 2000: The risk of H5N1 among health care workers involved in the care
of confirmed H5N1 patients in Hong Kong in 1997 was compared to health care
workers without known exposure to confirmed cases but with similar patient
responsibilities. Because diagnosis was delayed, infection control procedures were not
immediately initiated. Risk factor data were collected on exposure to the case patient
(provided direct care to case, physical contact, face-to-face talking, worked within
two metres of patients, recalled patient coughing/sneezing, suctioned respiratory
secretions from or administered breathing treatments to patients, changed bed linens
or bathed patient), age, sex, occupation and exposure to poultry (shopped at live
poultry market, had live or freshly cut poultry in their home in the weeks before
interview).

Among the exposed and unexposed health care workers enrolled, 4% (8/217) and 0.7% (2/309) tested positive for H5N1 antibodies using microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques, respectively. Risk factors for infection included changing bed linens (no OR provided) and did not include exposure to poultry (no results

provided). It was suggested by the authors that the severity of illness in the H5N1 patients may have been more likely to result in transmission from humans-to-humans because of higher viral concentrations found in respiratory specimens.

- Apisarnthanarak et al 2005: Occupational exposure to H5N1 of 49 health care workers exposed to a confirmed H5N1 patient in a university hospital setting in Thailand was evaluated in a seroprevalence study. Health care workers were classified as exposed (n=25) and non-exposed (n=24) to the patient and did not differ by demographic characteristics or exposure to poultry (contact with ill poultry, shopping at live poultry market, had live or freshly cut poultry in their home in the two weeks before interview or history of living on a poultry farm). The use of personal protective equipment (PPE, surgical mask, gown and gloves) was not initiated until 48 hours after the case was admitted to the hospital. No health care workers tested positive for H5N1 antibodies using microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques and thus there was no evidence of person-to-person transmission of H5N1 in this study.
- Schultsz et al 2005: Occupational exposure to H5N1 was evaluated among health care workers exposed to confirmed H5N1 patients in a Ho Chi Minh City hospital, Vietnam. None of the 60 health care workers involved in the care of H5N1 patients tested positive for H5N1 antibodies using ELISA or microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques despite 25.4% having reported contact with the patients secretions, approximately half (29/59) reporting to have spent >12 hours with the patient and limited use of control measures or personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves). No evidence of human-to-human or poultry-to-human transmission of H5N1 occurred among health care workers.
- Thanh Lim et al 2005: Occupational exposure to H5N1 of health care workers exposed to four confirmed and one probable H5N1 patients in a Hanoi hospital was evaluated in a seroprevalence study. None of the 83 health care workers who provided a single blood sample and completed a questionnaire to obtain information on demographic characteristics, medical history, use of protective equipment while in contact with the case, exposure to the cases, or exposure to poultry tested positive for H5N1 antibodies using microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques.

The use of PPE was high among subjects with 94.8% reporting that they always wore a mask while examining or caring for H5N1 patients, while 31.6% reported that they always wore eye protection, 61.5% reported that they always wore gloves while in contact with H5N1 patients.

## Non-occupational exposure: household and social contacts

The following four studies evaluated the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection and evaluate poultry-to-human risk factors for HPAI/H5N1 virus infection among subjects living or working in close proximity to confirmed H5N1 outbreaks in human and domestic poultry populations:

- *Katz et al 1999*: The frequency of asymptomatic or sub-clinical H5N1 infection was evaluated among household or social contacts of 17 confirmed human H5N1 cases in Hong Kong. Six of the 51 household contacts and none of the 26 social contacts (26 social contacts who participated in a 4 day tour with one case plus 23 co-workers) tested positive for H5N1 antibodies using microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques. Although not statistically significant, the authors suggest that exposure to poultry in their homes was a likely risk factor for infection (21% of seropositive subjects had contact with poultry versus 5% of seropositive subjects with no poultry contact, p=0.13).
- Vong et al 2006: The frequency of asymptomatic or sub-clinical H5N1 infection was evaluated among residents living within a 1km radius where a man was confirmed with H5N1 infection in Cambodia. Three-hundred and fifty one subjects were recruited in the study; however none tested positive for H5N1 antibodies using microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques despite frequent contact with poultry and 96 of 262 (36.6%) households with probable H5N1 infection in chickens.
- Vong et al 2009: The frequency of asymptomatic or sub-clinical H5N1 infection was evaluated among residents living within a 1km radius of two human H5N1 cases in two rural villages in Cambodia. Among the 674 subjects recruited, seven (1.0%) tested positive for H5N1 antibodies by microneutralisation and Western Blot. All seven cases were ≤18 years old and six of the seven were male (85.7%). Risk factors for infection—including handling poultry, practices involved in the preparation of food, contact with confirmed cases, hand hygiene after contact with poultry and

general health—were evaluated in a retrospective matched case-control study of the seven subjects and 24 matched controls (for sex, age  $[\pm 3 \text{ yrs}]$ , village of residence and households with H5N1).

Risk factors associated with testing positive for H5N1 antibodies included swimming or bathing in ponds OR=11.3 (95% CI 1.25-102.18) and gathering poultry and placing them in cages or designated areas OR=5.8 (95% CI 0.98-34.12). These results taken in conjunction with recent evidence of H5N1 virus in the surrounding areas where poultry died from H5N1 infection (Vong et al. 2008) indicate that swimming or bathing in ponds located around the household where poultry typically have access may be a risk factor for infection. It is worth noting that one case had only spent five days in the village during the study period (approximately three months) and had reported preparing poultry for consumption and cleaning poultry faeces in his house yard during that 5-day period.

Hinjoy et al, 2008: A seroprevalence studies in rural Thailand (Hinjoy et al. 2008) was conducted to evaluate asymptomatic infection among poultry farmers in rural areas where H5N1 outbreaks had been confirmed. No farmers in rural Thailand (n=322) farmers tested positive for anti-H5 antibodies by microneutralisation and Western Blot techniques.

Reference	Study Population & Year of Outbreak	Transmission Evaluated	Seroprevalence Results (% seropositive)	Risk Factors RR, OR, 95%Cl	Comments
Occupationally Exp	osed Persons: Poult	ry Workers	······································		
(Bridges et al. 2002)	Poultry workers, Hong Kong 1997	Poultry-to- humans	9/293 (3%) government workers were seropositive 81/1525 (5.3%) poultry workers tested positive for H5N1 antibodies Nested case-control study conducted among 81 cases and 1231 controls	Work in retail vs. wholesale/ hatchery/farm/other poultry industry 2.7 (1.5-4.9) >10% mortality among poultry 2.2 (1.3- 3.7) Jobs: • Butchering poultry 3.1 (1.6-5.9) • Feeding poultry 2.4 (1.4-4.1) • Handling money 1.6 (1.0-2.5) • Preparing poultry for restaurants 1.7 (1.1-2.7) Controlled for age-group	Limited poultry-to-human transmission among poultry and government workers involved in poultry culling operations
(Ortiz et al. 2007)	Poultry workers, Kano Nigeria 2006	Poultry-to- humans	0/295 poultry workers with median 14 days exposure to H5N1 0/25 laboratory workers with exposure to H5N1	None	No evidence of H5N1 infection with subjects with repeated exposure to infected poultry
Occupationally Ex	posed Persons: Healt	h Care Workers		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u></u>
(Bridges et al. 2000)	Health care workers, Hong Kong 1997	Human-to- human; poultry- to-human	10/526 (8/21 exposed; 2/309 non exposed HCW)	Changing the bed linen of cases (no OR provided); controlled for poultry exposure	Limited human-to-human transmission
(Apisarnthanarak et al. 2005)	Health care workers, Thailand 2004	Human-to- human; poultry- to-human	0/25 among health care workers in direct contact with H5N1 patient	None	No serologic evidence of H5N1 among health care workers with direct contact with human H5N1 patient
(Thanh Liem et al. 2005)	Health care workers, Vietnam 2004	Human-to- human; poultry- to-human	0/83 among health care workers, 95% of which had direct contact with confirmed H5N1 patients	None	No serologic evidence of H5N1 among health care workers with direct contact with human H5N1 patient
(Schultsz et al. 2005)	Health care workers, Vietnam 2004	Human-to- human; poultry- to-human	0/60 healthcare workers in contact with confirmed H5N1 patients	None	No serologic evidence of H5N1 among health care workers with direct contact with human H5N1 patient

## Table 2-10 Results of seroprevalence studies to determine the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection of H5N1 virus

Reference	Study Population & Year of Outbreak	Transmission Evaluated	Seroprevalence Results (% seropositive)	Risk Factors RR, OR, 95%Cl	Comments
Non-Occupational	Exposure: Household	and Social Conta	cts		
(Katz et al. 1999)	Household and Social contacts of H5N1 patients, Hong Kong 1997	Human-to- human; poultry- to-human	6/51 (12%) household contacts 0/47 co-workers tested positive for H5 antibodies	None significant; however 21% of seropositive had contact to poultry vs. 5% of seropositive with no poultry contact, p=0.13	Human-to-human transmission was limited
(Vong et al. 2006)	Rural villagers living in the same villages as two confirmed H5N1 human cases 2005	Poultry-to- human	0/351 villagers tested positive for H5N1 antibodies	None	No evidence of H5N1 infection among subjects living in villages with conformed H5N1 in domestic poultry flocks; poultry-to-human transmission was low in this setting
(Vong et al. 2009)	Rural villagers living in the same villages as confirmed H5N1 human case 2006	Poultry-to- human	7/674 (1%) seropositive for H5N1 antibodies ≥1:80 85.7% (6/7) male All ≤18 years old Matched case-control study conducted with 7 cases and	Swim/bathe in ponds OR 11.3 (1.25- 102.2) Water source 6.8 (0.68-66.4) Gathered poultry and placed in cages or designated areas 5.8 (0.98-34.1) Removed/cleaned faeces from cages or poultry areas 5.0 (0.69-36.3)	Poultry-to-human transmission was low; possible transmission from the environment to humans via contaminated water
(Hinjoy et al. 2008)	Rural poultry farmers in Thailand, 2004	Poultry-to- human	0/322 farmers tested positive for H5N1 antibodies	None	No evidence of H5N1 infection among subjects living in villages with conformed H5N1 in domestic poultry flocks

PPE = personal protective equipment including masks, gloves, eye protection

## 2.3.2.2 Clusters of H5N1 in Humans

Suspected clusters of epidemiologic linked H5N1 cases have occurred among blood relatives in several countries, including Indonesia, China, Turkey, Azerbaijan, Vietnam and Thailand, suggesting that human-to-human transmission between family members may have occurred (Gilsdorf et al. 2006; Kandun et al. 2008; Kandun et al. 2006; Olsen et al. 2005; Oner et al. 2006; Ungchusak et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2008). An early investigation in Vietnam, suggested that between January 2004 and July 2005, 15 suspected family clusters occurred among the first 109 cases, of which nine clusters had at least two laboratory confirmed H5N1 cases. These results suggested that in three of the laboratory confirmed clusters exposure to a common source was unlikely as the timing of infections exceeded one week of each other (Olsen et al. 2005).

A family cluster in mainland China occurred in a father and son, the former likely infected through close, unprotected contact via care at a hospital of his son during his illness (Wang et al. 2008). Similarly in Thailand, a mother and aunt of an infected patient likely became infected through unprotected hospital care of their daughter/niece (Ungchusak et al. 2005). In Turkey, several members of the same family became infected with H5N1, however transmission likely occurred from poultry-to-human rather than human-to-human since they all shared the same living space with poultry (Oner et al. 2006).

In Indonesia, there have been 11 clusters of H5N1 among blood relatives with each cluster involving 2-7 blood relatives (Kandun et al. 2008; Kandun et al. 2006). Among the first three clusters, which occurred in 2005, limited human-to-human transmission may have occurred in two of the three clusters. Exposure to the virus via a contaminated environment, through contact with contaminated manure or with infected poultry could not be ruled out (Kandun et al. 2006). In a detailed analysis of all human H5N1 cases in Indonesia, the authors examined direct and indirect exposure to poultry and could not rule out a common source of infection in the clusters since families may have similar opportunities for exposure to the virus. While there may have been limited human-to-human transmission in some clusters, the authors suggest that genetic variation in families could result in the occurrence of clusters because of a predisposition to infection (Kandun et al. 2008). Cluster investigations have suggested that

some individuals may be more genetically susceptible to infection, Interpretations of the family clusters are often difficult because all of the suspected patients may not have been tested for H5N1.

#### 2.3.3 Indirect-Transmission of H5N1 to Humans

It is possible for HPAI/H5N1 to be transmitted to humans indirectly via contact with fomites or through the environment (de Jong et al. 2005; FAO 2004a; Vong et al. 2008; Vong et al. 2009; WHO 2006g). Since birds are known to shed high concentrations of virus into water sources, transmission from poultry-to-humans through contaminated water is possible (WHO 2006g). The epidemiologic investigation of two H5N1 related cases in Vietnam suggested that exposure to possibly contaminated canal water via swimming or washing may have played a role in the acquisition of infection. However, the role of water in transmission could not be confirmed nor extrapolated since no further follow-up studies were conducted (de Jong et al. 2005). More recently, results from environmental sampling within a village with confirmed H5N1 in domestic poultry flocks and one human case as well as results from a human seroprevalence study from the same villages in Cambodia identified contaminated water as a potential risk factor for H5N1 infection (Vong et al. 2008; Vong et al. 2009).

## 2.3.4 Summary of Epidemiology Studies

Epidemiologic studies of H5N1 in humans have identified several risk factors for infection including close contact with poultry and transmission via the environment. However, despite frequent and widespread contact with poultry, transmission from poultry to humans is rare. A small number of cases resulting from human-to-human transmission are likely to have occurred among blood relatives. However poultry exposure could not completely be ruled out in some cases. It is likely that there are genetic and/or immunological factors that render some more susceptible to infection than others.

Several important data gaps currently limit our understanding of the epidemiology of H5N1 in humans. There remains considerable scope for underreporting of human cases. We currently lack sufficient exposure data from the confirmed H5N1 cases around the world to fully evaluate other potential risk factors (e.g., the environment) for infection. The seroprevalence

studies that have evaluated the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection and risk factors for H5N1 infection have identified few asymptomatic individuals with anti-H5N1 antibodies, indicating previous infection with H5N1. However, it is not possible to determine whether this is a true reflection of HPAI/H5N1 infection given the limited geographical scope of such studies to date. There may be other factors that limit transmission to humans including differences by age in intrinsic susceptibility to infection, pre-existing cross immunity arising from previous exposure to other human influenza A virus and/or clinical presentation of disease.

## 2.4 Review of HPAI/H5N1 in Cambodia Prior to 2006

The remainder of this chapter describes HPAI/H5N1 research carried out in Cambodia prior to the start of my field work in April 2006. The first few months of my field work in Cambodia were spent identifying, obtaining and reviewing all available research conducted on H5N1 in the country in order to evaluate the research carried out to date and to develop research questions that would address data gaps.

Cambodia is located in South East Asia, sharing borders with Thailand, Laos and Vietnam, and is administratively split into 24 provinces. Two major rivers, the Mekong and Tonle Sap, bisect the country. The population is approximately 14.2 million, 80% of which live in rural areas of the country (Figure 2-7). Agriculture (mainly rice farming), fisheries and forestry are the dominant industries. Temperature varies very little during the dry (December to April) and rainy (May to November) seasons.



Figure 2-7 Population density in Cambodia

Map generated using data from a Columbia University population study done originally in 2005 and updated in 2006, and is a 2010 projection (pers. Comm.)

#### 2.4.1 Data on HPAI/H5N1 in Cambodia

#### 2.4.1.1 HPAI/H5N1 in poultry in Cambodia

Data on H5N1 in poultry is available in the form of outbreak investigations, HPAI surveillance activities, and knowledge attitudes and practice (KAP) surveys (Table 2-11). The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), along with National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI), have funded enhanced passive surveillance systems of domestic poultry in several provinces using village animal health workers (VAHW) who are trained to identify and report acute high mortality in chicken (>60% mortality) and duck flocks (>30%).

59

Type of Study	Data Source	Description of data	Location	Date
Outbreak investigations:				
Backyard poultry (ducks/chickens)	IPC	Multiple outbreaks (~20 confirmed H5N1) Questionnaire/ Serology	PV, KgC, Kampot, Kg Speu	Multiple dates
Ducks/chickens/ fighting cocks	IPC	KAP/ Serology, Ta Sen village, So Tip commune, Choeung Prey district	KgC	Feb 06
HPAI surveillance programme in Cambodia (Desvaux et al. 2006)	MAFF	Poultry density by province	All	2002
Poultry ownership and handling behaviour(Ly et al. 2007)	IPC	KAP Survey in 25 villages	PV, KgC	Jan '06
Sentinel duck surveillance survey	IPC	250 of 333 (76%) households surveyed, 16% of households raised ducks; 80% duck flocks free ranging	PV	Oct 5-8, '05
Village animal health Worker training	MAFF	Active surveillance system of poultry mortality using trained paraprofessionals	KgC, PV, Kg Speu*	Ongoing
Impact on HPAI on poultry producers	VSF	Survey of poultry producers production	All	2004
Environmental sampling	IPC	Approx. 30 water, soil samples per outbreak area	Kg Cham, PV	2006 & ongoing

Table 2-11 Summary of existing data on H5N1 in Cambodia in 2006

\*each month, new villages are included in training of VAHW

PV= Prey Veng, KgC = Kampong Cham; Kg Speu = Kampong Speu; All = entire country

#### 2.4.1.2 Confirmed H5N1 infection in poultry

Outbreaks of H5N1 in poultry were first reported in poultry in early 2004 (Desvaux et al. 2006; OIE 2009a) and since then, at least 20-25 outbreaks have been confirmed in Cambodia (Figure 2-8) (MAFF Unpublished Data; OIE 2009a). HPAI/H5N1 mortality has been high in infected chicken flocks, often exceeding 90%, whereas HPAI/H5N1 mortality within duck flocks has ranged from relatively low mortality (<30%) to as high as 80-90%.



#### 2.4.1.3 Sentinel duck surveillance

In October 2005, a sentinel duck surveillance program was started in three villages near Kdey Boung Lake in Kampong Cham Province. In each village, 10 ducks from three flocks (300 ducks in total) were tagged and sampled (blood; cloacal and tracheal swabs) bimonthly. One month into the program (i.e., the second sampling), however H5N1 was isolated from one flock and as a result all duck flocks in the villages were subsequently culled and the program was stopped. Any mortality occurred in 54% of flocks and occurred in young populations (median age at death 3 months; range 1-24 months).

#### 2.4.1.4 Environmental sampling

IPC has been actively involved in collecting environmental samples from villages with confirmed poultry H5N1 infection and has recently published their findings (Vong et al. 2008). In a survey conducted in a village where the 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup> and 7th human H5N1 cases occurred, a total of 167 environmental samples (including soil, mud, faeces, soil swab specimens, swabs of feathers from poultry that recently died, and water plants around the household) were collected from 43 households. Twenty seven of 77 samples tested positive for H5N1 by RT-PCR and

viral RNA was found in 50% of poultry faeces samples, 50% of soil swab specimens samples, 50% of water plants samples, 50% of swabs from feathers and 29% of mud samples.

#### 2.4.2 Research in Human Populations

Since 2005 there have been eight human cases (87.5% fatality) of H5N1 in Cambodia. However it is likely that some human cases have gone undetected (Normile 2005b; WHO 2006a). All cases occurred in individuals that lived in southern Cambodia (4 had occurred prior to the initiation of my PhD; Figure 2-8) and all had possible exposure to sick/dead poultry (WHO 2006b; WHO 2006c). The majority of cases were female (37.5% male) and the median age of the cases is 16 years old (range 3-28). Prior to the initiation of my PhD work, research on H5N1 in human populations had been conducted in three ways: KAP surveys, outbreak investigations and seroprevalence studies. Table 2-12 summarises studies undertaken since January 2004.

Type of data	Data Source	Description of data	Location(s)	Date	Serology (Y/N)
Outbreak investigations	MOH, IPC, WHO	Serology of cases and close contacts; questionnaire of exposure to poultry, occurrence of poultry mortality	Kampot, PV, Kg Speu	Within 1 day of PCR confirmation from IPC	Y
Influenza-like Illness (ILI) Surveillance System	WHO MOH, IPC,	Purpose is to understand epidemiology of influenza in Cambodia, help the MoH target control measures and detect outbreaks early	Takeo, Battambang, Siem Reap, Kg Cham, Phnom Penh	Start Aug '06	Y
Seroprevalence surveys (Vong et al. 2006; Vong et al. 2009)	IPC	Three cross-sectional antibody seroprevalence survey (n=1,025)	Kampot, PV, Kg Speu	May '06	Y
KAP Surveys(Ly et al. 2007)	IPC, WHO, NAPHIC	Poultry ownership and handling behaviour in backyard poultry owners	PV, Kg Speu, Kg Cham, Kampot	Jan '06	Ν

Table 2-12 Summary of existing data on H5N1 in human populations in Cambodia in 2006

PV= Prey Veng, Kg Cham= Kampong Cham; Kg Speu= Kampong Speu

## 2.4.2.1 Transmission from poultry to humans

Seroprevalence studies have been conducted since 2005 in villages where human cases occurred (Kampot 2005, Prey Veng and Kampong Speu 2006). These have been described in the previous section (Vong et al. 2006; Vong et al. 2009).

## 2.4.2.2 KAP survey of rural Cambodians January 2006

A knowledge-attitudes-practice (KAP) study was conducted in Kampong Cham and Prey Veng provinces to determine the extent of exposure to backyard animals and to obtain an in-depth understanding of the behaviour of people domestically exposed to poultry (Ly et al. 2007). The results confirmed previous data showing that poultry ownership is high (97% and 39% owned chickens and ducks, respectively), but flock size is small (median flock size ten and six for chickens and ducks, respectively). Species mixing was common and almost all flocks were free ranging (100% and 96% for chickens and ducks, respectively). In the six months prior to sampling, 60% of households (n=269) experienced any poultry mortality, however only 7% reported this to authorities. The sampling population used in this survey only included adult farmers (n= 460), thus limiting the comparisons that could be made across age groups and occupations.

#### 2.4.3 Control and Containment of HPAI in Cambodia

Control of HPAI/H5N1 in poultry in Cambodia is managed by national and provincial veterinarians from the National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI), which is part of the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (MAFF) and Department of Animal Health and Production (DAHP). A national campaign to educate rural farmers in avian influenza symptoms in poultry and ways to protect against infection began in 2006 and continues into 2009. This program trains village animal health workers (VAHW), who are lay persons living in rural villages, to recognize and report high mortality in poultry. The training teaches VAHW to recognize high mortality in chicken (>60% over 1-2 days) and/or duck (>30%) flocks and inform the Provincial level health department, who in turn informs NaVRI of the potentially infected flock. Duck and chicken samples (blood, cloacal, tracheal) are taken from the infected flock and tested using egg inoculation (for the presence of influenza A, subtype H5 virus) at NaVRI in Phnom Penh. Positive samples are confirmed by RT-PCR at IPC, Cambodia's National Influenza Centre.

Upon confirmation, NaVRI conducts a formal outbreak investigation (retrospective poultry mortality survey) within a one km radius of the infected flock. A questionnaire assesses poultry ownership and mortality and blood, cloacal and tracheal samples are collected from a convenient selection of ten ducks and any noticeably sick chickens from each flock within the 1km radius. Culling of all poultry within a one km radius will commence only after confirmation of H5N1 by RT-PCR, typically 2-3 days after infection in the flock/village is detected (Figure 2-9). Vaccination has not been introduced in Cambodia and the government does not offer compensation for culled flocks.

In December 2008, H5N1 was reported in Cambodia's 8<sup>th</sup> human case. Follow-up investigations by NaVRI found H5N1 in poultry in the village in Kandal where this case lived and subsequently culled 300+ chickens and ducks. Control procedures also included movement restrictions on poultry from Kandal Province for three months.



Figure 2-9 Culling operations in Cambodia following detection of H5N1 in poultry

These photographs were taken during the culling operations following confirmation of H5N1 in poultry in Prey Veng Province in August 2006. The photograph on the bottom right illustrates an example of the environmental sampling that takes place during outbreak investigations.

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis

#### 2.5 Review of Research Questions

As stated in Chapter 1, the overall aim of this thesis is to evaluate poultry movement and the extent of interaction between humans and poultry in Cambodia to better define the risks of sustained transmission of H5N1 in poultry and onward potential transmission to humans. Two research questions (below) were designed to address gaps in knowledge of HPAI/H5N1:

Research Question 1: What is the frequency and extent of exposure to poultry in the general as well as occupationally exposed populations in Cambodia?

Research Question 2: How do current movements of poultry influence the potential spread of HPAI at local, regional and national levels? What are the implications of these movements for control and containment of H5N1 in poultry and/or human populations?

# Chapter 3 Cross-Sectional Survey of Rural Cambodians: Study Methods and Subject Characteristics

## 3.1 Introduction

As described in Chapter 2, Cambodia is located in SE Asia sharing borders with Thailand, Laos and Vietnam. The capital of Cambodia is Phnom Penh and the Mekong and Tonle Sap rivers bisect the country intersecting in the capital. Temperature varies little during the dry (December to April) and rainy (May to November) seasons. The population is approximately 14.2 million and approximately 84.3% of the population lives in rural areas (NIS 2002). Life expectancy in Cambodia is approximately 60 years for men and 64 years for women (CIA 2008).

Cambodia is administratively split into 24 provinces (20 provinces and 4 municipalities, including Phnom Penh), 183 districts, 1,609 communes and 13,406 villages. The country has a democratic government under a constitutional monarchy and is composed of three sides of government: the Judiciary; the National Assembly, which holds legislative powers; and the Royal Government, which is composed of a Council of Ministers (25 Ministries) and is headed by Prime Minister.

The National Veterinary Research Institut (NaVRI) in the Department of Animal Health and Production (DAHP), which is a department within the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (MAFF), is responsible for all policies and planning regarding the health of animals in Cambodia. The DAHP is composed mainly of veterinarians that are stationed in Phnom Penh, and have offices in all province and some district centres. DAHP staff are responsible for monitoring the health of animals within their province and/or district geographic boundaries. This research was conducted in collaboration with the DAHP.

At the time this PhD proposal was designed, only a limited number of seroprevalence studies had been conducted and although it was hypothesized that recent contact with infected poultry was the main transmission route from poultry to humans, the specific mode of transmission from animal to human was unknown (Bridges et al. 2002; Katz et al. 1999; Mounts et al. 1999; Vong et al. 2006). Previous surveys in Cambodia determined that domestic poultry ownership is high in rural areas of Cambodia (Ly et al. 2007). However none evaluated the current extent of exposure to poultry among the population. Therefore a large-scale cross-sectional survey of adults and children living in rural areas throughout Cambodia was designed to evaluate poultry contact patterns and address the first research question of my PhD thesis: *What is the frequency and extent of exposure to poultry in the general as well as occupationally exposed populations?* 

#### 3.1.1 Objectives of the Chapter

The objectives of this chapter are to:

- Describe the methods used in the cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians which recruited and interviewed 3.600 rural Cambodians and 115 village chiefs from six provinces; and
- Describe the demographic characteristics and village characteristics of the recruited subjects.

#### 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Study Population

My first cross-sectional survey was carried out in six Cambodian provinces using a two-stage clustered sampling design (Bennett et al. 1991). All provinces and districts included in the study were identified for inclusion from a preliminary assessment of high poultry ownership and human population density (Figure 3-1) (NIS 1999; NIS 2002). Provinces located in the north-eastern (Steung Treang, Ratanakiri, Mondolkiri and Krecheh provinces), far eastern (Kach Kong, Palin) and south-eastern regions of Cambodia (Kach Kong and Kampong Som) were excluded from the study because they are largely mountainous, isolated and sparsely populated (Figure 3-1). Additionally, Kampot province, located in southern Cambodia and the location where 4 human H5N1 cases were confirmed, was not included in the study because prior to my involvement in Cambodia, almost all avian influenza related activities were focused in this province.

67



Figure 3-1 Population density in Cambodia

Map generated using data from a Columbia University population study done originally in 2005 and updated in 2006, and is a 2010 projection (pers. Comm.)

#### 3.2.1.1 Description of the included study districts

Table 3-1 shows the number of villages and median population sizes in the included study districts. In addition to selecting districts with high poultry/human population density, districts were chosen for inclusion because of their potential cross-border trading activities with Thailand or Vietnam, or potential for wild bird mixing (Figure 3-2).

 Table 3-1 Baseline population data of study areas

Province	Districts Included	Villages within included districts (n)	Mean village population size	Population range
Banteay Meanchey (BM)	3	195	761	105-24,322
Kampong Cham (KC)	4	518	815	28 – 2,721
Prey Veng (PV)	3	378	755	134 – 2,882
Pursat (PR)	3	367	589	169 – 4,517
Svay Rieng (SV)	3	154	705	70 – 2,831
Takeo (TK)	8	907	621	81 – 4,724
Total	24	2519	708	70-24,322

Source (NIS 1999)

68



The districts in Pursat (Bakan, Kandieng, Krakor) were chosen for inclusion because of their proximity to the Tonle Sap Lake and the potential for wild bird mixing with domestic flocks. During the development phase of this study, discussions with members of NaVRI had indicated that it was possible that a large number of wild birds (e.g., wild ducks, turkeys) lived in the region of the lake. The western two-thirds of Pursat are largely mountainous and sparsely populated.

Banteay Meanchey is a province located in the north-west corner of Cambodia bordering Thailand. The districts in Banteay Meanchey (Chrov, Svay Chek, Serei Saephoan) were chosen for inclusion because of their potential cross-border trading activities with Thailand. The districts in Takeo (all), Prey Veng (Kampong Trabaek, MeSang, Prey Veng), Kampong Cham (Batheay, Kampong Siem, Memot, Ponhea Kraek) and Svay Rieng (Svay Rieng, Kampong Rou, Chantrea) provinces were selected because of their potential cross-border trading activities with Vietnam (Figure 3-2). Twenty villages were included per province based on feasibility assessments (i.e., time constraints because of distance and road conditions, budget) using four interviewer teams. A random sample of 120 clusters (i.e., villages; 20 in each province) were selected using probability proportion to population size (PPS) methodology (Bennett et al. 1991). PPS was used because it was not feasible to conduct a study of a random sample of all rural Cambodians from all villages in each province.

Of special note is that at the time of data collection, H5N1 had not been suspected nor confirmed in poultry or humans in any of the villages in the study areas. However it had been confirmed in poultry and humans in one district where villages were randomly selected in Kampong Cham (Memot district) and one district in Prey Veng Province (Kampong Trabeak) (WHO 2006-2009). The locations of the randomly selected villages are shown in Figure 3-3.



villages (blue dots), and locations of the 8 human H5N1 cases

#### 3.2.1.2 Sample size calculations

Sample size calculations were based on the precision with which an estimate of an exposure/ behaviour (e.g., slaughter poultry) could be obtained assuming that the exposure/behaviour is 50% (resulting in a conservative estimate of the required sample size) (Figure 3-4). These calculations were applied separately to adult males (>15 years old), adult females and children  $(\leq 15 \text{ years old}^1)$  because these groups are of particular interest in terms of different poultryhandling practices resulting in potentially different exposures.

Figure	3-4 Sample size calculations a to calculate the required sample size is shown below (EpiInfo v6.04) $n = \frac{DEFF \times N \times \hat{p} \times \hat{q}}{\frac{d^2}{Z_{1-\alpha/2}^2} \times (N-1) + \hat{p} \times \hat{q}}$ Design effect					
Formula to calculate the required sample size is shown below (Epilnfo v6.04)						
$n = \frac{DEFF \times N \times \hat{p} \times \hat{q}}{\frac{d^2}{Z_{1-\alpha/2}^2} \times (N-1) + \hat{p} \times \hat{q}}$ Where:						
DEFF	Design effect	2				
N	Population size	Estimated to be 1000000				
p	Estimated proportion in the target population with the event of interest	Estimated at 50% (conservative estimate)				
<b>q</b> =1- <i>p̂</i>	1-0.5	0.5				
d	Absolute precision	0.05				
Z <sub>1-a/2</sub>	97.5 percentile of the standardized normal distribution	1.96				
	N= <u>2*1000000*0.5*0.5</u> ((0.05)*2/1.96)*(1000000-1) + (0.5*0	= 768				
Therefore, to estimate the behaviour with a precision of $\pm 5$ %, 6.4 (768 / 120 clusters) individuals in each group should be included from each village. This value was rounded up to 10 individuals per cluster to facilitate data collection.						
Increasing the precision to $\pm 1\%$ (d=0.01) increased the sample size to 19,025/120 = 158.5 per cluster, which was not feasible. The village population sizes in the study areas precluded us from including 476 people (i.e., 159 adult males + 159 adult females + 159 children) per village.						
The precision in my study using 3,600 subjects (10 adult females x 10 adult males x 10 children x 120 villages) is ±2.3%.						

Therefore, to estimate the behaviour with a precision of  $\pm 2.3\%$ , 10 individuals in each group (i.e., 30 individuals in total) were included from each village. Therefore the total number of subjects planned for inclusion in the study was 3,600 (30 subjects X 120 villages), in which 1,200 would be children  $\leq 15$  years old, 1,200 adult (>15 years old) males and 1,200 adult (>15 years old) females.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Previous surveys conducted in Cambodia have classified adults as >15 years old. As such, children were defined as  $\leq 15$  years old.

A breakdown of included study provinces, districts, villages and quantity of study subjects is provided in Table 3-2. Data collection was conducted in two phases (1) November-December 2006 and (2) November- December 2007, which is the start of Cambodia's dry season, to minimize problems of village accessibility from heavy rains. During the first phase of data collection (November-December 2006), four provinces were surveyed (Banteay Meanchey, Svay Rieng, Takeo and Pursat provinces). During the second phase of data collection (November-December 2007), two provinces (Kampong Cham and Prey Veng) were surveyed. Data collection for phase two took place exactly one year after phase one to minimize any seasonal differences in practices.

Province	Districts	Villages (N)	Recruited Subjects	
			Village Chiefs	Subjects
Banteay Meanchey	O-Chrov, Svay Chek, Serei Saephoan	17 <sup>a</sup>	17	600 (200 adult males, 200 adult females, 200 children)
Kampong Cham	Batheay, Kampong Siem, Memot, Ponhea Kraek	19 <sup>a</sup>	19	600 (200 adult males, 200 adult females, 200 children)
Prey Veng	Kampong Trabaek, MeSang, Prey Veng	19 <sup>ª</sup>	19	600 (200 adult males, 200 adult females, 200 children)
Pursat	Bakan, Kandieng, Krakor	20	20	600 (200 adult males, 200 adult females, 200 children)
Svay Rieng	Svay Rieng, Kampong Rou, Chantrea	20	20	600 (200 adult males, 200 adult females, 200 children)
Takeo	Kiri Vong, Kaoh Andaet, Doun Kaev, Treang, Tram Kak, Angkor Borei, Samraong, Prey Kabbas	20	20	600 (200 adult males, 200 adult females, 200 children)
Total 6	24	115	115	3,600 (1200 adult males, 1200 adult females, 1200 children)

#### **Table 3-2 Recruitment of rural Cambodians**

<sup>\*</sup> Within Kampong Cham and Prey Veng, 1 village was selected by PPS twice because of its large population. In these villages 60 subjects and 1 village chief were interviewed; One village in Banteay Meancheay was selected 4 times using PPS and therefore 120 residents and 1 village chief were included from this village.

#### 3.2.2 Questionnaire Development

Four separate standardized questionnaires were developed for the 1) village chief, 2) head of the household, 3) adult family members and 4) children. All questionnaires are provided in Appendix B. The aims of the questionnaires were to obtain information on poultry contact patterns and understanding of avian influenza at an individual level. All closed-ended questions were recorded as binary (yes/no) responses and frequencies of contact when evaluated were recorded as always, sometimes or never. All questions were precoded for ease of data entry.
# 3.2.2.1 Village chief

A one-page questionnaire was designed for the village chiefs to collect demographic information on the village (population, number of households) and the use of middlemen to trade poultry from their village (discussed further in Chapter 6).

# 3.2.2.2 Adult subjects

Subjects >15 years old were asked questions on the following topics:

*Demographic Characteristics*: Demographic variables included age (years old), gender, address (village, commune, district, province), occupation, the highest level of education completed (never attended school, primary, secondary, high school, higher), the country they were born in (Cambodia, Thailand and Vietnam) and religion. Each subject's ability to read and write was assessed by their competency to write and read a sentence in the presence of the interviewer. With the exception of occupation, all questions were closed-ended questions.

*Poultry Contact*: Subjects were asked if they had direct contact with domestic poultry through food preparation (slaughter poultry, remove or clean internal organs, cut or wash meat), caring for domestic poultry or fighting cocks (feed, clean animals or cages) and other activities (e.g., collect dead domestic/wild poultry for food, eat wild birds, remove feathers from sick poultry, attend fighting cock events). The nature of how Cambodians prepare poultry for consumption and care for poultry was evaluated by direct observation and informal questioning of adults living in rural Cambodia by myself in the field prior to piloting the questionnaires. The questionnaire also asked if they had indirect contact with poultry—as a proxy measure of exposure—in the immediate environment around the home and village via water sources (e.g., bathe/swim in ponds where poultry had access). All poultry contact questions and frequency of activity were asked as closed-ended questions.

A series of questions assessed awareness of avian influenza: source of AI information; knowledge of poultry-to-poultry, poultry-to-human, and human-to-human transmission; and knowledge of symptoms of AI in humans. Source of AI information and transmission questions were asked as closed-ended (yes/no) questions.

73

*Poultry Mortality:* Poultry mortality was evaluated as whether the household experienced poultry mortality since the Khmer New Year (closed-ended question; binary response) and the quantity of chickens and ducks raised, became sick and/or died from illness since the Khmer New Year. Through field visits, I learned that sickness in poultry is recognized by most villagers if their poultry suffer from seizures, have white eyes or become motionless. Subjects were asked if they reported poultry mortality, to whom they reported poultry mortality and the symptoms that poultry experienced that would warrant them to report poultry mortality. Poultry owners were asked about practices when poultry were sick and died from illness (e.g., prepare for household consumption, how were poultry carcasses disposed). They were also asked what they did with the poultry from a sick flock that remained healthy (e.g., prepare for household consumption, how were asked as closed-ended questions.

In addition, a series of knowledge and attitude questions about poultry mortality followed this section of the questionnaire and addressed whether subjects felt it was important to report poultry mortality and what would encourage and discourage poultry mortality reporting. Knowledge and attitude questions were asked as open-ended questions with some pre-recorded answers in the questionnaire. Pre-coded responses were several frequently stated responses to the knowledge and attitude questions identified during piloting of the questionnaires. We therefore included these responses as pre-recorded answers in the questionnaires with the addition of an answer of "Other, please specify" to minimize the amount of time to record any anticipated answers.

*Basic Hygiene Questions*: Basic hygiene questions including hand washing, household water source and the presence/absence of soap in the household were assessed via closed-ended questions and frequency was noted as always, sometimes or never.

*Observation*: At the end of each adult and head of household questionnaire, the interviewer was instructed to observe the household surroundings and fill in approximately 10 questions regarding chicken and duck ownership (e.g., do you see chickens/ducks in the house yard?) and if the flocks were not caged, the locations they were allowed to forage for food.

The adult questionnaire took approximately 30 minutes to administer.

# 3.2.2.3 Heads of household

In addition to all questions included in the adult questionnaire (as described above), the head of the household was asked questions about the following:

*Household characteristics*: Characteristics of the household, including the total number of people living in the house, total number of children  $\leq 15$  years old living in the house, house composition, and household asset ownership. With the exception of quantity questions, all household characteristic questions were asked as closed-ended questions.

*Poultry and other animal ownership*: The quantity of animals owned was collected differently for Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the data collection. During Phase 1, the quantity of animals owned by the household was collected as the total number of animals in the household at the time of the interview. During Phase 2, the quantity of animals owned by the household was collected as the total number of animals raised since the Khmer New Year (an 8-month time period [justification for this time period is described in Section 3.2.4]). Animal husbandry was assessed by asking and observing whether poultry flocks were free-ranging, mixed with other poultry and/or animals in the house yard and where flocks were allowed to forage for food (e.g., pond, rice fields). With the exception of quantity questions, animal husbandry questions were asked as closed-ended questions.

*Fighting cock ownership*: Fighting cock ownership, trading, morbidity and mortality were evaluated at the household level. The location(s) where fighting cocks were purchased and sold were asked as open-ended questions. Questions about the attendance at fighting cock events, where fighting cocks are kept in relation to the house, and frequency of fighting cock morbidity and mortality during the previous 8-month period were asked as closed-ended questions.

*Poultry selling/trading practices (discussed further in Chapter 6)*: Poultry trading practices of the household were evaluated as the quantity and frequency of chickens sold to locations inside and outside of their village during the previous 8-month period. The use of middlemen for trading poultry was also assessed and the destination of the sale of poultry was recorded. The mechanism by which subjects transported poultry (e.g., truck, motorbike, bicycle) and the use of cages to transport poultry for trade was assessed. The destination and quantity of chicken and

duck sale was asked as an open-ended question. All other poultry trading practice questions were asked as closed-ended questions.

*Wild bird mixing*: Questions were included to address the extent of wild and domestic birds mixing. The head of the household was asked if their flock(s) mixed with wild birds, where they mixed (location around the house yard) and the species (if known) of the wild birds that mixed with their flocks.

*Economic importance of poultry raising in the household*: The head of the household was asked if their main source of income was from poultry raising, the total income generated from poultry raising per year and the affect on the household economy if they were to stop selling poultry. During Phase 2 of the data collection, I added a question to assess the proportion of households that vaccinated their flocks against H5N1.<sup>2</sup>

The head of household questionnaire took approximately 40-45 minutes to administer.

# 3.2.2.4 Children

A short questionnaire for children was developed to collect demographic information as well as basic direct and indirect domestic and wild bird poultry contact patterns. Interviewers were instructed to administer the questionnaire directly to the child. If they were unable to answer for themselves, the parent/guardian answered for them.

*Poultry contact*: Children were asked several questions regarding the care of domestic poultry and fighting cocks at their home; food preparation practices of domestic poultry; collecting, hunting and playing with domestic or wild birds, playing with sick or dead birds; and bathing in ponds which are accessed by poultry. All poultry contact questions were asked as closed-ended questions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Vaccination for H5N1 has not been implemented in Cambodia however I wanted to evaluate the perception of vaccination by poultry owners since there are non-government individuals in rural areas of Cambodia claiming to have bird flu vaccines for sale.

*Knowledge of avian influenza*: Seven questions about the child's understanding of AI were included in the questionnaire. Only children that were able to directly be interviewed without the assistance of a parent/guardian were asked knowledge of AI questions. With the exception of have you heard of bird flu, can you get bird flu, and can you tell if poultry are sick, all knowledge questions were asked as open-ended questions.

The child questionnaire took approximately 10 minutes to administer.

# 3.2.3 Questionnaire Translation

All questionnaires were translated into Khmer by Institut Pasteur of Cambodia (IPC) staff involved in the study and back translated into English by IPC staff unrelated to the study. Any discrepancies were evaluated by myself and corrected by Khmer IPC staff.

# 3.2.4 Recruitment of Staff, Interviewer Training and Questionnaire Piloting

Sixteen Cambodian interviewers (all university-level educated sociology students) were recruited and trained to administer the questionnaires in Khmer. A two-day training course was held prior to data collection, which included an introduction to avian influenza and objectives of the study; a thorough run through the questionnaires to ensure understanding of *each* question contained in the four questionnaires and piloting the questionnaires by the study teams. The two-day training focused on how to conduct structured interviews to minimize interviewer and information bias (Armstrong et al. 1992). The training manual provided to all interviewers is provided in Appendix C.

Questionnaire piloting was conducted first in Kampong Cham by myself and IPC staff prior to the two -day staff training and secondly in Kandal province by interviewer teams. In both instances, piloting was conducted to evaluate the content, wording, understanding, order and relevance of each question (Armstrong et al. 1992). During piloting of the questionnaires, we identified substantial difficulties with subjects recalling periods of time such as *In the past two months, have you ...?*. We found that subjects needed to be reminded of a major event in order to recall events and therefore, we piloted asking recall periods since a major Cambodian holiday and chose the Khmer New Year (mid-April annually) to refer the subjects to. When asking about an event that occurred in the past, subjects were asked to recall the event or

practice within the previous 8-months, i.e., between the time of the interview and the Khmer New Year Holiday period (mid-April annually). Therefore, in the finalized questionnaires, recall questions were asked as *Since the Khmer New Year, have you...?* Few other substantial changes were made to household surveys after piloting; however instructions (e.g., skip patterns) and questions (primarily to correct translation) were modified as needed.

# 3.2.5 Ethical Considerations

# 3.2.5.1 Informed consent

Two levels of consent were obtained for the survey. The first level of consent was for the village to participate in the study. Along with a representative from IPC and/or National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI), I met with the village chief to explain the purpose and methods of the study. Participation by the village was based on the independent decision of the chief. This level of consent is required before individuals living in villages are allowed to give individual informed consent to participate in a study.

The second level of consent was individual informed consent for participation in the study. Subjects or their parents/legal guardians (for subjects <18 years old) were informed in Khmer about purpose of the study, benefits and possible risks to the subjects, study procedures, voluntary participation and withdrawal, contact for answers to questions regarding the study, and confidentiality of subject records.

Informed consent was documented by the use of a written consent form approved by the Cambodian and LSHTM Ethics Committees and signed or fingerprinted<sup>3</sup> and dated by the participant/parents, and by the trained interviewer (Appendix D). The signature/fingerprint confirms that the consent is based on information that has been understood. Each subject's signed informed consent form has been kept on file in a locked storage area at IPC and each subject or guardian received a copy of the information sheet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In Cambodia, signing documents with a fingerprint is considered more rigorous than a signature. Cambodians believe that anyone can sign their name, but cannot reproduce their fingerprint.

# 3.2.5.2 Ethical approval

Ethical approval was granted from the Cambodian Ministry of Health and LSHTM. Copies of ethical approval are provided in Appendix E.

# 3.2.6 Data Collection

Prior to data collection, field visits were conducted by myself and a representative from IPC or the NaVRI in each of the 115 study villages. Meetings were held with provincial veterinarians and village chiefs to inform them of the study objectives and obtain verbal approval to conduct the interview in their districts and villages, respectively.

Four teams of five individuals (1 team leader, 3 interviewers and 1 local village guide) conducted structured interviews in Khmer with participants at their homes. At the start of each day, the team leader met with the village chief to draw a map of the village, identify village boundaries and identify a local guide to accompany the team around the village for the day. Within each village, the first household was chosen randomly from the centre of the village. Subsequent households were then systematically sampled using a sampling interval having been chosen at random by myself (using random number generation from 1 to 10) for each village until thirty people (i.e., 10 adult [>15 years old] males, 10 adult females and 10 children [ $\leq$ 15 years old]) plus 1 village chief were interviewed. Inclusion criteria for individuals included a) residence in village  $\geq$ 6 months, b) minimum age of  $\geq$ 1 year old and c) ability of adult subjects to hear and speak.

For the first five households visited in each village, team leaders were instructed to include one adult as the head of household. The remaining 15 adults included in the village were administered the adult questionnaire. I made no preference as to the gender of the head of household questionnaire as long as the 20 adults included in each village were composed of 10 males and 10 females. The team leaders were provided with a tally sheet to keep track of gender and subject type for each village (Figure 3-5).

Village Tally



Figure 3-5 Team leader subject tally sheet used during field collection

Therefore for each village, among the 20 adult subjects required for inclusion, 15 were administered the adult questionnaire and five were administered the head of household questionnaire. As mentioned above the adult and head of household questionnaire were identical in all poultry handling behaviour questions with the exception that the head of household questionnaire included additional sections on household animal ownership, husbandry practices, fighting cock ownership and the economic importance of poultry raising in the household.

Interviewers were instructed to interview all household members that were present at the time of visit. For residents not at home at the time of initial visit, team leaders made an appointment to interview absent subjects later that day. Team leaders checked questionnaires for completeness and accuracy in recording by the interviewers at the end of each household visit. Any missing or unclear values on the questionnaire were corrected before the team left their allocated village each day. During each day of the data collection, I visited each study team in their allocated villages to monitor progress and address any questions by my field staff. At the end of each day, I checked the questionnaire data and discrepancies were corrected with the interviewers.

# 3.2.7 Constraints of Data Collection

Because of feasibility and safety issues (i.e., poor road conditions, distance of remote villages and increased potential for theft at night), each team had only one day (daylight hours approximately 6:30am - 5:30pm) to complete the 31 interviews in their allocated village. It was not possible to return to the villages the following day because of the distance of villages, road conditions, availability of interviewing staff and budget constraints. All villages were approximately 4 - 12 hrs away by 4X4 from Phnom Penh and 1-2 hrs from the district centres.

The interviewer teams did not have any problems completing the 31 interviews each day, although some teams needed to remain in the villages until late afternoon to complete interviews of returning subjects (mostly adult males) from work in the rice fields. It took one week to complete interviews of 600 subjects in each province (30 subjects x 20 villages) and therefore six weeks to complete interviews in all six provinces (4 interviewer teams x 30 subjects/village x 5 villages/week x 6 weeks = 3,600 interviews).

Figure 3-6 shows interviews that were conducted during the study. Verbal permission to take pictures and use them in presentations and/or reports was obtained from the interviewers, subjects and/or guardians.



Figure 3-6 Interviews of subjects recruited and included in the first cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians

Verbal permission to take pictures and use them in presentations and/or reports was obtained from the interviewers, subjects and/or guardians.

#### 3.2.8 Compensation

Each participant received an "avian influenza compensation kit" containing reusable rubber gloves and one bar of soap (worth approximately US\$1). Compensation kits were provided by UNICEF.

# 3.2.9 Data Entry

Two data entry analysts participated in the two-day training described in section 3.2.4 and were provided training on how to use EpiData v3.1 (EpiData association, Odense, Denmark) for data entry. The questionnaires were brought back to Phnom Penh where the two data analysts translated any open-ended questions recorded in Khmer into English and organized questionnaires by village and questionnaire type (head of household, adult male, adult female,

children, and village chief). All questionnaires were double entered into EpiData by the two data entry analysts and verified by checking discrepancies between the two data sets. Any discrepancies were checked against the original questionnaires and corrected. Additionally, the GPS codes of all surveyed households were entered into ArcGIS, version 9.0 (ESRI Systems, Redlands, CA, USA).

# 3.2.10 Statistical Methods

In general all numerical values were illustrated using frequency distribution and summarized by presenting the median and interquartile range (IQR) of the variable. All distributions were compared using non-parametric tests. Associations between categorical variables were tested using contingency table analysis.

# 3.2.10.1 Demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of rural Cambodians

The study population is described as the number of subjects recruited and interviewed for each subject type (head of household, adult subject, child subject, and village chief). Descriptive data on age is presented as median and IQR and is presented for both male and female subjects. Age distributions were compared using Wilcoxon rank sum tests for males and females separately. Gender is presented as the number and percent male for each subject type. Household composition and asset ownership are presented as numbers and percentages and compared across geographic regions. Associations between categorical variables were tested by cross-tabulation in a contingency table and chi-square tests or Fishers exact tests were used for statistical tests of significance as appropriate.

Socioeconomic characteristics (education level, ability to read and write, asset ownership, and house composition) are reported as number and percentages. Chi-square or Fisher's exact tests (as appropriate) were used to test whether these variables were differently distributed between age groups, for males and females separately.

# 3.2.10.2 Poultry contact behaviour

All poultry contact practices were evaluated as binary (yes/no) questions. Descriptive information in the form of numbers and percentages are presented on individual level poultry

contact behaviour. All analyses of poultry contact variables were stratified by age and gender. The distribution of food preparation variables by age among males and females is presented graphically. For categorical variables, chi-square tests were used to test whether these characteristics were differently distributed between age groups for males and females separately.

# 3.2.10.3 Knowledge and attitude questions

All knowledge and attitude questions that were addressed as closed-ended questions are reported as number and percentages by gender. Chi-square or Fisher's exact tests (as appropriate) were used to test whether these variables were differently distributed between age groups, for males and females separately.

# 3.3 Results

The demographic characteristics of the 115 village chiefs and 3,600 rural Cambodian subjects and the characteristics of the 115 randomly selected villages are presented below. Further results from the data collected by methods described in this chapter are presented in Chapter 4 (animal ownership, morbidity and mortality) and Chapter 5 (poultry contact patterns).

# 3.3.1 Subject and Living Characteristics

A total of 3,715 subjects were recruited and interviewed in the first cross-sectional survey, including 3,600 rural subjects (1,200 adult ( $\geq$ 15 years old) males, 1,200 adult females and 1,200 children) and 115 village chiefs (Table 3-3). There were no refusals from village chiefs and the refusal rate of rural Cambodians was low (<1%). Reasons for refusal included illness or that they were "too busy" to complete the interview. Refusals were replaced by further subjects.

Province	Districts	Villages	Recruited Subjects				
		(N)	Village Chiefs	Poultry Owners	Questionnaires Used		
Pursat	Bakan, Kandieng, Krakor	20	20	600 200 adult male 200 adult fema 200 children	ales } 100 heads of household 300 adults		
Banteay Meanchey	O-Chrov, Svay Chek, Serei Saephoan	17 <sup>a</sup>	17	600 200 adult male 200 adult fema 200 children	ales 300 adults		
Svay Rieng	Svay Rieng, Kampong Rou, Chantrea	20	20	600 200 adult male 200 adult fema 200 children	ales 300 adults		
Takeo	Kiri Vong, Kaoh Andaet, Doun Kaev, Treang, Tram Kak, Angkor Borei, Samraong, Prey Kabbas	20	20	600 200 adult male 200 adult fema 200 children	ales }100 heads of household 300 adults		
Kampong Cham	Batheay, Kampong Siem, Memot, Ponhea Kraek	19ª	19	600 200 adult male 200 adult fema 200 children	ales }100 heads of household 300 adults		
Prey Veng	Kampong Trabaek, MeSang, Prey Veng	19ª	19	600 200 adult male 200 adult fema 200 children	ales } 100 heads of household 300 adults		
	Total	115	115	1200 adult ma 3,600 females 1200 children	ales 600 heads of fiousehold 1800 adults 1200 children		

# Table 3-3 Recruited subjects for the cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians

<sup>3</sup> Within Kampong Cham and Prey Veng, 1 village was selected by PPS twice times because of its large population in the village selected **twice 60** subjects and 1 village chief were interviewed; One village in Banteay Meancheay was selected 4 times using PPS and therefore 120 residents and 1 village were included from this village.

#### 3.3.2 Village Demographics

Village characteristics were enumerated from the village chief questionnaires (n=115). The median population size of the villages included in the study was 951 (IQR: 643-1460, max 24,332; Figure 3-7). The median number of households in each village varied greatly (185; IQR: 120-294, max 7,000). The largest villages were located in Poipet, Banteay Meanchey (bordering Thailand).



The median distance from a village to the nearest health centre and hospital was 3.0 km (IQR: 2-5 km) and 11 km (IQR: 6-19 km), respectively. Roads between villages and health centres were most often made of dirt (74.8%); less common were paved roads (24.4%) and rivers (0.9%).

Household characteristics were enumerated from the head of household questionnaires (n=600). The median number of household members was 5 (IQR: 4-7, max 16). The median number of children  $\leq$ 15 years old living in each house was 2 (IQR: 1-3, max 7). The majority of subjects lived in households that were built on piles above the ground (77.3%) and mainly composed of wood (70.2%); however 20.3% of subjects lived in households made of a combination of wood/straw, wood/cement (5.2%), cement only (4.3%), or mud/straw (3.0%) built on the ground.

The majority of households owned a bicycle (82.8%), approximately half owned a motorbike (45.8%), and few households owned a car (3.3%). Sixty-eight percent of households own a TV, and 52.8% own a radio. Ownership of bicycles ( $X^2$ =20.2, p=0.001), motorcycles ( $X^2$ =33.1, p<0.001), telephones ( $X^2$ =33.2, p<0.001) varied by province whereas ownership of cars ( $X^2$ =7.9, p=0.16), televisions ( $X^2$ =9.2, p=0.10) and radios ( $X^2$ =10.0, p=0.8) did not.

86

The demographic characteristics of subjects are shown in Table 3-4. Village chiefs were predominately male (n=108/115, 93.9%) and classified themselves as farmers<sup>4</sup>. The majority of village chiefs (67.5%) reported having only completed primary-level education and their median age was 52 (IQR: 48-58).

Characteristic	Village Chief (n=115)	Adults (n=2,400)		Children (n=1,200)			
Age median (range)	52 (37-72)		36 (16-87)			9 (1-15)	
Gender n (% male)	108 (93.9)		1,201 (50)			612 (51)	
	n=114†	Total (n=2,399)†	Males (n=1,201)	Females (n=1,198)	Total (n=864) <sup>a</sup>	Males (n=445)	Females (n=419)
Education n (%) reporting						/	
Never attended school	1 (0.9)	431 (18.0)	100 (8.3)	331 (27.6)			
Primary	77 (67.5)	1164 (48.5)	539 (44.9)	625 (52.2)			
Secondary	27 (23.7)	568 (23.7)	381 (31.7)	187 (15.6)	818 (94.7)	424 (95.3)	394 (94.0)
High school	7 (6.1)	185 (7.7)	144 (12.0)	41 (3.4)			
Higher		26 (1.1)	17 (1.4)	9 (0.8) <sup>b</sup>			
Pagoda	2 (1.8)	25 <u>(1</u> .0)	20 (1.7)	5 (4.2)			
Literacy <sup>c</sup> n (%) reporting		n=2,400	n=1,201	n=1,198			
Can read	-	1,594 (66.4)	952 (79.2)	642 (53.5) <sup>b</sup>			
Can write		1288 (53.7)	813 (67.8)	475 (39.6) <sup>b</sup>			
Occupation n (% farmer)	n=115 97 (84.4)	1463 (61.8)	733 (61.0)	730 (60.9)			

Table 3-4	Characteristics	of	study	sub	jects
-----------	-----------------	----	-------	-----	-------

+ Education level was not obtained from one female adult and one village chief

<sup>a</sup> reported attending school (yes/no) among subjects  $\ge 6$  yrs old;

<sup>b</sup> $X^2$  p value <0.001 comparing adult males vs. adult females;

<sup>c</sup> The ability to read and write was assessed by asking the subject to read and write a sentence for the interviewer, respectively (see Adult Questionnaire in Appendix B)

-- not evaluated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In Cambodia, the use of the word farmer for occupation is based on their own personal classification of their occupation, rather than the individual actually owning a working farm and raising animals or growing crops for profit in the commercial sector. In the majority of cases, subjects that classified themselves as "farmers" are actually rice farmers, rather than farmers raising animals. However I did not distinguish farmer type (e.g. rice, animal) in the questionnaire.

Among the rural Cambodians recruited in the study, half of the subjects were males (by study design), farmers (55%), predominantly Buddhist (99%) and born in Cambodia (99%). Age data were available for 3,598 of the 3,600 rural Cambodian subjects (99.9%). The age and gender of the household subjects and village chiefs is provided in Figure 3-8. The median age of the rural Cambodians in the study was 23.5 (IQR: 12-43). Among adult subjects, i.e., those older than 15 years of age, the median age was 36 (IQR: 24-49). The median age of adult men was 35 (IQR: 23-49; n=1,199), which was slightly less than the median age of adult women (37 [IQR: 25-49], n=1,199) (Wilcoxon p-value=0.04).

Among children, i.e., those less than 16 years of age, the median age was 9 (IQR: 5-12). The median age of boys was 9 (IQR: 5-12.5, n=612), which was not significantly different from the girls median age (8 [IQR: 5-12], n=588, Wilcoxon p-value=0.37).



Education level ( $X^2$ =265.2, p<0.001) and the ability to read ( $X^2$ =178.0, p<0.001) and write ( $X^2$ =190.9, p<0.001) were significantly higher among adult males compared to adult females and the ability to write was highest among adult respondents in Svay Rieng (63.0%) and lowest in Kampong Cham (41.5%, p<0.001). There were no differences by gender in education level among children ages 6-15 years old ( $X^2$ =2.5, p=0.12).

#### 3.4 Discussion

This study is the first large-scale cross-sectional survey of a randomly selected population to evaluate the poultry handling behaviours of a population in regular contact with poultry and is the first study to evaluate poultry contact patterns of children. Direct contact with infected birds is assumed to be the main source of infection to humans (Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008) although the specific mode of effective transmission from animal-to-human is not fully understood and the absence of detailed exposure data from the approximately 400 human H5N1 cases makes it impossible to ascertain the true risk factors for human H5N1 cases. To fully evaluate risk factors for H5N1 infection, a large-scale seroprevalence study testing for antibodies of H5N1 would have been ideal; however at the time this thesis was developed, the funds available to conduct such a study were limited and there was reluctance among ethics review boards to grant approval for a study that could have possibly resulted identifying few, if any, seropositive individuals as had been the case in a previous seroprevalence study conducted in Cambodia (Vong et al. 2006).

This is the first study that has been conducted to evaluate detailed poultry contact patterns of a large random sample of people living in daily contact with poultry. With the questionnaires designed for this study, I was able to capture detailed information on individual level contact patterns of a large random sample of rural Cambodians. As will be shown in the subsequent chapters, this study has captured information on how individuals come into contact with poultry and gender and age differences in poultry contact patterns. The results of this study can be used to inform any future HPAI/H5N1 seroprevalence studies.

This study has combined self-reported and observational data collection, particularly on questions regarding raising poultry. A short observation based questionnaire should accompany questionnaires that evaluate animal ownership and husbandry practices. Although, I found no differences in the proportion of households that self-reported owning chickens or ducks or if domestic flocks were free-ranging, there were difficulties in households reporting ownership of fighting cocks since fighting cocks are often raised by other individuals who are hired to care for the birds but do not actually own the birds themselves. Households that raised

# .

and cared for fighting cocks reported owning no fighting cocks and thus the quantity of animals owned was reported as the number of fighting cocks observed in the household.

There are several limitations inherent to any studies with a cross-sectional design. Although we included a random selection of individuals from 24 districts in six provinces and Phnom Penh, we did not include subjects from Cambodia's 17 additional provinces. In particular, we did not include the indigenous tribes that reside in Cambodia's North-Eastern provinces, who may have different customs and rituals resulting in different contact patterns with poultry. Therefore I cannot assert that the results of this study are representative of all Cambodia, but they are likely to be representative of the provinces initially identified as having high poultry ownership and human population density and hence typical of populations with high backyard poultry ownership (for their own consumption).

Secondly, the accuracy of the responses of children needs to be treated with caution. Interviewers were instructed to administer the questionnaire directly to the child and although I monitored the technique of each interviewer who was responsible for interviewing children and was satisfied with their technique, I was not able to witness every child interview. Children were asked about their daily activities as they relate to contact with domestic and wild poultry and although I did not ask them to recall practices over any past period of time, the accuracy of 74% of children that answered questions directly may vary due to intraindividual variability in recall of regular activities (e.g., (Stein et al. 1991)). Conversely, the accuracy of the child's reported practices by a surrogate (i.e., parent or guardian) may vary as well (e.g., (Daly et al. 1994)).

After analyzing the data and having participated in several IPC H5N1 activities during my time in Cambodia, including a human and poultry outbreak investigation, two human seroprevalence studies and a case-control study to identify risk factors of H5N1 infection (Vong et al. 2009), I realized that several additional questions should have been included in the questionnaire. These include:

• The collection of quantity of cats owned by the household.

90

- The collection of more specific information on the grazing patterns of domestic flocks outside of the village i.e., the location where and frequency in which domestic flocks, specifically ducks, forage for food. Without this, I was only able to state whether flocks were free-ranging or not and if they were allowed to graze in rice fields. I did not, however, address where those rice fields were or the type of rice fields in which domestic ducks graze (rain fed low- or uplands, areas of deepwater/floating cultivation, or dry season irrigated land) (FAO 2004b).
- The collection of farmer type for self-reported occupation. The self-reported description of occupation should have included the type of farmer rather than just farmer. Without this information, it is impossible to distinguish between animal farmers vs. rice farmers. The predominant occupation in rural Cambodia is rice farming (FAO 2004b).
- The collection of household income. I intentionally did not collect household income because during piloting of the questionnaire we found that this was a sensitive issue and that subjects were reluctant to provide this information. Therefore, this variable was intentionally excluded from the head of household questionnaire. However this would have been an obvious indicator of socioeconomic status.
- The extent and frequency of swimming, bathing and fishing in ponds by adult subjects was not captured for all adult subjects included in this study. It was added into the questionnaires used in Phase 2 of the data collection and therefore is only available for 800 of the 2,400 adults included in the study.
- The collection of data on the type of farm equipment used, the proportion of households that share farm equipment and the frequency and locations in which the farm equipment is shared. Within Cambodia, the use of farm equipment is virtually nonexistent however, when it is used during rice harvesting season, it is often shared to minimize costs among rice farmers. Spreading of HPAI could be facilitated by the sharing of farm equipment (FAO 2005). The extent of the use and sharing of farm equipment should be further explored to adequately determine the potential risk of transmission of HPAI from farm-to-farm.

Criteria used by FAO to define poultry production sectors (FAO 2006). Although I collected some data on the following of FAO's criteria: biosecurity, birds kept, shed, contact with other chickens, contact with other ducks, contact with other domestic birds, contact with wild life and some information on market outputs, I did not collect data on the following criteria: veterinary service, source of medicine and vaccine, source of technical information, breed of poultry, and food security of owner. These data would have allowed me to fully describe the poultry sectors in rural Cambodia according to FAO.

Results from this study are presented in the following two chapters. Chapter 4 presents data on animal ownership and husbandry, poultry mortality experienced and poultry mortality reporting of rural Cambodians. The chapter also explores poultry ownership in rural Cambodia using poultry sector definitions from FAO (FAO 2006) and proposes newly defined categories within Sector 4 holdings to describe the heterogeneity in husbandry practices within this sector.

Chapter 5 describes the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of subjects and how they differ by age and gender. Using risk assessment methods, patterns of contact with poultry were used to generate risk indices of potential H5N1 transmission to different populations in contact with poultry.

# Chapter 4 Results 1 of the Cross-Sectional Survey of Rural Cambodians: Animal Ownership and Husbandry, Poultry Mortality and Understanding of Avian Influenza

# 4.1 Introduction

Millions of people around the world, particularly in Asia and many parts of Africa, live in close proximity to domestic poultry (Epprecht & Robinson 2007; Gilbert et al. 2007). Although ownership of domestic poultry is believed to be common, flock size is usually small and primarily raised for household consumption (Burgos et al. 2008; Omiti & Okuthe; Sumiarto & Arifin 2008). Such flocks commonly mix with other domestic species such as pigs, cattle, dogs and cats increasing the possibility of reassortment of H5N1.

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) has classified poultry production systems into four sectors (Table 2-4) in which they describe Sector 1 as the poultry production system for industrial integrated production; Sectors 2 and 3 describe commercial poultry production with decreasing levels of biosecurity, respectively, and Sector 4 describes village or backyard poultry production (FAO 2006). These definitions are most applicable in describing the poultry sectors of countries involved in varying levels of commercial poultry production.

They may not, however, be adequate to distinguish between the heterogeneous practices of backyard poultry holdings within countries throughout SE Asia and Africa, areas which in which HPAI/H5N1 has spread in domestic poultry populations (FAO 2008). Although it has been suggested that backyard poultry may be responsible for the sustained transmission of H5N1 within domestic and to/from wild-bird populations (e.g., (Gilbert et al. 2006; Grain 2006)), detailed information regarding the husbandry practices of countries with predominant backyard poultry holdings (FAO Sector 4) has not been provided. Without understanding the diversity of husbandry practices of Sector 4 farms, control policies that are typically developed for the average farmer may be inappropriate for a large majority of households that keep poultry (Chambers et al. 1993; Dent et al. 1994; Dent & Thornton 1998).

In this chapter, I describe the husbandry practices of households raising poultry and propose new subgroups for Sector 4 (village or backyard poultry) within the context of the current FAO sector definitions using data collected from my first cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians. Data on poultry mortality occurring in the study areas are also presented as well as poultry mortality reporting practices.

# 4.1.1 Objectives of the Chapter

The objectives of this chapter are to:

- Describe poultry ownership and husbandry practices of study subjects in the context of FAO's poultry production sector definitions;
- Describe poultry mortality experienced and poultry mortality reporting practices of poultry owners;
- Describe the understanding of avian influenza of study subjects by age and gender; and
- Discuss the extent to which the rural poultry sector may have influenced HPAI circulation in Cambodia

# 4.2 Methods

The methods used to collected data used in this chapter have been presented in Chapter 3. Statistical analyses used in this chapter are provided below.

# 4.2.1 Animal Ownership and Husbandry Practices

Descriptive statistics were obtained for quantitative and qualitative variables related to animal ownership and husbandry practices. Keeping poultry fenced and separated from other domestic and wild animals was used as an indicator of biosecure husbandry. After evaluating the distributions of household chicken and duck ownership, chicken flocks where divided into four size categories (none, 1-10, 11-50 and >50 animals) and duck flocks into five categories (none, 1-10, 11-100, 101-1,000 and >1000 animals).

The hypothesis that flock size differs between geographic areas was tested by Kruskal-Wallis test. The hypotheses that the proportion of biosecure farms and the proportion of flocks mixing with wildbirds differs between geographic areas was tested by Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests (as appropriate).

# 4.2.2 Poultry Production Systems in Cambodia

Poultry production in rural Cambodia was classified under FAO's definitions for poultry production sectors (Table 2-4) using data from the 600 heads of household. In the questionnaires, I collected data on the following FAO criteria: "birds kept", "shed", "contact with other chickens", "contact with other ducks", "contact with other domestic birds", "contact with wild life" and some information on "market outputs" (described further in Chapter 6). According to the FAO classification system, "biosecurity" is listed as "high", "moderate-high" or "low" although definitions of these levels of biosecurity are not indicated. In their classification of poultry sectors, FAO includes criteria that are clearly part of the concept of biosecurity (shed, contact with other chickens, contact with other ducks, contact with other domestic birds, and contact with wild life); indicating that these criteria overlap with the term "biosecurity."

I collected information on what I believe are the key parameters that define biosecurity, i.e., how birds are kept (always indoors, free ranging) and contact with other animals (domestic and wild birds). I did not collect data on the following criteria: "veterinary service", "source of medicine and vaccine", "source of technical information", "breed of poultry" (other than chickens or ducks), and "food security of owner". Definitions of these criteria have not been provided in any FAO reports.

# 4.2.2.1 Evaluating the heterogeneity in Cambodia's Sector 4 holdings

To explore and evaluate the heterogeneity of Sector 4 holdings in Cambodia, new criteria are proposed to describe backyard flocks of subjects recruited in this study. Table 4-1 provides definitions of proposed subcategories within Sector 4 holdings (sub-categories A, B, C and D) using FAO defined variables (FAO poultry sector, description of poultry production) some modified FAO criteria (where birds are kept and contact with other domestic and wild animals) and newly proposed criteria (predominant species raised, flock size, and selling characteristics). FAO uses "market outputs" as a criterion but this is not well defined.

95

		Proposed sub-categories					
Criteria	a	Sub-category A	Sub-category B	Sub-category C	Sub-category D		
No	FAO Poultry Sector	4	4	4	4		
F7 Defi	Poultry Production	Village/ backyard	Village/ backyard	Village/ backyard	Village/ backyard		
	<b>Biosecurity</b> <sup>a</sup>	Minimal	None	Minimal	None		
	Contact with of	ther animals	······	······	•		
sures	Domestic poultry	Some	Yes	Some	Yes		
Mea	Wild birds	Some	Some	Some	Some		
ecurity <sup>1</sup>	Other domestic animals	Some	Yes	Some	Yes		
Bios	Birds Kont	Indoors Closed System or;	Outdoors	Indoors Closed System or	Outdoors		
	Birus Kept	Kept enclosed part of the day	Open - Free-ranging	Kept enclosed part of the day	Open - Free- ranging		
L Si	Predominant Species Owned <sup>‡</sup>	Duck	Duck	Chicken	Chicken		
sinę istic	Flock Size <sup>†</sup>	Med/Large	Small	Med/Large	Small		
k Rai acteri	(median, range)	>50	1-50	>50	1-50		
Floc	Selling Charact	teristics					
- 0	Sell eggs	Some	No or rarely	Some	No or rarely		
	Sell birds <sup>‡‡</sup>	Some	No or rarely	Some	No or rarely		

# Table 4-1 Proposed subcategories within sector 4 poultry production

<sup>a</sup>Biosecurity is newly defined as minimal and none using the criteria "contact with other animals" and where "birds are kept." The cells shaded in yellow are modified FAO criteria; the cells shaded in red are newly proposed criteria.

<sup>+</sup>Flock Size: Small= 1-50 animals, Medium = 500-1,000, Large = 1001-10,000

<sup>t</sup> For households that owned both chickens and ducks, the quantity of birds owned determined whether the household reared predominantly ducks (Subcategory A, B) or chickens (Subcategory C, D).

<sup>‡‡</sup> Selling birds outside of the home village, (i.e., birds entering live poultry markets)

#### 4.2.2.2 Definitions of the proposed sub-categories

Subcategory A are medium sized duck flocks (>50 birds) with minimal bio-security (birds are kept indoors or allowed to be free-ranging for part of the day/kept indoors or fenced in at night) and some input into the poultry market chain (poultry may be sold outside of their home village); Sector 4 Subcategory B are small duck flocks ( $\leq$ 50 birds) with no biosecurity (all birds are free-ranging and may mix with other domestic and wild animals) and minimal input into the poultry market chain (i.e., rarely sell poultry); Sector 4 Subcategory C are medium sized chicken flocks ( $\geq$ 50 birds) with minimal biosecurity and some input into the poultry

market chain; and Sector 4 Subcategory D are small chicken flocks ( $\leq$ 50 birds) with no biosecurity and no input into the poultry market chain.

# 4.2.3 Poultry Morbidity and Mortality

For each of the studied flocks, the proportion of birds that became ill and the proportion of birds that died within the flock during the previous 8-month period (*Since the Khmer New Year*...)<sup>5</sup> were calculated to obtain an estimate of background patterns of morbidity and mortality experienced when an outbreak of HPAI/H5N1 is not suspected or reported. Questionnaires used for adult and head of household subjects were edited for Phase 2 of the data collection (Kampong Cham and Prey Veng, Nov-Dec 2007) to more accurately obtain the necessary data. Illness among chickens and ducks was defined as illness perceived by the subject.<sup>6</sup> The proportion of the flock that reportedly became ill or died during the previous 8-month period were calculated as:

Proportion of flock that became ill since the Khmer New Year:

 $=\frac{Total \# of birds that became ill since the Khmer New Year}{Total birds owned since the Khmer New Year}$ 

Proportion of flock that died since the Khmer New Year:

 $=\frac{Total \# of birds that died since the Khmer New Year}{Total birds owned since the Khmer New Year}$ 

Within-flock morbidity and mortality are numerically and graphically summarized and the hypothesis that they differ between geographic areas was assessed using chi-square or Fisher's exact tests, as appropriate. The proportion of households reporting poultry mortality were evaluated by within-flock mortality rates and was also evaluated after categorizing households as experiencing >60% mortality in a chicken flock or >30% mortality in a duck flock.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As described in Section 3.2, the questionnaires used in phase two of the data collection (Nov-Dec 2007) were modified to collect information on the quantity of chickens, hens and ducks owned, became ill and died from illness within an 8 month period of time. Therefore, morbidity and mortality rates were calculated for these two provinces (Kampong Cham and Prey Veng) only.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> During field visits and piloting, we learned that illness among chickens and ducks is recognized by most villagers if their poultry suffer from seizures, have white eyes or become motionless.

To whom subjects reported poultry mortality was evaluated between geographic areas using chi-square or Fisher's exact tests, as appropriate. Reasons for reporting poultry mortality were evaluated by geographic region using chi-square or Fisher's exact tests, as appropriate.

# 4.2.4 Understanding of AI

All knowledge and attitude questions that related to the subjects understanding of how AI affected their flocks—including the attitudes about poultry mortality reporting, practices of poultry owners when poultry were ill or died, and knowledge of AI symptoms in flocks—that were addressed as closed-ended questions summarized as absolute and relative frequency of responses, by gender. Chi-square or Fisher's exact tests (as appropriate) were used to test whether these variables were differently distributed between age groups, for males and females separately.

# 4.2.5 Economic Importance of Poultry Rearing in the Household

The proportion of households that report to base their income on poultry raising and the annual income reported to be based on poultry raising is summarized as the median and range.

# 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Animal Ownership, Husbandry and Home/Farm Biosecurity

Most households included in the study owned chickens (83.7%) or ducks (35.7%) (33.2% owned both chickens and ducks), however most poultry flocks were small (Table 4-2). Prevalence of other bird ownership (geese, singing birds, fighting cocks) was low, while most households owned pigs (55%), cattle/water buffalo (63.5%) and dogs (75.5%).

Animal*	Households raising (%)	Median flock size (n)	IQR	Max
Chickens <sup>†</sup>	502 (83.7)	14	7-25	150
Ducks <sup>‡</sup>	214 (35.7)	7	3-15	1,900
Fighting cocks	23 (3.8)	2	1-5	30
Geese	3 (0.5)	3	2-6	6
Singing birds	20 (3.3)	1	1-1	6
Pigs	330 (55.0)	2	1-4	40
Dogs	453 (75.5)	2	1-3	12
Cattle/buffalo	381 (63.5)	3	2-5	20
Chickens and ducks	199 (33.2)			
Chicken or ducks and pigs	323 (53.8)			

 Table 4-2 Animal ownership among households in rural Cambodia (n=600)

\*Ownership of cats was not assessed

\*Most chickens are local breeds (Sampov, Moan Prey, Red Jungle fowl, Kragnas)

<sup>‡</sup>Most ducks are local breeds (Muscovy, Tear Angkam [layer], Tear Sampov [layer/meat])

Chicken and duck flock size varied by geographic region with the largest size chicken flocks located in Prey Veng Province (median flock size=20; Kruskal-Wallis p<0.001) and the largest duck flocks were located in Takeo Province (median flock size=12; Kruskal-Wallis p<0.001) (Figure 4-1).



The distributions of chicken and duck flock sizes using flock size groupings are shown by province in Figure 4-2. The largest chicken flocks were located in the southern provinces of Svay Rieng and Takeo Provinces (maximum flock size=150) and the largest duck flocks (maximum flock size=1,900) were located in Takeo and Pursat provinces.



Figure 4-2 Chicken (a) and duck (b) flock size by province

# 4.3.1.1 Biosecurity

Approximately one quarter of households had fences (135/600, 22.5%), however only 8.9% (12/135) of fences were sealant to poultry. Almost all domestic poultry flocks were free ranging (97.8% of chicken flocks; 90.7% of duck flocks, Figure 4-3) and mixing with pigs and other domestic animals was reported to be common (53.8% of households owned poultry and pigs, Table 4-2). The proportion of households that kept birds enclosed in buildings at all times (4.7% and 0.8% of household raising ducks and chickens, respectively) or allowed to be free-ranging for part of the day/kept indoors at night was low (4.7% and 3.3%, respectively) (Figure 4-4).



Figure 4-3 Husbandry characteristics used in chicken (left) and duck (right) raising



Figure 4-4 Husbandry practices of duck flocks

The top two photographs provide examples of free-ranging flocks and the bottom two examples of duck flocks and the use of fencing to restrict the area where ducks forage for food; however the water sources where these ducks roam are shared spaces with other flocks.

The proportion of households keeping free ranging chickens or ducks did not differ by geographic region (chicken flocks  $X^2=8.0 \text{ p}=0.16$ ; duck flocks  $X^2=8.5 \text{ p}=0.13$ ). Free-ranging poultry are allowed to forage for food in and around the house yard and in nearby rice fields but did not generally roam outside of their home village (observation only). Less than one percent (0.8%) of chicken flocks and 4.7% of duck flocks were always kept contained. The distribution of flock size stratified by where birds are kept (flocks that are free ranging vs. always kept enclosed) are shown in Figure 4-5.



# 4.3.1.2 Domestic poultry access to household water supply

Within the study areas, the primary water source of households is located outside of the home and includes water wells with a pump (46.3%), ponds (26.5%), open water wells (27.0%), lakes (2.5%) and rivers (3.3%). Poultry have access to many of these water sources, including ponds (44.6%; Table 4-3).

Water Source	Primary water source of households n (%)	Water Source with poultry access n (%)
Pond	159 (26.5)	70/157 (44.6)
Lake	15 (2.5)	5/15 (33.3)
River	20 (3.3)	18/20 (90.0)
Open water well	162 (27.0)	
Water well with pump	278 (46.3)	
Water tap	35 (5.8)	
11		

Table 4-3 Household water source and poultry access

-- no access possible

#### 4.3.1.3 Vaccinated flocks

As described in Chapter 3, vaccination status of domestic poultry flocks was evaluated from households in Kampong Cham and Prey Veng only. Among these households (n=200), 3% of the heads of the household reported that they had vaccinated poultry flocks against AI. Among

those (n=6), 3 reported that they vaccinated their chicken flocks and 3 reported vaccinating both chicken and ducks against avian influenza.<sup>7</sup>

# 4.3.2 Extent of Wild Bird Mixing with Domestic Flocks

Among households that raise poultry (chickens or ducks, n=517), 25.3% (n=131) of the heads of household reported that their domestic flocks *sometimes* mix with wild birds, while 14.7% (n=76) reported that their flocks *always* (i.e., everyday) mix with wild birds. The proportion of households reporting domestic and wild bird populations (*sometimes* or *always*) mixing varied by geographic region with the highest proportion reported in Svay Rieng (65.2% 58/89), followed by Banteay Meanchey (56.5% 35/62), Takeo (54.1% 53/98), Pursat (50.6% 44/87), Kampong Cham (13.3% 11/83) and Prey Veng (6.1% 6/98) ( $X^2$ =109.1 p<0.001).

The wild bird species that were most commonly reported that mix with domestic flocks were "singing birds" (49.8%, 102/205) and egrets (19.5% 40/205). The locations where domestic flocks mix with wild birds include lakes (1.5%, 3/206), rice fields (60.7%, 125/206), and in the household farm yard (38.8% 80/206).

# 4.3.3 Overview of Cambodia's Poultry Sector in Rural Cambodia

Using data from the 600 heads of household and FAO's definitions for poultry productions systems (**Error! Reference source not found.**), 98.3% of poultry flocks fall within Sector 4 holdings and the remaining 1.7% of poultry flocks fall within Sector 3 holdings.

The same data on poultry ownership at the household level is categorized using the proposed sub-category Sector 4 definitions provided in Table 4-1. Using the proposed definitions, poultry raising in the study areas can be described as 1.7% Sector 3 (semi-commercial), 0.7% Sector 4 Subcategory A (medium sized duck flocks with minimal bio-security; some input into the poultry market chain), 6.3% Sector 4 Subcategory B (small duck flocks with no biosecurity, no input into the poultry market chain), 0.2% Sector 4 Subcategory C (medium sized chicken flocks with minimal bio-security; some input into the poultry market chain), and 91.2% Sector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Note that there are currently no authorized vaccines for H5N1 available in Cambodia. However there may be non-government individuals that claim to have "vaccines" for poultry diseases.

4 Subcategory D (small chicken flocks with no biosecurity, no input into the poultry market chain) indicating that the majority of households involved in raising poultry in rural Cambodia keep a very small number of free-ranging chickens.

# 4.3.4 Poultry Mortality and Reporting

Among households that owned poultry (n=517), 56.3% reported that they experienced poultry mortality (of any quantity) within the previous 8-months (*since the Khmer New Year [April 14-16]*). The proportion of households that experienced poultry mortality differed by province  $(X^2=25.0, p<0.001)$  with the highest proportion observed in Pursat (75.9%), followed by Svay Rieng (61.8%), Banteay Meancheay (59.7%), Prey Veng (52.0%), Kampong Cham (48.2%), and the lowest in Takeo (42.9%).

# 4.3.4.1 Poultry morbidity and mortality

Within flock morbidity and mortality was calculated using data from the households owning poultry in Kampong Cham and Prey Veng provinces only (Table 4-4).

	Provin	ce	α <u>ο</u> ματικα <sub>α τ</sub> α τη	
Characteristics of Mortality	Kampong Cham (n=83)	Prey Veng (n=98)	Total (n=181)ª	
Households experiencing any poult n (%)	ry mortality among:			
Chicken Flocks	36 (43.4)	41 (41.8)	77 (42.5)	
Duck Flocks	5 (6.0)	13 (13.3)	18 (9.9)	
Within Flock Morbidity (=[total numb median % (IQR)	er of birds that were ill/total flock s	size]*100%)		
Chicken Flocks	50.0 (24.0-83.3)	50.0 (20.0-75.0)	50.0 (24.0-75.0)	
Duck Flocks	62.5 (29.1-87.5)	50.0 (25.0-77.8)	50.0 (25.0-77.8)	
lithin Flock Mortality (=[total number of birds that died/total flock size]*100%) edian % (IQR)				
Chicken Flocks	50.0 (25.0-77.8)	50.0 (20.0-66.7)	50 (23.3-75.0)	
Duck Flocks	66.7 (60.5-75.0)	50.0 (25.0-77.8)	53.6 (25.0-77.8)	

Table 4-4 Characteristics of reported poultry morbidity and mortality in Kampong Cham and Prey Veng, 2007

<sup>a</sup>Limited to households raising poultry only

<sup>b</sup>Illness among chickens and ducks was evaluated according to the subject and is recognized by most villagers if their poultry suffer from seizures, have white eyes or become motionless

In Kampong Cham and Prey Veng Provinces, chicken mortality was common with 42.5% of households reporting at least one chicken having died within the previous 8-month period (since the Khmer New Year). Duck mortality was much less common with approximately 10% of households reporting that at least one duck died within the previous 8-month period. When mortality occurred in a poultry flock, approximately half of the chickens within the chicken flock (50% IQR: 24-75%) and half of the ducks within the duck flock (54% IQR: 25-77.8%) were reported to have died.

There were no linear or log-linear correlations found between mortality and flock size among chicken (r=0.103) or duck flocks (r=-0.028), or when comparing mortality  $\geq$ 60% among chicken flocks (r=0.049) or  $\geq$ 30% among duck flocks (r=-0.230).

#### 4.3.4.1 Poultry mortality reporting

Despite 93.7% of adult respondents (2,247/2,398) believing that *it is important to report poultry mortality* and half (56%) of households experiencing any mortality, only 16.8% reported poultry mortality to the authorities (Figure 4-6). The proportion of households reporting poultry mortality differed by region with the highest reporting occurring in Svay Rieng and the lowest in Banteay Meanchey ( $X^2$ =23.6 p<0.001). No relationships were found between the proportion of households that reported poultry mortality and increasing chicken (Fishers exact p=0.58) or duck ( $X^2$ =47.1 p=0.17) mortality rates in Kampong Cham and Prey Veng Provinces; however these results are based on very small sample sizes (Table 4-5).



Table 4-5 Within-flock mortality and poultry mo	rtality reporting in Kampong Cham and Prey
Veng provinces, 2007	

Within flook	<b>Chicken Flocks</b>	Duck Flocks			
mortality*	n households reporting poultry mortality to authorities / n households reporting mortality ≥X%				
≥50%	7/41 (17.1)	2/11 (18.2)			
≥60%	6/30 (20.0)	1/8 (12.5)			
≥75%	5/21 (23.8)	0/6 (0)			
100%	0/6 (0)	0/2 (0)			

\*Total number of birds within the household that died during the previous 8 months/ total number of birds owned during the previous 8 months

Subjects most often reported poultry mortality to village chiefs or village animal health workers (VAHW). To whom subjects reported to differed by province (Figure 4-7). For example, reporting to village animal health workers (VAHW) ranged from 9.1% in Banteay Meancheay province to 52.2% in Pursat province ( $X^2$ =13.4, p=0.02); and reporting to village chiefs ranged from 28.3% in Pursat province to 76% in Takeo province ( $X^2$ =23.0, p<0.001).



Figure 4-7 Poultry mortality reporting by province (To whom did you report?)

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 107

More than half of the adult respondents (n=2,398) felt that *AI education* (52.8%) would encourage poultry mortality reporting, while 21.7% stated that *if they were asked to report* by authorities, they would (Figure 4-8). Reasons that discouraged reporting included *not knowing where or to whom to report* (26.8%), that *poultry are not as important as compared to cattle/water buffalo* (21.6%), and that they *keep poultry to eat* (10%). Very few respondents feared culling or panic in the village as a result of reporting. Other responses to this open question are provided in Figure 4-8 below.



# Figure 4-8 Poultry mortality reporting (What would encourage/discourage you from reporting? open question)

\*Help from authorities in the form of drugs, food, and/or training

Adult subjects (n=2,400) were asked via open-ended questions what they expected if they were asked to report poultry mortality to authorities; 12% expected *medicine for poultry to be provided by veterinarians*, while 5% mentioned that authorities would *check for symptoms in poultry* after reporting. When asked what they expected if their poultry were culled, 46.2% responded that they expected *nothing*, while more than half of the subjects expected some help
from authorities either by *replacing poultry* (25.4%) or *providing money to replace poultry* (31.8%)

Eighty-eight percent of poultry owners  $(n=1,325^8)$  reported that they buried animals that died from illness, 29.1% prepared dead poultry as food for their family, 12.1% throw dead poultry into water sources, 17.8% throw in areas around the house yard and 21.6% burned dead birds. Few subjects reported having prepared poultry that had died from illness for sale (<1%) or used them for feed for other animals (5.5%). Figure 4-9 shows the responses of subjects that had reported experiencing poultry mortality since the Khmer New year (n=1,325).



\*In unsafe areas, e.g., in yard, behind house yard (not in water sources); not intended to feed other animals † Significantly higher among adult females (p<0.05); no other gender differences found

Sick poultry were treated similarly to poultry that died in that 26.8% prepared sick poultry for food for family, however 47.6% of respondents reported quarantining poultry (duration not recorded) from other household animals (e.g., pigs, dogs, other birds), 26.8% prepared poultry that died from illness for household consumption and 8.9% sold sick poultry alive. I separately evaluated what poultry owners did with the animals in the sick flock that did not become ill (i.e., the remaining healthy flock). The majority of adult respondents reported

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 1,325 indicate the total number of subjects (adults + heads of household) that owned poultry since the Khmer New Year

preparing these animals for food (73.6%), 50% sold poultry and 41.1% reported quarantining the flock from other animals (duration of quarantine was not recorded).

#### 4.3.5 Avian Influenza and Poultry Flocks

Sixty-nine percent of adults believe that their poultry flocks are at risk of infection from AI and 30% believe they can tell if their flock is infected with H5N1 (Figure 4-10). Respondents felt that they knew AI symptoms better if AI were affecting chickens (66-86% depending on province) than ducks (22-42% depending on province), however most symptoms that they believed were due to AI are common to other poultry infections (e.g., Newcastle Disease) with the exception of sudden death and death in large numbers. Twenty-six percent thought that *sudden death* and 4% thought *death in large numbers* were symptoms of AI in chickens; 41% and 15% of respondents believed *sudden death* and *death in large* numbers were AI symptoms in ducks, respectively.





<sup>+</sup> X<sup>2</sup> test p<0.001; <sup>‡</sup> X<sup>2</sup> test p=0.002

# 4.3.6 Economic Importance of Poultry Rearing in the Household

Among heads of household (n=600), 29.2% (n=175) reported that their income was primarily based on poultry raising, and another 43% reported that they generated some income from raising poultry. The median annual income generated from poultry raising was reported as 100,000 riel/year (25/year; range= 20,000- 1,000,000 riel [5-250]/year; n=174,).<sup>9</sup> When asked how their household income would be affected if they stopped selling poultry, 32% reported it would decrease most of their income while 22% reported it would decrease their income by half.

#### 4.4 Discussion

Most rural households in the study areas keep small flocks of less than a dozen chickens and/or ducks with outdoor access at least during part of the day. More than 90% of Cambodia's backyard poultry holdings consist of small chicken holdings (<50), which are reared for household consumption, rather than sold into the poultry market chain (discussed further in Chapter 6) and despite the fact that most flocks are allowed to roam freely to forage for food, the flocks in villages may not be dense enough to sustain transmission. This is discussed further in Chapter 6 after presentation of the results from the second cross-sectional survey.

Exploring the diversity of poultry holdings in the study population that fall within FAO's Sector 4 classification and the newly proposed subcategories within Sector 4 has allowed for a more informative description of the diversity in poultry holdings in Cambodia. Although using these proposed definitions allowed explanation of a small proportion of poultry ownership in rural Cambodia, I suspect that this would vary by country as there may be heterogeneity in the characteristics of poultry ownership in other countries with large Sector 4 holdings.

The proposed Sector 4, Sub-category A—which contains flocks of predominantly ducks and have a minimal level of biosecurity—and Sector 4, Sub- category B—which contain flocks predominantly of ducks that are allowed to forage for food throughout the village and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> UNFPA estimates that the "annual average per capita income of Cambodia is less than \$290" UNFPA. 2008 Background on Cambodia. Website: http://www.unfpa.org/focus/cambodia/background.htm. Last accessed 24 October 2008.

sometimes in rice fields, mix with domestic animals and have the potential to mix with wild birds—have the greatest potential for sustaining H5N1 transmission in rural areas of Cambodia (Gilbert et al. 2006; Gilbert et al. 2007). A sentinel duck surveillance program that began in 2006 of this exact category of ducks had to be stopped after only one month because H5N1 was found circulating in the flocks and all duck flocks were subsequently culled (as discussed in Section 2.5.1.3) (IPC Unpublished Data).

Wild bird mixing does not seem to be a major risk factor for animal-to-animal transmission either from wild birds to domestic flocks or vice versa as the most common species of wild bird that was reported to mix with domestic flocks was the singing bird. However approximately 20% of poultry owners reported that their domestic flocks commonly mix with egrets, a species that has recently been identified as infected with H5N1 in Hong Kong (OIE 2008d). The predominance of free-ranging poultry flocks in rural areas of Cambodia requires further evaluation into the extent domestic poultry flocks forage for food outside of their home village, including more detailed information about the specific location(s) and the frequency with which they roam, the extent of village overlap of free-ranging animals, the extent free ranging birds frequent large ponds and lakes within Cambodia and the extent to which this changes during the rainy and dry seasons. This study found very little wild bird mixing among households living in the three included districts in Pursat Province along the Tonle Sap lake, reportedly due to changes in the frequency of wild birds stopping over on the lake throughout the year (MAFF Unpublished Data).

Forty three percent and 10% of households reported mortality at any level within their chicken or duck flocks, respectively. Of note is that the upper range of within-flock mortality often exceeded 50% - 75%—which would indicate that these birds might have died under suspect conditions; conditions that should have been reported to village animal health workers (VAHW) as part of Cambodia's current passive HPAI surveillance program.

Since episodes of high poultry morbidity and mortality in backyard poultry flocks are not uncommon and because it was difficult for study subjects to distinguish symptoms of AI from other poultry diseases (e.g., Newcastle disease), rural poultry owners should be instructed to report *any* and *all* mortality to individuals who have been trained to have a greater understanding of the disease in animals (i.e., trained VAHW). Because other poultry diseases can have morbidity and mortality rates as high as 90% or 100% (e.g., Newcastle Disease (OIE 2008b)), it should be the responsibility of VAHW and NaVRI who are trained to recognize key diseases such as avian influenza and Newcastle disease in poultry to determine whether the flock died under suspect conditions (e.g., high mortality, rapid onset of death) that warrant further reporting and follow-up. Without VAHW, officials from NaVRI may be called upon to investigate numerous instances of poultry mortality that may not be necessary. Focusing on high mortality, would help officials differentiate common poultry mortality from more suspect mortality events. For example, using data from this study, if a threshold of 60% within flock mortality were assumed to be the basis for which VAHW called upon ministry officials to investigate 30 instances of >60% mortality within a chicken flock and 8 occurrences of >60% mortality within a duck flock.

This study found less than 20% of those that experienced poultry mortality reported this to the authorities and no increase in reporting occurred with increasing mortality rates. Only 17.1% (7/41) and 18.2% (2/11) of households that experienced more than 50% mortality within their chicken or duck flocks, respectively, reported this to the authorities. Only 23.8% (5/21) and 0% (0/6) of households that experienced more than 75% mortality in their chicken or duck flocks, respectively, reported than 75% mortality in their chicken or duck flocks, respectively, reported than 75% mortality in their chicken or duck flocks, respectively, reported this to the authorities. Although reporting of mortality was low, when it did occur villagers reported to their village chief and thus village chiefs should be included in AI education training sessions that are frequently run by FAO and NaVRI and if possible special training sessions should be held with village chiefs as well as VAHW.

Surprisingly, less than half of the study subjects stated that they did not expect any compensation from authorities when poultry died, despite approximately one third of households claiming their income is primarily based on poultry raising. Compensation from the government is not provided to individuals who have had poultry flocks culled as a result of H5N1 infection. It is possible that rural Cambodians are unaware that compensation is offered in neighbouring countries.

This study found that the use of biosecurity in animal raising should be improved to a minimum level by restricting poultry to be free ranging in specified areas (e.g., fenced in rice fields, making home fences sealant to animals) or by separating human areas from poultry. A reduction in free ranging poultry flocks, domestic/wild species mixing and domestic poultry and increase in the practice of separating domestic animals (poultry species, pigs, other animals) could not only result in the potential reduction of H5N1 poultry-to-poultry transmission but may also result in a reduction of overall poultry mortality experienced by the households.

It would be valuable to examine how the results (e.g., poultry ownership, husbandry practices, poultry mortality experienced and reported) of this study differ from other countries in the Mekong Delta Region; in particular, to compare these results with other countries with predominant Sector 4 holdings (e.g., Vietnam, Laos, Myanmar, Indonesia, Malaysia, etc) and across Africa (e.g., Nigeria (Adene & Oguntade 2006), Mali). These sub-categories may be helpful in describing the poultry production system where H5N1 domestic poultry outbreaks have been frequent (e.g., Vietnam and Thailand) to assess if there is an association between the poultry sector, and therefore husbandry practices of backyard poultry flocks, and the frequency of H5N1 outbreaks.

Backyard poultry rearing is very important to the livelihood of Cambodians as well as individuals in many countries throughout the world. However, since backyard poultry are an important element for the sustainability of HPAI infection, this type of poultry system makes controlling HPAI extremely challenging (Cecchi et al. 2008; Cristalli & Capua 2007; Songserm et al. 2006). Effective control measures would benefit from a better appreciation of the heterogeneity within this Sector, which is missed by FAO's classification. My results provide detailed information on this key sector and provide better understanding of how heterogeneous backyard poultry holdings can be. These heterogeneities should be considered when designing HPAI control strategies.

# Chapter 5 Frequency and Patterns of Contact with Domestic Poultry and Potential Risk of H5N1 Transmission to Humans Living in Rural Cambodia

#### 5.1 Introduction

Several epidemiologic studies have evaluated the risk of transmission of HPAI from poultryto-humans (Apisarnthanarak et al. 2005; Bridges et al. 2000; Bridges et al. 2002; Hinjoy et al. 2008: Katz et al. 1999: Lu et al. 2008; Ortiz et al. 2007; Schultsz et al. 2005; Thanh Liem et al. 2005: Vong et al. 2006; Vong et al. 2009). These studies have identified several risk factors that may be associated with infection including close direct contact with poultry and indirect transmission via the environment. However, despite frequent and widespread contact with poultry, transmission from poultry to humans is rare.

Transmission of HPAI/H5N1 from poultry-to-human is most likely to occur through direct contact with aerosolized virus, infected poultry organ tissue, blood, nasopharyngeal secretions, or faeces under poor hygienic conditions, or possibly through the ingestion of contaminated water (WHO 2006g; Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008). The risk of transmission will be influenced by the nature and frequency of contact with contaminated cells, tissue, blood or secretions in which the virus replicates (Beato et al. 2007; Isoda et al. 2006; Mase et al. 2006). Most of the H5N1 laboratory confirmed human cases to date have reported recent contact with infected poultry although the specific nature of the contact was not recorded (WHO 2006-2009).

Direct routes may include contact with infected blood or bodily fluids via food preparation practices (Greiner et al. 2007) (e.g., slaughtering, boiling, defeathering, cutting meat, cleaning meat, removing and/or cleaning internal organs of poultry); consuming uncooked poultry products (e.g., raw duck blood) (Apisarnthanarak et al. 2005; Beigel et al. 2005; de Jong et al. 2005) or through the care of poultry (either commercially or domestically). Little is understood

about H5N1 transmission via indirect routes, though recent studies have suggested an association between exposure to a contaminated environment (e.g., water; cleaning poultry cages or their designated areas; using poultry feces for fertilizer) and infection either through ingestion, conjuctival or intranasal inoculation of contaminated water, soil (de Jong et al. 2005; Vong et al. 2008) or via fomites on shared equipment or vehicles transporting products between farms (FAO 2004a). Other pathways may exist but are currently unknown.

At present there are an excess of reported cases in children and young adults (Ji-Ming et al. 2007). However, in the absence of detailed exposure data it is not possible to ascertain whether these represent increased exposure, susceptibility to infection, susceptibility to severe disease or a combination of all three. Case-control and seroprevalence studies have been conducted to explore risk factors for infection (Areechokchai et al. 2006; Bridges et al. 2000; Bridges et al. 2002; Dinh et al. 2006; Katz et al. 1999; Mounts et al. 1999; Ortiz et al. 2007; Schultsz et al. 2005: Thanh Liem et al. 2005; Vong et al. 2006; Vong et al. 2009). Direct contact with sick and dying poultry was noted as an important risk factor in one study (Dinh et al. 2006) but only 38% of the population risk of AI could be attributable to this exposure because of the relatively low prevalence of reporting of this practice. The power of these studies is limited because of their small sample size and there is a lack of reference data on how preparation of sick and dying poultry and other potential exposures differ within and between countries.

As described in Chapter 2, H5N1 outbreaks have been recurrent in domestic poultry and humans in Cambodia since 2004, mainly in villages located in Southern Cambodia (Buchy et al. 2007). Since household ownership of backyard poultry (FAO Sector 4 poultry production) in rural Cambodia is high (Chapter 4) an understanding of the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours in backyard poultry farming settings is necessary to assess the risk associated with different practices and formulate sensible recommendations to mitigate this risk. Data collected from my first cross-sectional survey was therefore used to explore patterns of human contact with poultry among rural Cambodians to identify populations with the highest H5N1 (and other HPAI) exposure potential.

#### 5.1.1 Objectives of the Chapter

The objectives of this chapter are to:

- Describe the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of rural adult males, adult females and children and how they differ by age and gender;
- Describe the understanding of avian influenza of adults and children; and
- Use risk assessment methods and the study subjects patterns of contact with poultry to generate risk indices of potential H5N1 transmission to different populations in contact with poultry.

## 5.2 Methods

## 5.2.1 Risk Assessment Framework

A conceptual pathway was developed within the risk assessment framework (1999; OIE 2005a) describing the steps to infection with H5N1 in humans from contact with poultry (Figure 5-1). The pathway includes the probability that an animal is infected with H5N1 (P), the probability that an individual comes in contact with an infected animal (C), and the probability of effective transmission of H5N1 from poultry to human in the absence of protective clothing ( $\beta$ ).

Several important data gaps and uncertainties currently exist—namely the persistence of H5N1 in domestic/wild poultry populations and in the environment under different atmospheric conditions, virus survival in poultry meat, organs, tissue and blood, exposure quantification of H5N1 from poultry, and empirical data on risk factors for transmission from poultry to humans—making it difficult to perform a complete quantitative risk assessment (FAO et al. 2007; Greiner et al. 2007) at this time. In this analysis, my field data are used to help with such an assessment focusing on the modules outlined in bold (patterns of contact that could result in effective transmission).



Figure 5-1 Conceptual pathway for transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans via contact with poultry

#### 5.2.2 Statistical Methods

#### 5.2.2.1 Prevalence of poultry handling behaviours

Poultry contact patterns were analyzed by gender and age using non-parametric tests (chisquare tests or Fisher's exact tests) as appropriate (as mentioned Chapter 3).

#### 5.2.2.2 Principal components analysis of food preparation variables

To reduce the number of variables that describe contact with poultry, principal component analysis (PCA) was undertaken (STATA v10). Principal component analysis is a nonparametric method of reducing the number of variables in a dataset that describe similar practices by extracting the factors that account for the most variance in the responses of the study subjects. Since there are several stages of food preparation (e.g., boil poultry, slaughter poultry, cut poultry meat, wash poultry meat, remove internal organs and wash internal organs), PCA can determine the best possible combination of these variables (called components) that explain the overall observed variation in the responses on food preparation practices (Kirkwood & Sterne 2003).

Using PCA, a set of eigenvalues and eigenvectors are calculated for each of the factors describing food preparation (i.e., cook poultry, boil poultry, slaughter poultry, cut poultry meat, wash poultry meat, remove internal organs and wash internal organs). Eigenvalues represent the variance of the principal components where the first principal component accounts for the greatest variance in practices between individuals in the study, the second principal component accounts for the second greatest variance, and so on. For each principal component, a set of eigenvectors or coefficients ( $\alpha_{n1}$ ,  $\alpha_{n2}$ ,  $\alpha_{n3}$ ,  $\alpha_{n4}$ ,  $\alpha_{n5}$ ,  $\alpha_{n6}$ ,  $\alpha_{n7}$ ) exist for each of the 7 food preparation variables. Scree plots (Cattell 1966) are used to determine the number of principal component 1 (PC<sub>1</sub>), principal component 2 (PC<sub>2</sub>) ... principal component n (PC<sub>n</sub>)) are created for each subject in the study using eigenvectors as weights, where:

$$\begin{split} PC_1 = & \alpha_{11}X_{11} + \alpha_{12}X_{12} + \alpha_{13}X_{13} + \alpha_{14}X_{14} + \alpha_{15}X_{15} + \alpha_{16}X_{16} + \alpha_{17}X_{17} \\ PC_2 = & \alpha_{21}X_{21} + \alpha_{22}X_{22} + \alpha_{23}X_{23} + \alpha_{24}X_{24} + \alpha_{25}X_{25} + \alpha_{26}X_{26} + \alpha_{27}X_{27} \\ & \cdots \\ PC_n = & \alpha_{n1}X_{n1} + \alpha_{n2}X_{n2} + \alpha_{n3}X_{n3} + \alpha_{n4}X_{n4} + \alpha_{n5}X_{n5} + \alpha_{n6}X_{n6} + \alpha_{n7}X_{n7} \end{split}$$

Where  $X_{n1}$ = cook poultry,  $X_{n2}$ =boil poultry,  $X_{n3}$ =slaughter poultry,  $X_{n4}$ = cut poultry meat,  $X_{n5}$ =wash poultry meat,  $X_{n6}$ =remove internal organs and  $X_{n7}$ =wash internal organs. These newly created variables (PC<sub>1</sub> and PC<sub>2</sub>) were subsequently analyzed by gender and age group using t-tests or Wilcoxon rank-sum tests as appropriate.

# 5.2.2.3 Estimates of human exposure risk

Risk profiles were generated for each subject using their individual poultry handling contact patterns. The probability of effective viral transmission following a certain type of contact is assumed to be high, moderate or low as indicated in Table 5-1. A transmission risk weighting score ( $\beta$ ) was applied to quantify the risk associated with high and moderate risk practices

compared to low risk practices. Practices listed in group 1 are believed to have a higher potential transmission risk based on the nature of contact and potential H5N1 exposure than practices listed in 2 or 3 while practices listed in group 2 have a higher potential transmission risk than practices in group 3. In the analysis presented here, I used values  $\beta 1 = 10$ ,  $\beta 2 = 2$  and  $\beta 3 = 1$ . The values I chose for  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 2$  and  $\beta 3$  are used in this analysis as an illustration of weighting exposures and are based on available data on the pathogencity of H5N1 in poultry tissues (Beato et al. 2007; Das A 2008; FAO 1999; Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Mase et al. 2006; Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2007; Perkins & Swayne 2001; Swayne & Beck 2005; Swayne 2007; Webster et al. 2007; WHO 2006g). As more epidemiologic and virologic data about the persistence of H5N1 in poultry are collected, more precise estimates for the  $\beta$  values may become available.

Estimates of human exposure risk for each study participant (n=3,600) were then obtained by multiplying each reported practice with the transmission risk-weighting factor and summing these over all practices reported by each individual ( $\sum \beta C$ ). In addition, sensitivity analyses were conducted by varying the weightings of  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 2$  and  $\beta 3$  (e.g.,  $\beta 1 = 1$ ,  $\beta 2 = 1$  and  $\beta 3 = 1$ ; and  $\beta 1 = 20$ ,  $\beta 2 = 5$  and  $\beta 3 = 1$ ) to determine the effect on the human exposure risk scores.

The exposure risks were analyzed by age and gender using t-tests or Wilcoxon rank-sum tests as appropriate. P-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using STATA (v.10) (StataCorp, College Station, Texas).

#### 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Poultry Handling Behaviours of Adults and Children

Contact patterns with domestic poultry are provided in Table 5-1.

		n (%)					
Probability of effective viral transmission (β Grouping)	Practice	Adult Males (n=1,201)	Adult Females (n=1,199)	<b>Children</b> (n=1,200)	p-value		Potential Viral Exposure
		>15 yrs old ≤15 yrs old		Adult males vs. Adult females	Adults vs. Children	-	
	Remove internal organs (poultry)	733 (61.0)	588 (49.0)	156 (13.0)	<0.001	<0.001	О, В
	Blow into beak (FC)	19 (1.6)	1 (0.1)	6 (0.5)	<0.001	0.27	NS, B
	Kiss, suck, lick wounds (FC)	10 (0.8)	0 (0)	6 (0.5)	0.002	0.72	В
High	Share water from the same bottle (FC)	21 (1.8)	4 (0.3)	21 (1.75)	0.001	0.07	NS, B
<b>(β1</b> )	Clean trachea (FC)	44 (3.7)	1 (0.1)	16 (1.3)	<0.001	0.235	NS, B
	Clean feathers (FC)	52 (4.3)	6 (0.5)	34 (2.8)	<0.001	0.46	B, F
	Wash internal organs (poultry)	745 (62.0)	775 (64.6)	249 (20.0)	0.185	<0.001	O, B
	Slaughter poultry	655 (54.5)	224(18.7)	138 (11.5)	<0.001	<0.001	B, F
	Touch/play with sick poultry or poultry that died from illness	597 (49.7)	485 (40.5)	90 (7.5)	<0.001	<0.001	B, F
	Use poultry faeces as manure	664 (55.3)	678 (56.6)		0.534		F
	Cut poultry meat	716 (59.6)	917 (76.5)	152 (12.7)	<0.001	<0.001	В
Moderate (β2)	Wash poultry meat	772 (64.3)	906 (75.6)	234 (19.5)	<0.001	<0.001	В
	Swim/bathe in water source where poultry have access <sup>†</sup>	56 (14.0)	41 (10.3)	196 (16.3)	0.113	0.01	F, NS
	Remove feathers from sick poultry <sup>†</sup>	76 (19.0)	101 (25.3)	102 (8.5)	0.04	0.001	NS, B, F
	Cleaning/sweeping poultry areas	843 (70.2)	903 (75.1)	442 (36.8)	0.005	<0.001	F
	Shopping at wet/live market for poultry	141 (11.7)	126 (10.5)		0.341		B, F
	Boil poultry	673 (56.0)	898 (74.9)	228 (19.0)	<0.001	<0.001	B, F
Low (β3)	Living in a household with poultry (raised chickens or ducks within previous 8 months)	517 (	86.7) <sup>‡</sup>	1,039 (86.6)		0.81	F

Table 5-1 Prevalence of practice associated with poultry in rural Cambodian households, main sources of potential exposure and weighted transmission risk potential ( $\beta$ )

Key: FC= Fighting Cocks; B=Blood, F= Faeces, NS= Nasopharyngeal secretions; O=Organ tissue; --not assessed <sup>†</sup> This practice was only evaluated in adults from 2 provinces n=400 adult males and 400 adult females <sup>‡</sup>Evaluated from head of household questionnaire only (n=600)

# 5.3.1.1 Food preparation practices

Preparing poultry for consumption consists of a series of steps including slaughtering the animal by breaking the neck or cutting the throat, bleeding, boiling, defeathering, removing and washing internal organs, and cutting and washing meat. Although family members as young as two years old reported being involved in the preparation of poultry for consumption during the study periods, these practices were primarily the responsibility of family members 16–60 years old (Figure 5-2).



Both men and women were involved in each of the stages of food preparation (Table 5-2), however overall, the proportion of adult subjects involved in all practices related to food preparation was higher than child subjects (Table 5-2). Among adults (n=2,400) significantly more men than women slaughter poultry and remove internal organs whereas adult women more often boil poultry, cut meat and wash meat.

	Adults ≥16 years old (% reporting)			χ <sup>2</sup> p-value		Children <16 years old (% reporting)		
Drastias	Total	Male	Female			Total	X <sup>2</sup>	p-value
Practice	(n=2400)	(n=1201)	(n=1199)	(adult male v. adult female)		(n=1200)	(adult v. child)	
Slaughter/ bleed	36.6	54.5	18.7	332.3	<0.001	11.5	249.1	<0.001
Boil	65.5	56	74.9	94.4	< 0.001	19	690.7	<0.001
Remove internal organs	55	61	49	34.9	<0.001	13	584.4	<0.001
Wash internal organs	63.3	62	64.6	1.7	0.185	20	601.2	<0.001
Cut meat	68	59.6	76.5	78.5	< 0.001	12.7	981.3	<0.001
Wash meat	69.9	64.3	75.6	36.3	<0.001	19.5	816.6	< 0.001

Table 5-2 Food preparation practices by age group (n=3,600)

Among children, more males than females slaughtered poultry (17.0% vs. 5.8%, p<0.001) and removed internal organs (15.7% vs.10.2%, p=0.005), while more females than males are responsible for boiling poultry (22.3% vs.15.9%, p=0.005) and cutting meat (15.7% vs.9.8%, p=0.002).

#### 5.3.2 Principal Component Analysis of Food Preparation Variables

Using PCA, a set of eigenvectors and eigenvalues were calculated for each of the factors (i.e., cook, slaughter, boil, remove internal organs, wash internal organs, cut meat, wash meat) describing food preparation. Two principal components were retained on the basis of the scree plot (i.e., the number of components to use in further analyses is indicated by the inflection point in the graph; Figure 5-3).





The first principal component (PC<sub>1</sub> or practice 1), which accounts for approximately 70% of the total variation in practices between individuals in the survey, consisted of all seven of the original food preparation variables (cook, boil, slaughter, cut meat, wash meat, remove internal organs, wash organs) and hence can be interpreted as general food preparation.

The second principal component ( $PC_2$ , practice 2), which accounts for a further 12% of the variation, was dominated by the practice of slaughtering (highlighted in red in Table 5-3).

		Principal Component					
Variable	α	1	α	2			
Cook	$\alpha_{11}$	0.3368	α <sub>21</sub>	-0.3832			
Boil	$\alpha_{12}$	0.3780	$\alpha_{n2}$	-0.3141			
Slaughter	$\alpha_{13}$	0.2792	α <sub>23</sub>	0.7462			
Cut Meat	$\alpha_{14}$	0.4105	α <sub>24</sub>	-0.2213			
Wash Meat	$\alpha_{15}$	0.4200	α <sub>25</sub>	-0.1359			
Remove Internal Organs	$\alpha_{16}$	0.3922	$\alpha_{26}$	0.3332			
Wash Internal Organs	$\alpha_{17}$	0.4087	α <sub>27</sub>	0.1388			

Table 5-3 Eigenvectors for each principal component

Two new variables were created using eigenvectors as weights (Table 5-3), where practice 1  $(PC_1=\alpha_{11}X_{11} + \alpha_{12}X_{12} + \alpha_{13}X_{13} + \alpha_{14}X_{14} + \alpha_{15}X_{15} + \alpha_{16}X_{16} + \alpha_{17}X_{17})$  and practice  $(PC_2=\alpha_{21}X_{21} + \alpha_{22}X_{22} + \alpha_{23}X_{23} + \alpha_{24}X_{24} + \alpha_{25}X_{25} + \alpha_{26}X_{26} + \alpha_{27}X_{27})$ . The frequency of practice 1 (general food preparation, 71% variation) follows a similar age pattern in males and females with the highest scores between the ages of 16-25, 26-40, and 41-60 (Figure 5-4). Subjects >60 years old had lower practice scores than children between the ages of 11-15 years old.

Practice 2 (slaughtering and removing internal organs) shows greater differences by gender with this practice predominately undertaken by males (Figure 5-5). There are significant differences in practice 2 by gender among subjects with males reporting higher scores than females across all age groupings (two-sample t-test p<0.001).



# Figure 5-4 Practice 1-general food preparation-by age and gender

Note: the median value is indicated by the horizontal bar inside the box, the upper and lower edges of the box are the  $75^{\text{th}}$  and  $25^{\text{th}}$  percentiles, respectively: the \* are outliers (>1.5 times the IQR); the upper and lower edges of the whiskers (lines) are the largest and smallest non-outlier values



#### Figure 5-5 Practice 2-slaughtering and removing internal organs-by age and gender

Note: the median value is indicated by the horizontal bar inside the box, the upper and lower edges of the box are the 75<sup>th</sup> and 25<sup>th</sup> percentiles, respectively; the \* are outliers (>1.5 times the IQR); the upper and lower edges of the whiskers (lines) are the largest and smallest non-outlier values

# 5.3.3 Other Poultry Contacts of Adults and Children

Regular contact with poultry for adult subjects (n=2,400) also includes using faeces for manure (55.9%; no variation by gender), touching sick or dead poultry with bare hands (49.7% in males vs. 40.6% in females,  $X^2$ =20.8, p<0.001), caring for fighting cocks (5.0% in males vs. 1.4% in females,  $X^2$ =24.7, p<0.001), and preparing wild birds for food (36.4% in males vs. 19.3% in females,  $X^2$ =87.6, p<0.001).

Among children (n=1,200) household responsibilities include feeding poultry (77.3%), gathering poultry and placing in designated areas or cages (43.5%), gathering/touching eggs (45.6%), cleaning poultry faeces (44.2% in males vs. 37.4% in females,  $X^2$ =5.1, p=0.02) and treating sick poultry with traditional medicines (18.5%).

Within the recall period, 35.9% of children reported that they had usually played with birds that were alive (42.5% male vs. 29.0% female,  $X^2$ =23.8, p<0.001), 2.7% reported playing with sick birds and 4.2% reported playing with dead birds (no gender difference). Thirty-two percent of children reported removing feathers from sick/dead birds (no gender difference), and 16.3% of children bathed or swam in ponds (no gender difference) in which poultry have access: of those 37.8% reported doing this every day. Twelve percent of adults (n=799) reported swimming, bathing or fishing in ponds where poultry have access (did not vary by gender). This reported activity was highest in children between the ages of 11-15 (16.5%) followed by children between the ages of 1-10 (16.2%) compared to adults.

A small number of child subjects were involved in the care of fighting cocks (5.7%; n=68; Table 5-1). Among children (n=1,200) 6.7% feed fighting cocks; 2.6% touch bloody fighting cocks; 2.8% clean feathers; 1.3% clean trachea with a swab or feather; 1.8% share water from the same bottle; 0.5% kiss, suck or lick wounds; and 0.5% blow into the beak of a fighting cock (the latter three are practices that occur during fighting cock matches). Twenty-eight percent of child subjects reported attending fighting cock matches compared with 11.3% of adult subjects ( $X^2$ =157.9, p<0.001). Among children, attendance at fighting cock matches was higher among males than females (35.0% vs. 20.6%;  $X^2$ =30.7, p<0.001). Adults reported attending matches on average once per week with the highest proportion of attendance among males between the ages of 16 and 25 years old (31.7%).

# 5.3.4 Use of Personal Protective Equipment when Handling Poultry

The use of personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves, rubber boots, face masks, aprons) among those that came in contact with poultry in a domestic setting was low. Few individuals had these items in their homes (as was observed by interviewers) however, more than half of the subjects reported (but were not observed) wearing such items when handling poultry (Table 5-4).

		% reporting used		
Protective Equipment	% Yes	Everyday	Sometimes	
Gloves in household	7.2			
Use Gloves when touching poultry (n=125)		65.1	25.0	
Boots in household	6.8			
Use boots when touching poultry (n=118)		48.3	26.7	
Apron in household	7.3			
Use apron when touching poultry (n=127)		64.3	32.5	
Mask in household	26.4			
Use mask when touching poultry (n=461)		61.5	25.2	

Table 5-4 Reported use of PPE by subjects caring for poultry (n=1746)

<sup>+</sup> Restricted to adults that cared for poultry

#### 5.3.5 Awareness of Avian Influenza

#### 5.3.5.1 Adults

Awareness of "bird flu" is high among adults (98.9%). The primary source of information for adults (n=2,400) is TV (89%), radio (76%) and posters (20%), however significantly more adult males than adult females report hearing/learning about AI from TV (90.8% vs. 87.2%;  $X^2$ =7.9, p=0.005), radio (82.5% vs. 69.2%;  $X^2$ =57.3, p<0.001), newspapers (3.5% vs. 2.0%,  $X^2$ =4.9, p=0.03), posters (22.9% vs. 16.9%,  $X^2$ =15.2, p<0.001), village vet staff (6.4% vs. 4.1%,  $X^2$ =6.4, p=0.01), and NGO health education sessions (11.6% vs. 8.4%,  $X^2$ =6.9, p=0.009).

Figure 5-6 illustrates the differences in the source of bird flu information in the six provinces. Of special note is the large variation in the proportion of subjects that learn about AI from television (76-96% depending on province) and radio (54-84% depending on province).





#### 5.3.5.2 Children

Among child respondents (n=890<sup>10</sup>), awareness of "bird flu" is high (94%); however the proportion of children that had heard of "bird flu" increased by age (68.2% 1-4 yrs old. 89.9% 5-9 years old, 98.0% 10-15 years old);  $X^2$ =73.7, p<0.001). The main sources of their AI information include TV (91%), radio (55%) and school (29%; Figure 5-7). Despite high awareness of AI, approximately half (45.8%) of the children believe that they cannot become infected with AI, however this varied by age group (29.0% 1-4 yrs old. 30.2% 5-9 years old, 52.6% 10-15 years old);  $X^2$ =47.0, p<0.001). Less than half of the children interviewed (41%)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Only children who were able to respond to the questions themselves (i.e., without the assistance of a parent or guardian) were asked knowledge and attitude questions about AI (n=890/1,200; 74%)

believe they can be infected with AI by touching (any) poultry or by touching sick or dead (died from illness) poultry (38.4%).



## 5.3.5.3 Transmission of avian influenza

Adult subjects were asked a series of questions about possible modes of AI transmission (human-to-human, animal-to-human transmission). Their responses are shown in Figure 5-8. For example, 76% of adults believe that they can become infected with AI from swimming in ponds. Eighty-three percent of adults believe they can become infected with AI by touching poultry faeces, however this was believed by significantly more men (86%) than women (79%;  $X^2$ =18.8, p<0.001). Of note, approximately 60% of the adults surveyed believe that AI can be transmitted via sexual contact similar to HIV transmission and 89% believe that AI comes from poultry raised outside of Cambodia whereas 31% believe that AI can be found in locally raised species.

Approximately 97% of adults believe that AI can be transmitted through undercooked poultry products, while only 10% believe that AI can be transmitted via well-cooked poultry products. Seventy-four percent of adults believe risky practices include touching wild birds (74.2%), eating wild birds (76%), touching poultry blood (91%), eating eggs from healthy poultry (62.5%), touching healthy poultry (8%), touching sick or dead poultry with bare hands (96.5%), or from other people (8.2%).



Figure 5-8 Beliefs on transmission of Al among adults (Do you think Al can be transmitted by...; n=2,398)

<sup>+</sup> X<sup>2</sup> test p<0.001; <sup>‡</sup> X<sup>2</sup> test p=0.001

#### 5.3.6 Estimates of Exposure Risk

Based on the identified patterns of contact and assumptions of transmission risk ( $\beta$ ; Table 5-1), estimates of exposure risk were calculated for each subject and analyzed stratified by age and gender (Figure 5-9). Overall, exposure risk was higher among males than females for subjects above the age of 10 (11-15 age group, p=0.002; 16-25 age group p<0.001; 26-40 age group, p<0.001; 41-60 age group, p<0.001; 61+, p<0.001). In both males and females exposure risk varies by age with the greatest risks among males between the ages of 26-40 and 16-25 (Figure 5-9). There was also a high degree of variability in risk (as seen in the

large confidence intervals). Of the 3,600 subjects, there were 590 subjects with an exposure risk score above the  $90^{\text{th}}$  percentile of the sample. These subjects were predominately male (72.6%) with a median age of 30 (IQR range 21-42).



Figure 5-9 Exposure risk scores by age and gender

Note: the median value is indicated by the horizontal bar inside the box, the upper and lower edges of the box are the 75<sup>th</sup> and 25<sup>th</sup> percentiles, respectively; the \* are outliers (>1.5 times the IQR); the upper and lower edges of the whiskers (lines) are the largest and smallest non-outlier values

#### 5.3.6.1 Sensitivity analysis of $\beta$ weightings

Exposure risk scores were also created using identical methods as described in section 5.2.2.2 but with different  $\beta$  weightings. Figure 5-10a shows the results of the exposure risk scored by age and gender using a 1:1:1 ratio for  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 2$  and  $\beta 3$  and Figure 5-10b shows the results of the exposure risk scored by age and gender using a 20:5:1 ratio for  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 2$  and  $\beta 3$ . These results find a similar risk pattern with respect to age and gender among subjects. The highest risk scores are among males between the ages of 26-40 followed closely by males between the ages of 16-25.



Figure 5-10 (a) Exposure Risk Scores by Age and Gender weighting  $\beta$ 1,  $\beta$ 2,  $\beta$ 3=1 and (b) Exposure Risk Scores by Age and Gender weighting  $\beta$ 1=20,  $\beta$ 2=5,  $\beta$ 3=1

#### 5.4 Discussion

These results demonstrate that most of the population in rural Cambodia is in frequent contact with domestic poultry, with an estimated 52% of the population carrying out on a regular basis at least one of the practices that one might consider high risk of effective transmission if the bird is infected. I also found that the frequency of exposure to poultry was higher in this study population than that reported in the control subjects used in the Vietnamese (Dinh et al. 2006) and Thai (Areechokchai et al. 2006) case-control studies, suggesting that contact patterns in Cambodia may differ to those in these neighbouring countries. However, at

present there are no other similar studies from these countries to enable a direct comparison to be made. Given the widespread exposure to poultry, it is perhaps surprising that only a small number of H5N1 cases have been reported in Cambodia. Although there is considerable scope for under-reporting of human cases the small number may be due to several factors the lower density of poultry per km<sup>2</sup> in Cambodia as compared to Thailand and Vietnam (FAOSTATS 2008), the low probability of people dealing with an infected domestic bird (i.e., low H5N1 prevalence and/or a short duration of infectiousness), and a low probability of effective viral transmission.

Within Cambodia, the typical diet consists primarily of white rice and fish products; animal products compose less than 8% of the daily energy supply (FAO 1999). Eating poultry as a source of protein is usually reserved for special occasions, typically weddings and national holidays (e.g., Khmer New Year [April], Chinese New Year [January/February]) and frequency food preparation of poultry therefore differs seasonally.

It is assumed that the probability of risk from preparing and consuming poultry is negligible if food preparation is conducted under strict hygienic conditions (Greiner et al. 2007). However. the use of personal protective equipment (i.e., gloves, rubber boots, face masks, aprons) of the subjects in these study areas when in contact with poultry was negligible. Few individuals were observed to have these items in their homes with less than 5% of subjects reporting wearing such items when handling poultry. Inactivation of H5N1 on the surface of poultry can occur when the animal is boiled, therefore if poultry are boiled before defeathering as is the case in Cambodia, the risk of exposure during defeathering is reduced. Furthermore, WHO guidelines state that cooking above temperatures of 70°C will inactivate H5N1 in meats and organs therefore boiling before defeathering would also reduce the exposure potential of individuals cutting/washing meat or internal organs (WHO & INFOSAN 2005).

Although awareness of AI was high among the study subjects, understanding of bird flu was low, especially among children, and at risk poultry handling behaviour continues to be common in rural areas. Despite more than 94% of children 15 years old and younger saying that they have heard of "bird flu," almost half of them do not believe they are at risk of infection from H5N1. Public awareness campaigns and risk behaviour modification intervention programs should therefore be targeted accordingly. Even though poultry contact was widespread, there was substantial variation in the frequency of different practices, which although they differed in magnitude according to practice, provide evidence that the potential risk of transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans is not uniform across age and gender even amongst populations living in close proximity to poultry. Males between the ages of 26-40 reported practices of contact with poultry that give rise to the highest H5N1 transmission risk potential, followed closely by males between the ages of 16-25. This population group differs from the age and sex distribution of the 387 confirmed H5N1 human cases that occurred up to 30 December 2008, in which an excess of cases were observed in children and no differences observed between genders(Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008). However the group with highest exposure in our study is more similar to the age/sex distribution of the confirmed Thai cases (n=25). The mean age of cases was 22 years and 64% of cases were male (WHO 2006-2009). Such sociodemographic differences in human cases of H5N1 may be because contact patterns with poultry differ between countries. It is also possible that there may be differences by age in intrinsic immunologic susceptibility to infection, pre-existing immunity against human influenza A virus and/or clinical presentation of disease.

This semi-quantitative risk assessment has several limitations and lacks the power of a formal quantitative risk assessment because of epidemiologic data gaps and uncertainties of H5N1 pathogenesis in the host species. To improve future assessments a number of areas would need to be strengthened. First, data are urgently needed on the prevalence of H5N1 in poultry species in regions where H5N1 is recurrent or endemic in domestic poultry flocks. These data are likely to be influenced by the use of biosecurity measures used on farms and in backyard farming settings. While H5N1 poultry outbreaks in countries are reported, because infection may remain asymptomatic in some host species (e.g. ducks), it is difficult to infer prevalence from poultry outbreak reports alone. Prevalence estimates in poultry will allow a greater understanding of the probability that a farm or animal is infected with HPAI/H5N1 (*P*, Figure 5-1).

Secondly, improved knowledge is needed on all the potential routes of transmission of H5N1 from poultry-to-humans and the prevalence of such practices in human populations. I have evaluated what I believe are the main potential routes in which people can become infected with H5N1, however we currently lack sufficient data from the confirmed H5N1 cases

around the world to fully evaluate other potential risk factors for infection such as what role water and other environmental factors play in transmission. Transmission could also include oral ingestion, conjunctival or intranasal inoculation from contaminated water while drinking, swimming or bathing or from faeces while caring for poultry (Vong et al. 2009) and may explain why more children than adults are infected. Furthermore, asymptomatic cases may occur because of low concentrations of viruses in the environment.

Thirdly, an understanding of the influence of genetic and/or immunological factors on transmission is urgently needed since there has been limited yet inefficient human-to-human transmission. There have been several suspected clusters of H5N1 among blood relatives in Indonesia and other countries, however these have been rare occurrences to date (Kandun et al. 2008).

Lastly, virus transmission potential should not be treated as equal across contact practices. Empirical data are needed on virus survival in poultry during food preparation practices, in poultry waste (i.e., poultry scrap, faeces), in soil and in water under different environmental conditions. In addition, data—either experimentally produced or collected during field investigations—are urgently needed on the persistence of H5N1 in poultry tissues. Specifically, which organ, tissue or secretion, if any, has the greatest potential for poultry-tohuman transmission. One way of estimating this is to quantify the viral concentrations in various tissues under a variety of conditions (e.g., days post infection, whether or not the animal is exhibiting symptoms, by vaccination status, etc).

Collaboration between human and animal health sectors is essential to understand the risk of transmission between domestic poultry and humans. Current exposure estimates are too general to explain the current pattern or to predict future cases of H5N1 infection in human populations. Rapid, systematic and standardized collection of detailed information on poultry contact patterns in suspected human outbreaks of H5N1 would improve our understanding of transmission from poultry to humans.

# Chapter 6 Poultry Contact Networks in Cambodia: Implications for Improving Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI/H5N1) Surveillance and Control

## 6.1 Introduction

In past epidemics of infectious disease, the movement of humans and animals has been instrumental in the transmission of the disease over great distances. Beginning around 1350AD and for the next 300 years, the transmission of the "Black Death" throughout Europe and Asia can be traced to the movements of humans on foot, horseback and boat (Scott & Duncan 2005). More recently, the worldwide epidemic of SARS illustrated our global connectedness via air travel (Hollingsworth et al. 2007; Hufnagel et al. 2004).

The movement of animals has played a key role in disease transmission as was seen in the 2001 Foot and Mouth Disease epidemics in the United Kingdom (Chis Ster & Ferguson 2007; Ferguson et al. 2001; Ortiz-Pelaez et al. 2006) and HPAI outbreak in the Netherlands (Boender et al. 2007; Stegeman et al. 2004). An understanding of human and animal movement and their contact structures—that is the links between premises via people, animals and equipment—can be used to design more targeted surveillance activities and inform models of disease spread which could result in more cost-effective disease prevention and control (Colizza V et al. 2007; Dent et al. 2008; Green et al. 2008; Hollingsworth et al. 2007; Hufnagel et al. 2004; Kiss et al. 2008; Truscott et al. 2007). Such targeted surveillance are particularly useful in resource limited settings (Stark et al. 2006).

Live bird markets are an important reservoir for HPAI (Woo et al. 2006), as seen in previous outbreaks in the US, Vietnam and Hong Kong (Hayden & Croisier 2005; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001; Kung et al. 2003a; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006) and as such, the movement of poultry through markets is potentially important in the circulation and spread of HPAI(Kung et al. 2007; Sims et al. 2003).

Within many countries in Asia, including China, Thailand, Vietnam and Cambodia, some HPAI/H5N1 surveillance programs have focused on live bird markets in which samples are taken and tested for influenza A viruses and/or antibodies on a routine basis. These activities have shown that H5N1 is circulating in live bird markets (Amonsin et al. 2008; MAFF; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006). Research has suggested, however, that implementing rest days, in which poultry stalls are emptied, cleaned and restocked can reduce transmission of HPAI and other viruses among birds in live markets(Kung et al. 2003a). Despite their likely role in the circulation and spread of HPAI in South East Asia, little is understood about the poultry market chains or the types and frequencies of contact that exist between rural people raising poultry, local markets and large-national poultry markets in the major cities.

A second cross-sectional survey of rural, peri-urban and urban market sellers and middlemen (i.e., poultry traders) was conducted in Phnom Penh and the same six Provinces (Kampong Cham, Prey Veng, Svay Rieng, Takeo, Pursat, Banteay Meanchey) to evaluate their weekly trading practices and assess seasonal changes in trading and/or poultry movement. The overall aim of the second study is to describe the current movements of poultry throughout Cambodia and examine how these movements influence the potential spread of HPAI at local, regional and national levels.

In addition, the results of this study are used to inform the Cambodia's HPAI surveillance strategies. Within Cambodia, the financial and personnel resources of the veterinary services have been limited and unable to implement nationwide continuous surveillance and/or vaccination programs. Risk based surveillance recommendations take into account financial and human resources constraints by the veterinary infrastructure (Snow et al. 2007; Stark et al. 2006).

Three months before data collection ended for this study (September 2007), NaVRI in collaboration with FAO Cambodia began to survey ducks in 14 markets located in 6 Provinces, increasing to 24 markets in 11 Provinces. Their aim was to detect the "presence of HPAI/H5N1 in the major duck producing regions of Cambodia, to estimate the level of risk that ducks pose to poultry (chickens and ducks in traditional and commercial enterprises, to enhance the public awareness of Avian Influenza in poultry markets and to reduce the risks of transmission from ducks to poultry and humans by greater understanding of the epidemiology of HPAI in ducks and the development of effective control measures" (MAFF Unpublished Data).

## 6.1.1 Objectives of the Chapter

The objectives of this chapter are:

- Identify all poultry markets within Phnom Penh and the 6 study areas;
- Describe and map basic selling characteristics of markets;
- Identify middlemen responsible for transporting live poultry in the 6 provinces and into and out of Phnom Penh;
- Determine the extent and frequency of occupational poultry handling behaviour of study subjects;
- Characterize and illustrate poultry trading practices of rural Cambodians, market sellers and middlemen;
- Characterize the potential role of networks in HPAI/H5N1 virus circulation; and
- Highlight where interventions need to be targeted in the case of poultry outbreaks or if possible where vaccination should take place.

# 6.2 Methods and Materials

# 6.2.1 Data Collection: Rural Cambodians

Poultry movement and trading data from rural Cambodians was collected during the first cross-sectional survey of rural Cambodians in six provinces (Kampong Cham, Prey Veng, Svay Rieng, Takeo, Pursat, Banteay Meanchey) from November – December 2006 and November-December 2007 as described in Chapter 3. The survey included 115 village chiefs (1 per village) and 600 heads of households (100 per province).

In summary, standardized questionnaires were administered by trained interviewers in Khmer. In addition to the topics of questions described in Chapter 3, additional questions were included in the questionnaires for the heads of household and village chiefs to collect data on poultry trading practices from within and outside of their home village. Questionnaires for the Head of Household and village chiefs are provided in Appendix B. The additional questions on poultry trading practices are described below:

*Village Chiefs*: Variables included the frequency of poultry trading via middlemen from their village and destination where the poultry were sold.

*Heads of Household*: Variables included the frequency of selling poultry within and outside of their village, the destination where poultry were sold, the quantity of poultry sold (by species) to each destination, and the use of middlemen for trading poultry.

#### 6.2.2 Data Collection: Poultry Traders

# 6.2.2.1 Identification of poultry traders and markets

In rural areas of the above provinces and in Phnom Penh, meetings were held with provincial and district level veterinarians to identify all markets located within the study districts that sold poultry. Visits were made to each named market and discussions were held with local market sellers to determine 1) if poultry were sold at the markets 2) the time of day poultry sellers sold at the market, 3) if middlemen worked at the market and if so, 4) when and where they were likely to frequent the market. For the purposes of this study, I defined an eligible poultry market as those that contain  $\geq$ 3 poultry selling stalls. Return visits were made to all eligible markets to interview all available market sellers and middlemen.

Snowball sampling methods (Wasserman & Faust 1994) were utilized to identify poultry selling markets, poultry sellers and middlemen responsible for trading poultry in the study areas and into Phnom Penh. Snowball sampling techniques are used when the quantity of individuals in the sample (e.g., poultry markets, market sellers and middlemen) are unknown. There are no known lists of markets, market sellers or poultry traders available from the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry or any other source. To obtain information on poultry markets in Phnom Penh and the trading of poultry into Phnom Penh, a focus group discussion was conducted with Phnom Penh market veterinary inspectors. Twenty-one vet inspectors from 15 markets were split into two groups and both discussed the two main objectives, which were to identify all markets selling poultry within Phnom Penh and gain insight into how to identify middlemen responsible for trading poultry at these markets (Figure 6-1). Market lists prepared by the two groups were compared and a final list of markets was created.



Figure 6-1 Focus group discussions with Phnom Penh market vet inspectors Permission was obtained from all subjects to take and use photographs in reports.

All markets identified through the focus group discussions were visited by field staff to collect basic data on the market selling characteristics, including the animals sold at the market (chickens, ducks, geese, cattle, pigs, fish, other), the number of live and "prepared" (i.e., boiled and defeathered at home prior to sale at the market) poultry stalls, and if poultry sold at the market were caged, tied together or free-ranging.

Veterinary inspectors who formed the focus-groups were not able to identify middlemen trading poultry with Phnom Penh markets, but provided contact details of members of the Office of Animal Health and Production in Phnom Penh. The Office of Animal Health and Production in Phnom Penh holds similar responsibilities for animal health as NaVRI except that they are responsible for animal health in Phnom Penh whereas NaVRI is responsible for animal health throughout the entire country. In-depth face-to-face semi-structured interviews were held with the Chief of Animal Movement in Phnom Penh and his staff who provided information about animal movement into the capital. During these interviews, information was obtained on poultry movements into Phnom Penh, the number of middlemen thought to be responsible for trading poultry in the six study provinces as well as into Phnom Penh and the transport patterns of middlemen, which were used to determine the most likely locations for interviews with middlemen.

Following interviews, field visits were made to veterinary inspection points located along all six national roads leading into Phnom Penh and three poultry markets in Phnom Penh identified as the "main poultry selling markets" (i.e., Orussey, Chba Ampov and Deum Kor Markets). As a result of my interviews with vet inspectors from these three markets and middlemen, approximately one dozen poultry stock houses located near these three main poultry selling market in Phnom Penh and 16 semi-commercial poultry farms were identified as being integral in the movement patterns of poultry. Field visits were also made to each of these locations.

#### 6.2.2.2 Interviews of market sellers and middlemen

Structured interviews with middlemen took place during field visits to markets which coincided with the known and suspected times the middlemen traded at each market, inspection points along national roads, stock houses in Phnom Penh and semi-commercial farms in Phnom Penh between October 2006-April 2007 and October-December 2007 (Figure 6-2). Structured interviews of market sellers took place during field visits at the time of day when market sellers were known to sell poultry (identified by district veterinarians and discussions with market sellers) and included all available market sellers at the markets. Repeat visits to the three main markets in Phnom Penh were made until one market seller per stall was interviewed.



Figure 6-2 Interview of middlemen at inspection point along National Road No. 6 Permission was obtained from all subjects to take and use photographs in reports.

The questionnaires for the market sellers and middlemen are provided in Appendix F. The variables included in each questionnaire are described below.

## 6.2.2.3 Questionnaires for poultry market sellers

Questionnaires were designed for poultry market sellers to address:

*Market Level Questions*: The first page of the poultry market seller questionnaire was observational and aimed to collect information at the market level and the stall level. Variables included: GPS coordinates of the market; which animals were sold at the market (yes/no; chickens, geese, singing birds, fighting cocks, ducks, pigs, cattle, fish, other); how each species was sold at the market (observed; alive, dead, sold whole or in part and whether organs of the animal are sold); the number of stalls at the market that sold live poultry and prepared (slaughtered away from the market) poultry (observed and supplemented by asking other market sellers); characteristics of how the birds were kept at the market (observed;

free-ranging, caged, tied together); and if poultry faeces were visible on the ground of the market (observed; yes/no).

*Stall Level Questions*: With the exception of how many poultry stalls were at the market, the same set of observations that addressed characteristics of the market were used to addressed the characteristics of the market sellers poultry stall.

*Demographic Information of the Market Seller*: Variables included: age (years old) and gender of the market seller; number of years they had traded at the market; and what type of trade was conducted at the market (bought only, sold only, bought and sold). Permission was sought to contact the market seller again and a mobile phone number was recorded if they owned a mobile phone.

*Poultry Selling Characteristics*: Variables addressed to the market seller included: number of people by gender that were working at the stall on the day of interview; quantity of people (by gender) responsible for preparing poultry for sale; quantity of people (by gender) responsible for boiling, bleeding, defeathering, removing internal organs, butchering of their poultry; the location (home or at market) where boiling, bleeding, defeathering, removing internal organs, butchering of their poultry took place; the use of gloves, boots, aprons, face masks (plastic or cotton) or other PPE on the day of interview (observed and recorded as yes/no); the number of times per week they cleaned their poultry cages and selling areas; and the use of disinfectant when cleaning their stall (yes/no) (Figure 6-3).



Figure 6-3 Market seller from Poipet (Akak) Market, Banteay Meanchey province, Cambodia Permission was obtained from all subjects to take and use photographs in reports. Note the cage for live poultry, poultry scrap pile and resting quarters behind the selling platform.

*Use of middlemen in poultry trade*: Variables included: number of days per week live chickens and ducks were received from middlemen; quantity of animals they received per shipment (if the subject was not able to provide an absolute quantity, a range of animals was recorded); and method of transportation of their poultry shipments (motorbike, car, truck, other).

*Origin of poultry*: Variables included: number of middlemen they purchased poultry from (interviewers recorded "0" if market sellers did not use middlemen and purchased poultry themselves); and the origin of the poultry they sold (country, province, district, village and/or market).

*Seasonality of trading*: Market sellers were asked to list periods of increased trading (e.g., holidays or festivals). Variables included: the name of the holiday or festival that was responsible for increased trading; and quantity of chickens and ducks sold in the 4 weeks prior to the listed holiday (if the subject was not able to provide an absolute quantity, a range of animals was recorded).

# 6.2.2.4 Questionnaires for middlemen

Questionnaires were designed for poultry market sellers (Appendix F) to address:

*Demographic information of subject*: Variables included: age (years old), gender, number of years employed as middleman; and the number of villages visited each day (#) and week (#) to purchase poultry. Permission was asked to contact the market seller again and a mobile phone number was recorded if they owned a mobile phone. In addition, GPS coordinates were taken at the location of the interview.

*Origin of poultry*: Variables included: the location(s) of origin where poultry was purchased (country, province, district, village and/or market); the number of visits each week to the named location(s); the quantity of chickens and ducks purchased at each location; the state of the poultry at the time of purchase (alive, prepared [i.e., dead: boiled, defeathered, internal organs removed] or dead and not prepared).

*Destination poultry were sold*: Variables included: the number of locations to which they sold poultry; the name of the locations(s) where poultry were sold (i.e., destination: country, province, district, village and/or market); the estimated distance between the origin and destination of each poultry trade (km); the quantity of chickens and/or ducks sold to each destination each week. Middlemen were also asked if they purchased poultry from or sold poultry to Vietnam (yes/no) and Thailand (yes/no); and if they purchased dead or sick animals (yes/no).

*Poultry Transport*: Variables included: mode of transportation used for chickens and/or ducks (moto, car, truck, other specified); if chickens and/or ducks were transported alive, dead or both alive and dead; if chickens and ducks were mixed during transport (yes/no); the quantity of chickens and/or ducks carried on their vehicle; the use of cages during transport (yes/no). If cages were used, middlemen were asked what the cages were made of (wood, plastic, or metal); if cages were stacked on their vehicle (yes/no); if there were trays to catch faecal matter beneath each cage (yes/no); and if cages were cleaned after each transport (yes/no).

*Selling Practices*: Variables included: if all poultry traded by the middleman each day was sold on the same day (always, sometimes, never); and what they did with poultry that they were unable to sell during the day (bring home, send them to slaughter, bring to other markets, bring back to other farms or other).
*Seasonality of Trading*: Middlemen were asked to list periods of increased trading (e.g., holidays or festivals). Variables included: the name of the holiday or festival that was responsible for increased trading; quantity of chickens and ducks sold in the 4 weeks prior to the listed holiday (if the subject was not able to provide an absolute quantity, a range of animals was recorded).

*Illustration of Movement via Middlemen*: At the end of each questionnaire, interviewers were instructed to sketch the path of poultry from origin to final destination. This was included in the questionnaire as a method to verify that the data collected via the questions would represent the actual path of movement from the point of origin to the point of destination. An example of this is shown in Figure 6-4 below.



Figure 6-4 Example of a sketch of poultry movement collected from a study subject

This illustration provides an example of how the movement of live chickens from Takeo Market, Takeo Province to Olympic Market in Phnom Penh was captured in the questionnaire.

# 6.2.3 Recruitment of Staff, Interviewer Training and Questionnaire Piloting

Three interviewers were trained to administer the questionnaires in Khmer. Piloting of the questionnaires took place in rural poultry selling markets to determine the best approach of administering the questionnaire so as to minimize disruption of selling and how to structure the questions to best obtain origin of purchase and final destination where the poultry were sold. We encountered difficulties in identifying the appropriate time to administer the questionnaire since poultry sellers were very busy while at the markets. I found that the best approach was to be at the markets before they began selling and remain in the market until

after they finished selling their poultry to wait for moments where they were free to spend a few minutes to be interviewed.

The questionnaires were modified to improve the nature in which poultry origin and destination information was recorded. I found that it was best to include a table format (Figure 6-5) to capture these data.

How long have you wo How many villages do	rked as a middlem o you visit each da	an transporting poultry? y? L_L_ vill	ages/day >>>> 2b. How	many villages do y	) years You visit ead	h week?		_ villages/	week
3 Where are the	villages located w	here you BUY chickens	and ducks?	≠ visits	Quantity   each	week?	Are anir	nals (1) aliv	e, (2) prepared,
	Province	District	Village	each week	Chickens	Ducks	(3) de	ead, not pre purchas	pared when ed?
a 1[] Vietnam							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3b 2[] Thailand						1	1[] A	2[] P	3[_] D/NP
3c 3[] Cambodia #1						1	1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
d 4[] Cambodia #2							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
le 5[] Cambodia #3							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
31 6[_] Cambodia #4	States and the						1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3g 7[_] Cambodia #5		1991 6 4.2		1		1	1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3h 8[_] Cambodia #6							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3i 9[ ] Cambodia #7					1		1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3i 10f 1 Cambodia #8					1		1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3k 11[ ] Cambodia #9			anne strate		11	1		2[] P	3[_] D/NP
21 426 1 Cambodia #4		and the second		1		1		2[] P	3[] D/NP

Figure 6-5 Table in middlemen questionnaire to obtain poultry origin data

#### 6.2.4 Data Entry and Analyses

All data were entered into EpiData v 3.2 and analyzed using STATA v10 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas).

The study population is described as the number of subjects recruited and interviewed for each subject type (head of household, village chief, market seller and middleman). Gender is presented as the number and percent male for each subject type. Descriptive data on age is presented as median and IQR and is presented for both male and female subjects. Age distributions were compared using Wilcoxon rank sum tests for males and females separately. Binary questions of poultry selling characteristic are presented as numbers and percentages and compared across geographic regions. Associations between categorical variables were tested by cross-tabulating them in a contingency table and chi-square tests or Fishers exact tests were used for statistical tests of significance as appropriate.

ID Code: |\_\_\_\_\_|

The use of personal protective equipment by market sellers was analyzed by gender and geographic region using chi-squared or Fisher's exact tests, as appropriate.

Reported distances from the point of origin where poultry were purchased to the destination where poultry sold via middlemen were summarized using the median and IQR. Distance was also aggregated into 50 km categories (e.g., 0 [traded within the same district], 1-50, 50-99, 100-149, 150-199, 200-249 and 250+ km) and the median and IQR of the number of poultry transported for each journey was calculated.

# 6.2.4.1 Transforming data on quantity of poultry trade

During the data collection, my interviewers found that some subjects felt it was easier to quantify the amount of birds sold in kilograms (kg) rather than the number of birds. Any data on quantity of poultry that was collected as weight (kg) sold per week was converted to number of birds using the average weight of chickens and ducks sold at Orussey Market in April 2008 (average weight of chickens was 1.2 kg/chicken; 1.8 kg/duck) (personal communication with the Office of Animal Health and Production, Phnom Penh). For data on the quantity of poultry that was reported as a range, I felt that the minimum value provided by subjects was a more accurate estimate of the quantity and thus the minimum value was used in the analyses among those that provided a range.

# 6.2.5 Contact Network Analyses and Interpretation

Social network methods were used to characterize the network of poultry movements in the study areas (Scott 2000; Wasserman & Faust 1994). Data on the origin of purchase, destination of sale, and weekly quantities of chickens and ducks traded between the two locations were used to create a directed network of chicken and duck movements by market sellers and middlemen within and into Cambodia.

The locations where poultry were purchased and sold for each subject were reformatted into source-destination pairs that included the quantity of poultry (chickens and ducks) traded each week across each source-destination pairing using STATA v10 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas). Poultry quantity data was aggregated for each identical source-destination pair. Poultry network adjacency matrices (Figure 6-6) were developed separately for chicken and duck movement.

	Destination					C. C. States		State of the second		CENTRAL PARTY
Source	A	В'	C'	D'	E'	F'	G'	H'	p.	
A	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
B	60	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
С	0	0	0	0	115	0	0	0	0	0
D	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
E	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
F	0	156	0	0	0	20	0	0	0	0
G	0	0	0	30	0	500	0	0	0	0
н	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
K	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
L	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
M	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N	0	0	0	0	34	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1000
P	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
R	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
s	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### Figure 6-6 Example of an adjacency matrix

The letters A-S in the first column represent the source and A'-J' in the first row represent the destination, where A=A', B=B' etc. The value in the cells between the source and destination (e.g., F=B') indicated the quantity of animals (chickens and ducks, e.g., 156) that are traded between the source and destination on a weekly basis. The chicken and duck adjacency matrices were composed of 175 X 175 locations.

#### 6.2.5.1 Visualization of the networks

The networks were illustrated using NetDraw v2.055 (Borgatti 2002). In the resulting networks, nodes indicate locations and were weighted using in- and out-degree. The colours of the nodes indicate location type (e.g., market, stock house, rural farm or household, commercial farm, semi-commercial farm, foreign source). Edges or ties linking nodes illustrate the direction of poultry movement as indicated by arrows and tie strength is indicated by the thickness of arrows (i.e., the thicker the arrow, the more poultry passing between from the two points).

In Figure 6-7 below, which is an illustration showing an example of a directed network, the dots represent nodes (i.e., locations) and the links are represented by directional arrows.



# Figure 6-7 Illustration of an example of a directed network The dots in this figure represent nodes and ties are directed as shown by arrows

# 6.2.5.2 Characterization of a network

The group and sub-group structure of the networks were explored by examining the number of components (i.e., the number of connected groups) within each trade network; the core and periphery, which is a way to measure areas of low and high cohesion in the network; the cutpoints, which if removed would divide the network; and centralization, which is the extent to which the network revolves around a single node (Figure 6-8) (Scott 2000; Wasserman & Faust 1994).



Figure 6-8 Examples of (a) a highly centralized network and (b) a network with clear cut points In figure b, the nodes in red, if removed would clearly divide the network in half.

As a measure of how well connected the nodes (locations) are within the network I calculated the in-degree (quantity of birds terminating at the node) and out-degree (quantity of birds originating from the node) for each network using UCINet software (Borgatti et al. 2002). Degree is the number of nodes adjacent to a given node, however in directed network degree is measured as in-degree, i.e., the number of links terminating at the node; and out-degree, i.e., the number of links terminating at the node; and out-degree, i.e., the number of links terminating at the node; and out-degree, i.e., the number of links terminating at the node; and out-degree, i.e., the number of links that originate from the node (Scott 2000; Wasserman & Faust 1994). In my analyses, in-degree measures the quantity of birds terminating at the node and out-degree measures the quantity of birds originating from the node. In Figure 6-8b, the red node on the right hand side of the diagram has an in-degree of 2 and an out-degree of 1. Degree is calculated as  $\sum_{i} a_{ij}$  where a= adjacency matrix.

Betweenness is a measure of the number of shortest paths between other points in the network that a node lies on and is a measure of the importance of the node in connecting other nodes (Scott 2000; Wasserman & Faust 1994). Betweenness is calculated as  $\sum_{i,j} \frac{g_{ijk}}{g_{ij}}$  where  $g_{ijk}$  is the number of geodesics (i.e., shortest path between nodes *i* and *j*) including the node of interest (*k*) and  $g_{ij}$  is the total number of geodesics between *i* and *j*.

#### 6.2.6 Risk-Based HPAI Surveillance Recommendations

Targeted surveillance recommendations were developed for the National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI) to improve their active HPAI surveillance activities. Recommendations were developed to identify locations in which early detection of infection is most likely to prevent transmission from poultry-to-humans and interrupt poultry-to-poultry transmission. The recommendations developed for NaVRI were based on the following objectives of the surveillance:

- 1. Objective 1: Monitor the HPAI status of poultry populations in rural areas
  - Nodes with the highest in-degree were enumerated as those most likely to detect HPAI if it were present in the market chain.
- 2. Objective 2: Early detection of incursion in nodes (markets) with high potential for spread
  - Nodes that are most likely to interrupt poultry-to-poultry transmission are those with greatest number of connections and the highest out-degree scores.

# 6.2.6.1 Connectedness of the networks: evaluation of the potential for spread of H5N1

In addition, I also explored the potential spread of H5N1 outbreak across the network by seeding a hypothetical H5N1 outbreak at various premises in the networks and examining how a disease might spread across a network via links of poultry trade. Figure 6-9 below is an example of how a disease might spread across a network via links of poultry trade. In this example, the virus was seeded in the node identified by the black circle. The gray nodes indicate the potential spread of the disease via directed trade links between the nodes.



Figure 6-9 Example of disease spread across duck network

Node colour indicates infected (grey) or uninfected (black) premises; black circle indicates the premises where H5N1 is hypothetically detected

The undirected links of the networks were viewed as potential infectious links between nodes. Likely routes of transmission included faecal-oral route via viral shedding of infected poultry and/or environmental contamination in the market by fomites, people and/or viral shedding of birds. However, I assumed that each of the directed links resulted in the effective transmission of the virus via the birds, fomites or people moving between the two nodes. No transmission dynamics were included in this exercise; however I treated the duck and chicken networks separately because of the difference in pathogenicity and presence of symptoms in the two species (for example (Saito et al. 2009)).

This exercise was repeated by seeding a HPAI outbreak in each of the 15 highest out-degree locations (which included locations in Vietnam) and separately if an outbreak were detected in the location with the highest in-degree value (Orussey Market). The total outbreak size of each seeded outbreak was calculated as the total number of nodes connected to the infected premises.

#### 6.2.7 Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was granted from the Cambodian Ministry of Health and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine ethical committees. Prior to sampling, field visits were conducted and meetings were held with provincial veterinarians and market veterinary inspectors to explain the study objectives and procedures. Written informed consent was obtained from all rural Cambodians. Verbal consent was obtained from all village chiefs, market sellers and middlemen prior to interview.

#### 6.3 Results

#### 6.3.1 Subject and Market Characteristics

#### 6.3.1.1 Poultry market identification

A total of 122 markets were identified in the study districts, of which 102 were identified as markets selling poultry (Figure 6-10), including 43 markets in Phnom Penh, five in Banteay Meanchey, six in Pursat, 11 in Kampong Cham, 15 in Takeo, 15 in Prey Veng and seven in Svay Rieng. An additional nine poultry selling markets were identified by middlemen that were outside of the provinces surveyed including one in Kampong Chhnang, one in Kampong Speu, one in Kampot, two in Kampong Thom, three in Kandal and one in Vietnam. Figure 6-11 shows images of the poultry selling areas of the three main poultry selling markets— Orussey, Deum Kor, and Chba Ampov markets—in Phnom Penh. The median number of markets identified per district was 3 (IQR [1-4]; n=102); within Phnom Penh the median number of markets per district was 4 (IQR 4-8.5; n=42).



Figure 6-10 Markets locations (blue dots) identified in study districts (shaded gray) in Cambodia; the inset identifies market locations in Phnom Penh



Figure 6-11 Poultry markets in Phnom Penh

Upper left: Orussey Market slaughtering area; upper right and lower left: Deum Kor poultry selling areas; bottom right: live bird selling area of Chba Ampov Market

Detailed selling characteristics were collected from 62 markets. All sold prepared or live chickens and prepared cattle, 64.5% (n=40) sold live or prepared ducks, none sold geese or fighting cocks, and almost all sold prepared pigs (96.8%, n=60) and fish (95.2%, n=59). Among markets that sold live chickens or ducks (n=31/62; 50%), 32.2% (n=10/31) kept live poultry caged together while 67.8% (n=21/31) kept poultry together at the markets.

The median number of stalls selling poultry (live or prepared) at the markets was 5 (IQR 3-7, max 34, n=62). All of the identified markets in Phnom Penh (n=43) sold prepared (boiled and de-feathered) poultry and approximately half (46.3%) sold live poultry and slaughtered poultry on the premises, i.e., are considered live animal wet markets. Approximately 10% (6/62) allowed poultry to be free-ranging in the markets. However there were poultry faeces visible on the ground at the market in 35.5% (n=22) of markets.

#### 6.3.1.2 Subject recruitment

A total of 115 village chiefs and 600 heads of households (100 from each study province) from 115 villages were recruited and interviewed, as were 120 middlemen, and 102 market sellers from the study provinces and in Phnom Penh. There were no refusals to participate in the study by village chiefs, heads of household and market sellers. There were a few (<5) refusals among middlemen because they felt they were too busy to be interviewed; among those, most agreed to provide their province of origin (poultry source) and allowed observational data (e.g., gender, species trading, mode of transport) to be collected. These data were included in the relevant analyses.

Village chiefs, heads of household and middlemen were predominately male, while market sellers were predominately female (84.3%; Table 6-1).

Characteristic	Middlemen	Market Sellers	Village Chiefs	Heads of Household
N	120	102	115	600
Gender (n [%] male)	78 (65.0)	16 (15.7)	108 (93.9)	378 (63.0)
Age (median, IQR)	35 (29-42)	40 (28-48)	52 (48-58)	46 (37-56)
Home residence (n provinces)	9 (n=111)	8	6	6
Length of occupation years (median, IQR)	10 (5-14)	10 (5-20)		
Villages visited each week (median, IQR)	3 (2-5) <sup>a</sup>			
Selling characteristics n (%)				
Sell any poultry	120 (100)	102 (100)	b	24 (4.0) <sup>c</sup>
Chickens	102 (85.0)	96 (94.1)		23 (3.8)
Ducks	29 (24.2)	53 (52.0)		3 (0.5)
Chickens & ducks	19 (15.8)	49 (48.0)		2 (0.3)

#### Table 6-1 Characteristics of poultry traders recruited

<sup>a</sup>n=110; -- not assessed; IQR=Interquartile Range

<sup>b</sup> Village Chiefs reported on selling practices of the village rather than self

<sup>°</sup>Sell poultry outside of home village

#### 6.3.1.3 Preparation of poultry for sale

The median number of males and females per stall responsible for preparing poultry for sale (boiling, bleeding, defeathering, removing internal organs, butchering at the market) was 2 (IQR: 1-3, range 1-7) and 1 (IQR: 1-2; range 1-5), respectively. Table 6-2 summarizes those responsible for each individual practice involved in preparing poultry for sale at the markets.

Practice	Males median (range)	Females median (range)	
Boil poultry	1.5 (1-7)	1 (1-5)	
Bleed poultry*	1 (1-7)	1 (1-5)	
Defeather poultry	2 (1-7)	1 (1-5)	
Remove internal organs	2 (1-7)	1 (1-5)	
Butcher (cut meat) poultry	2 (1-7)	1 (1-5)	

Table 6-2 Numbers of people responsible for the practices associated with preparing poultry for sale at markets

\*Slaughter by cutting the throat and bleeding poultry

# 6.3.1.4 Use of personal protective equipment by market sellers

The use of personal protective equipment (PPE) by poultry market sellers was minimal or non-existent. The largest number of subjects using any PPE were from markets in Phnom Penh (n=67) where 17.9% of market sellers were observed wearing gloves while handling poultry, 13.4% were wearing face masks, 7.5% were wearing rubber boots and 7.5% were wearing aprons. Only one market seller from outside of Phnom Penh (1/53) was observed wearing any PPE while handling poultry. Eighty-nine percent of market sellers (83/93) reported cleaning their selling stalls at least once per day, however only 18.1% (n=15) reported cleaning with disinfectant.

# 6.3.2 Characterizing Poultry Movement

#### 6.3.2.1 Poultry traders

Few of the 600 rural Cambodians interviewed reported selling chickens (3.8%) or ducks (0.5%) outside of their home village during the previous eight-month period (Table 6-1). None used middlemen to sell poultry and none were able to provide the locations where poultry were sold. Eighty-one percent of village chiefs (n=142) provided information on the destination of poultry sale via middlemen from their village, but were not able to quantify the number or specify the species of birds traded.

Focus group discussions and in-depth semi-structured interviews with animal health officials suggested that approximately 80-90 middlemen transported poultry into Phnom Penh on a daily basis. However, our field investigations identified and interviewed 120 middlemen. Almost all market sellers were able to provide the origin (i.e., source) of the poultry they traded. Therefore, poultry movement data from village chiefs in the 24 districts sampled, market sellers in the study areas and Phnom Penh and middlemen identified through

interviews with market sellers, vet inspectors and recruited at markets in the 24 districts and Phnom Penh and on the main routes to Phnom Penh were available for use in the network analyses.

Additionally, 16 semi-commercial farms near Phnom Penh, which were identified from vet inspectors and middlemen interviews with holdings of 2,000-4,500 chickens or 400-2,000 ducks (no mixed species farms were identified), were visited and the owners were interviewed. These farms do not practice an all in/all out system. Rather there is a "continuous flow of stock" (Kung et al. 2007) moving through the farm each week. The predominant sources of ducks from these farms were from Vietnam, which are purchased at 1-2 days old and are unvaccinated for H5N1. Farm owners reported that these ducks are reared for approximately two months before selling to markets in Phnom Penh.

Furthermore, approximately one dozen stock houses were identified throughout Phnom Penh from interviews with Phnom Penh veterinarians, market sellers and middlemen. The function of these homes is to collect (purchase) poultry from middlemen trading poultry from provinces outside of Phnom Penh, usually having travelled >50 km, and then sell to markets in Phnom Penh directly. These homes are equipped with large cages used to store live poultry. All stock house owners interviewed reported that poultry were sold to markets in Phnom Penh on the same day of purchase. Thus poultry were not kept in the cages for more than 8 hours before being sold onto markets in Phnom Penh.

#### 6.3.2.2 Distances moved

Poultry is transported by middlemen from nine Cambodian provinces and across the borders from Vietnam and Thailand. The median distance that poultry travelled from its source was 70 km (IQR 15.5-99.5) and the majority (84.3%) of poultry movement via middlemen was >10 km from the source and directed into Phnom Penh. The quantity of poultry transported each week by distance the poultry was traded (distance between the point of purchase and point of sale) is shown in Figure 6-12.



Figure 6-12 Total number of poultry traded each week by distance and the median number of poultry carried on each journey

\*Distance=0 indicates trading within a district

Using the data collected on poultry trading, a conceptual framework of the poultry market chain in Cambodia was developed and is illustrated in Figure 6-13. Poultry is predominantly transported throughout and into Cambodia by middlemen on motorbikes and trucks (Figure 6-14) and are generally traded from more rural sources to more urban/provincial locations (e.g., markets restaurants). Localized poultry movement, i.e., within a rural district, is conducted by middlemen travelling to up to 20 villages each day within a district to purchase poultry. Approximately half of the middlemen interviewed (46.4%) visited at least one village each day with median 3 villages visited per day (IQR: 2-5, Table 6-1) and sold this poultry to markets, largely in Phnom Penh. The remaining middlemen purchased poultry from markets and sold to other markets.



Figure 6-13 Poultry market chain in Cambodia

The arrows represent the movement of poultry via trade. The dotted lines in the figure represent a one-time movement of poultry from one location to a second location. Birds will rarely be traded from their point of origin beyond a second location before slaughter.

Poultry rarely spend more than one day in the market chain before slaughter and commonly move from their point of origin (village or rural market) to a second location (e.g., a provincial/national market) but are rarely traded beyond a second location. For example, it would be unusual for a bird to be traded from a village to a district market and then from that district market via middlemen to national market. Rather birds are sold to markets and on the same day are either purchased by local people for consumption or by local restaurants for slaughter.

Eighty four percent of middlemen reported that they always sold all of their poultry each day. Among market sellers who do not sell all of their poultry during the day 2.1% brought poultry home overnight and back to the market the following day to sell, 54.3% brought them home (to slaughter), 20.2% slaughter them, and 23.4% sold them to restaurants.



Figure 6-14 Poultry carried via middlemen on trucks (left) and motorbikes (right) Permission was obtained from all subjects to take and use photographs in reports.

# 6.3.2.3 Chicken movement

With empirical data on weekly poultry selling and transport patterns, directed networks of chicken and duck movements within and into Cambodia were constructed.

Chicken movement is shown in Figure 6-15 and is composed of 133 unique nodes. The network of chicken movement shows great connectivity with 94% of nodes (n=125) within a single component. Three smaller isolated components (2-4 nodes each) were not linked with the main network that links to markets in Phnom Penh.

The directed links in the figures illustrate weekly trading of poultry between locations and the median number of chickens traded between any two locations by middlemen each week is 281.3 (IQR: 140.7-410; n=113).

The core of the chicken network includes markets in Phnom Penh as well as rest houses and semi-commercial farms in Phnom Penh. The total number of chickens transported throughout the network during an average week of trading (i.e., not prior to a national holiday) is 82,655.



# Figure 6-15 Chicken trading network in Cambodia

The figure illustrates (above) node sizes weighted by IN- degree and below the same network weights nodes by OUT-degree. Node colour indicates location type (black=market, purple=stock house, red = rural farm or household, light green = commercial farm, grey=semi-commercial farm, yellow= foreign source), ties show direction as indicated by the arrow and tie strength is indicated by the thickness of the arrow (the thicker the arrow, the more poultry passing between from the two points).

#### 6.3.2.4 Duck Movement

The network of duck movement (Figure 6-16) is composed of 76 unique nodes and also shows great connectivity with 80.3% of nodes (n=61) within a single component, and six smaller (2-4 nodes) isolated components. Isolated networks of duck movement were found in Banteay Meanchey connected to Thailand, in Pursat, and in Kampong Cham. The main network includes nodes from markets from eight provinces and Vietnam and had direct links into markets in Phnom Penh. Poultry from Thailand does not link with the main network.

The directed links in the figure illustrate weekly trading between two locations and the median number of ducks traded between any two locations by middlemen each week is 145 (IQR: 33.3-1000; n=42). The total number of ducks transported throughout the network in one week is 35,049. The total weekly number of ducks transported from sources outside of Cambodia is 16,245 (99.8% from Vietnam) mostly as day old ducks to semi-commercial farms around Phnom Penh, which is approximately half (46.2%) of the ducks in the total network.



#### Figure 6-16 Duck trading network in Cambodia

The figure illustrates (above) node sizes weighted by IN- degree and below the same network weights nodes by OUT-degree. Node colour indicates location type (black=market, purple=stock house, red = rural farm or household, light green = commercial farm, grey=semi-commercial farm, yellow= foreign source), ties show direction as indicated by the arrow and tie strength is indicated by the thickness of the arrow (the thicker the arrow, the more poultry passing between from the two points).

The cores of both the chicken and duck networks include markets in Phnom Penh, stock houses and semi-commercial farms in Phnom Penh. The markets with the biggest influence in the poultry networks are all located in Phnom Penh. Figure 6-17 illustrates the quantity of poultry sold to these three markets each week. The secondary axis reports the poultry source as the number of provinces the poultry are traded from. For example, poultry from 11 provinces are sold directly to Orussey market each week.



Figure 6-17 Weekly trading of poultry into Phnom Penh markets

#### 6.3.2.5 Centrality measures of the networks

The locations with the highest in- and out-degree measures for the chicken network are shown in Table 6-3 and the distribution of in/out degree is shown in Figure 6-18. Within the chicken trading network, the nodes with the highest out-degree values, that is the locations that are most influential, were from Charoen Pokphand ("CP Company" a Thai based commercial poultry company) and five districts in Prey Veng Province. Three markets in Phnom Penh receive the most chickens (in-degree) each week and include Orussey Market, Chba Ampov Market, and Deum Kor Market.

Location*	Out- Degree	Location*	In-Degree
Chicken Network			
Ang Snuol (CP Company)	9283	Orussey market, Phnom Penh	34742
Ba Phnom District, Prey Veng	6235	Phnom Penh <sup>†</sup>	12519
Prey Veng District, Prey Veng	4777	Chba Ampov Market, Phnom Penh	5101
MeSang District, Prey Veng	3531	Deum Kor Market, Phnom Penh	4413
Takmao District, Kandal	3500	Stock house hear Chba Ampov Market, Phnom Penh	3561
Kampong Trabeak, Prey Veng	3383	Kandal	3500
Pea Rang, Prey Veng	3349	Kandal Market, Kandal	2186
Kandal Province	3347	Kro Kor Market, Pursat	1300
Kampong Speu	3189	Russey Keo (Mean Chay) District, Phnom Penh	1803
Ang Roka Market, Takeo	2388	A Kak Market, Banteay Meanchey	1140
Takeo Province	2229	Stock House near Orussey market, Phnom Penh	844
Ang Tasom, Takeo	2222	Olympic Market, Phnom Penh	801
Tram Kak District, Takeo	2093	Tuol Tompoung Market, Phnom Penh	752
Ang Tasom Market, Takeo	2049	Stock House hear Deum Kor Market, Phnom Penh	700
Romeas Hek , Svay Rieng	1738	Pursat Market, Pursat	620

Table 6-3 Locations with the highest in- and out-degree measures in the chicken network

\*The top 15 locations are shown

†A destination listed as "Phnom Penh" was collected from middlemen who were too busy to provide specific market names within Phnom Penh.





Note: The x-axis represents locations and the data provided in the figure has been sorted by out-degree.

The locations with the highest in- and out-degree measures for the duck network are shown in Table 6-4. Within the duck network, the node with the highest out-degree value was located outside of Cambodia (Vietnam); within Cambodia the locations with high duck output include districts in Takeo, Kandal and Kampong Cham provinces.

Locations with the highest in-degree were all located in Phnom Penh and included two main poultry selling markets and semi-commercial farms. The distribution of in/out degree for the duck network is shown in Figure 6-19.

Location*	Out Degree	Location*	In Degree
Duck Network			
Vietnam	14110	Russey Keo (Mean Chay) District, Phnom Penh	11400
Tram Kak District, Takeo	2983	Orussey market, Phnom Penh	9317
7 Makara District, Phnom Penh	2500	Chba Ampov Market, Phnom Penh	5166
Prek Phnov Market, Kandal	2400	Dong Kour District, Phnom Penh	3000
Prey Angkor Market, Vietnam	2100	Phnom Penh	1910
Takeo	1709	Takeo	1500
Pea Rang, Prey Veng	1300	Stock house hear Chba Ampov Market, Phnom Penh	813
Batheay, Kampong Cham	1200	Stock House near Orussey market, Phnom Penh	400
Cheung Prey, Kampong Cham	803	Deum Kor Market, Phnom Penh	355
Mean Chey District, Phnom Penh	840	Stock House near 7 Makara market, Phnom Penh	280
Koh Andeok District, Takeo	500	Serei Sophoan, Banteay Meanchey	210
Treang District, Takeo	500	A Kak Market, Banteay Meancheay	145
Prev Veng	488	Ang Tasom Market, Takeo	110
Kampong Trabeak, Prey Veng	365	Ang Roka Market, Takeo	97
CP Company	310	Kro Kor Market, Pursat	60

Table 6-4 Locations with the highest in- and out-degree measures in the duck network

\*The top 15 locations are shown





Note: The x-axis represents locations and the data provided in the figure has been sorted by out-degree.

# 6.3.2.6 Betweenness of the networks

Because the networks are highly centralized, measures of betweenness are far less important than if the networks contained many intermediary steps before reaching Phnom Penh. Therefore betweenness were calculated but are not informative in further analyses including in making recommendations for surveillance

# 6.3.2.7 Core/periphery of the networks

The k-cores of the chicken and duck network are provided in Table 6-5. The k-core indicates those nodes with at least k connections. In the duck network, for example, there are four nodes with four or more connections, seven nodes with three connections, 19 nodes with two connections and the majority of the nodes in the network have one connection (60.5%). In the chicken network, more than half (52.6%) of the nodes have only one connection to another node, whereas 21.1% have two connections, 15% have three connections and 11.3 have four or more connections.

	Network				
K-core	Duck (Total Nodes = 76) n (%)	Chicken (Total Nodes = 133) n (%)			
4	4 (5.3)	15 (11.3)			
3	7 (9.2)	20 (15.0)			
2	19 (25)	28 (21.1)			
1	46 (60.5)	70 (52.6)			

#### Table 6-5 Number of connections of each node in the networks

K-core is the number of connections to each node: e.g., k=core = 1, means the node has only 1 connection, 2=2 connections, 3=3 connections, 4= at least 4 connections.

For illustrative purposes, Figure 6-20 presents an image of the chicken network highlighting nodes in the core and periphery of the network. Nodes around the outside represent locations in the periphery of the network (i.e., low k-core scores), while nodes inside represent the core of the network (i.e., highest k-core scores).



Figure 6-20 Core and periphery of the chicken network

This network is identical to the chicken trading network shown in Figure 6-15 with nodes weighted as out-degree. Nodes in the inside represent nodes within the core of the network and represent markets in Phnom Penh, CP Farms, rural locations in Prey Veng and markets and rural locations in Takeo, while nodes along the edge represent nodes in the periphery of the network.

Node colour indicates location type (black=market, purple=stock house, red = rural farm or household, light green = commercial farm, grey=semi-commercial farm, yellow= foreign source), ties show direction as indicated by the arrow and tie strength is indicated by the thickness of the arrow (the thicker the arrow, the more poultry passing between from the two points).

#### 6.3.3 Seasonality of Poultry Movement

Several annual festivals were noted among market sellers and middlemen as increased periods for poultry trade. The two main annual holidays are Chinese New Year, which occurs each year in late Jan/early Feb and the Khmer New Year, which occurs in each year in mid-April. Subjects also noted several other holidays where poultry trade increases (Table 6-6).

Occasion	Month	Subjects reporting occasion as increased	% Median Increase (IQR) in Poultry Trade		
		poultry trade	Poult Chickens 122.2 (48.5-170.7) <sup>†</sup> 97.5 (89.9-197.7) <sup>††</sup>   	Ducks	
Chinese New Year <sup>a</sup>	late Jan/early Feb	204 (77.9)	122.2 (48.5-170.7) <sup>†</sup>	50 (31.2-921.7) <sup>‡</sup>	
Khmer New Year <sup>b</sup>	mid-April	71 (27.1)	97.5 (89.9-197.7) <sup>††</sup>	1265 (636.5-1894.1)	
Pchum Ben <sup>c</sup>	15 days in Sept	36 (13.7)	,		
Sen Kbal Teuk <sup>d</sup>	1 day in Sept	43 (16.4)			
"Wedding" Season <sup>e</sup>	October-April	46 (17.6)			
Chheng Meng <sup>f</sup>	April 1- 5	40 (15.3)			
Islam New Year <sup>g</sup>	late Dec/early Jan	1 (0.4)			

#### Table 6-6 Temporal trends in poultry trading by market sellers and middlemen in Cambodia

<sup>\*</sup>Lunar New Year; <sup>b</sup> Cambodian New Year; <sup>c</sup> Cambodian ceremony offering food to spirits; <sup>d</sup> Chinese ceremony offer food to spirits; <sup>e</sup> Period of increased occurrence of weddings due to cooler weather; <sup>f</sup> Offering to the spirits; <sup>g</sup> Islamic New Year †n=47; ‡n=6; <sup>t†</sup>n=7; <sup>i</sup>n=2; -- not available

Middlemen and market sellers reported higher periods of trade during the 1-4 weeks prior to these festivals. The links and direction of poultry movement do not change during these festivals (i.e., the networks do not change). However, the volume of birds traded each week increases.

For example, middlemen reported a median increase in chicken and duck trading of 122.2% (IQR: 48.5 - 170.7; n=47) and 50.0% (IQR: 32.3 - 921.7; n=6), respectively, during the weeks prior to the Chinese New Year, and a median increase in chicken and duck trading of 97.5% (IQR: 89.9-197.7; n=7) and 1,265.8% (IQR: 636.5-1895.1; n=2), respectively, during the weeks prior to the Khmer New Year.

# 6.3.4 Potential for HPAI Viral Spread Across the Poultry Networks

Both the chicken and duck networks showed a high degree of connectedness and centrality with directional movements from rural areas into nodes in Phnom Penh. Figure 6-21 illustrates the potential spread of H5N1 in four hypothetical outbreaks, each with different locations where the outbreak was seeded (indicated by the black circle). The red nodes indicate the potential spread of the disease via directed trade links between the nodes. Node shape differentiates between premises type (e.g., rural source, market, semi-commercial farm, etc).

Figure 6-22 summarizes results of seeding the outbreak in various nodes throughout the network and the spread via the connectedness of the trade links. The figure shows the total number of locations potentially infected based on where H5N1 is identified.



Figure 6-21 Connectedness of the network: a-d) Potential for disease spread across duck network by seeding the outbreak in a) Kampong Cham Market b) Svay Rieng Market c) Ang Roka Market, Takeo Province and d) a semi-commercial farm in Phnom Penh

The red nodes indicate infected premises; blue node uninfected; node shape differentiates between premises type (e.g., circle =market, square = rural source, triangle= semi-commercial farm)



# Figure 6-22 The number of locations potentially infected based on the location of H5N1 identification

The horizontal line = median value 5

#### 6.3.5 Risk-Based Surveillance Recommendations

Since the structures of the poultry networks in Cambodia are highly centralized and represent a spoke-and-wheel type structure with unidirectional movement into Phnom Penh, I identified markets with the highest in-degree as those most likely to detect HPAI if present in many areas of the country due to the large catchment area. The recommendations for risk-based surveillance are based on the objectives of the surveillance system and I have recommended to NaVRI that their active surveillance activities of HPAI be prioritized into two tiers (Table 6-7).

The purpose of the Tier 1 recommended locations for surveillance is to identify locations where HPAI can be rapidly detected if the virus is in the market system and would indirectly allow NaVRI to monitor the HPAI status of poultry populations in rural areas. These recommended locations include those with the highest in-degree values, and include markets in Phnom Penh, semi-commercial farms and stock houses in Phnom Penh.

The purpose of tier 2 recommendations is to identify locations that are most likely to interrupt poultry-to-poultry transmission of HPAI. These are locations with greatest number of connections and the highest out-degree scores. Using these criteria, four districts in Prey Veng, four markets in Takeo, one market in Kampong Cham, one market in Kampot province and poultry from CP farms should be included in HPAI active surveillance activities.

# Table 6-7 Recommended priorities for active HPAI surveillance in Cambodia

Lo	cation	Description	Justification for inclusion in surveillance				
Tier 1 Purpose: To identify locations where HPAI can be rapidly defected if in the market system							
1	Markets in Phnom Penh: Orussey Market, Chba Ampov Market and Deum Kor Markets	Markets with the greatest numbers of poultry trading, largest wet markets in Phnom Penh					
2	Semi-commercial Farms in Russey Keo District, Phnom Penh	16 semi-commercial farms near Phnom Penh, which have holdings of 2,000-4,500 chicken or 400-2,000 ducks; Ducks are day old ducks from Vietnam and unvaccinated for H5N1	Highest in-degree, most connections within both the chicken and duck				
3	Stock houses near major poultry markets in Phnom Penh	Approximately 12 stock houses that serve as an intermediary between middlemen from provinces outside of Phnom Penh and the markets in Phnom Penh. <sup>†</sup> Owners keep live poultry in cages for less than 8 hrs before selling onto markets. Some stock houses slaughter poultry before bringing to markets.	networks				
Ti	er 2 Purpose: To identify locations that are most lik	ely to interrupt poultry-to-poultry transmission					
1	Prey Veng: Prey Veng, Ba Phnom, MeSang, Kampong Trabeak	Most chickens come from rural sources in these 4 districts Prey Veng, most ducks come from Prey Veng Market					
2	Markets in Takeo: Takeo Market, Tram Kak Market, Ang Roka Market, Ang Tasom Market	Most ducks come from these markets in Takeo and are traded to markets in Phnom Penh	Nodes with greatest number of connections				
3	Market in Kampong Cham: Kampong Cham (Thom) Market	Most ducks come from this markets in Kampong Cham and are traded to markets in Phnom Penh	and the highest out- degree scores.				
4	Market in Kampot: Chhouk Market	Most chickens and ducks come from this market in Chhouk into Phnom Penh.					
5	CP Company	Commercial poultry facility with locations in Kampong Speu and Kandal Province <sup>‡</sup>					

<sup>†</sup> Further research is needed to identify ALL stock houses in Phnom Penh <sup>‡</sup> Further research is needed on CP farms

#### 6.4 Discussion

My results have demonstrated that live poultry movement in Southern Cambodia is unidirectional, highly connected and centralized. I found that the premises involved in poultry trade are closely linked via middlemen carrying live poultry over long distances and that the unidirectional movement of poultry into Phnom Penh make these markets in Phnom Penh a potential hub for the spread of H5N1, and thus ideal for HPAI surveillance and control.

Approximately half of the live ducks and most live chickens entering into Phnom Penh come from rural areas of Cambodia with backyard poultry holdings (Sector 4 poultry production (FAO 2006)). Localized movement, i.e., <5-10 km radius of the source, was not fully captured by the network analysis as rural Cambodians are not in the regular habit of selling poultry outside of their villages. Rather backyard poultry are entering the market chain by middlemen who reported visiting up to 20 villages a day to obtain enough poultry to sell to a market. This pattern of multiple and routine visits to villages by middlemen presents a major limitation of the control and surveillance of HPAI in Cambodia because their vehicles could serve as the potential mechanism to spread the virus from village to village before they reach markets or from markets back to their home village if they visited an infected market.

Approximately 85% of middlemen trade live birds >10 km from where they purchased the animals. Guidelines in the European Union and United States recommend restricting the movement poultry for the control of H5N1 (2006; USDA/APHIS), a policy that would likely be difficult to administer in Cambodia and unlikely to fully stop poultry movement into Phnom Penh.

Poultry movements within the province bordering Thailand (Banteay Meanchey) and into this province from Thailand are separated from the main network linking Phnom Penh. Of importance to highlight, however, is the dominance of ducks traded from Vietnam into the Cambodian market chain. Cross-border movement of poultry is currently illegal, however this research identified more than 16,000 ducklings entering the Cambodian market chain weekly, composing the other half of the total duck network. Ducks from Vietnam are sold directly to semi-commercial farms and markets located in Phnom Penh, all of which should be included in routine HPAI surveillance activities.

Though this study was not able to capture localized cross-border trading activities by rural Cambodians, it is possible that low levels of trading poultry across international borders is occurring (IPC Unpublished Data) and likely at an increased rate around the time of the Chinese and Khmer New Year festivals when there may be a large differential between the cost of poultry on either side of the border. Although the extent of this trading is unknown, I am aware of several incidents of illegal trading of live chickens and ducks across the border around the Chinese and Khmer New Years (MAFF Unpublished Data).

This is further supported by the remarkable increase that is reported in live poultry trading via market sellers and middlemen in the weeks prior to the Chinese and Khmer New Years festivals. Although my results are based on small sample sizes, the magnitude of the increase indicates that there are significant increases in trade volume during the weeks prior to these holidays. All of the human cases and approximately half of the domestic poultry outbreaks in Cambodia have occurred between the Chinese and Khmer New Year festivals (OIE 2008a; WHO 2006-2009), times in which the consumption of poultry increases. Increases in H5N1 poultry outbreaks in Nigeria in 2006-2007 may have been linked to increased periods of trading (Joannis et al. 2008).

My results have also identified the need to improve the working conditions of poultry selling markets, which can be greatly enhanced by implementing basic improvements in the hygiene of the markets and the use of protective equipment by market sellers and by individuals responsible for slaughtering poultry at the markets. Although I found that poultry spend *at most* one day in the market chain before slaughter, the conditions in the live birds selling areas and slaughtering areas could facilitate a viable environment for HPAI to survive and/or persist (Kung et al. 2007; Kung et al. 2003b; Nguyen et al. 2005; Webster 2004). Since the implementation of rest days in live bird selling markets has been successful in markets in Hong Kong (Kung et al. 2003b) and recent evidence from NaVRI has identified asymptomatic ducks with H5N1 antibodies in several markets in Cambodia (MAFF Unpublished Data), implementing routine monthly disinfection in the wet markets with the largest influx of poultry might be important in reducing the potential for animal-to-animal and animal-to-human HPAI transmission.

As of 25 July 2008, 1,137 H5N1 outbreaks in domestic poultry have been confirmed in Thailand, 2,490 in Vietnam and 22 in Cambodia (OIE 2008e). There are several possible explanations why H5N1 is not more widely spread within Cambodia. First, the estimates of poultry density in Cambodia and neighbouring countries vary significantly. Poultry density is believed to be highest in Thailand (approximately 509-1,637 poultry per km<sup>2</sup>) followed by Vietnam (approximately 663-787 poultry per km<sup>2</sup>), Cambodia (approximately 99-175 poultry per km<sup>2</sup>) and Laos PDR (approximately 73 poultry per km<sup>2</sup>) (Burgos 2008; Dung 2007). It may be possible that poultry density in Cambodia is not high enough to sustain virus circulation. However it is more likely that the structure of Cambodia's poultry production system with predominant free-ranging backyard poultry ownership and lack of semi-commercial farms throughout the country are limiting the circulation of HPAI (Chapter 4). In addition it is likely that asymptomatic HPAI infection in duck flocks may have occurred in addition to underreporting of poultry mortality due to HPAI in rural regions of Cambodia (Chapter 4).

Secondly, at present, it is difficult to determine the probability that a diseased bird will enter into the market chain in Cambodia. Nearly all (99%) middlemen I interviewed stated that they do not trade visibly sick poultry, which does not exclude introduction of asymptomatic but infectious ducks in the market chain. Furthermore, rural households experiencing poultry mortality due to illness typically prepare sick or dead poultry for household consumption or give away to neighbours within their village rather than selling to a market or middleman (Chapter 4) making it possible that an outbreak would occur within or between villages with limited spread.

As with all cross-sectional surveys, it is possible that I did not capture all relevant poultry movements. The high connectivity I found in the poultry networks could be the result of my sampling frame as I did not survey all markets within Cambodia, particularly in Northern Cambodia. I do believe, however, that this study has captured a fairly complete network of live poultry movement in study areas and their connections into and out of Phnom Penh. Furthermore, I am confident that this study has identified the bulk of live poultry movement into Phnom Penh because, in addition to sampling markets and 115 villages in 24 districts in six provinces, I interviewed middlemen on multiple occasions along all six national roads into Phnom Penh, at stock houses located next to the three main poultry selling markets, at semi-

commercial farms in Phnom Penh and at markets in Phnom Penh. This study did not find poultry trade links with Siem Reap (Northwest Cambodia) or areas in the far-western and north-eastern provinces (areas that are highly mountainous and sparsely populated) of Cambodia. Thus while my network does not represent movement in these areas, I am confident that these poultry do not reach Phnom Penh.

Given the rapid global spread of HPAI/H5N1 in recent years, surveillance of poultry populations will remain a high priority, particularly in the Mekong Delta Region where a considerable number of human deaths have occurred. This study has been able to identify critical points for active HPAI surveillance and has informed Cambodia's HPAI surveillance activities. However this does not replace the need for passive surveillance, which should be strengthened in rural areas of Cambodia by encouraging poultry owners to report any and all poultry mortality to village animal health workers and their village chiefs.

Since active surveillance in markets is likely to remain a component of the surveillance and control efforts for HPAI in Cambodia and elsewhere, my results can be used to inform the selection of markets that best suits particular objectives of the surveillance system, in particular whether the objective is monitoring of the HPAI status of poultry populations in rural areas or early detection of incursion in markets with high potential for spread. Collection of similar data in other countries could prevent outbreaks or incursions of HPAI within their borders.

# Chapter 7 Fitting Gravity Models to Poultry Movement Data in Cambodia

#### 7.1 Introduction

Previous studies have demonstrated that the connectedness of animal networks can result in large and widespread epidemics of disease (Dent et al. 2008; Green et al. 2008; Kiss et al. 2008; Truscott et al. 2007).. In Chapter 6, I showed how knowledge of poultry movement networks can be used to design more targeted surveillance activities and inform models of disease spread. My results demonstrated that poultry movement in the research study areas is highly connected, unidirectional and centralized. In this Chapter a gravity model is fit to these poultry movement data using population data as an indicator of potential trade between the source where poultry are reared and destination of where poultry are sold to attempt to understand the potential driving forces behind the poultry movement patterns observed.

Gravity models have been used to describe and predict movement based on the characteristics of, for example, economic size as defined by GDP, income level or population size of two locations and the distance between two locations, and have been largely utilized in transportation planning (Erlander & Stewart 1990) and in the field of economics to predict international trade flow (O'Kelly 1999). The general theory of gravity models is represented as

$$C_{ij} = \theta \frac{N_i^{\beta} N_j^{\epsilon}}{d_{ij}^{\gamma}}$$

where  $C_{ij}$  represents workflow or trade between *i* and *j*,  $d_{ij}$  is the distance between location *i* and *j*; *N* is a characteristic of location *i* or *j* (e.g., population size),  $\theta$  is a constant and the exponents  $\beta$ ,  $\varepsilon$  and  $\gamma$  are model parameters (Xia et al. 2004).

Few examples of the use of gravity model theory outside of economics and transportation planning exist. However, gravity models have been applied infectious diseases to evaluate the relationships between disease spread, population sizes and distance (Viboud et al. 2006; Xia et al. 2004). For example, Viboud et al. 2006 use a gravity model to describe transmission of

influenza between states by fitting such a model to work flow data, i.e., movement and distance between home and work (Viboud et al. 2006). In their model they assume that movement predicted by the model is proportional to county population size and Euclidean distance between the residence and work county centres:

$$Flow_{Residence \rightarrow work} \propto \frac{P_{Residence}^{\beta} P_{work}^{\varepsilon}}{d_{residence, work}^{\rho}}$$

Using predicted workflow between states as calculated by the gravity model, the authors simulated the spread of influenza across states and compared the epidemic spread predicted by the gravity model to real epidemics of seasonal influenza. They found that epidemic spread is more rapid between well connected states (e.g., California) as compared to more isolated and less populated states (Viboud et al. 2006). Similarly, Xia et al. used a gravity model motivated by their use in modelling population movement and then fit the parameters of the model to match the spatio-temporal dynamics of measles outbreak data in the UK (Xia et al. 2004). They combine a gravity model:

$$Movement(j,k) = \frac{N_{k,t}^{\ \beta} N_{j,t}^{\ \varepsilon}}{d_{jk}^{\gamma}}$$

where  $d_{jk}^{\rho}$  is the distance between communities (distance measure not provided) and  $N_k$  and  $N_j$  are the population sizes of community k and j at time t, with a transmission model of measles using weekly case reports for approximately 1000 communities in England and Wales, to predict the spatial characteristics of measles (Xia et al. 2004).

Both studies found that gravity model theory was useful in predicting epidemic spread based on distance between communities (or states) but found that other factors underlying host movement (e.g., age of those moving between communities) were important to understand local as compared to long range spread (Viboud et al. 2006; Xia et al. 2004). Viboud et al found that the exponent parameter estimates for population sizes for both the residence and work countries were less than 1 indicating that individuals in small populations (e.g., cases of seasonal influenza) may be proportionately more important for disease spread. The main advantage of using a gravity model within transmission models rather than relying on the underlying movement data is that it can be applied outside the study areas. Thus, by fitting a model to the poultry movement data from Cambodia, it may be possible to predict trade flows in areas not covered by the study as well as in the wider Mekong Delta Region which would be informative for HPAI control programs. Furthermore, as gravity models use information on the underlying populations, they should in theory be able to predict changes in movement patterns following underlying changes in the population, although such predictions have yet to be validated within an infectious disease context.

#### 7.1.1 Objectives of the Chapter

The objective of this chapter is to

- Develop a series of spatial models that describe the driving forces behind poultry movement in Cambodia; and
- Evaluate the fit of the spatial models to the poultry movement data collected in this study.

#### 7.2 Methods

#### 7.2.1 Model Structure

The model assumes that the movement of poultry is determined by a function of the distance between the two locations (the spatial kernel) and the populations at the source *i* and destination *j*. Thus the flow of poultry at distance  $d_{ij}$ ,  $f(d_{ij})$  is given by the equation:

$$f(d_{ij}) = GN_i^{\varepsilon}N_j^{\beta}k^*(d_{ij})$$

where  $N_i$  is an attribute of source location *i* (here either the human or poultry population),  $N_j$  is an attribute of destination location *j*,  $k^*(d_{ij})$  is the normalised spatial kernel,  $\varepsilon$  and  $\beta$  are parameters which scale the influence of the source and destination populations, respectively, and *G* is a scaling parameter.

I considered two potential functions for the spatial kernel. The first was that the flow of poultry would decline exponentially with distance and thus the spatial kernel  $k(d_{ij})$  is given by:

$$k(d_{ij}) = exp(-d_{ij} / \lambda)$$

where  $\lambda$  is the kernel parameter. This is illustrated in Figure 7-1



Figure 7-1 The probability of movement declines exponentially with distance (parameters  $\lambda$ = 1, 0.2 and 0.025 and Distance 0-20km)

The second was a power law function which has been used extensively in other disease models (e.g., (Chis Ster & Ferguson 2007; Ferguson et al. 2005)) with the spatial kernel given by:

$$\mathbf{k}(\mathbf{d}_{ij}) = \left(1 + \frac{d_{ij}}{\lambda}\right)^{-\gamma}$$

where  $\lambda$  and  $\gamma$  are kernel parameters. This is illustrated in Figure 7-2.



Figure 7-2 The probability of movement as a function of distance as given by a power law function

For parameters  $\lambda$ =5, 10, 15 and  $\gamma$  = 0.5, 1.5, 3.0 and distance 0-50 km

The normalised kernel  $k^*(d_{ij})$  was obtained by dividing the spatial kernel by its integral over two-dimensional space up to a maximum distance D (assumed here to be equal to 200,000 km)

For the exponential spatial kernel the bottom term of this equation is given by:

$$\mathbf{k}^{*}(\mathbf{d}_{ij}) = \frac{k(d_{ij})}{\int_{0}^{\infty} r e^{-\lambda r} dr}$$

where:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} r e^{-\lambda r} dr = \lambda^{2}$$

For the power law spatial kernel the bottom term of this equation is given by:

$$k^*(d_{ij}) = \frac{k(d_{ij})}{\int_0^D rk(r)dr}$$

where:

$$\int_{0}^{D} rk(r)dr = \frac{\lambda}{(1-\gamma)(2-\gamma)} \left[ \lambda - \left(1 + \frac{D}{\lambda}\right)^{(1-\gamma)} \left(\lambda + (\gamma - 1)D\right) \right]$$

As poultry population data were not initially available, I first considered using human population data as an indicator of potential trade between the source and destination. Thus under this model I let  $N_i = H_i$  and  $N_j = H_j$  where  $H_i$  and  $H_j$  are the human population estimates at locations *i* and *j* respectively. After obtaining poultry data from ministry officials at NaVRI, I considered an alternative model where the supply from location *i* would depend on the number of poultry at  $N_i = P_i$ , while the demand would depend on the number of people at destination  $N_j = H_j$ .

Thus after poultry data were obtained, the models were fit using estimates of poultry population at the source (supply) and human population at the destination (demand) separately using a normalized exponential function and a normalized power law function.

#### 7.2.2 Evaluation of Model Fit

The fit of the models was evaluated using the deviance statistic:

Deviance =-2\*(LogLikelihood (model)) – (LogLikelihood (saturated model))
Under a Poisson likelihood this is given by:

$$D \propto -2\sum_{i,j} \left[ O_{ij} \ln(E_{ij}) - E_{ij} - O_{ij} \ln(O_{ij}) + O_{ij} \right]$$

where Oij is the observed poultry (chickens and ducks) traded between locations *i* and *j* as collected from the questionnaires of market sellers and middlemen and  $E_{ij}$  is the expected poultry traded as calculated by the model,  $E_{ij} = f(d_{ij})$ . The solver function in Excel was utilized to minimize the deviance by changing the kernel parameter values ( $\gamma$ ,  $\lambda$ ), power parameters ( $\varepsilon$ ,  $\beta$ ) and the scaling parameter (G).

The model fit was assessed by comparing the deviance for each model and also for individual data points to identify outliers. As each model has the same number of parameters, the deviance statistic could be compared directly and the model with the lower deviance selected as the best fitting. Visual fit was assessed in two ways. First, the cumulative normalized distribution of the observed and expected quantities of poultry traded by distance were plotted using Kaplan Meier methods. Second, scatter plots of the observed and expected poultry flow were plotted with the line y=x used to aid the identification of outliers. Correlations between the observed and expected data were calculated using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) in STATA v10.

#### 7.2.3 Description of Data

*Human population data*: The most recently available data on province and district level human populations were obtained from a 1998 census conducted by the National Institute of Statistics in the Ministry of Planning (NIS 1999; NIS 2002). The human population sizes of the districts in the 24 study districts and Phnom Penh are presented in Figure 7-3.



Figure 7-3 Human and poultry population size by district, Cambodia

*Poultry population data*: Poultry population data are not available at the district level from any known source, although an estimate of the poultry (chickens and ducks) population at the province level was provided by NaVRI (MAFF Unpublished Data). Poultry populations at the district level were calculated as:

Poultry population 
$$atN_i = H_{District}N_i \times \frac{P_{Province}N_i}{H_{Province}N_i}$$

Where:

- $H_{District} N_i$  = Human population at the district level of  $N_i$  (NIS 2002)
- $P_{Province} N_i$  = Poultry population at the provincial level of  $N_i$  (MAFF Unpublished Data)
- $P_{Province} N_i$  = Human population at the provincial level of  $N_i$  (NIS 2002)

Calculated poultry population sizes of the districts included in the analyses are shown in Figure 7-3.

The figure shows human population data in Black: Banteay Meanchey; Red: Kampong Cham; Gray: Pursat; Green: Prey Veng; Purple: Svay Rieng; Blue: Takeo; and poultry population data in lighter shades: Pink: Kampong Cham; Light Gray: Pursat; Light Green: Prey Veng; Light Purple: Svay Rieng; Light Blue: Takeo.

*Poultry movement data*: Data on poultry movement was reformatted into the district of origin (*i* i.e., location where the poultry were purchased by market sellers and middlemen) and the district of destination (*j*, i.e., the destination where poultry were sold by market sellers and middlemen) pairings (*i*, *j*) using STATA v10. The observed quantity of chickens, ducks and total poultry (chickens + ducks) sold between the each (*i*, *j*) pairing was recorded. Pairings in which no poultry were traded between were not included in this analysis. For identical (*i*, *j*) pairings, the quantity of poultry traded was aggregated.

*Euclidean distance between locations where poultry are traded*: The Euclidean distance between each (i, j) pair was calculated using GPS coordinates. The GPS coordinates of most locations were obtained during the study. GPS coordinates for locations which were not visited during the study were obtained from the 1998 Cambodian census data, and represent the GPS coordinates of the district centre (NIS 1999). The Euclidean distance between the two locations  $(X_i, Y_i)$  and  $(X_j, Y_j)$  was calculated as:

Distance (in kilometres) = 
$$\sqrt{(X_j - X_i)^2 + (Y_j - Y_i)^2}$$

Calculated road distance between locations where poultry are traded: Road distances between (i, j) pairs were calculated in ArcGIS 9 using GPS coordinates, road networks and ferry crossings in Cambodia. To calculate road distances using this method, a network analyst data set using the Cambodian road network was built in ArcGIS using the GPS points of all of the locations. Using the network analyst "solve" function, the calculated network distances between each GPS point and every other GPS location were calculated to create a cross-tabulation distance matrix.

Travel times between locations where poultry are traded: A third measure of distance between each (i, j) pair was the estimated driving time, which takes into account road distance, road conditions, traffic, and ferry crossings. Estimates of the driving time were obtained from three drivers and one epidemiologist from Institut Pasteur Cambodia and represent driving by car. Driving time estimates via motorbikes were not obtained.

*Included/excluded data:* Only poultry movement data originating from the 24 included study districts (Figure 3.3) are included in this analysis since they represent a reasonably complete network in these districts, whereas poultry movement data from areas outside of the 24 study districts are incomplete. Thus, poultry originating from locations outside Cambodia (i.e., Vietnam. Thailand) are not included in these analyses. A total of 60 matched origin and destination pairs (i, j) were available for use in this analysis, however 15 of these were excluded from model fitting because i = j (poultry were traded within the district and therefore distance=0). Therefore these analyses are based on 45 pairs with associated quantities of poultry traded. All 45 pairs represent unidirectional movement. There was no bi-directional movement observed (see Chapter 6).

### 7.3 Results

Figure 7-4 illustrates the contact networks of chicken and duck movement as shown in Chapter 6 overlaid onto human population density maps. This is a crude indication that large amounts of poultry may be traded from areas with higher human population density.



# Figure 7-4 Directed network of chicken (above) and duck (below) trading in Cambodia shown on map of human population density

The colour of the nodes represents location type (red= rural source, black=market, yellow= foreign source, green=commercial farm (CP farms), pink = semi-commercial farm) and are weighed by out-degree. The links are directional as indicated by the arrow and the tie strength is weighted by the number of birds traded between nodes (larger arrows indicate a larger quantity of birds traded between the two locations).

Among poultry traded to locations outside of the district where poultry were raised, the median distance poultry are traded is 54.8 km (IQR: 30.2-82 km; last row in Table 7-1). The median number of chickens, ducks and total poultry traded each week between any two locations is 350.4 (IQR: 80-1559.4), 0 (IQR: 16.2-249.8), and 540 (IQR: 148-1774.2), respectively. The quantity of poultry traded within districts was smaller than the poultry traded to locations outside of the home district.

Data Grouping: distance traded	g: Number ed of <i>i, j</i> pairs	Median Distance (IQR)	Median Quantity of birds traded from <i>i<sub>i</sub></i> to <i>j</i> n (IQR)			
			Chickens	Ducks	Total Poultry	
Distance = 0	15	0 ()	50.0 (14.50 156.25)	2.5 (0-23.3)	85.0 (18.8-161.5)	
Distance ≠0 km	45	54.8 (30.2-82.5)	350.4 (80-1559.4)	0 (16.2-249.8)	540 (148-1774.2)	

Table 7-1 Summary statistics of poultry movement for 45 *i*, *j* pairs

### 7.3.1 Model Fitting

•

### 7.3.1.1 Model fitting using human population data

Figure 7-5 shows a gravity model fitted to the observed poultry movement using human population data and the exponential spatial kernel. Figure 7-6 shows the same model using the power law spatial kernel. Parameter estimates for these models are shown in Table 7-2.



# Figure 7-5 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement by distance fitted to a gravity model using human population data and an exponential spatial kernel

The plot shows the model  $f(d, H_i, H_j) = H_i^a H_j^\beta \mathbf{k}^*(\mathbf{d}_{ij})$  fitted to observed poultry movement data where distance  $\neq 0$  and human population data at *i* and *j*.



# Figure 7-6 Cumulative of poultry movement by distance fitted to a model using human population data and a power law spatial kernel

The plot shows the model  $f(d, H_i, H_j) = H_i^{\varepsilon} H_j^{\beta} \mathbf{k}^*(\mathbf{d}_{ij})$ , fitted to observed poultry movement data where distance  $\neq 0$  and human population data at *i* and *j*.

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 187

	Spatial Kernel			
Parameter Estimates	Model using an exponential function	Model using a power law function		
G	0.1154	0.5097		
Epsilon (ε)	0.50	0.46		
Beta (β)	0.9459	0.9048		
Lambda (λ)	120.0848	4052.9756		
Gamma (γ)		31.9928		
Deviance	53235.94	55146.02		

 Table 7-2 Parameter estimates for models fitted to poultry movement and human population

 data

The deviance is lower for the model using an exponential spatial kernel compared to the model using a power law spatial kernel indicating an overall better fit of the model using the exponential spatial kernel. Thus, the results provided below are of models fitted to data using an exponential spatial kernel.

### 7.3.1.2 Models Fitted to Poultry and Human Population Estimates

As the model using human population data alone did not appear to fit the data, I subsequently fitted the model using data on the poultry at the source and human population at the destination to try to improve the model fit. The results of the model fitting using poultry and human population data and an exponential spatial kernel are shown in Figure 7-7 with corresponding parameter estimates in Table 7-3. A single model appears to fit all distances and hence the model was not stratified any further.

Best fit estimate		
0.0473		
0.9756		
0.6068		
91.060		
48176.96		

Table 7-3 Parameter estimates for model using Euclidean distance



**Figure 7-7 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement by Euclidian distance** The plot shows the model  $f(d, P_1, H_2) = GP_i^{\epsilon} H_j^{\beta} k^*(d_{ij})$  fitted to all data where distance  $\neq 0$ 

From Figure 7-7 it is noticeable that there is a divergence between the observed and model predicted distributions which begins at approximately 50-75 km where the observed number of poultry traded at these long distances is less than predicted by the model and again at distances greater than approximately 100 km where the observed number of poultry traded is larger than predicted by the model. One possible reason for this may be that poultry traded at long distances follows a different economic model to that traded at short distances. For example, one hypothesis would be that at short distances most poultry can be traded by middlemen on motorbikes but at longer distances this is no longer feasible and thus fewer poultry are traded because of a relative lack of availability of trucks.

### 7.3.1.3 Model Fitting Using Calculated Road Distances

Using Euclidean distances has many limitations particularly in Cambodia where there are relatively few good quality roads. The same analysis was therefore performed using calculated road distances as a more relevant measure of the trading distance between two locations.

There is a strong correlation between Euclidean distances and calculated road distances (r= 0.89) although there is a tendency for calculated road distances to be longer than Euclidean distances (Figure 7-8).



A model was fit using data on the poultry at the source, human population at the destination, calculated road distances between *i* and *j* and an exponential spatial kernel (Figure 7-9). A single model appears to fit all distances and hence the model was not stratified any further. Parameter estimates of the model are provided in Table 7-4.



**Figure 7-9 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement using calculated road distances** The plot shows the model  $f(d, P_1, H_2) = GP_i^{\epsilon}H_j^{\beta} k^*(d_{ij})$  fitted to all data where calculated road distance  $\neq 0$ 

From Figure 7-9 the same divergence in seen between the observed and predicted poultry flow at distances between 50-100 km and above 125 km indicating that that poultry traded at long distances, this time above 125 km follows a different economic model to that traded at short distances (<125 km).

Best fit estimate		
0.5002		
0.9339		
0.5427		
167.4561		
53293.8044		

Table 7-4 Parameter estimates for model using calculated road distances

# 7.3.1.4 Model Fitted to Distance Measured as Journey Time

The estimates for the journey time were strongly correlated with Euclidean distances (r= 0.7699; Figure 7-10 left), although this correlation was not as strong as that between calculated road distance and time (r=0.89; Figure 7-10 right).



Figure 7-10 Euclidean distance (km) vs. Time to travel between i and j (min; left) and Calculated road distance (km) vs. Time to travel between i and j (min; right)

The results of the model fitted using travel times as a measure of distance is shown in Figure 7-11 with corresponding parameter estimates for the model in Table 7-5. A single model appears to fit all distances and hence the model was not stratified any further.

Table 7-5 Parameter estimates for model using journey time between rand				
Parameter	Best fit estimate			
G	2.6839			
Beta (β)	0.9240			
Epsilon (ε)	0.46670			
Lambda (λ)	240.3828			
Deviance	54534.09	_		

meter estimates for model using journey time between / and i



Figure 7-11 Cumulative distribution of poultry movement using distance as a function of time

### 7.3.2 Evaluation of the model fits

The parameter estimates and deviance for all three models using the three measures of distance (Euclidean distance, calculated road distance and journey time) are shown in Table 7-6 and the fitted spatial parameters for all three models are shown in Figure 7-12.

Table 7-6 Parameter e	estimates for mod	els using Euclidear	n distance,	, calculated road	distance
and journey time					
					-

	Estimates for models using:				
Parameter	Human Population Data and Exponential Spatial Kernel	Euclidean Distance	Calculated Road Distance	Journey Time Distance	
G	0.1154	0.0473	0.5002	2.6839	
Beta (β)	0.9459	0.9756	0.9339	0.9240	
Epsilon (ε)	0.50	0.6068	0.5427	0.4670	
Lambda (λ)	120.0848	91.0604	167.4561	240.3828	
Deviance	53235.94	48176.96	53293.80	54534.09	



Figure 7-12 Fitted spatial kernel parameters plotted for models using Euclidean distance, calculated road distance and journey time

The model using the Euclidean distance best fits to the observed poultry movement data (lowest deviance of all the models), while there was little difference in the fitted spatial kernels of the three models indicating that the quantity of poultry traded rapidly declines with distance. To further evaluate the fit of the model the observed quantities of poultry flow are plotted against the model predicted quantities for all poultry movement and an y=x line (Figure 7-13). There is a strong correlation between the observed and predicted data (r= 0.61) indicating that a reasonably high degree of variation in the data is being explained by the model. However, a number of outliers are noticeable in this plot.



Figure 7-13 Observed vs. predicted poultry flow between i - j using Euclidean distance

This plot shows the observed vs. predicted poultry flow along with a y=x line.

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 193

All of the data points highlighted in orange and grey represent poultry movement into Phnom Penh from Prey Veng (orange, n=4) and Svay Rieng (grey, n=1) provinces. All journeys from these provinces must cross the Mekong River at a ferry crossing at Neak Leung, Prey Veng to reach Phnom Penh, which can add up to one hour wait time to any journey crossing the river. Thus, this may explain why the number of poultry predicted by the model is higher than that observed (i.e., 3 nodes above the y=x line). However this does not explain why the number of poultry predicted by the model is lower than observed (2 nodes below the y=x line).

The data points highlighted in red and green represent poultry movement from Takeo province into Phnom Penh. The location identified in green represents poultry trading from a large poultry market in Tram Kak, Takeo along National Road 3 into Phnom Penh with over 12188 birds (76.6% chickens, 23.4% ducks) traded weekly. There may be large quantities of poultry from Kampot province, which borders this area of Takeo, that are traded at this market and onto Phnom Penh via middlemen, although market sellers and middlemen purchasing poultry from this area did not indicate this. This is clearly an outlier in the dataset. However the parameter values did not change when removing this data point from the analysis.

Figure 7-14 shows the corresponding data using a log scale and colouring the data points for poultry movement into Phnom Penh (blue) and localized poultry movement to and from locations outside of Phnom Penh (yellow).





LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 194

The data points in yellow represent poultry trading in rural regions of the country (e.g., within Banteay Meanchey province, within Pursat province, within Svay Rieng province and within Takeo Province). There was less variation in the predicted poultry flow for localized poultry trading and poultry movement into Phnom Penh than was observed. The model appears to under-estimate the amount of poultry flow occurring for approximately half of these locations (n=9/22) while over-estimating the amount of poultry flow for the other half of these locations (n=11/22). A similar pattern of predicted flow is seen for trading to locations in Phnom Penh. However, there were no improvements seen in the model fit after adjusting for trading to locations in Phnom Penh indicating that there are other cost factors that are affecting locally traded poultry versus poultry traded to locations in Phnom Penh.

#### 7.4 Discussion

These results illustrate that poultry movement is best described using poultry populations at the source (i.e., the supply of poultry) and human population at the destination (i.e., the demand for poultry). Regardless of the distance measure used in the model fitting, the parameter estimates for the poultry population ( $\varepsilon$ ) and human population ( $\beta$ ) in the model remained relatively constant. Epsilon ( $\epsilon$ ) ranged from 0.47 – 0.61 and  $\beta$  ranged from 0.92 – 0.98 under the different models. Epsilon is a parameter which scales the influence of the source population and if equal to 0 would indicate that every source location (i.e., district in this dataset) sells a constant number of chickens and ducks regardless of poultry population size. If  $\varepsilon = 1$  then poultry are sold proportionately to the poultry population size of the source location, whereas if  $\epsilon > 1$ , this would indicate that relatively more poultry are sold from districts with larger poultry population sizes than from districts with smaller poultry population sizes. An ε>1 may signify that these areas may keep poultry to sell as part of their livelihood, which from my studies has been shown to rarely occur in rural areas of the country (Chapter 6). However, for all of the models, the parameter estimates for  $\varepsilon$  were less than one which may indicate that relatively fewer poultry are being sold from districts with larger poultry population sizes than from districts with smaller poultry population sizes. This may suggest that individuals in rural areas are only able to sell poultry when they have a surplus, a situation which rarely occurs in rural Cambodian households (Chapter 6).

Beta is a parameter which scales the influence of the destination population (i.e., demand). A  $\beta$  >1 would indicate that large human populations may be buying proportionately more poultry than small populations, which is what one would expect if larger populations are located in more urban areas and therefore there is a greater demand for poultry from individuals living in more densely populated areas as compared to rural areas. All of the  $\beta$  parameter estimates for the models were close to 1 indicating the human populations at the destination are buying proportional to the size of their population.

Presentation of the model fit using scatter plots was an informative tool to evaluate the fit of each model and was especially useful in identifying possible outliers. It would not have been possible to identify possible outliers if I had only produced the cumulative distance distribution graphs for each model. Local knowledge of the poultry trading system in Cambodia has been helpful in interpreting these results, especially with respect to the characteristics of the outliers.

As was expected, these results show that there is not a linear relationship between poultry quantity traded and distance travelled, and the models were sensitive to instances where large quantities of poultry are traded short distances (e.g., 3500 poultry traded <20 km) and conversely when small quantities of poultry are traded over long distances (e.g., 281 birds traded >130 km; 309 birds traded approximately 170 km). Within Cambodia, it is not uncommon for large quantities of poultry to be traded over short distances because there were several large markets located within 20 km from Phnom Penh. Therefore there may be a different economic model for poultry traded locally versus traded into Phnom Penh.

The models seem to suggest that there may be different cost factors for localized poultry movement, i.e., poultry traded to locations outside of the home district but within the same province of origin than for poultry traded into markets and other locations in Phnom Penh. Possible explanations for this trend may be that there are different economic drivers for poultry traded for longer distances as compared to shorter distances or that the mode of transportation (e.g., motorbike vs. truck/van) makes longer distances possible for some middlemen. It is possible that separate models are required for shorter and longer poultry movements, however because my data covered poultry movements over a relatively short distance (up to 200 km), I saw no evidence using the deviance statistic of a better fit in the models by distance and did not

find evidence of a better fit when categorizing poultry trading at different distance thresholds (e.g., <75 km vs.  $\geq$ 75 km using Euclidean distance; <125 km vs.  $\geq$ 125 km using calculated road distance; data not shown). A measure of the mode of transportation (e.g., motorbike, truck, bicycle, foot) would be useful to incorporate into the analysis to evaluate the fit of the models and changes in parameter estimates (e.g.,  $\beta$ > than 1 for poultry traded to locations in Phnom Penh and  $\beta$ <1 for localized trading).

Using the Euclidean distance provided models with the best fit to the observed data, which was an unexpected finding since calculated road distances are a more exact measure of the distances travelled between each location. Although the values for calculated road distances were highly correlated with Euclidean distance and also with journey time, there may have been some inaccuracies in the values obtained for calculated road distance and journey time. For example for the calculated road distances, the road network in ArcGIS did not originally include any bridged or ferry crossings and in order to obtain a more accurate calculation of road distances I provided an approximate location of the ferry crossing at Neak Leung and an important bridge linking National Road 1 and Phnom Penh. Without this information, calculated road distances from locations in Prey Veng and Svay Rieng were 3-4 times larger than they should have been as compared to road distances calculated by the Ministry of Public Works and Transport (MPWT 2009).

Although calculated distances are a more accurate representation of the distances travelled, they still did not capture the "costs" associated with each journey. In using a measure of the time to make the journey between each location, the measure is able to take into account the road conditions, which if they are made of dirt are virtually impassable for several months out of the year; traffic, which in some areas leading into Phnom Penh can delay a journey for 15-60 minutes depending on the time of day; and the use of a ferry to cross the Mekong River, which is required for all journeys originating in Prey Veng, and Svay Rieng Province (and including Vietnam). Ideally this measure should include the vehicle type (e.g., car, truck, motorbike, bicycle) if it were to truly capture the journey times made by poultry traders in this region. However, there was no evidence of a better fit of the model when using journey time as

the distance measure, which may indicate that there are inaccuracies with the estimates I obtained.

Some movements are not well captured by any of the models, specifically poultry traded into Phnom Penh and some poultry traded to Peam Ro which is the ferry crossing at Neak Leung in Prey Veng Province. This may be because these models fitted to poultry movement data in Cambodia do not take into consideration the costs associated with trading poultry. For example, the cost of diesel may prohibit some traders from making longer journeys into Phnom Penh especially if they are carrying only a small number of live birds on their motorbikes each week thus limiting the profit they are able to make with each journey. On the other hand, if middlemen use trucks for transportation, they can carry thousands of live chickens and ducks each week, resulting in the marginal cost of diesel compared to the profit made by the sale of their poultry. There are often multiple middlemen transporting poultry on the same truck, which would further reduce the cost of diesel if they were dividing the cost. An estimate of how poultry are traded for each journey may explain some of the variation in the poultry flows predicted by the model.

Since the poultry network is highly centralized, a large proportion of the locations where poultry are sold are in Phnom Penh (24 of the 45 pairs), where the population size is larger by a factor of ten compared to districts in rural areas. Because the population sizes for all identical destinations are the same, there may be other factors not accounted for in the model that are driving poultry movement. Again, an estimate of the cost/profit made from poultry sold locally as compared to poultry sold to locations in Phnom Penh would be important to incorporate into the model. However, I did not collect this information from my subjects and I am unaware of any existing data that could address these issues.

These analyses were limited by the use of districts as the origin and destination rather than the actual location where poultry were purchased and sold (e.g., village or market). This was decided because I had GPS coordinates for all nodes either obtained during visits to the actual locations or from GIS software. When GIS software was required, the district centre was used instead of the actual location. Although the included districts are not large, this may have

impacted the results since district centres tend to be location along paved roads whereas villages and some smaller poultry markets may be located along dirt roads.

The use of disaggregated data of poultry traded between identical locations is warranted to determine if identical journeys that are made by multiple individuals shed light on other factors driving poultry trade. It is unclear what effect these differences may have had on the results; however further analyses are necessary since there were only a small number of such pairs available for model fitting (n=45).

Another limitation of this analysis is that I only considered pairs of locations in which movement was observed to occur (n=24 districts) and therefore, the current models did not capture the lack of movements to other locations nor the movements between districts that were not sampled (n=159 districts). This may result in biased estimates of the model parameters. For example, if there were a nearby district with a large human population to which poultry did not move, including this would have the effect of reducing the estimate of the power parameter on the human population. Future analyses will incorporate this additional information. However, in order to do so, it will be necessary to condition the analysis (using a multinomial rather than Poisson likelihood) on the number of poultry observed to leave the study populations as the survey did not fully capture movements from other locations. However, this would result in a model that no longer predicts the factors driving the source population (i.e. the number of poultry at the source population) which limits the application of the model to other settings with different underlying poultry population distributions.

These analyses are also limited by estimates of human and poultry populations that are unable to be verified. The last census conducted in Cambodia was conducted in 1998 and therefore do not take into account growth rates, which vary disproportionately throughout the country (CIA 2008), nor do they take into account changes in rural/urban living. In addition, there was no way for me to assess the quality of estimates of poultry population at the provincial level since the methods by which these values were collected were not provided by NaVRI. A more accurate estimate of poultry populations at the district level are needed.

Despite these limitations, using gravity models has been useful to uncover relationships between poultry movement, distance and human/poultry populations at the source and destination. These results have demonstrated that gravity model theory can be applied to poultry movement data. This is a novel application of the use of gravity model theory as there are no studies that have fitted gravity models to animal movement data.

Once validated, these results may be able to predict trade flows not covered by the study areas and elucidate poultry movements within the Mekong Delta Region. Since it is not feasible to collect the movement of poultry for the entire Mekong Delta Region, gravity model theory is a useful tool to predict poultry movement in a wider area to gain insight on how these movements could be controlled to prevent the spread of HPAI.

# **Chapter 8 Conclusions and Future Work**

### 8.1 Key Findings

My PhD research involved the collection of novel and original data from rural Cambodians, rural, peri-urban and urban market sellers and poultry middlemen from six provinces and Phnom Penh between April 2006 and December 2007. In my first large-scale survey of randomly selected adults and children living in rural areas of Cambodia, I evaluated poultry ownership and husbandry practices, poultry mortality experienced and poultry mortality reporting. This study also evaluated the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours of each subject and how these practices differ by age and gender. This is the first study to evaluate poultry contact patterns at an individual level and the first to evaluate poultry contact patterns of children. My second study identified and interviewed rural, peri-urban and urban poultry market sellers and middlemen to evaluate their poultry trading patterns. Through these two studies, this thesis has evaluated poultry movement and the extent of interaction between humans and poultry in Cambodia to better understand the risks of sustained transmission of H5N1 in poultry and onward potential transmission to humans.

### 8.1.1 HPAI and Poultry Populations

The results from my first study demonstrated that most rural Cambodians own small quantities of chickens and/or ducks. Although a large majority of backyard flocks generally consist of less than a dozen chickens, most domestic poultry often mix with other domestic animals, including pigs, water buffalo, and dogs. Thus there is the potential for genetic mixing of an avian and non-avian influenza virus in these species (Alexander & Brown 2000; Horimoto & Kawaoka 2001).

The use of bio-security on farms with backyard poultry was found to be minimal or nonexistent and could be readily improved to a minimum level by keeping poultry species separated from other domestic species, separate from human areas, and restricted to forage for food within a specified and controlled area. One way to reduce the proportion of free-ranging animals and thus the potential for HPAI transmission between flocks is to improve the sealant

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 201

properties of fences and netting that are used by approximately 25% of households in rural areas of the country. However, feasible options for providing feed to enclosed flocks would be necessary as flocks would no longer be allowed to freely forage for food. This presents a major challenge to HPAI control in developing countries.

My research has highlighted the heterogeneity in poultry raising practices that would normally be classified as Sector 4 Poultry Production according to FAO definitions (FAO 2006). In order to have more transparent and more informative descriptions of poultry raising in countries with predominant Sector 4 holdings and to design effective control measures for HPAI, further information is required, such as the size of poultry flocks, the species raised, and the output into the poultry market chain.

In Cambodia, more than 90% of backyard flocks are composed of small numbers of freeranging chickens (Sector 4, Subcategory A). However among households that raise poultry in Cambodia, approximately 1% of households included in my study rear ducks (n>50) using a minimal level of bio-security (birds are kept indoors or allowed to be free-ranging for part of the day and kept indoors or fenced in at night; Sector 4, Subcategory B), whereas approximately 6% of households raise small numbers of free ranging ducks (Sector 4, Subcategory B). These two subcategories represent the greatest potential for sustaining H5N1 circulation in rural Cambodia since infected ducks can silently spread the virus (Chen et al. 2004; Hulse-Post et al. 2005). This is supported by research from Thailand, which has shown that free-grazing ducks were strongly associated with HPAI outbreaks in villages and thus were crucial for the persistence and spread of HPAI in Thailand in 2004 (Gilbert et al. 2006; Gilbert et al. 2007). Thus, it is especially important for HPAI surveillance to monitor the HPAI status of Sector 4, Subcategories A and B holdings since they represent the greatest HPAI risk. Control efforts in Thailand that focused on regulating movement and monitoring H5N1 infection via serologic and virologic testing of duck flocks may have led to the reduction of H5N1 outbreaks in 2006 (Webster et al. 2007).

My research has also revealed that it is not uncommon for households to experience poultry mortality, with more than half of the households experiencing some degree of poultry mortality within the previous 8-month period. A key finding is that respondents reported an average of 50% within-flock mortality among both chicken and duck flocks over the study's recall period. Of cause for concern is that this level of mortality was not normally treated as suspect by villagers, even when within-flock mortality exceeded 50%, 60% or 75%. It is probable that there has been considerable underreporting of HPAI in poultry populations in rural areas of the country and therefore there remains a strong need to improve the passive HPAI surveillance system in Cambodia. The current system relies on village animal health workers (VAHW), who have been trained by FAO and NaVRI, to identify suspect poultry mortality. Given that my study population reported difficulties in distinguishing symptoms of AI from other poultry diseases including Newcastle disease, VAHW would provide a necessary link between rural subjects and NaVRI by providing information to the subject on AI and determining whether it is necessary to report the mortality event onwards to officials at NaVRI for follow-up. Without the VAHW, it would be increasingly difficult for subjects to know where or how to report poultry mortality.

It would be prudent to focus passive HPAI surveillance on high mortality events above a specified within-flock mortality threshold. For example setting a threshold of within-flock mortality at >60% in chicken flocks or at >30% in duck flocks would help officials differentiate common poultry mortality from suspect mortality events. Using data from this study, if a threshold of 60% within-flock mortality were assumed to be the basis for which VAHW called upon ministry officials to investigate, 38 households should have been visited within the 8-month study period to investigate 30 occurrences of >60% mortality within a chicken flock and 8 occurrences of >30% mortality within a duck flock events. Given the current limited personnel and financial resources of NaVRI, investigating 38 occurrences of suspect mortality that occurred in two provinces within an 8-month period would be difficult to achieve, even more unattainable would be to investigate suspect mortality events at the national scale.

### 8.1.1.1 Poultry movement and HPAI

My second study evaluated poultry movement via middlemen and market sellers and illustrated that networks of poultry movement via trading in Cambodia are highly centralised, connected and unidirectional. Most poultry movement occurs into Phnom Penh making the markets in Phnom Penh a potential hub for the spread of H5N1 and ideal for surveillance and control. Research has shown that live bird markets are an important reservoir for HPAI and an ideal environment for reassortment and transmission of HPAI from poultry-to-humans (Amonsin et al. 2008; Kung et al. 2003a; Kung et al. 2007; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006; Woo et al. 2006). Thus, the movement of poultry through these markets are potentially important in the circulation and spread of HPAI (Kung et al. 2007; Sims et al. 2003). Domestic poultry outbreaks of H5N1 have occurred in areas of the main network and therefore Phnom Penh markets, namely wet markets, would be ideal for routine surveillance activities and control interventions.

Illegal cross-border trading of live poultry was also identified in this study, namely from Vietnam and to a lesser extent from Thailand. Live day-old ducks from Vietnam are directly traded with influential locations in Phnom Penh, including markets and semi-commercial farms, and make up approximately half of the total number of ducks traded weekly in Cambodia. Live and prepared poultry (birds that have been slaughtered, boiled, and defeathered) from Thailand are traded to markets in Banteay Meanchey province, but these movements are separated from the main network and I did not identify any direct links between Thailand and Phnom Penh.

Based on the results of this study, targeted surveillance recommendations were developed for NaVRI to improve their active HPAI surveillance activities. Two tiers of recommendations were developed to 1) monitor the HPAI status of poultry populations in rural areas (Tier 1 recommendations), and 2) identify locations that would allow for the early detection of HPAI incursion in markets which have a high potential for spread throughout the network (Tier 2 recommendations, Table 6-7).

The purpose of the Tier 1 recommended locations for surveillance is to directly identify locations where HPAI can be rapidly detected if the virus is in the market system and would indirectly allow NaVRI to monitor the HPAI status of poultry populations in rural areas. These recommended locations include those with the highest in-degree values, and include markets, semi-commercial farms and stock houses in Phnom Penh. If HPAI is identified in any of the Tier 1 recommended locations, an investigation to trace-back poultry back to its origin should be undertaken.

The purpose of the Tier 2 recommended locations is to identify locations that are most likely to interrupt poultry-to-poultry transmission of HPAI. The active surveillance of the locations that fall within Tier 2 would allow for the early detection of HPAI incursion in markets that have a high potential for spread. The Tier 2 recommended locations are those with the greatest number of connections and the largest out-degree scores. If HPAI is identified in any of the Tier 2 recommended locations, an investigation to trace-back and trace-forward poultry should be undertaken. This would require minimal effort to trace poultry forward as most are sold to markets in Phnom Penh and a moderate effort to trace poultry back to its origin as most are sold from nearby villages and markets.

An important finding of my second study, particularly when considering transmission dynamics of HPAI across the networks, is that poultry rarely spend more than 8 hours in the market chain before they are slaughtered. This reduces the likelihood that active HPAI surveillance activities will capture an infected or diseased bird in the markets since poultry traders did not report selling visibly sick poultry. The wet markets in Cambodia provide an ample environment for HPAI viruses to persist (Amonsin et al. 2008; Kung et al. 2003a; Kung et al. 2007; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006; Woo et al. 2006) and therefore the market environment should be included in the routine HPAI monitoring activities. This is supported by an investigation of live bird markets in China where investigators found no positive H5N1 samples from cloacal swabs of several bird species from several markets, but found one positive environmental sample from a goose cage (Wang et al. 2006). Therefore, further it would be prudent for NaVRI to consider including monthly disinfection of wet market selling areas (e.g., stalls, selling platforms, locations where poultry are slaughtered) at the three main live poultry selling markets in Phnom Penh (Orussey, Chba Ampov, and Deum Kor markets) in their HPAI control strategies.

A gravity model was fit to poultry movement data using population data as an indicator of potential trade between the source where poultry are reared and destination of where poultry are sold to attempt to understand the potential driving forces behind the poultry movement patterns observed. These results illustrated that poultry movement is best described using poultry populations at the source (representing the supply of poultry) and human population at the destination (representing the demand for poultry). The models also suggest that there may

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 205

be different cost factors for poultry movement at different distances. A possible explanation for this trend may be that there are different economic drivers (e.g., mode of transportation, cost of diesel, profits from sale of poultry, journey time) for poultry traded over greater distances (poultry traded into Phnom Penh) as compared to shorter distances (localised poultry trading). This is a useful tool to predict poultry movement in wider areas and once validated, could be used to gain insight on how these movements could be controlled to prevent the spread of HPAI.

Recent unpublished evidence (presented at the Cambodia Workshop on Avian Influenza Research Activities, Sihanoukville, Cambodia 8-10 October 2008) from NaVRI's active HPAI surveillance programme, which is currently being conducted in 13 markets has revealed that H5N1 may have been circulating in markets in 2007-2008. Influenza A viruses were isolated from cloacal and tracheal swabs of birds in Phnom Penh markets in 2007 (RT-PCR influenza type a positive, H5 negative) and from birds in markets in Phnom Penh, Takeo, Pursat, Sihanoukville, Banteay Meanchey and Siem Reap (RT-PCR influenza type A positive, H5 negative) in 2008. Also in 2008, influenza A viruses, subtype H5 (RT-PCR influenza type A positive, H5 positive) were isolated from cloacal and tracheal swabs of birds from a market in Svay Rieng.

In 2007, antibodies for H5N1 were identified in poultry from markets in Phnom Penh (2/434 samples) and Takeo (16/166 samples) and in 2008, in poultry from markets in Phnom Penh (82/1155 samples), Takeo (59/390 samples), Kampong Cham (26/330 samples), Pursat (10/497 samples), Battambang (16/435 samples), Siem Reap (29/450 samples), Kampot (59/232 samples), Kandal (18/130 samples) and Sihanoukville (26/240 samples). Overall H5N1 antibodies were detected in 1.7% (18/1065 samples) of poultry tested from seven markets in 2007 and in 7.9% (325/4124 samples) poultry tested from 13 markets in 2008. These results indicate that H5N1 is circulating in the Cambodian market system. This supports the assumption that H5N1 infection has gone largely unreported in rural regions of Cambodia.

### 8.1.2 HPAI Transmission Risks at the Human/Animal Interface

The results from my large-scale cross-sectional survey demonstrated that most of the population in rural Cambodia is in frequent contact with domestic poultry. About half of the rural population sampled carried out, on a regular basis, at least one of the practices considered to be high risk for effective transmission if the bird is infected (e.g., slaughtering poultry, sharing water with fighting cocks, blowing into the beak of fighting cocks).

There was substantial variation in the frequency of different practices and thus the potential risk of transmission of H5N1 from poultry-to-humans is not uniform across age and gender even amongst populations living in close proximity to poultry. In conducting a semiquantitative risk assessment of the transmission potential of H5N1 from poultry-to-humans among rural Cambodians, I determined that males between the ages of 26-40, followed closely by males between the ages of 16-25 reported practices of contact with poultry that give rise to the greatest H5N1 transmission risk potential. Of the 3,600 subjects included in this assessment, approximately 16.2% (n=583) had exposure risk scores above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile and were largely male (72.3%) and had a median age of 29 (IQR: 21-42; range 6-69). These rural subjects have the greatest potential non-occupational risk for poultry-to-human transmission of HPAI.

As discussed in Chapter 5, this population group differs from the age and sex distribution of the total number of confirmed H5N1 human cases that occurred up to 30 December 2008, in which an excess of cases was observed in children and no differences observed between genders (Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza 2008). However the group with highest exposure in this study is more similar to the age/sex distribution of the confirmed Thai cases (n=25). The mean age of cases was 22 years and 64% of cases were male (WHO 2006-2009) indicating that similar poultry contact patterns may exist in Thailand.

Such socio-demographic differences in human cases of H5N1 may be because contact patterns with poultry differ between countries. However, it is also suggestive that the variation in H5N1 incidence by age may not be due to exposure alone and that there may be differences by age in intrinsic immunologic susceptibility to infection, pre-existing immunity against human influenza A virus and/or clinical presentation of disease. As my study is the first study to

evaluate individual-level behaviour of a large and randomly selected population, it would be useful to evaluate the poultry contact patterns of individuals living in rural areas of Vietnam, Thailand, Laos, China and other Asian and African countries to evaluate whether behaviour differs among these populations living in similarly close contact with poultry. No comparable studies have been conducted from which comparisons of regional contact patterns can be made, although contact with poultry is likely to be widespread.

This research found that poultry traders (i.e., poultry market sellers and middlemen) are in highly-concentrated contact with poultry and therefore have a greater potential poultry-to-human transmission risk as compared to rural Cambodians. All of the poultry traders included in my study reported practices that are considered to be high risk for effective transmission of H5N1 if a bird is infected with H5N1 since their daily activities regularly include contact with blood and bodily fluids through the practices of slaughtering, bleeding and handling internal organs of poultry without the use of personal protective equipment.

### 8.2 Limitations of the Research

There are several additional questions that I would have liked to include in the questionnaires to better understand the potential transmission risk of HPAI between flocks. For example, it would have been useful to obtain specific information on the grazing patterns of domestic duck flocks to evaluate if grazing patterns differ by region or among areas with reported outbreaks. It would also have been useful to address the frequency of use and extent of sharing of farm equipment. These data are needed to determine the risk of HPAI transmission within and between villages that share equipment and would be important to understand in order to design appropriate HPAI control strategies.

Secondly, I did not collect sufficient information to evaluate risk factors for within-flock mortality because of the nature in which the data on poultry mortality were collected. My study subjects had difficulty with the recall periods that were originally included in the questionnaires (e.g., *within the past two weeks, how many poultry died*?; *within the past two months, how many poultry died*?). Therefore, questions addressing poultry mortality captured the proportion of poultry that died over an 8-month period among the total number of poultry

owned during that same time period rather than the number of birds that died within each flock owned over a shorter, more specified time period.

Additionally, to better evaluate transmission risk of HPAI from poultry-to-humans, I would have liked to obtained estimates of the extent and frequency of swimming/bathing/fishing in ponds by adults from all 6 provinces. I only collected information on swimming/bathing/ fishing among residents in two provinces. Among these 800 adults, 97 reported regularly swimming/bathing/fishing in water sources where poultry have access. These practices were most often reported by 16-25 year old males. This information may provide insight on the age and sex distribution of the confirmed H5N1 cases that have occurred to date.

This research would have been enhanced if I had included a component in the study design to test for the presence of antibodies of H5N1 of the study participants. By testing my study subjects for anti-H5 antibodies, I may have been able to identify risk factors for infection. However in 2006, very few non-health care worker related studies had been conducted or resulted in finding any seropositive individuals (Bridges et al. 2002; Katz et al. 1999; Vong et al. 2006) and it was deemed not financially feasible to include this component in this study.

Similarly, my study of poultry movement would have been enhanced if I had included virologic and serologic testing of live poultry at the poultry markets included in my study (n=102). Given that NaVRI identified antibodies in approximately 8% of live bird samples from 13 markets in 2008, it is likely that I would have identified poultry with antibodies in some of the markets included in my study. These data could have been used to evaluate practices of the markets (e.g., how birds are kept, environmental conditions of the markets) to determine if any practices are associated with the presence of HPAI.

My semi-quantitative risk assessment had several limitations, largely because several epidemiologic data gaps remain. These data gaps include: a lack of understanding of the prevalence rates of H5N1 in poultry species in regions where H5N1 is endemic or recurrent; a lack of knowledge on all potential transmission routes from poultry-to-humans including by indirect means via the environment; a lack of understanding on the influence of genetic and/or immunological factors on transmission; and a lack of knowledge on the persistence of the virus

in poultry blood, bodily fluids, organs and tissues. As these data become available, the estimates of  $\beta$  may become more refined.

There are several limitations of my study of poultry traders. First, this study did not attempt to find and interview all poultry markets or all middlemen responsible for trading poultry in Cambodia. Thus, the results of the network analysis only represent poultry movement within my study areas, specifically within the 24 districts in 6 provinces included in the study. Although the connections into Phnom Penh may be fairly complete and represent regular trading into the capital, there are important hubs of poultry movement—particularly around Siem Reap—that would be important to uncover in order to provide more comprehensive active HPAI surveillance recommendations to NaVRI.

Secondly, although this study identified illegal cross-border poultry trading with Vietnam and Thailand, it did not capture the small-scale localized poultry trading that may be important in understanding the circulation of HPAI in the Mekong Delta Region. The extent of small scale, cross-border trading of poultry, which has been illegal since 2004, is not well understood but is occurring in many areas along Cambodia's permeable border with Vietnam, and in some cases involve district veterinarians in border areas (MAFF Unpublished Data). This movement needs to be fully examined before it can be controlled.

Phylogenetic analyses of circulating poultry and human H5N1 strains in Vietnam, Cambodia and Thailand since 2004 have indicated that H5N1 may have been introduced into Cambodia in early 2004 from Thailand and since then has been circulating back and forth across the Vietnamese/Cambodian border (IPC Unpublished Data). Phylogenetic analyses of H5N1 stains circulating in Vietnam from 2001 to 2007 suggest that there have been at least six introductions of H5N1 into Vietnam, possibly first introduced into Vietnam from cross-border trading activities with China (Wan et al. 2008). It is likely that the cross-border trading of small numbers of live backyard chickens and/or ducks may be a critical factor in HPAI circulation and persistence throughout the Mekong Delta Region.

### 8.3 Dissemination of Findings

The dissemination of study information throughout the various stages of the PhD development, implementation, interim results and final results—was an important feature of my thesis work and therefore I regularly met with local partners to update them on the progress of the studies. For example, interim and final results of the cross-sectional study of rural Cambodians were presented to UNICEF in the form of an oral presentation and report at the end of the first phase (April 2007 (Van Kerkhove et al. 2007)) and second phase (March 2008 (Van Kerkhove et al. 2008)) of the study.

The results of this study have been used by UNICEF to improve their risk communication materials on avian influenza, specifically in school education. FAO Cambodia used the results on poultry mortality reporting to design a follow-up anthropological study to understand why subjects were reluctant to report poultry mortality to officials. IPC has used these results to design intervention studies in rural Cambodia to reduce the risk of transmission from poultry-to-humans by focusing on improvements in biosecurity on rural farms.

Detailed interim and final results of the cross-sectional study evaluating poultry movement were presented to local partners (IPC and NaVRI) in Cambodia in December 2007, October 2008 and March 2009 (planned) and provided as a report for NaVRI in early 2009. The results of this research have also been presented to members of Cambodia's avian influenza task force, which includes representatives from the WHO, FAO and the Ministry of Human Health in Cambodia.

### 8.4 Future Research

Despite numerous studies that have been published on H5N1 since 2003, there still remain important data gaps that must be filled to fully understand the epidemiology and pathogenicity of H5N1 in birds and humans. For example, risk factors for H5N1 human infection are still largely unknown and the persistence of H5N1 in different poultry species, within poultry populations and in the environment are not fully understood.

## 8.4.1 Persistence of H5N1 in Poultry Populations

There is a lack of knowledge of LPAI and HPAI virus persistence in poultry blood, bodily fluids, organs and tissues. To fully evaluate the transmission potential of H5N1 from poultry to humans, it would be useful to have a clear understanding of the pathogenicity of the circulating H5N1 stains in different species of vaccinated and unvaccinated birds, in assorted tissues and organs. and in the blood and bodily fluids at various days post infection. There have been numerous experimental studies that have evaluated the pathogenicity of H5N1 in different domestic and wild bird species, however these studies have largely been conducted on a small number of birds under controlled conditions (e.g., (Beato et al. 2007; Das et al. 2008; Hulse-Post et al. 2005; Spickler et al. 2008)). Since the pathogenicity of H5N1 in wild birds and domestic duck species has changed since 2003 (Pantin-Jackwood et al. 2007; Swayne 2007), it would be useful to have data collected from H5N1 outbreak investigations in domestic, commercial or wild bird populations (e.g., (Kwon et al. 2005)) as these data are essential for understanding the conditions that may be required for the effective transmission of H5N1 from poultry-to-humans.

There is also a lack of knowledge on the persistence of H5N1 strains and how transmission is sustained within poultry populations. There is likely considerable underreporting of HPAI in poultry in rural areas of many countries where backyard poultry is common (FAO Sector 4). It would therefore be useful to examine the poultry production systems of countries where H5N1 is present, for example by using the Sector 4 Sub-categories A through D that I described in Chapter 4. These sub-categories may be helpful in describing the poultry production systems where H5N1 outbreaks have been frequent (e.g., Vietnam, Thailand, Egypt) and less frequent (e.g., Laos, Malaysia, Benin) to determine if there is a relationship between husbandry practices and the frequency of H5N1 outbreaks or the risk of HPAI infection. While freeranging duck flocks-which may be silent carriers of HPAI and have the potential to transmit the virus freely and undetected-are an important risk factor for the persistence of HPAI (Gilbert et al. 2006), semi-commercial farms may be at a higher risk for infection than backyard flocks (Graham et al. 2008; Sims 2007). However this could be the result of higher outbreak ascertainment in commercial poultry production settings (Graham et al. 2008). Therefore, understanding the poultry production system of countries with recurrent HPAI is vital for developing appropriate control programs.

The effects of control measures (e.g., vaccination, stamping out, restricting movement, improving bio-security measures), which have been implemented in many countries to control the spread of H5N1, are not well understood as there are few peer-reviewed and published reports that have evaluated such control programs. There is some information available from government and international organizational reports (MOH 2007; Otte et al. 2008) and presentations at conferences (Nguyen 2008; Siregar & Darminto 2008). However, it would be useful to obtain more specific information on which control strategies were used, the methods that were used to implement strategies, and results from post-vaccination surveillance and/or other evaluation programs.

The persistence of LPAI and HPAI strains in the environment under various climatic conditions—including those that resemble live bird markets, wet markets and poultry farms is unclear. The often damp and dark conditions of wet markets are believed to be ideal for the persistence of H5N1 virus (Woo et al. 2006), and the conditions in the live birds selling areas and slaughtering areas could facilitate a viable environment for HPAI to survive and/or persist (Kung et al. 2007; Kung et al. 2003b; Nguyen et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006; Webster 2004). There is some experimental evidence that suggests that influenza A viruses are detectable in water and wet faeces for up to 6 days at 37°C (Brown et al. 2007b) and that H5N1 can survive in carcasses for several days at room temperature (OIE 2008a; WHO 2006-2009). However further experimental studies are needed to evaluate the viability of H5N1 in various controlled climatic conditions with varying temperature, humidity, and UV light. These results would be useful to help understand the duration H5N1 is transmissible and detectable in various environments. Since my results found that birds spend less than 8 hours in market before they are slaughtered, it would be useful to evaluate the cost-benefit of including environmental sampling in HPAI surveillance programs conducted in markets, especially in resource limited countries.

#### 8.4.2 Epidemiologic Data Gaps

Several important data gaps remain in the understanding of the epidemiology of H5N1 in humans. First, there remains considerable scope for underreporting of human and poultry H5N1 outbreaks and therefore data is still lacking on the risk factors for human H5N1 infection. Since 2003, a small number of seroprevalence studies have evaluated the frequency of asymptomatic or subclinical infection and risk factors for H5N1 infection (Apisarnthanarak et al. 2005; Ortiz et al. 2007; Schultsz et al. 2005; Thanh Liem et al. 2005; Vong et al. 2009). However, only one of these studies has identified asymptomatic individuals with anti-H5N1 antibodies, indicating previous infection with H5N1. The interpretations from this study are limited because of the small numbers of cases (7) and matched controls (24) available for study.

It would be constructive to conduct a large-scale seroprevalence study of individuals who are in regular contact with poultry blood, tissues and bodily fluids. Given that anti-H5N1 antibodies were found in approximately 8% of live bird samples tested in 2008 (MAFF Unpublished Data), and that seroprevalence rates among birds at markets vary (Amonsin et al. 2008; Joannis et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2006) and could be higher, a human seroprevalence study should be conducted to evaluate the presence of HPAI (H5 and H7 subtypes) antibodies among poultry market sellers. This study should include poultry workers, especially individuals that are responsible for preparing poultry to be sold at the market (i.e., market sellers that slaughter, boil, defeather, handle internal organs, and cut meat) from multiple countries where H5N1 is recurrent. The inclusion of poultry market workers from several countries may allow for the evaluation of seroprevalence and/or risk factors by region. This study could evaluate the risk factors identified during my thesis work (and include risk factors evaluated in previous studies of poultry workers (Bridges et al. 2002; Ortiz et al. 2007)) and the extent and frequency of specific exposures to poultry that occur during the preparation of poultry for trading (e.g., slaughtering and bleeding poultry, boiling and defeathering poultry, removing and washing internal organs, etc) as well as other at risk practices involving direct and indirect contact with poultry in non-occupational settings. Careful attention to sample size should be considered when designing this study to adequately evaluate risk factors for infection since published studies have identified only a small percentage, if any, of individuals with anti-H5 antibodies (Bridges et al. 2002; Ortiz et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2006).

Second, the influence of genetic and/or immunological factors on transmission is poorly understood. Although there have been several suspected clusters of H5N1 infection (largely among blood relatives) where H5N1 may have been transmitted between humans, the clusters are difficult to interpret because all suspected family members may not have been tested for

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 214

H5N1. In an analysis of 11 suspected clusters of H5N1 among blood relatives in Indonesia, the authors suggest that there may have been limited human-to-human transmission in some clusters. However genetic variation in families could result in the occurrence of clusters because of a predisposition to infection (Kandun et al. 2008).

While no health care workers exposed to H5N1 patients in Vietnam or Thailand were infected from the care of these patients (Apisarnthanarak et al. 2005; Thanh Liem et al. 2005), a father may have been infected through contact during the care of his dying son infected with H5N1 at a hospital in China (Wang et al. 2008), and a mother and aunt may have become infected from similar contact with their dying daughter/niece in a hospital in Thailand (Ungchusak et al. 2005). In order to fully evaluate the occurrence of human-to-human transmission, a detailed exposure history needs to be collected from *all* suspected cases and their contacts. Bird and Farrar have developed a data collection form that could be used during all future human outbreak investigations, which includes not only information on contact (Bird & Farrar 2008). However this questionnaire covers only general exposure information (e.g., handling sick or dead poultry, handling faeces or fertiliser from sick or dead poultry, slaughtering poultry) and does not include any potential transmission via the environment (e.g., contaminated water). In order to build a database from which more robust analysis can be conducted, detailed exposure information should be systematically collected from all suspect cases.

Third, improved knowledge is needed on all potential routes of transmission of H5N1 from poultry-to-humans and the prevalence of such practices in human populations. I have evaluated what I believe are the main potential routes in which people can become infected with H5N1, but we currently lack sufficient data from the confirmed H5N1 cases around the world to fully evaluate other potential risk factors for infection such as the role of water and other environmental factors. Transmission could also include oral ingestion, conjunctival or intranasal inoculation from contaminated water while drinking, swimming or bathing or from faeces while caring for poultry (Vong et al. 2009) and may explain why more children than adults are infected. Furthermore, asymptomatic cases may occur because of low concentrations of viruses in the environment.

### 8.5 Conclusions

To fully understand and attempt to control a zoonotic disease like HPAI/H5N1, it is essential for animal and human health bodies to work effectively together to study HPAI in poultry and humans, especially at the animal/human interface. Collaboration between animal and human health sectors is essential to understand the risk of transmission between poultry and humans and to develop effective programs to control and prevent the spread of HPAI within poultry populations and onwards to humans. The exposure information that is currently collected from suspect H5N1 cases is too general to explain the current pattern or to predict future cases of H5N1 infection in human populations, and therefore need to be more systematic and standardized.

Outbreaks in human and poultry populations continue to occur. During the first two months of 2009, H5N1 was identified in humans in China and Egypt (WHO 2009a) and in poultry in Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Togo, China and Vietnam (OIE 2009b). H5N1 is often identified in human before poultry populations thus exposing the limitations of the current HPAI surveillance systems in many Asian countries where H5N1 is recurrent or endemic. Improvements in passive HPAI surveillance programs are urgently needed in these countries.
## References

- 1999 Codex Alimentarius Commission. Principles and Guidelines of the Conduct of Microbiological Risk Assessment. CAC/GL-30. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Adene, D. & Oguntade, A. 2006 The structure and importance of the commercial and village based poultry industry in Nigeria: Rome: Food and Agricultural Organization, Available from:
   <u>http://www.fao.org/docs/eims/upload//214281/poultrysector\_nga\_en.pdf</u>.
- Alexander, D. & Brown, I. 2000 Recent zoonoses caused by influenza A viruses. *Rev Sci Tech* **19**, 197-225.
- Alexander, D. J. 2008 Highly pathogenic avian influenza. In: OIE Manual of standards for diagnostic tests and vaccines. 5th ed. Paris, France: Office International des Epizooties.
- Amonsin, A., Choatrakol, C., Lapkuntod, J., Tantilertcharoen, R., Thanawongnuwech, R., Suradhat, S., Suwannakarn, K., Theamboonlers, A. & Poovorawan, Y. 2008 Influenza Virus (H5N1) in Live Bird Markets and Food Markets, Thailand. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14, 1739-1742.
- Anderson, I. 2002 Foot & Mouth Disease 2001: Lessons to be Learned Inquiry Report. Available at: <u>http://archive.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/fmd/fmd\_report/report/index.htm</u>. London, UK: The Stationary Office.
- Apisarnthanarak, A., Erb, S., Stephenson, I., Katz, J. M., Chittaganpitch, M., Sangkitporn, S., Kitphati, R., Thawatsupha, P., Waicharoen, S., Pinitchai, U., Apisarnthanarak, P., Fraser, V. J. & Mundy, L. M. 2005 Seroprevalence of Anti-H5 Antibody among Thai Health Care Workers after Exposure to Avian Influenza (H5N1) in a Tertiary Care Center, vol. 40, pp. e16-e18.
- ArcGIS. 2006 ArcGIS 9: Network Analyst Tutorial. Available at: <u>http://proteus.brown.edu/EarthlabGIS/admin/download.html?attachid=5802507</u>, pp. 1-36.
- Areechokchai, D., Jiraphongsa, C., Laosiritaworn, Y., Hanshaoworakul, W., O'Reilly, M. & (CDC), C. f. D. C. a. P. 2006 Investigation of avian influenza (H5N1) outbreak in humans--Thailand, 2004. MMWR 55, 3-6.
- Armstrong, B., White, E. & Saracci, R. 1992 Principles of Exposure Measurement in Epidemiology. Monographs in Epidemiology and Biostatistics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Beato, M., Toffan, A., De Nardi, R., Cristalli, A., Terregino, C., Cattoli, G. & Capua, I. 2007 A conventional, inactivated oil emulsion vaccine suppresses shedding and prevents viral

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 217

meat colonisation in commercial (Pekin) ducks challenged with HPAI H5N1. Vaccine **25**, 4064-72.

- Beigel, J., Farrar, J., Han, A., Hayden, F., Hyer, R., de Jong, M., Lochindarat, S., Nguyen, T., Nguyen, T., Tran, T., Nicoll, A., Touch, S. & Yuen, K. 2005 Avian influenza A (H5N1) infection in humans. N. Engl. J. Med 353.
- Bennett, S., Woods, T., Liyanage, W. & Smith, D. 1991 A simplified general method for cluster-sample surveys of health in developing countries. World Health Stat Q 44, 98-106.
- Bird, S. & Farrar, J. 2008 Minimum dataset needed for confirmed human H5N1 cases. *The Lancet* **372**, 696-697.
- Biswas, P., Christensen, J., Ahmed, S., Barua, H., Das, A., Rahman, M., Giasuddin, M., Hannan, A., Habib, M., Ahad, A., Rahman, A., Faruque, R. & Debnath, N. 2008 Avian influenza outbreaks in chickens, Bangladesh. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14, 1909-1912.
- Boender, G. J., Hagenaars, T. J., Bouma, A., Nodelijk, G., Elbers, A. R. W., de Jong, M. C. M.
  & van Boven, M. 2007 Risk Maps for the Spread of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Poultry. *PLoS Computational Biology* 3, e71.
- Borgatti, S. P. 2002 NetDraw: Graph Visualization Software: Harvard: Analytic Technologies.
- Borgatti, S. P., Everett, M. G. & Freeman, L. C. 2002 Ucinet for Windows: Software for Social Network Analysis: Harvard, MA: Analytic Technologies.
- Bragstad, K., Jorgensen, P., Handberg, K., Hammer, A., Kabell, S. & Fomsgaard, A. 2007 First introduction of highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza A viruses in wild and domestic birds in Denmark, Northern Europe, vol. 4, pp. 43.
- Bridges, C., Katz, J., Seto, W., Chan, P., Tsang, D., Ho, W., Mak, K., Lim, W., Tam, J., Clarke, M., WIlliams, S., Mounts, A., Bressee, J., Conn, L., Rowe, T., Hu-Primmer, J., Abernathy, R., Lu, X., Cox, N. & Fukuda, K. 2000 Risk of Influenza A (H5N1) Infection among Health Care Workers Exposed to Patients with Influenza A (H5N1), Hong Kong. J Infect Dis 181, 344-348.
- Bridges, C., Lim, W., Hu-Primmer, J., Sims, L., Fukuda, K., Mak, K. & al, e. 2002 Risk of influenza A (H5N1) infection among poultry workers, Hong Kong, 1997-1998. J Infect Dis 185, 1005-10.
- Brown, I., Pittman, M., Irza, V. & Laddomada, A. 2007a Experiences in control of avian influenza in Europe, the Russian Federation and the Middle East. *Dev Biol (Basel)*. 2007;130:33-8.Links 130, 33-38.
- Brown, J., Swayne, D., Cooper, R., Burns, R. & Stallknecht, D. 2007b Persistence of H5 and H7 avian influenza viruses in water. *Avian Dis* **51**, 285-289.

- Bublot, M., Pritchard, N., Cruz, J., Mickle, T., Selleck, P. & Swayne, D. 2007 Efficacy of a fowlpox-vectored avian influenza H5 vaccine against Asian H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus challenge. *Avian Dis* **51**, 498-500.
- Buchy, P., Mardya, S., Vong, S., Toyoda, T., Aubin, J.-T., Miller, M. J., Touch, S., Sovanne, L., Dufourcq, J.-B., Richner, B., Tu, P. V., Tien, N. T. K., Limi, W., Peiris, J. S. M. & Van der Werf, S. 2007 Influenza A/H5N1 virus infection in humans in Cambodia. *Journal of Clinical Virology* 39, 164-8.
- Burgos, S. 2008 Comparative economic and agricultural values in SE Asia: Thailand, Vietnam and Cambodia. Part of a workshop presentation titled: "Political economy of HPAI in SE Asia". In *hosted by IDS*. Brighton, UK 23-25 April.
- Burgos, S., Otte, J., Pfeiffer, D., Metras, R., Kasemsuwan, S., Chanachai, K., Heft-Neal, S. & Roland-Holst, D. 2008 Poultry, HPAI and Livelihoods in Thailand A Review. Available at: <u>http://www.hpai-research.net/docs/Research\_reports/rrep04\_2008.pdf</u>. *HPAI Research Brief* 1-46.
- Capua, I. & Alexander, D. 2006 Avian influenza infections in birds a moving target. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-2659.2006.00004.
- Capua, I. & Alexander, D. J. 2002 Avian influenza and human health. Acta Tropica 83, 1-6.
- Capua, I. & Marangon, S. 2000 Avian influenza in Italy (1999–2000): a review. *Avian Pathol.* **29**, 289–294.
- Capua, I. & Marangon, S. 2006a Control of Avian Influenza. Emerg Infect Dis 12, 1319-1324.
- Capua, I. & Marangon, S. 2006b Control of avian influenza infections in poultry with emphasis on vaccination. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy* **4**, 751-757.
- Capua, I., Mutinelli, F., Pozza, M., Donatelli, I., Puzelli, S. & Cancellotti, F. 2002 The 1999-2000 avian influenza (H7N1) epidemic in Italy: veterinary and human health implications. *Acta Trop.* 83, 7-11.
- Capua, I., Terregino, C., Cattoli, G., Mutinelli, F. & Rodriguez, J. 2003 Development of a DIVA (Differentiating Infected from Vaccinated Animals) strategy using a vaccine containing a heterologous neuraminidase for the control of avian influenza. Avian Pathol 32, 47-55.
- Cattell, R. B. 1966 The scree test for the number of factors. *Multivariate Behavioral Research* 1, 245-276.
- CDC. 2005 Centers for Diesease Control and Prevention. Transmission of Influenza A Viruses Between Animals and People. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/flu/avian/gen-info/transmission.htm</u>.

- Cecchi, G., Ilemobade, A., Le Brun, Y., Hogerwerf, L. & Slingenbergh, J. 2008 Agroecological features of the introduction and spread of the highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 in northern Nigeria. *Geospat Health* **3**, 7-16.
- Chambers, R., Pacey, A. & Thrupp, L. (ed.) 1993 Farmer First. In: Research, F.I.a.A.: Intermediate Technology Publication, Exeter, UK.
- Chan, K., Lam, S., Puthavathana, P., Nguyen, T., Long, H., Pang, K., Chan, C., Cheung, C., Seto, W. & Peiris, J. 2007 Comparative analytical sensitivities of six rapid influenza A antigen detection test kits for detection of influenza A subtypes H1N1, H3N2 and H5N1. J Clin Virol 38, 169-171.
- Chen, H., Deng, G., Li, Z., Tian, G., Li, Y., Jiao, P., Zhang, L., Liu, Z., Webster, R. & Yu, K. 2004 The evolution of H5N1 influenza viruses in ducks in southern China. *Proc Natl* .4cad Sci USA 101, 10452-10457.
- Chen, H., Smith, G. J., Zhang, S. Y., Qin, K., Wang, J., Li, K. S., Webster, R. G., Peiris, J. S. & Guan, Y. 2005 Avian flu: H5N1 virus outbreak in migratory waterfowl. *Nature* 436, 191-192.
- Chen, W., He, B., Li, C., Zhang, X., Wu, W., Yin, X., Fan, B., Fan, X. & Wang, J. 2007 Realtime RT-PCR for H5N1 avian influenza A virus detection, vol. 56, pp. 603-607.
- Chen, Y., Xu, F., Fan, X., Luo, H., Ge, S., Zheng, Q., Xia, N., Chen, H., Guan, Y. & Zhang, J. 2008 Evaluation of a rapid test for detection of H5N1 avian influenza virus. *Journal of Virological Methods* 154, 213-215.
- Chis Ster, I. & Ferguson, N. M. 2007 Transmission Parameters of the 2001 Foot and Mouth Epidemic in Great Britain. *PLoS ONE* **2**, e502.
- Chua, T.-H., Ellis, T. M., Wong, C. W., Guan, Y., Ge, S. X., Peng, G., Lamichhane, C., Maliadis, C., Tan, S.-W., Selleck, P. & Parkinson, J. 2007 Performance Evaluation of Five Detection Tests for Avian Influenza Antigen with Various Avian Samples, vol. 51, pp. 96-105.
- Chumpolbanchorn, K., Suemanotham, N., Siripara, N., Puyati, B. & Chaichoune, K. 2006 The effect of temperature and UV light on infectivity of avian influenza virus (H5N1, Thai field strain) in chicken fecal manure. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 37, 102-5.
- CIA. 2008 CIA World Factbook: Cambodia. Last accessed 5 November 2008.
- CIRDAP. 2006 Center for Infectious Disease Research and Policy. Avian Influenza (Bird Flu): Agricultural and Wildlife Considerations.
- Claas, E. C. J., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., van Beek, R., De Jong, J. C., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Senne, D. A., Krauss, S., Shortridge, K. F. & Webster, R. G. 1998 Human influenza A

H5N1 virus related to a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. *The Lancet* **351**, 472-477.

- Colizza V, Barrat A, Barthelemy M, Valleron AJ & A, V. 2007 Modeling the Worldwide Spread of Pandemic Influenza: Baseline Case and Containment Interventions. *PLoS Medicine* 4, 95-110.
- Cristalli, A. & Capua, I. 2007 Practical Problems in Controlling H5N1 High Pathogenicity Avian Influenza at Village Level in Vietnam and Introduction of Biosecurity Measures. *Avian Diseases* **51**, 461-2.
- Daly, K. A., Lindgren, B. & Giebink, G. S. 1994 Validity of Parental Report of a Child's Medical History in Otitis Media Research, vol. 139, pp. 1116-1121.
- Das A, S. E., Thomas C, Swayne DE, Suarez DL. 2008 Detection of H5N1 high-pathogenicity avian influenza virus in meat and tracheal samples from experimentally infected chickens. *Avian Dis.* **52**, 40-8.
- Das, A., Spackman, E., Thomas, C., Swayne, D. & Suarez, D. 2008 Detection of H5N1 highpathogenicity avian influenza virus in meat and tracheal samples from experimentally infected chickens. Avian Dis 52, 40-8.
- De Benedictis, P., Joannis, T., Lombin, L., Shittu, I., Beato, M., Rebonato, V., Cattoli, G. & I, C. 2007 Field and laboratory findings of the first incursion of the Asian H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus in Africa. *Avian Pathol* 36, 115-117.
- de Jong, J. C., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Fouchier, R. A. M. & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 2000 Influenza Virus: a Master of Metamorphosis. *Journal of Infection* **40**, 218.
- de Jong, M. D., Cam, B. V., Qui, P. T., Hien, V. M., Thanh, T. T., Hue, N. B., Beld, M., Phuong, L. T., Khanh, T. H., Chau, N. V. V., Hien, T. T., Ha, D. Q. & Farrar, J. 2005 Fatal Avian Influenza A (H5N1) in a Child Presenting with Diarrhea Followed by Coma, vol. 352, pp. 686-691.
- Dent, J., Kao, R., Kiss, I., Hyder, K. & Arnold, M. 2008 Contact structures in the poultry industry in Great Britain: Exploring transmission routes for a potential avian influenza virus epidemic. *BMC Vet Res* **4**, 27.
- Dent, J., McGregory, M. & Edwards-Jones, G. 1994 Integrating livestock and socio-economic systems into complex models. In *Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium in a Research and Development Framework. Wageningen Press, Zaragoza* (ed. A. Gibon, Flamaant, J.C.), pp. 25-36.
- Dent, J. & Thornton, P. 1998 The role of biological simulation models in farming system research. Agricultural Administration and Extension 29, 111-122.

- Desvaux, S., Sorn, S., Holl, D., Chavernac, D., Goutard, F., Thonnat, J., Porphyre, V., Menard, C., Cardinale, E. & Roger, F. 2006 HPAI surveillance programme in Cambodia: results and perspectives. *Dev Biol (Basel)*. 124.
- Dinh, P., Long, H., Tien, N., Hien, N., Mai, L., Phong, L., Tan, H., Nguyen, N., Tu, P. & Phuong, N. 2006 and the World Health Organization/Global Outbreak Alert and Response Network Avian Influenza Investigation Team in Vietnam. Risk factors for human infection with avian influenza A H5N1, Vietnam, 2004. Available from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/EID/vol12no12/06-0829.htm</u>. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12.
- Ducatez, M., Olinger, C., Owoade, A., De Landtsheer, S., Ammerlaan, W., Niesters, H., Osterhaus, A., R, F. & Muller, C. 2006 Avian flu: multiple introductions of H5N1 in Nigeria. Nature 442, 37.
- Dung, N. T. 2007 Poultry Vaccination against H5N1 avian influenza in Vietnam. In Bangkok International Conference on Avian Influenza 2008: Integration from Knowledge to Control. Bangkok, Thailand.
- EC. 2006 European Commission. Vaccination of Poultry Against Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 (DIVA Strategy). SANCO/10103/2006 rev. 3: European Commission.
- Ellis, T., Bousfield, R., Bissett, L., Dyrting, K., Luk, G., Tsim, S., Sturm-Ramirez, K., Webster, R., Guan, Y. & Peiris, M. 2004a Investigation of outbreaks of highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza in waterfowl and wild birds in Hong Kong in late 2002. *Avian Pathol* 33, 492-505.
- Ellis, T., Leung, C., Chow, M., Bissett, L., Wong, W., Guan, Y. & Peiris, M. 2004b Vaccination of chickens against H5N1 avian influenza in the face of an outbreak interrupts virus transmission. Avian Pathology 33, 405-412.
- Epprecht, M. & Robinson, T. 2007 Agricultural Atlas of Vietnam. A Depiction of the 2001 Rural Agriculture and Fisheries Census. Pro-Poor Livestock Policy Initiative (PPLPI) of the United Nation's Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and General Statistics Office (GSO), Government of Vietnam, Rome and Hanoi.
- Erlander, S. & Stewart, N. 1990 The Gravity Model in Transportation Analysis -- Theory and Extensions: Topics in Transportation. Topics in Transportation.
- EU. 2006 Commission Decision of 14 June 2006 concerning certain protection measures in relation to highly pathogenic avian influenza of the subtype H5N1 in poultry in the Community and repealing Decision 2006/135/EC. In Available at: <u>http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/site/en/oj/2006/l\_164/l\_16420060616en00510060.pdf</u>. European Union.
- FAO. 1999 Nurtition Country Profile Cambodia, pp. 1-24. FAO, Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization.

- FAO. 2004a FAO Recommendations on the Prevention, Control and Eradication of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) in Asia. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/AG/AGAINFO/SUBJECTS/en/health/diseases-</u> <u>cards/27septrecomm.pdf</u>.
- FAO. 2004b Rice Around the World: Cambodia. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/rice2004/en/p14.htm</u>.
- FAO. 2005 Prevention and Control of Avian Flu in Small-scale Poultry: A guide for veterinary paraprofessionnals in Cambodia.
- FAO. 2006 A Strategic Framework for HPAI Prevention and Control in Southeast Asia, Emergency Centre for Transboundary Animal Diseases (ECTAD), FAO, Bangkok. Bangkok.
- FAO. 2008 Outbreaks of Avian Influenza (subtype H5N1) in poultry. From the end of 2003 to 30 December 2008. Available at: <u>http://www.oie.int/downld/AVIAN%20INFLUENZA/Graph%20HPAI/graphs%20HP AI%2031\_12\_2008.pdf</u>, vol. 2009.
- FAO, OIE & WHO. 2007 Food and Agriculture Organization of the Untied Nations, World Organization for Animal Health and the World Health Organization. Technical Workshop on Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza and Human H5N1 Infection. Proceedings 2 August 2007. Rome, Italy.
- FAOSTATS. 2008 Website: http://faostat.fao.org/. Last accessed12 July 2008.
- Fasina, F., Meseko, A., Joannis, T., Shittu, A., Ularamu, H., Egbuji, N., Sulaiman, L. & Onyekonwu, N. 2007 Control versus no control: options for avian influenza H5N1 in Nigeria. Zoonoses Public Health 54, 173-176.
- Ferguson, N. M., Cummings, D. A. T., Cauchemez, S., Fraser, C., Riley, S., Meeyai, A., Iamsirithaworn, S. & Burke, D. S. 2005 Strategies for containing an emerging influenza pandemic in Southeast Asia. *Nature* 437, 209.
- Ferguson, N. M., Donnelly, C. A. & Anderson, R. M. 2001 Transmission intensity and impact of control policies on the foot and mouth epidemic in Great Britain. *Nature* 413, 542-548.
- Fouchier, R. A. M., Schneeberger, P. M., Rozendaal, F. W., Broekman, J. M., Kemink, S. A. G., Munster, V., Kuiken, T., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Schutten, M., van Doornum, G. J. J., Koch, G., Bosman, A., Koopmans, M. & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 2004 Avian influenza A virus (H7N7) associated with human conjunctivitis and a fatal case of acute respiratory distress syndrome, vol. 101, pp. 1356-1361.

- Gaidet, N., Dodman, T., Caron, A., Balança, G., Desvaux, S., Goutard, F., Cattoli, G., Lamarque, F., Hagemeijer, W. & Monicat, F. 2007 Avian influenza viruses in water birds, Africa. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13, 626-629.
- Gambotto, A., Barratt-Boyes, S. M., de Jong, M. D., Neumann, G. & Kawaoka, Y. 2008 Human infection with highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza virus. *The Lancet* **371**, 1464-1475.
- Gilbert, M., Chaitaweesub, P., Parakamawongsa, T., Premashthira, S., Tiensin, T., Kalpravidh,
   W., Wagner, H. & Slingenbergh, J. 2006 Free-grazing ducks and highly pathogenic avian influenza, Thailand. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12, 227-234.
- Gilbert, M., Xiao, X., Chaitaweesub, P., Kalpravidh, W., Premashthira, S., Boles, S. & Slingenbergh, J. 2007 Avian influenza, domestic ducks and rice agriculture in Thailand. *Agric Ecosyst Environ* **119**, 409-415.
- Gilsdorf, A., Boxall, N., Gasimov, V., Agayev, I., Mammadzade, F., Ursu, P., Gasimov, E.,
  Brown, C., Mardel, S., Jankovic, D., Pimentel, G., Amir Ayoub, I., Maher Labib
  Elassal, E., Salvi, C., Legros, D., Pessoa da Silva, C., Hay, A., Andraghetti, R., Rodier,
  G. & Ganter, B. 2006 Two clusters of human infection with influenza A. Human avian
  influenza in Azerbaijan, February-March 2006. . *Euro Surveill* 11, 122-6.
- Graham, J., Tuchmann, J., Price, L., Otte, J., Pfeiffer, D., Tiensin, T. & Silbergeld, E. 2008 The animal-human interface and infectious disease in industrial food animal production: rethinking biosecurity and biocontainment. *Public Health Rep* 123, 282-299.
- Grain. 2006 Grain Briefing. Fowl play: The poultry industry's central role in the bird flu crisis Available at: <u>http://www.grain.org/briefings/?id=194#\_ftn7</u>.
- Green, D., Kiss, I., Mitchell, A. & Kao, R. 2008 Estimates for local and movement-based transmission of bovine tuberculosis in British cattle. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 275, 1001–1005.
- Greiner, M., Muller-Graf, C., Hiller, P., Schrader, C., Gervelmeyer, A., Ellerbroek, L. & Appel,
  B. 2007 Expert opinion based modelling of the risk of human infections iwth H5N1
  through the consumption of poultry meat in Germany. *Berl. Munch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.* Heft 3/4, 98-107.
- Gross, P. A. 1996 Preparing for the Next Influenza Pandemic: A Reemerging Infection. Ann Intern Med 124, 682-685.
- Guan, Y., Chen, H., Li, K. S., Riley, S., Leung, G. M., Webster, R., Peiris, J. S. M. & Yuen, K. 2007 A model to control the epidemic of H5N1 influenza at the source, vol. 7, pp. 132.
- Guan, Y., Peiris, J., Lipatov, A., Ellis, T., Dyrting, K., Krauss, S., Zhang, L., Webster, R. & Shortridge, K. 2002 Emergence of multiple genotypes of H5N1 avian influenza viruses in Hong Kong SAR. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 8950-8955.

- Guan, Y., Zheng, B., He, Y., Liu, X., Zhuang, Z., Cheung, C., Luo, S., Li, P., Zhang, L., Guan, Y., Butt, K., Wong, K., Chan, K., Lim, W., Shortridge, K., Yuen, K., Peiris, J. & Poon, L. 2003 Isolation and characterization of viruses related to the SARS coronavirus from animals in southern China. *Science* 302, 276-278.
- Hayden, F. & Croisier, A. 2005 Transmission of avian influenza viruses to and between humans. *J Infect Dis* 192, 311–4.
- Henning, J., Pfeiffer, D. & Vu, L. 2009 Risk factors and characteristics of H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) post-vaccination outbreaks. *Vet. Res.* 40.
- Hinjoy, S., Puthavathana, P., Laosiritaworn, Y., Limpakarnjanarat, K., Pooruk, P., Chuxnum,
  P., Simmerman, J. & Ungchusak, K. 2008 Low Frequency of Infection With Avian
  Influenza Virus (H5N1) Among Poultry Farmers, Thailand, 2004. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14, 499-450.
- Hollingsworth, T., Ferguson, N. M. & Anderson, R. 2007 Frequent Travelers and Rate of Spread of Epidemics. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13, 1288-1294.
- Horimoto, T. & Kawaoka, Y. 2001 Pandemic Threat Posed by Avian Influenza A Viruses. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 14, 129-149.
- Hsieh, Y.-C., Wu, T.-Z., Liu, D.-P., Shao, P.-L., Chang, L.-Y., Lu, C.-Y., Lee, C.-Y., Huang, F.-Y. & Huang, L.-M. 2006 Influenza Pandemics: Past, Present and Future. *Journal of* the Formosan Medical Association 105, 1-6.
- Huai, Y., Xiang, N., Zhou, L., Feng, L., Peng, Z., Chapman, R., Uyeki, T. & Yu, H. 2008 Incubation Period for Human Cases of Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Infection, China. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14, 1819-1821.
- Hufnagel, L., Brockmann, D. & Geisel, T. 2004 Forecast and control of epidemics in a globalized world, vol. 101, pp. 15124-15129.
- Hulse-Post, D. J., Sturm-Ramirez, K. M., Humberd, J., Seiler, P., Govorkova, E. A., Krauss, S., Scholtissek, C., Puthavathana, P., Buranathai, C., Nguyen, T. D., Long, H. T., Naipospos, T. S. P., Chen, H., Ellis, T. M., Guan, Y., Peiris, J. S. M. & Webster, R. G. 2005 Role of domestic ducks in the propagation and biological evolution of highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza viruses in Asia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102, 10682-10687.

IPC. Unpublished Data.

Isoda, N., Sakoda, Y., Kishida, N., Bai, G., Matsuda, K., Umemura, T. & Kida, H. 2006
Pathogenicity of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus, A/chicken/Yamaguchi/7/04 (H5N1) in different species of birds and mammals. *Arch Virol.* 151, 1267-79.

- Jefferson, T., Rivetti, A., Harnden, A., Di Pietrantonj, C. & V, D. 2008 Vaccines for preventing influenza in healthy children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Art. No.: CD004879. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004879.pub3.
- Jennings, R. & Read, R. C. 2006 Influenza: Human and Avian. London: Royal Society of Medicine Press Ltd.
- Ji-Ming, C., Ji-Wang, C., Jian-Jun, D. & Ying-Xue, S. 2007 A survey of human cases of H5N1 avian influenza reported by the WHO before June 2006 for infection control. *American journal of infection control* **35**, 467.
- Joannis, T., Lombin, L., De Benedictis, P., Cattoli, G. & Capua, I. 2006 Confirmation of H5N1 avian influenza in Africa. *Vet Rec* **158**, 309-310.
- Joannis, T., Meseko, C., Oladokun, A., Ularamu, H., Egbuji, A., Solomon, P., Nyam, D., Gado, D., Luka, P., Ogedengbe, M., Yakubu, M., Tyem, A., Akinyede, O., Shittu, A., Sulaiman, L., Owolodun, O., Olawuyi, A., Obishakin, E. & Fasina, F. 2008 Serologic and virologic surveillance of avian influenza in Nigeria, 2006-7. *Euro Surveill* 13, 1-5.
- Kandun, I., Tresnaningsih, E., Purba, W., Lee, V., Samaan, G., Harun, S., Soni, E., Septiawati, C., Setiawati, T., Sariwati, E. & Wandra, T. 2008 Factors associated with case fatality of human H5N1 virus infections in Indonesia: a case series. *The Lancet* 372, 744-749.
- Kandun, I. N., Wibisono, H., Sedyaningsih, E. R., Yusharmen, Hadisoedarsuno, W., Purba, W., Santoso, H., Septiawati, C., Tresnaningsih, E., Heriyanto, B., Yuwono, D., Harun, S., Soeroso, S., Giriputra, S., Blair, P. J., Jeremijenko, A., Kosasih, H., Putnam, S. D., Samaan, G., Silitonga, M., Chan, K. H., Poon, L. L. M., Lim, W., Klimov, A., Lindstrom, S., Guan, Y., Donis, R., Katz, J., Cox, N., Peiris, M. & Uyeki, T. M. 2006 Three Indonesian Clusters of H5N1 Virus Infection in 2005. *N Engl J Med* 355, 2186-2194.
- Kao, R., Danon, L., Green, D. & Kiss, I. 2006 Demographic structure and pathogen dynamics on the network of livestock movements in Great Britain. *Proc Biol Sci.* 273, 1999-2007.
- Katz, J. M., Wilina Lim, Bridges, C. B., Rowe, T., Hu-Primmer, J., Lu, X., Abernathy, R. A., Clarke, M., Conn, L., Kwong, H., Lee, M., Au, G., Ho, Y. Y., Mak, K. H., Cox, N. J. & Fukuda, K. 1999 Antibody Response in Individuals Infected with Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Viruses and Detection of Anti-H5 Antibody among Household and Social Contacts. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 180, 1763–70.
- Keawcharoen, J., van Riel, D., van Amerongen, G., Bestebroer, T., Beyer, W., van Lavieren,
  R., Osterhaus, A., Fouchier, R. & Kuiken, T. 2008 Wild ducks as long-distance vectors of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). *Emerg Infect Dis* 14, 600-607.

Kilbourne, E. 2006 Influenza pandemics of the 20th century. Emerg Infect Dis 12, 9-14.

- Kim, J.-K., Seiler, P., Forrest, H. L., Khalenkov, A. M., Franks, J., Kumar, M., Karesh, W. B., Gilbert, M., Sodnomdarjaa, R., Douangngeun, B., Govorkova, E. A. & Webster, R. G. 2008 Pathogenicity and Vaccine Efficacy of Different Clades of Asian H5N1 Avian Influenza A Viruses in Domestic Ducks, vol. 82, pp. 11374-11382.
- Kirkwood, B. R. & Sterne, J. A. 2003 Essential Medical Statistics. Mass: Malden, Blackwell Science.
- Kiss, I., Green, D. & Kao, R. 2008 The effect of network mixing patterns on epidemic dynamics and the efficacy of disease contact tracing. J. R. Soc. Interface 5, 791–799.
- Koopmans, M., Wilbrink, B., Conyn, M., Natrop, G., van der Hat, H., Vennema, H., Meijer, A., van Steenbergen, J., Fouchier, R., Osterhaus, A. & Bosman, A. 2004 Transmission of H7N7 avian influenza A virus to human beings during a large outbreak in commercial poultry farms in the Netherlands. *Lancet* 363, 587-593.
- Krauss, S., Obert, C. A., Franks, J., Walker, D., Jones, K., Seiler, P., Niles, L., Pryor, S. P., Obenauer, J. C., Naeve, C. W., Widjaja, L., Webby, R. J. & Webster, R. G. 2007
  Influenza in Migratory Birds and Evidence of Limited Intercontinental Virus Exchange. *PLoS Pathogens* 3, e167.
- Kung, N., Guan, Y., Perkins, N., Bissett, L., Ellis, T., Sims, L., Morris, R., Shortridge, K. & Peiris, J. 2003a The impact of a monthly rest day on avian influenza virus isolation rates in retail live poultry markets in Hong Kong. *Avian Dis* 47, 1037-41.
- Kung, N. Y., R. S. Morris, N. R. Perkins, L. D. Sims, T. M. Ellis, L. Bissett, M. Chow, K. F. Shortridge, Guan, Y. & Peiris, M. J. 2007 Risk for infection with highly pathogenic influenza A virus (H5N1) in chickens, Hong Kong, 2002. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13.
- Kung, N. Y., Y. Guan, N. R. Perkins, L. Bissett, T. Ellis, L. Sims, R. S. Morris, K. F. Shortridge & Peiris, J. S. 2003b The impact of a monthly rest day on avian influenza virus isolation rates in retail live poultry markets in Hong Kong. *Avian Dis* 47, 1037.
- Kwon, Y.-K., Joh, S.-J., Kim, M.-C., Sung, H.-W., Lee, Y.-J., Choi, J.-G., Lee, E.-K. & Kim, J.-H. 2005 Highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1) in the commercial domestic ducks of South Korea. *Avian Pathology* 34, 367 - 370.
- Le Menach, A., Vergu, E., Grais, R., Smith, D. & Flahault, A. 2006 Key strategies for reducing spread of avian influenza among commercial poultry holdings: lessons for transmission to humans. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **273**, 2467.
- Lee, M.-S., Chang, P.-C., Shien, J.-H., Cheng, M.-C. & Shieh, H. K. 2001 Identification and subtyping of avian influenza viruses by reverse transcription-PCR. *Journal of Virological Methods* 97, 13-22.
- Lee, S., Mak, K. H. & Saw, T. 1999 The avian flu (H5N1): one year on. *Public Health Epidemiol Bull* 8, 1-7.

- Lee, V., Fernandez, G., Chen, M., Lye, D. & Leo, Y. 2006 Influenza and the pandemic threat. Singapore Med J 47, 463-470.
- Lipatov, A. S., Kwon, Y. K., Sarmento, L. V., Lager, K. M., Spackman, E., Suarez, D. L. & Swayne, D. E. 2008 Domestic Pigs Have Low Susceptibility to H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses. *PLoS Pathogens* 4, e1000102.
- Lu, C., Lu, J., Chen, W., Jiang, L., Tan, B., Ling, W., Zheng, B. & HY, S. 2008 Potential infections of H5N1 and H9N2 avian influenza do exist in Guangdong populations of China. Chin Med J (Engl) 121, 2050-2053.
- Ly, S., Van Kerkhove, M. D., Holl, D., Froehlich, Y. & Vong, S. 2007 Human and Poultry Interaction, Rural Cambodia. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13.
- MAFF. Unpublished Data.
- Mannelli, A., Ferre, N. & Marangon, S. 2006 Analysis of the 1999-2000 highly pathogenic avian influenza (H7N1) epidemic in the main poultry-production area in northern Italy. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* **73**, 273.
- Mase, M., Tanimura, N., Imada, T., Okamatsu, M., Tsukamoto, K. & Yamaguchi, S. 2006 Recent H5N1 avian influenza A virus increases rapidly in virulence to mice after a single passage in mice. J Gen Virol 87, 3655-9.
- Mase, M., Tsukamoto, K., Imada, T., Imai, K., Tanimura, N., Nakamura, K., Yasunori, Y.,
  Hitomi, T., Kra, T., Nakai, T., Kiso, M., Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y. & Yamaguchi, S.
  2005 Characterization of H5N1 influenza A viruses isolated during the 2003–2004 influenza outbreaks in Japan. *Virology* 332.
- Meroz, M. & Samberg, Y. 1995 Disinfecting poultry production premises. *Rev Sci Tech* 14, 273-291.
- Middleton, D., Bingham, J., Selleck, P., Lowther, S., Gleeson, L., Lehrbach, P., Robinson, S., Rodenberg, J., Kumar, M. & Andrew, M. 2007 Efficacy of inactivated vaccines against H5N1 avian influenza infection in ducks. *Virology* 359, 66-71.
- MOH. 2007 Arab Republic of Egypt: Integrated National Plan for Avian and Human Influenza 2007-2008, pp. 1-75: Arab Republic of Egypt Ministry of Health.
- Mounts, A., Kwong, H., Izurieta, H., Ho, Y., Au, T., Lee, M. & al, e. 1999 Case-control study of risk factors for avian influenza A (H5N1) disease, Hong Kong, 1997. J Infect Dis 180, 505-8.
- MPWT. 2009 Ministry of Public Works and Transport, Cambodia. Road Distance (km) in Cambodia. Available at: <u>http://www.mpwt.gov.kh/distance.htm</u>.
- Munster, V. J., Baas, C., Lexmond, P., Waldenström, J., Wallensten, A., Fransson, T., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Beyer, W. E. P., Schutten, M., Olsen, B. r., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E.

& Fouchier, R. A. M. 2007 Spatial, Temporal, and Species Variation in Prevalence of Influenza A Viruses in Wild Migratory Birds. *PLoS Pathogens* **3**, e61.

- Nguyen, D. C., Uyeki, T. M., Jadhao, S., Maines, T., Shaw, M., Matsuoka, Y., Smith, C., Rowe, T., Lu, X., Hall, H., Xu, X., Balish, A., Klimov, A., Tumpey, T. M., Swayne, D. E., Huynh, L. P. T., Nghiem, H. K., Nguyen, H. H. T., Hoang, L. T., Cox, N. J. & Katz, J. M. 2005 Isolation and Characterization of Avian Influenza Viruses, Including Highly Pathogenic H5N1, from Poultry in Live Bird Markets in Hanoi, Vietnam, in 2001. J. Virol. 79, 4201-4212.
- Nguyen, T. 2008 Poultry Vaccination against H5N1 influenza in Vietnam. In Bangkok International Conference on Avian Influenza 2008: Integration from Knowledge to Control. Bangkok, Thailand.
- NIS. 1999 National Institute of Statistics. General Population Census of Cambodia. National Institute of Statistics, Ministry of Planning, Phnom Penh, Cambodia (ed. C. National Institute of Statistics), pp. 1-408. Phnom Penh, Cambodia.
- NIS. 2002 National Institute of Statistics. General Population Census of Cambodia 1998. Final Census Results (2nd Ed.) (ed. C. National Institute of Statistics), pp. 1-297. Phnom Penh, Cambodia.
- Normile, D. 2005a Are Wild Birds to Blame? Science 310, 426-428.
- Normile, D. 2005b First Human Case in Cambodia Highlights Surveillance Shortcomings. Science **307**, 1027.
- Normile, D. 2006 AVIAN INFLUENZA: Wild Birds Only Partly to Blame in Spreading H5N1. Science 312, 1451-.
- O'Kelly, M. 1999 Trade-area models and choice-based samples: Methods. *Environment and Planning A* **31**, 613-627.
- OIE (ed.) 2005a *Risk Analysis*. Terrestrial Animal Health Code. Paris: World Organization for Animal Health (OIE).
- OIE. 2005b World Organization for Animal Health. Avian Influenza. In Manual of Diagnostic Tests and Vaccines for Terrestrial Animals, Chapter 2.03.04. Available at: <u>http://www.oie.int/eng/normes/mmanual/2008/pdf/2.03.04\_AI.pdf</u>. Paris.
- OIE. 2006a Press Release: Avian Influenza outbreak in Nigeria. 8 February 2006. Available at: <u>http://www.oie.int/eng/press/en\_060208.htm</u>.
- OIE. 2006b World Organization for Animal Health. Avian Influenza in Cameroon: 16 March 2006. Available at: <u>http://www.oie.int/eng/info/hebdo/AIS\_27.htm</u>.
- OIE. 2008a Avian Influenza. <u>http://www.oie.int/eng/avian\_influenza/home.htm</u> Last accessed 4 November 2008 (ed. OIE).

- OIE. 2008b OIE, the Center for Food Security & Public Health Iowa State University and the Institute for International Cooperation in Animal Biologics. Newcastle Disease Disease Factsheet <u>http://www.cfsph.iastate.edu/Factsheets/pdfs/newcastle\_disease.pdfLast</u> accessed 18 November 2008 (ed. OIE).
- OIE. 2008c Outbreak Report: Hong Kong. 29/12/2008. Available at: http://www.oie.int/wahis/reports/en\_fup\_0000007654\_20090105\_161005.pdf.
- OIE. 2008d WAHID Interface- OIE World Animal Health Information Database. Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza: Hong Kong (P.R. China). Report Notification 05/02/2008. Available at <u>http://www.oie.int/wahis/public.php?page=single\_report&pop=1&reportid=6761</u>. Last accessed 12 December 2008.
- OIE. 2008e World Organization for Animal Health. Update on Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Animals (Type H5 and H7) Website: <u>http://www.oie.int/downld/AVIAN%20INFLUENZA/A\_AI-Asia.htm</u>, accessed on 28 August 2008.
- OIE. 2009a World Organization for Animal Health. Avian Influenza. Website Available at: <a href="http://www.oie.int/eng/info\_ev/en\_AI\_avianinfluenza.htm">http://www.oie.int/eng/info\_ev/en\_AI\_avianinfluenza.htm</a>.
- OIE. 2009b World Organization for Animal Health. Update on Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Animals (Type H5 and H7). Available at: <u>http://www.oie.int/downld/AVIAN%0INFLUENZA/A\_AI-Asia.htm</u>.
- Olsen, S., Ungchusak, K., Sovann, L., Uyeki, T., Dowell, S. F., Cox, N. J., Aldis, W. & Chunsutthiwat, S. 2005 Family Clustering of Avian Influenza A (H5N1). *Emerg Infect Dis* **11**, 1799-1801.
- Omiti, J. & Okuthe, S. An Overview of the Poultry Sector and Status of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) in Kenya —Background Paper, pp. 1-106: Pro-Poor HPAI Risk Reduction Project, FAO. Available at: <u>www.hpai-research.net</u>.
- Oner, A. F., Bay, A., Arslan, S., Akdeniz, H., Sahin, H. A., Cesur, Y., Epcacan, S., Yilmaz, N., Deger, I., Kizilyildiz, B., Karsen, H. & Ceyhan, M. 2006 Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Infection in Eastern Turkey in 2006. N Engl J Med 355, 2179-2185.
- Ortiz-Pelaez, A., Pfeiffer, D. U., Soares-Magalhaes, R. J. & Guitian, F. J. 2006 Use of social network analysis to characterize the pattern of animal movements in the initial phases of the 2001 foot and mouth disease (FMD) epidemic in the UK. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 76, 40-55.
- Ortiz, J., Katz, M., Mahmoud, M., Ahmed, S., Bawa, S., Farnon, E., Sarki, M., Nasidi, A., Ado, M., Yahaya, A., Joannis, T., Akpan, R., Vertefeuille, J. & Achenbach, J. 2007 Lack of

Evidence of Animan-to-Human Transmission of Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Virus among Poultry Workers, Kano, Nigeria, 2006, vol. 196, pp. 1685-1691.

- Otte, J., Hinrichs, J., Rushton, J., Roland-Holst, D. & Zilberman, D. 2008 Impacts of avian influenza virus on animal production in developing countries. *CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources* **3**.
- Oxford, J. 2000 Infuenza A pandemics of the 20th century with special reference to 1918: virology, pathology and epidemiology. *Rev. Med. Virol* 10, 119-133.
- Pantin-Jackwood, M. J., Suarez, D. L., Spackman, E. & Swayne, D. E. 2007 Age at infection affects the pathogenicity of Asian highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 viruses in ducks. *Virus Research* 130, 151-161.
- Parmley, E., Bastien, N., Booth, T., Bowes, V., Buck, P., Breault, A., Caswell, D., Daoust, P., Davies, J., Elahi, S., Fortin, M., Kibenge, F., King, R., Li, Y., North, N., Ojkic, D., Pasick, J., Pryor, S., Robinson, J., Rodrigue, J., Whitney, H., Zimmer, P. & Leighton, F. 2008 Wild bird influenza survey, Canada, 2005. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14, 84-87.
- Peiris, J. S. M., de Jong, M. D. & Guan, Y. 2007 Avian Influenza Virus (H5N1): a Threat to Human Health. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 20, 243-267.
- Perkins, L. E. L. & Swayne, D. E. 2001 Pathobiology of A/Chicken/Hong Kong/220/97 (H5N1) Avian Influenza Virus in Seven Gallinaceous Species. *Vet Pathol* 38, 149-164.
- Peyre, M., Fusheng, G., Desvaux, S. & Roger, F. 2009 Avian influenza vaccines: a practical review in relation to their application in the field with a focus on the Asian experience. *Epidemiology and Infection* 137, 1-21.
- Qiao, C., Jiang, Y., Tian, G., Wang, X., Li, C., Xin, X., Chen, H. & Yu, K. Recombinant fowlpox virus vector-based vaccine completely protects chickens from H5N1 avian influenza virus. *Antiviral Research* In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Rennie, D. 2001 All Hong Kong poultry to be culled over flu. In Daily Telegraph. London.
- Rowe, T., Abernathy, R. A., Hu-Primmer, J., Thompson, W. W., Lu, X., Lim, W., Fukuda, K., Cox, N. J. & Katz, J. M. 1999 Detection of Antibody to Avian Influenza A (H5N1)
  Virus in Human Serum by Using a Combination of Serologic Assays, vol. 37, pp. 937-943.
- Saito, T., Watanabe, C., Takemae, N., Chaisingh, A., Uchida, Y., Buranathai, C., Suzuki, H., Okamatsu, M., Imada, T., Parchariyanon, S., Traiwanatam, N. & Yamaguchi, S. 2009 Pathogenicity of highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses of H5N1 subtype isolated in Thailand for different poultry species. *Veterinary Microbiology* 133, 65-74.
- Schultsz, C., Vo, C., Nguyen, V., Nguyen, T., Lim, W., Tran, T. & Farrar, J. 2005 Avian Influenza H5N1 and Healthcare Workers. *Emerg Infect Dis* 11, 1158-1159.

- Scott, J. 2000 Social Network Analysis: A Handbook. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Scott, S. & Duncan, C. 2005 Return of the Black Death: The World's Greatest Serial Killer. West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Senne, D., Pearson, J. & Panigrahy, B. 1992 Live poultry markets: a missing link in the epidemiology of avian influenza. In *Proceeding of Third International Symposium on Avian Influenza* (ed. C. Beard & B. Easterday), pp. 50-58. Richmond, VA: United States Animal Health Association.
- Shafer, A., Katz, J. & Eernisse, K. 1998 Development and validation of a competitive enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for detection of type A influenza antibodies in avian sera. *Avian Diseases* 42, 28-34.
- Shortridge, K. F., Zhou, N. N., Guan, Y., Gao, P., Ito, T., Kawaoka, Y., Kodihalli, S., Krauss, S., Markwell, D. & Murti, K. G. 1998 Characterization of Avian H5N1 Influenza Viruses from Poultry in Hong Kong. *Virology* 252, 331.
- Sims, L. 2007 Lessons learned from Asian H5N1 outbreak control. Avian Dis 51, 174-81.
- Sims, L. D., Ellis, T. M., Liu, K. K., Dyrting, K., Wong, H., Peiris, M., Guan, Y. & Shortridge, K. F. 2003 Avian influenza in Hong Kong 1997-2002. *Avian Dis* 47.
- Siregar, E. & Darminto, J. 2008 Vaccination programs in Indonesia. In *Bangkok International Conference on Avian Influenza 2008: Integration from Knowledge to Control.* Bangkok, Thailand.
- Smith, S. 2005 The Economic and Social Impacts of Avian Influenza. Available at: <u>http://www.avianinfluenza.org/economic-social-impacts-avian-influenza.php</u>.
- Snow, L. C., Newson, S. E., Musgrove, A. J., Cranswick, P. A., Crick, H. Q. P. & Wilesmith, J. W. 2007 Risk-based surveillance for H5N1 avian influenza virus in wild birds in Great Britain, vol. 161, pp. 775-781.
- Songserm, T., Jam-on, R., Sae-Heng, N., Meemak, N., Hulse-Post, D., Sturm-Ramirez, K. & Webster, R. 2006 Domestic ducks and H5N1 influenza epidemic, Thailand. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12, 575-581.
- Spickler, A., Trampel, D. & Roth, J. 2008 The onset of virus shedding and clinical signs in chickens infected with high-pathogenicity and low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. *Avian Pathol* **37**, 555-77.
- Starick, E., Beer, M., Hoffmann, B., Staubach, C., Werner, O., Globig, A., Strebelow, G., Grund, C., Durban, M., Conraths, F. J., Mettenleiter, T. & Harder, T. 2008
  Phylogenetic analyses of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus isolates from Germany in 2006 and 2007 suggest at least three separate introductions of H5N1 virus. *Veterinary Microbiology* 128, 243-252.

- Stark, K., Regula, G., Hernandez, J., Knopf, L., Fuchs, K., Morris, R. & Davies, P. 2006 Concepts for risk-based surveillance in the field of veterinary medicine and veterinary public health: Review of current approaches. *BMC Health Services Research* 6, 20-27.
- Stegeman, A., Bouma, A., Elbers, A., de Jong, M., Nodelijk, G., de Klerk, F., Koch, G. & van Boven, M. 2004 Avian Influenza A Virus (H7N7) Epidemic in The Netherlands in 2003: Course of the Epidemic and Effectiveness of Control Measures. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 190, 2088-2095.
- Stein, A. D., Shea, S., Basch, C. E., Contento, I. R. & Zybert, P. 1991 Variability and Tracking of Nutrient Intakes of Preschool Children Based on Multiple Administrations of the 24hour Dietary Recall, vol. 134, pp. 1427-1437.
- Sturm-Ramirez, K. M., Ellis, T., Bousfield, B., Bissett, L., Dyrting, K., Rehg, J. E., Poon, L., Guan, Y., Peiris, M. & Webster, R. G. 2004 Reemerging H5N1 Influenza Viruses in Hong Kong in 2002 Are Highly Pathogenic to Ducks. J. Virol. 78, 4892-4901.
- Sturm-Ramirez, K. M., Hulse-Post, D. J., Govorkova, E. A., Humberd, J., Seiler, P.,
  Puthavathana, P., Buranathai, C., Nguyen, T. D., Chaisingh, A., Long, H. T., Naipospos,
  T. S. P., Chen, H., Ellis, T. M., Guan, Y., Peiris, J. S. M. & Webster, R. G. 2005 Are
  Ducks Contributing to the Endemicity of Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Influenza Virus in
  Asia? J. Virol 79, 11269-11279.
- Suarez, D. L. & Schultz-Cherry, S. 2000 Immunology of avian influenza virus: a review. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 24, 269-283.
- Sumiarto, B. & Arifin, B. 2008 Overview on Poultry Sector and HPAI Situation for Indonesia with Special Emphasis on the Island of Java - Background Paper., pp. 1-69: Pro-Poor HPAI Risk Reduction Project, FAO. Available at: <u>www.hpai-research.net</u>.
- Swayne, D. 2006 Principles for Vaccine Protection in Chickens and Domestic Waterfowl against Avian Influenza. Impact of Emerging Zoonotic Diseases on Animal Health: 8th Biennial Conference of the Society for Tropical Veterinary Medicine 1081, 174-181.
- Swayne, D. & Beck, J. 2005 Experimental study to determine if low-pathogenicity and highpathogenicity avian influenza viruses can be present in chicken breast and thigh meat following intranasal virus inoculation. *Avian Dis* **49**, 81-85.
- Swayne, D., Lee, C. & Spackman, E. 2006 Inactivated North American and European H5N2 avian influenza virus vaccines protect chickens from Asian H5N1 high pathogenicity avian influenza virus. Avian Pathol 35, 141-146.
- Swayne, D., Senne, D. & Beard, C. 1998 Influenza. In D.E.Swayne, J.R. Glisson, M.W. Jackwood, J.E. Pearson & W.M. Reed (Eds.), Isolation and Identification of Avian Pathogens, 4th edn. Kennett Square, PA: American Association of Avian Pathologist.

Swayne, D. & Suarez, D. 2000 Highly pathogenic avian influenza. Rev Sci Tech 19, 463-482.

LSHTM | Van Kerkhove MD PhD Thesis 233

- Swayne, D. & Suarez, D. 2007 Current developments in avian influenza vaccines, including safety of vaccinated birds as food. *Dev Biol (Basel)* **130**, 123-33.
- Swayne, D. E. 2007 Understanding the Complex Pathobiology of High Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Viruses in Birds. *Avian Diseases* **51**, 242–249.
- Swayne, D. E. 2008 Avian influenza vaccines and therapies for poultry. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Tambyah, P. & Leung, P. (ed.) 2006 Bird Flu: A Rising Pandemic in Asia and Beyond? Singapore: World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.
- Taubenberger, J. K., Reid, A. H., Lourens, R. M., Wang, R., Jin, G. & Fanning, T. G. 2005 Characterization of the 1918 influenza virus polymerase genes. *Nature* **437**, 889.
- Team, E. 2007a Confirmed H5N1 avian influenza outbreak on a poultry farm in England, February 2007. *Euro Surveill* 12.
- Team, E. 2007b Two outbreaks of H5N1 avian influenza in farm geese, Hungary, January 2007. *Euro Surveill* **12**.
- Thanawongnuwech, R., Amonsin, A., Tantilertcharoen, R., Damrongwatanapokin, S.,
  Theamboonlers, A., Payungporn, S., Nanthapornphiphat, K., Tunak, S., Songserm, T.,
  Vivatthanavanich, V., Lekdumrongsak, T., Kesdangsakonwut, S., Tunhikorn, S. &
  Poovorawan, Y. 2005 Probable Tiger-to-Tiger Transmission of Avian Influenza H5N1. *Emerg Infect Dis* 11, 669-701.
- Thanh Liem, N., World Health Organization International Avian Influenza Investigation Team, V. & Lim, W. 2005 Lack of H5N1 avian influenza transmission to hospital employees, Hanoi, 2004. Emerg Infect Dis 11, 210-215.
- Tian, G., Zhang, S., Li, Y., Bu, Z., Liu, P., Zhou, J., Li, C., Shi, J., Yu, K. & Chen, H. 2005 Protective efficacy in chickens, geese and ducks of an H5N1-inactivated vaccine developed by reverse genetics. *Virology* 341, 153 - 62.
- Tiensin, T., Chaitaweesub, P., Songserm, T., Chaisingh, A., Hoonsuwan, W., Buranathai, C., Parakamawongsa, T., Premashthira, S., Amonsin, A., Gilbert, M., Nielen, M. & Stegeman, A. 2005 Highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1, Thailand, 2004. *Emerg Infect Dis* 11, 1664-1672.
- Tiensin, T., Nielen, M., Songserm, T., Kalpravidh, W., Chaitaweesub, P., Amonsin, A., Chotiprasatintara, S., Chaisingh, A., Damrongwatanapokin, S., Wongkasemjit, S., Antarasena, C., Songkitti, V., Chanachai, K., Thanapongtham, W. & Stegeman, J. 2007 Geographic and temporal distribution of highly pathogenic avian influenza A virus (H5N1) in Thailand, 2004-2005: an overview. Avian Dis 51, 182-188.

- Truscott, J., Garske, T., Chis-Ster, I., Guitian, J., Pfeiffer, D., Snow, L., Wilesmith, J., Ferguson, N. M. & Ghani, A. C. 2007 Control of a highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza outbreak in the GB poultry flock *Proc R Soc B* 274, 2287-2295.
- Tumpey, T. M., Suarez, D. L., Perkins, L. E. L., Senne, D. A., Lee, J.-g., Lee, Y.-J., Mo, I.-P., Sung, H.-W. & Swayne, D. E. 2002 Characterization of a Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza A Virus Isolated from Duck Meat. J. Virol. 76, 6344-6355.
- UNFPA. 2008 Background on Cambodia. Website: <u>http://www.unfpa.org/focus/cambodia/background.htm</u>. Last accessed 24 October 2008.
- Ungchusak, K., Auewarakul, P., Dowell, S. F., Kitphati, R., Auwanit, W., Puthavathana, P., Uiprasertkul, M., Boonnak, K., Pittayawonganon, C., Cox, N. J., Zaki, S. R., Thawatsupha, P., Chittaganpitch, M., Khontong, R., Simmerman, J. M. & Chunsutthiwat, S. 2005 Probable Person-to-Person Transmission of Avian Influenza A (H5N1). N Engl J Med 352, 333-340.
- USDA/APHIS. USDA/APHIS Further Guidance on Biosecurity and Disease Prevention and Control for Nonconfinement Poultry Production Operations. . Available at: <u>http://www.aphis.usda.gov/newsroom/hot\_issues/avian\_influenza/contents/printable\_ve</u> <u>rsion/non-confinement\_poultry-ai\_guidance4-18-06.pdf</u>, 1-3.
- Uyeki, T. 2008 Global epidemiology of human infections with highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H5N1) viruses, vol. 13, pp. S2-S9.
- van der Goot, J., van Boven, M., Stegema, n. A., van de Water, S., de Jong, M. & Koch, G.
  2008 Transmission of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus in Pekin ducks is significantly reduced by a genetically distant H5N2 vaccine. *Virology* 382, 91-97.
- Van Kerkhove, M., Ly, S., Vong, S., Chhim, V., Holl, D. & San, S. 2008 Knowledge, Attitudes and Practice Survey: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Rural Cambodians and Market Sellers in Six Geographic Areas to Evaluate Poultry Handling Behaviors and Understanding of Avian Influenza. Final Report. Phnom Penh, Cambodia: Institut Pasteur du Cambodge.
- Van Kerkhove, M., Ly, S., Vong, S., Chhimm, V., Holl, D. & San, S. 2007 Knowledge, Attitudes and Practice Survey. Evaluating poultry handling behavior among backyard poultry owners, their families and poultry market merchants: A Cross-Sectional Survey of 4 Geographic Areas. Phnom Penh, Cambodia: Institut Pasteur du Cambodge.
- Viboud, C., Bjornstad, O. N., Smith, D. L., Simonsen, L., Miller, M. A. & Grenfell, B. T. 2006 Synchrony, Waves, and Spatial Hierarchies in the Spread of Influenza, vol. 312, pp. 447-451.
- Vong, S., Goghlan, B., Mardy, S., Holl, D., Seng, H., Ly, S., Miller, M. J., Buchy, P., Froehlich, Y., Dufourcq, J. B., Uyeki, T., Lim, W. & Sok, T. 2006 Low Frequency of

Avian-to-Human Transmission of H5N1 in Southern Cambodia, 2005. *Emerg Infect Dis* Oct;12, 1542-7.

- Vong, S., Ly, S., Sek, M., Holl, D. & Buchy, P. 2008 Environmental Contamination during Influenza A Virus (H5N1) Outbreaks in Cambodia, 2006 Emerg Infect Dis 14, 1303-1305.
- Vong, S., Ly, S., Van Kerkhove, M., Achenbach, J., Holl, D., Seng, H., Buchy, P., Uyeki, T., Sok, T. & Katz, J. 2009 Risks for H5N1 infections from Poultry to Humans in Cambodia, 2006. *Journal of Infectious Diseases, in press.*
- VSF. 2004 Vétérinaires Sans Frontières. Review of the poultry production and assessment of the socio-economic impact of the highly pathogenic avian influenza epidemic in Cambodia, pp. 1-89: Vétérinaires Sans Frontières.
- Wan, X.-F., Nguyen, T., Davis, C. T., Smith, C. B., Zhao, Z.-M., Carrel, M., Inui, K., Do, H. T., Mai, D. T., Jadhao, S., Balish, A., Shu, B., Luo, F., Emch, M., Matsuoka, Y., Lindstrom, S. E., Cox, N. J., Nguyen, C. V., Klimov, A. & Donis, R. O. 2008 Evolution of Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza Viruses in Vietnam between 2001 and 2007. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3462.
- Wang, H., Feng, Z., Shu, Y., Yu, H., Zhou, L., Zu, R., Huai, Y., Dong, J., Bao, C., Wen, L., Wang, H., Yang, P., Zhao, W., Dong, L., Zhou, M., Liao, Q., Yang, H., Wang, M., Lu, X., Shi, Z., Wang, W., Gu, L., Zhu, F., Li, Q., Yin, W., Yang, W., Li, D., Uyeki, T. M. & Wang, Y. 2008 Probable limited person-to-person transmission of highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H5N1) virus in China. *The Lancet* 371, 1427-1434.
- Wang, M., Di, B., Zhou, D., Zheng, B., Jing, H., Lin, Y., Liu, Y., Wu, X., Qin, P., Wang, Y., Jian, L., Li, X., Xu, J., Lu, E., Li, T. & Xu, J. 2006 Food Markets with Live Brids as Source of Avian Influenza. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12.
- Wasserman, S. & Faust, K. 1994 Social Network Analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Webber, T. & Stillanakis, N. 2007 Ecologic Immunology of Avian Influenza (H5N1) in Migratory Birds. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13, 1139-1143.
- Webster, R., Bean, W., Gorman, O., Chambers, T. & Kawaoka, Y. 1992 Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. *Microbiol Rev* 56, 152-179.
- Webster, R. G. 2002 The importance of animal influenza for human disease. *Vaccine* **20**, S16-S20.
- Webster, R. G. 2004 Wet markets: a continuing source of severe acute respiratory syndrome and influenza? *Lancet* 363, 234–36.

- Webster, R. G., Hulse-Post, D. J., Sturm-Ramirez, K. M., Guan, Y., Peiris, M., Smith, G. & Chen, H. 2007 Changing Epidemiology and Ecology of Highly Pathogenic Avian H5N1 Influenza Viruses. Avian Diseases 51, 269–272.
- Webster, R. G., Peiris, M., Chen, H. & Guan, Y. 2006a H5N1 Outbreaks and Enzootic Influenza. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 12, 3-8.
- Webster, R. G., Webby, R. J., Hoffmann, E., Rodenberg, J. & Kumar, M. 2006b The immunogenicity and efficacy against H5N1 challenge of reverse genetics-derived H5N3 influenza vaccine in ducks and chickens. *Virology* 351, 303 - 311.
- WER. 2008 Human cases of avian infl uenza A(H5N1) in North-West Frontier Province, Pakistan, October–November 2007. Weekly Epidemiological Record (WER) 3 October 2008, 83, 357-364.
- WHO. 2004 World Health Organization. Avian influenza: situation in Viet Nam, update 30 December 2004. Available at:<u>http://www.who.int/csr/don/2004\_12\_30/en/</u>. In *Disease Outbreak News*.
- WHO. 2005 The World Health Organization Global Influenza Program Surveillance Network. Evolution of H5N1 avian influenza viruses in Asia. *Emerg Infect Dis* **11**, 1515-1521.
- WHO. 2006a Outbreak News: Avian Influenza, Cambodia. Weekly Epidemiologic Record (WER) 81, 117-128.
- WHO. 2006b World Health Organization. Avian influenza: situation in Cambodia, update 6 April 2006. In *Disease Outbreak News*.
- WHO. 2006c World Health Organization. Avian influenza: situation in Cambodia, update 24 March 2006. In *Disease Outbreak News*.
- WHO. 2006d World Health Organization. Avian influenza: situation in Indonesia, update 21 August 2006. Available at: <u>http://www.searo.who.int/en/Section10/Section1027/Section2095/Section2176\_12077.</u> htm. In *Disease Outbreak News*.
- WHO. 2006e World Health Organization. Public Health Interventions for Prevention and Control of Avian Influenza: A Manual for Improving Biosecurity in the Food Supply Chain: Focus on Live Animal Markets: World Health Organization.
- WHO. 2006f World Health Organization. WHO Collecting, preserving and shipping specimens for the diagnosis of avian influenza A(H5N1) virus infection. Guide for field operations. Available at:
   <u>http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/surveillance/WHO\_CDS\_EPR\_ARO\_20\_06\_1.pdf</u>.

- WHO. 2006g World Health Organization: Review of latest available evidence on potential transmission of avian influenza (H5N1) through water and sewage and ways to reduce the risks to human health, pp. Available at:
   <u>http://www.who.int/water\_sanitation\_health/emerging/h5n1background.pdf</u>: World Health Organization.
- WHO. 2006-2009 World Health Organization: Avian Influenza. Website: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/en/</u> Last accessed 27 October 2008.
- WHO. 2007 World Health Organization. Recommendations and laboratory procedures for detection of avian influenza A(H5N1) virus in specimens from suspected human cases. Available at:

http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/guidelines/RecAIlabtestsAug07.pdf.

- WHO. 2008a World Health Organization WHO accepts positive PCR test results of H5 infection in humans from the following laboratories. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/guidelines/h5\_labs/en/index.html</u>.
- WHO. 2008b World Health Organization. H5N1 avian influenza: Timeline of major events.: World Health Organization; Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/Timeline\_08%2012%2008.pdf</u>.
- WHO. 2009a World Health Organization. Cumulative Number of Confirmed Human Cases of Avian Influenza A/(H5N1) Reported to WHO as of 5 February 2009: World Health Organization; Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/country/cases\_table\_2009\_02\_05/en/in</u> <u>dex.html</u>.
- WHO. 2009b World Health Organization. Cumulative Number of Confirmed Human Cases of Avian Influenza A/(H5N1) Reported to WHO as of 16 December 2008: World Health Organization; Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/country/cases\_table\_2008\_12\_16/en/in</u> dex.html.
- WHO & INFOSAN. 2005 World Health Organization and International Food Safety Authorities Network (INFOSAN). Highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza outbreaks in poultry and in humans: Food safety implications. Website: <u>http://www.who.int/foodsafety/fs\_management/No\_07\_AI\_Nov05\_en.pdf</u>. Last accessed 24 April 2008. In *INFOSAN Information Note*, pp. No. 7/2005.
- Woo, P., Lau, S. & Yuen, K. 2006 Infectious diseases emerging from Chinese wet-markets: zoonotic origins of severe respiratory viral infections. *Curr Opin Infect Dis.* **19**, 401-7.
- Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza, A. V. 2008 Update on Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Virus Infection in Humans. N Engl J Med 358, 261-273.

- Xia, Y., Bjornstad, O. & Grenfell, B. 2004 Measles Metapopulation Dynamics: A Gravity Model for Epidemiological Coupling and Dynamics. *The American Naturalist* 164, 267-281.
- Xu, X., Jin, M., Yu, Z., Li, H., Qiu, D., Tan, Y. & Chen, H. 2005 Latex agglutination test for monitoring antibodies to avian influenza virus subtype H5N1. *J Clin Microbiol* 43.
- Yasue, M., Feare, C., Bennun, L. & Fiedler, W. 2006 The Epidemiology of H5N1 Avian Influenza in Wild Birds: Why We Need Better Ecological Data. *Bioscience* 11, 923-929.
- Zhou, E., Chan, M., Heckert, R., Riva, J. & Cantin, M. 1998 Evaluation of a competitive ELISA for detection of antibodies against avian influenza virus nucleoprotein. Avian Diseases 42, 517-522.

## Appendices

# **Appendix A: Published Manuscripts**

# Interaction Between Humans and Poultry, Rural Cambodia

## Sowath Ly,\* Maria D. Van Kerkhove,† Davun Holl,‡ Yves Froehlich,§ and Sirenda Vong\*

Because avian influenza H5N1 infection risks are associated with exposure to infected poultry, we conducted a knowledge, attitudes, and practices survey of poultryhandling behavior among villagers in rural Cambodia. Despite widespread knowledge of avian influenza and personal protection measures, most rural Cambodians still have a high level of at-risk poultry handling.

The circulation of the highly pathogenic H5N1 avian Influenza (AI) strain throughout Asia since late 2003 (1), and more recently in Europe and Africa, has resulted in considerable concern for the potential of a new pandemic. In Cambodia, outbreaks of HPAI A/H5N1 infection were first reported in poultry in early 2004 (2). Since 2005, 6 human cases have occurred (100% fatal); the 2 most recent cases occurred in early 2006 (3,4).

Most Cambodians live in rural areas and raise animals for consumption (2), typically keeping poultry, swine, or cattle close to the home. Because H5N1 infection has been associated with exposure to infected poultry (5-10) and little is understood of the perceptions of rural farmers regarding AI (11), we conducted a knowledge, attitude, and practices survey of poultry handling in rural Cambodia to estimate the extent of interactions between humans and poultry, to understand practices in poultry handling among villagers, and to develop interventions designed to increase reports of poultry deaths and safe poultry handling.

#### The Study

We conducted a 2-stage household based cluster survey (12) with a goal of 500 participants: 20 persons  $\geq 15$  years of age in each of 25 villages from Prey Veng and Kampong Cham Provinces. The sampling frame of eligible villages within these provinces were those located in H5N1 high-risk communes, as defined by the Food and

\*Pasteur Institute in Cambodia, Phnom Penh, Cambodia; †London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ‡Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Phnom Penh, Cambodia; and §Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Phnom Penh, Cambodia Agriculture Organization of the United Nations training program for village animal health workers. The villages were selected with probability proportional to size. For the second stage, we randomly selected the first household within each village. Subsequently, households were selected by proximity until 20 eligible participants were enrolled in each cluster.

Verbal consent was obtained from all participants. All were interviewed by using a structured questionnaire designed to collect information on demographics, basic hygiene practices, quantity of poultry owned, poultry death reporting, practices when deaths occurred, knowledge and attitude of sick and dead poultry, and knowledge of AI.

Twenty-three villages were included in Kampong Cham (11) and Prey Veng (12) Provinces (Figure 1). Four hundred sixty respondents from 269 households completed the questionnaire. Most were women (60%), farmers (88%), and persons who had completed less than primary schooling (57%). The median number of household members was 5 (range 1–16), and 77% of all households included children <15 years of age.

Many households owned chickens (97%) and ducks (39%) (Figure 2), although the size of most poultry flocks was small (Table). Almost all poultry were free ranging (100% of chicken flocks; 96% of duck flocks), and mixing of the poultry with pigs and other domestic animals was common. Respondents reported that they use poultry feces for manure (77%), touch sick/dead poultry with bare hands (75%), eat poultry that died from illness (45%), eat wild birds (33%), let children touch sick/dead poultry with bare hands (20%), and gather dead wild birds for consumption (8%).

During the previous 6 months, of the 260 households that owned poultry, 162 (62%) experienced poultry deaths;



Figure 1. Distribution of selected communes in Kampong Cham and Prey Veng provinces, Cambodia, 2006.



Figure 2. Proportions of animals raised in the household (n = 269), rural Cambodia.

however, only 18 (7%) reported these deaths to local authorities. Half of the respondents (n = 231) believed that it was important to report any poultry deaths because the death may be due to AI (61%) or because the poultry owners may receive management advice from the village veterinarians (39%). Among these 231 respondents, many did not report poultry deaths because they did not know how (41%), were in the habit of not reporting poultry deaths (31%), believed they would have a problem selling poultry if they reported deaths (18%), did not know the risks of AI (7%), or feared poultry culling (5%). Among those respondents who did not believe reporting deaths was important, the reasons provided included the following: "the number of poultry deaths were too few" (62%), "poultry are not as important as cattle" (18%), "no help would be provided from veterinary staff or authorities" (13%), or "because mortality was similar to previous years" (7%). Of respondents that experienced poultry deaths, 62% buried or burned dead poultry, 53% prepared them for food, 22% threw away the dead poultry, 3% used them to feed other animals, and 2% prepared them for sale or gave them to their neighbors.

Participants had learned about AI from television (81%) and radio (78%). Thirty-one percent of respondents

Table. Poultry raising and flo	ck characteristics,	rural Cambodia				
	Chickens	Ducks				
Flock characteristics	(n = 261)	(n = 97)				
Median number per flock (range)	10 (1–110)	6 (1–800)				
1–25	83%	93%				
26–50	15%	3%				
51–100	2%	0%				
>100	0.4%	4%				
Animal age when raising begins (months)	0 (0–15)	0 (0–12)				
Type of raising						
Free ranging	100%	96%				
Raising purpose (noncumulative)						
Household needs	73%	70%				
Meat for sale	54%	42%				
Eggs for sale	1%	16%				

were able to describe AI symptoms in humans, and 72% believed that AI is a fatal disease among poultry that can be transmitted to humans. Most respondents believed it is unsafe to touch sick or dead poultry with bare hands (67%), eat wild birds (70%), let children touch sick or dead birds with bare hands (83%), and eat meat or eggs that are not fully cooked (86%). Sixty-one percent of respondents mentioned at least 1 of the recommended behavioral practices that protect against AI infection.

#### Conclusions

General media reports about AI through radio and television broadcasts appear to have been effective at reaching rural people. However, despite high awareness and widespread knowledge about AI and personal protection measures, most rural Cambodians still often practice atrisk poultry handling. Anecdotally, we also reported that family members of H5N1-infected patients, who knew about AI risks, still prepared dead or sick poultry for household consumption during massive die-offs, because they observed that neighbors with the same behavior did not become sick (Institute Pasteur in Cambodia, unpub. data). These findings provide evidence that high awareness does not necessary lead to behavior change. Behavior change involves comprehensive and multidisciplinary intervention, which combines risk perception communication and feasible and practical recommendations, including economic considerations. We speculate that it is hardly feasible to sustain good poultry-handling practices if access to personal protective equipment is cost prohibitive, particularly when disease occurrence poultry die-offs are common. Further studies are needed to determine appropriate behavior change strategies in Cambodia.

We did find that many of the villagers were willing to report poultry deaths but did not know how. However, this finding should be interpreted in light of some limitations. We observed difficulties and frustrations among farmers whose flocks underwent culling after identification of H5N1 viruses in their flocks because compensation has not yet been approved by the government of Cambodia. In contrast, Thailand and Vietnam have introduced compensation along with the introduction of poultry vaccination in Vietnam and the reduction of backyard poultry ownership in Thailand in an effort to protect the commercial poultry industry. Thus, it is difficult to envision effective control strategies in Cambodia based exclusively on culling. Coincidentally, Vietnam has reported far fewer H5N1 outbreaks in poultry and humans since the introduction of the vaccination program, while Cambodia detected 4 outbreak sites in domestic poultry and 2 unrelated human cases in 2006. The real effect of a no-compensation policy on willingness to report poultry deaths needs to be assessed.

243

#### DISPATCHES

Not surprisingly, direct contact with poultry and poultry products was common among household members. Transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans, even in circumstances in which human–poultry interactions are regular and intense has been limited; however, as the virus continue to circulate and evolve among poultry, bird-tohuman transmission may increase. In this context, improvement in risky practices can only be achieved through relentless behavior change efforts. Because lack of knowledge does not appear to be a factor, intervention programs must include feasible options for resource-poor settings that have limited materials for personal protection (water, soap, rubber gloves, masks) and must offer farmers alternative methods to safely work with poultry on a daily basis.

#### **Acknowledgments**

We thank Neak Sotheary, Chhim Vutha, and Nget Kiry for their help in data collection and Megge Miller for her comments and suggestions on the questionnaire.

This study was supported by the Institut Pasteur of Cambodia

Dr Ly works in the Epidemiology and Public Health Unit of the Pasteur Institute in Cambodia. His research interests include infectious diseases epidemiology, in particular of avian influenza, rabies, and dengue.

#### References

 World Health Organization (WHO). Epidemiology of WHO-confirmed human cases of avian A(H5N1) infection. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2006;81:249-60.

- Desvaux S, Sorn S, Holl D, Chavernac D, Goutard F, Thonnat J, et al. F R. HPAI surveillance programme in Cambodia: results and perspectives. Dev Biol (Basel). 2006;124:211–24.
- 3. World Health Organization. Avian influenza: situation in Cambodia, update. Disease Outbreak News, April 6, 2006.
- 4. World Health Organization. Avian influenza: situation in Cambodia, update. Disease Outbreak News, March 24, 2006.
- Mounts AW, Kwong H, Izurieta H, Ho Y, Au T, Lee M. et al. Casecontrol study of risk factors for avian influenza A (H5N1) disease, Hong Kong, 1997. J Infect Dis. 1999;180:505-8.
- Bridges CB, Lim W, Hu-Primmer J, Sims L, Fukuda K, Mak K, et al. Risk of influenza A (H5N1) infection among poultry workers, Hong Kong, 1997–1998. J Infect Dis. 2002;185:1005–10.
- 7. World Health Organization. Avian influenza A(H5) in rural areas in Asia: food safety considerations, 2004.
- Areechokchai D, Jiraphongsa C, Laosiritaworn Y, Hanshaoworakul W, O'Reilly M; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Investigation of avian influenza (H5N1) outbreak in humans-Thailand, 2004. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2006;55(Suppl 1):3-6.
- 9. Thorson A, Petzold M, Nguyen T, Ekdahl K. Is exposure to sick or dead poultry associated with flulike illness? A population-based study from a rural area in Vietnam with outbreaks of highly pathogenic avian influenza. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166:119–23.
- 10. Webster RG. Wet markets: a continuing source of severe acute respiratory syndrome and influenza? Lancet. 2004;363:234-6.
- 11. Morris SK. H5N1 avian influenza, Kampot Province, Cambodia. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006;12:170–1.
- 12. Bennett S, Woods T, Liyanage W, Smith D. A simplified general method for cluster-sample surveys of health in developing countries. World Health Stat Q. 1991;44:98–106.

Address for correspondence: Sowath Ly, Epidemiology Unit, Institut Pasteur of Cambodia, 5 Blvd Monivong, Phnom Penh, Cambodia; email: lsowath@pasteur-kh.org

## Frequency and patterns of contact with domestic poultry and potential risk of H5N1 transmission to humans living in rural Cambodia

Maria D. Van Kerkhove,<sup>a,b</sup> Sowath Ly,<sup>a</sup> Davun Holl,<sup>c</sup> Javier Guitian,<sup>d</sup> Punam Mangtani,<sup>b</sup> Azra C. Ghani,<sup>e</sup> Sirenda Vong<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Epidemiology Unit, Institut Pasteur in Cambodia, Phnom Penh, Cambodia. <sup>b</sup>Infectious Disease Epidemiology Unit, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. Department of Animal Health and Production, National Veterinary Research Institute, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Cambodia, Phnom Penh, Cambodia. <sup>d</sup>Epidemiology Division, The Royal Veterinary College, London, UK. \*MRC Centre for Outbreak Analysis & Modelling, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Imperial College London, UK. Correspondence: Maria D. Van Kerkhove, Infectious Disease Epidemiology Unit, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. E-mail: maria.vankerkhove@lshtm.ac.uk

Accepted 23 August 2008. Published Online 19 November 2008.

Background Since 2004, H5N1 outbreaks have been recurrent in domestic poultry and humans in Cambodia. To date, seven human cases (100% CFR) and 22 outbreaks in poultry have been confirmed. Household ownership of backyard poultry (FAO Sector 4 poultry production) in rural Cambodia is high. An understanding of the extent and frequency of poultry handing behaviors in these settings is necessary to assess the risk associated with different practices and to formulate sensible recommendations to mitigate this risk. We collected new data from six geographic regions to examine patterns of human contact with poultry among rural farmers in Cambodia and identify populations with the highest potential exposure to H5N1.

Methods and Findings A cross-sectional survey was undertaken in which 3,600 backyard poultry owners from 115 randomly selected villages in six provinces throughout Cambodia were interviewed. Using risk assessment methods, patterns of contact with poultry as surrogate measures of exposure to H5N1 were used to generate risk indices of potential H5N1 transmission to different populations in contact with poultry. Estimates of human exposure risk for each study participant (n = 3600) were obtained by multiplying each reported practice with a transmission riskweighting factor and summing these over all practices reported by

each individual. Exposure risk estimates were then examined stratified by age and gender. Subjects reported high contact with domestic poultry (chickens and ducks) through the daily care and food preparation practices, however contact patterns varied by gender and age. Males between the ages of 26-40 reported practices of contact with poultry that give rise to the highest H5N1 transmission risk potential, followed closely by males between the ages of 16-25. Overall, males had a higher exposure risk potential than females across all age groups (p < 0.001).

Conclusions Our results demonstrate that most of the population in rural Cambodia is in frequent contact with domestic poultry. About half of the population in this study carried out on a regular basis at least one of the practices considered to be high risk for the effective transmission if the bird is infected. There was however substantial variation in the frequency of different practices and thus the potential risk of transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans is not uniform across age and gender even amongst populations living in close proximity to poultry.

Keywords Animal-human interface, Cambodia, H5N1, risk analysis, semi-quantitative risk assessment, transmission risk.

Please cite this paper as: Van Kerkhove et al. (2008) Frequency and patterns of contact with domestic poultry and potential risk of H5N1 transmission to humans living in rural Cambodia. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 2(5), 155-163.

## Background

Since late 2003, highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAL/H5N1) has spread globally within wild and domestic bird populations and now appears endemic in many parts of Asia and Africa. Millions of people in South-East Asia and around the world live in close proximity to domestic poultry and although direct contact with infected birds is assumed to be the main source of

infection to humans,<sup>1</sup> neither the specific mode of effective transmission from animal to human nor the role of water or other environmental factors<sup>2</sup> is fully understood. Transmission of H5N1 from poultry to human is thought to most likely occur following direct contact with infected poultry organ tissue, blood, nasopharyngeal secretions or faeces under poor hygienic conditions; however, it could also include ingestion of contaminated water.<sup>3</sup> The risk of transmission will be influenced by the nature and

© 2008 The Authors

245

Journal Compilation © 2008 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses, 2, 155–163

frequency of contact with contaminated cells, tissue, blood or secretions in which the virus replicates.<sup>4-6</sup> Most of the H5N1 laboratory-confirmed human cases to date have reported recent contact with infected poultry although the specific nature of the contact was not recorded.7 At present there are an excess of reported cases in children and young adults.8 However, in the absence of detailed exposure data it is not possible to ascertain whether these represent increased exposure, susceptibility to infection, susceptibility to severe disease or a combination of all three. To date three case-control studies have been conducted in Thailand, Vietnam and Cambodia<sup>2,9-10</sup> to explore risk factors for infection. Exposure from the preparation of sick and dying poultry was noted as an important risk factor in one study<sup>10</sup> but only 38% of the population risk of AI could be attributable to this exposure because of the relatively low prevalence of reporting of this practice. However, the power of these studies is limited because of their small sample size. In addition, there is a lack of reference data on how preparation of sick and dying poultry and other potential exposures differ within and between countries.

Within Cambodia, H5N1 outbreaks have been recurrent since 2004 in domestic poultry and humans. To date, seven human cases, all of which have been fatal,<sup>11</sup> and 22 outbreaks in poultry have been confirmed in villages mainly located in Southern Cambodia. Household ownership of backyard poultry (FAO Sector 4 poultry production) in

rural Cambodia is high.<sup>12</sup> An understanding of the extent and frequency of poultry handling behaviours in backyard poultry farming settings is necessary to assess the risk associated with different practices and formulate sensible recommendations to mitigate this risk. Here we present data collected from six geographical regions in Cambodia in which we explore patterns of human contact with poultry among rural farmers to identify populations with the highest H5N1 (or other subtypes of avian influenza) exposure potential.

## Methods

## **Risk assessment framework**

A conceptual pathway was developed within the risk assessment framework<sup>13,14</sup> and is illustrated in Figure 1. It describes the steps to infection with H5N1 in humans from contact with poultry. The pathway includes the probability that an animal is infected with H5N1 (*P*), the probability that an individual comes in contact with an infected animal (*C*), and the probability of effective transmission of H5N1 from poultry to human in the absence of protective clothing ( $\beta$ ).

Several important data gaps and uncertainties currently exist – namely the persistence of H5N1 in domestic/wild poultry populations and in the environment under different atmospheric conditions, virus survival in poultry species during food preparation practices, exposure



Figure 1. Conceptual pathway for transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans via contact with poultry.

## Transmission potential of H5N1 from poultry to humans



Figure 2. Study areas (districts shaded in grey, national roads indicated in red).

quantification of H5N1 from poultry and empirical data on risk factors for transmission from poultry to humans – making it difficult to perform a complete quantitative risk assessment.<sup>15,16</sup> In this analysis, we contribute new field data to help with such an assessment focusing on the modules outlined in bold (patterns of contact that could result in effective transmission).

#### Data collection

A cross-sectional survey was carried out in six provinces using a two-stage clustered sampling method.<sup>17</sup> Provinces and districts were identified for inclusion in the study from a preliminary assessment of high poultry ownership and human population density;<sup>18</sup> potential cross-border trading activities, and wild bird mixing (Figure 2). H5N1 has not been suspected nor confirmed in poultry or humans in any of the 115 villages in the study areas; however, it has been confirmed in poultry and humans in one district in Kampong Cham and one district in Prey Veng Province.7 A random sample of 20 villages per province were selected using probability proportion to population size methodology (village population range 100 to >24 000).<sup>17</sup> Subsequent households were then systematically sampled using a sampling interval having been chosen at random for each village until 30 people [10 male adults (>15 years old), 10 female adults (>15 years old) and 10 children (≤15 years old)] plus one village chief were interviewed. Individuals  $\geq 1$  year old, resident in village  $\geq 6$  months and medically fit to be interviewed directly or via an adult guardian were included. Ethical approval was granted from the Cambodian Ministry of Health and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Prior to sampling, field visits were conducted and meetings were held with provincial veterinarians and village chiefs. Sixteen Cambodian interviewers were trained to administer the questionnaires in Khmer. Informed written consent was obtained from all subjects or their guardians prior to interview.

Three separate standardized closed-ended questionnaires for the head of household, adult family members and children were administered to collect information on the types of direct and indirect contact with domestic and wild poultry. Heads of households were asked about poultry and other animal ownership (quantity of animals owned, husbandry practices, selling/trading practices) while all subjects, including all adults and children, were asked if they had direct contact with domestic poultry through food preparation (slaughter poultry, remove or clean internal organs, cut or wash meat) or other activities (e.g. collect dead domestic/wild poultry for food, eat wild birds, remove feathers from sick poultry, attend fighting cock events), cared for domestic poultry or fighting cocks (feed, clean animals or cages), and in the case of children, played with domestic and/or wild poultry. The nature of how Cambodians prepare poultry for consumption was evaluated by direct observation and informal questioning of adults living in rural Cambodia by the researchers (M.V.K., S.L.) in the field prior to piloting the questionnaires. The questionnaires for all subjects also asked if they had indirect contact with poultry - as a proxy measure of exposure - in the immediate environment around the home and vil-

© 2008 The Authors Journal Compilation © 2008 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses, 2, 155–163

#### Van Kerkhove et al.

lage via water sources (e.g. bathe/swim in ponds where poultry had access). Subjects were asked to recall practices within the previous 8 months, i.e. between the time of the interview and the Khmer New Year Holiday period (April 15). All responses to poultry contact questions were recorded as binary (yes/no) responses and frequencies of contact (when evaluated) were recorded as always, sometimes or never.

Questionnaires were checked daily and discrepancies checked with interviewers/observers prior to double entry into EpiData v3·1 (EpiData Association, Odense, Denmark).

#### Statistical methods

#### Prevalence of poultry handling behaviours

Poultry contact patterns were analysed by gender and age using chi-squared tests or Fisher's exact tests as appropriate. As a large number of food preparation variables were obtained, principal components analysis (PCA) was used to identify key practices that accounted for the variation observed across the population. Using PCA, a set of eigenvectors and eigenvalues were calculated for each of the factors (i.e. slaughter, boil, remove/wash internal organs, wash/cut meat) describing food preparation. Each principal component is a weighted combination of the original variables. Scree plots<sup>19</sup> were used to retain those components contributing substantially to the overall sample variation. The newly created practice scores created from these principal components were subsequently analysed by gender and age group using *t*-tests or Wilcoxon rank-sum tests as appropriate.

#### Estimates of human exposure risk

Risk profiles were generated for each subject using their individual poultry handling contact patterns. The probabil-

**Table 1.** Prevalence of practice associated with poultry in rural Cambodian households, main sources of potential exposure and weighted transmission risk potential ( $\beta$ ) (n = 3600)

Probability of effective viral transmission (β grouping)	Practice	Adult males (n = 1201)	Adult females (n = 1199)	Children (n = 1200)	<i>P</i> -value			
		>15 years old		≤15 years old	Adult males versus adult females	Adults versus children	Potential viral exposure	
High (β1)	Remove internal organs (poultry)	733 (61.0)	588 (49.0)	156 (13·0)	<0.001	<0.001	О, В	
	Blow into beak (FC)	19 (1.6)	1 (0.1)	6 (0.5)	<0.001	0.27	NS, B	
	Kiss, suck, lick wounds (FC)	10 (0.8)	0 (0)	6 (0.5)	0.002	0.72	В	
	Share water from the same bottle (FC)	21 (1.8)	4 (0.3)	21 (1.75)	0.001	0.07	NS, B	
	Clean trachea (FC)	44 (3.7)	1 (0.1)	16 (1.3)	<0.001	0.235	NS, B	
	Clean feathers (FC)	52 (4.3)	6 (0.5)	34 (2.8)	<0.001	0.46	B, F	
	Wash internal organs (poultry)	745 (62.0)	775 (64.6)	249 (20.0)	0.185	<0.001	О, В	
	Slaughter poultry	655 (54·5)	224 (18.7)	138 (11.5)	<0.001	<0.001	B, F	
Moderate ( $\beta$ 2)	Touch/play with sick poultry or poultry	597 (49.7)	485 (40.5)	90 (7·5)	<0.001	<0.001	B, F	
	Lise poultry faeres as manure	664 (55·3)	678 (56.6)	-	0.534	-	F	
	Cut poultry meat	716 (59.6)	917 (76.5)	152 (12.7)	<0.001	<0.001	В	
	Wash poultry meat	772 (64.3)	906 (75.6)	234 (19.5)	<0.001	<0.001	В	
	Swim/bathe in water source where	56 (14.0)	41 (10·3)	196 (16·3)	0.113	0.01	F, NS	
	Demons fastbars from sick poultry*	76 (19.0)	101 (25.3)	102 (8·5)	0.04	0.001	NS, B, F	
	Remove reachers from sick poultry	843 (70.2)	903 (75.1)	442 (36.8)	0.005	<0.001	F	
	Cleaning/sweeping poultry areas	141 (11.7)	126 (10.5)	_	0.341	-	B, F	
	Boil poultry	673 (56.0)	898 (74.9)	228 (19.0)	<0.001	<0.001	B, F	
Low (β3)	Living in a household with poultry (raised chickens or ducks within previous 8 months)	517 (86·7)**		1039 (86·6)	-	0.81	F	

Values are expressed as n (%). FC, fighting cocks; B, blood, F, faeces; NS, nasopharyngeal secretions; O, organ tissue; –, not assessed. \*This practice was only evaluated in adults from two provinces (n = 400 adult males and 400 adult females).

\*\*Evaluated from head of household questionnaire only (n = 600).

© 2008 The Authors Journal Compilation © 2008 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses, **2**, 155–163 ity of effective viral transmission following a certain type of contact is assumed to be high, moderate or low as indicated in Table 1. A transmission risk weighting score  $(\beta)$ was applied to quantify the risk associated with high and moderate practices compared with low practices. Practices listed in group 1 are believed to have a higher potential transmission risk based on the nature of contact and potential H5N1 exposure than practices listed in 2 or 3 whereas practices listed in group 2 have a higher potential transmission risk than practices in group 3. In the analysis presented here, we used values  $\beta 1 = 10$ ,  $\beta 2 = 2$  and  $\beta 3 = 1$ . These values for  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 2$  and  $\beta 3$  are used in this analysis as an illustration of weighting exposures and are based on available data on the pathogenicity of H5N1 in poultry tissues.<sup>3,4,6,20-25</sup> As more epidemiologic and virologic data about the persistence of H5N1 in poultry are collected, more precise estimates for these values may become available. Estimates of human exposure risk for each study participant (n = 3600) were then obtained by multiplying each reported practice with the transmission risk-weighting factor and summing these over all practices reported by each individual ( $\sum \beta C$ ). The exposure risks were analysed by age and gender using t-tests or Wilcoxon rank-sum tests as appropriate. P-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata (v 9.2) (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

## **Results**

## Poultry handling behaviours of adults and children

A total of 3600 household members [1200 adult (>15 years old) males, adult (>15) females and children ( $\leq$ 15)] were interviewed. The refusal rate was low (<1%). The median age of adult and child subjects was 36 years (range: 16–87) and 9 years (range 1–15), respectively. The prevalence of poultry ownership is high in the study areas with 83.7% of households owning chickens, 35.7% owning ducks and

33.2% owning both chickens and ducks, although most poultry flocks are small [median chicken flock size (interquartile range IQR) = 14 (7-25); duck = 7 (3-15)].

Fighting cock ownership is low (3.8%), whereas ownership of pigs (55%), cattle/water buffalo (63.5%) and dogs (75.5%) is high. Mixing of domestic animals (53.8%) of households owned pigs and poultry) is common. In rural areas of Cambodia, chickens and ducks are primarily raised for household consumption. Approximately 11% of adults reported shopping in wet/live markets for poultry. Few households reported selling domestic chickens [3.8%)(23/600)] or ducks [0.5%) (3/600)] outside their home village or to a market during the previous 8 months. Contact patterns with domestic poultry are provided in Table 1.

#### Food preparation practices

Preparing poultry for consumption consists of a series of steps including slaughtering the animal by breaking the neck or cutting the throat, bleeding, boiling, defeathering, removing and washing internal organs, and cutting and washing meat. Although family members as young as 2 years old reported that they had prepared poultry for consumption during the study periods, these practices were primarily the responsibility of family members 16–60 years old (Figure 3).

Both men and women were involved in each stage of preparation (Figure 2); however, overall, the proportion of adults involved in all practices related to food preparation was higher than children. Among adults (n = 2400) significantly more men than women slaughter poultry and remove internal organs whereas adult women more often boil poultry, cut meat and wash meat.

Among children, more males than females practice slaughtering (17.0% versus 5.8%, P < 0.001) and removing internal organs (15.7% versus 10.2%, P = 0.005), while more females than males are responsible for boiling poultry (22.3% versus 15.9%, P = 0.005) and cutting meat (15.7% versus 9.8%, P = 0.002).

	Steps in poultry preparation		Aduits ≥16 years old (% reporting)				Children <16 years old (% reporting)			
			Total (n - 2400)	Male (n - 1201)	Female (a - 1199)	x <sup>3</sup>	p value	Total	X <sup>2</sup>	p-value
	Slaughter/Bleed	Practice				(adult male v adult female)		(a + 1200)	(adult v child)	
	Boil	Slaughter/	<b>36 6</b>	54-5	18.7	332-3	< 0.001	11-5	749 1	<0.001
	De-feather	Boil	65 5	56 0	749	94.4	< 0.001	190	690 7	< 0 001
	Remove/Wash internal organs	Remove internal organs	55 0	610	490	34.9	<0.003	13.0	584.4	< 0.001
	Cut/Wash meat	Wash internal organs	63-3	67-0	64 6	1-7	0 185	20-0	6017	<0.001
		Cut meat	68 0	596	76 5	78-5	< 0.001	12.7	591-3	< 0.001
es by age		Wash meat	69 9	64 3	756	36-3	<0.001	19.5	816 6	< 0-001

**Figure 3.** Food preparation practices by age group (N = 3600).

© 2008 The Authors Journal Compilation © 2008 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses, 2, 155–163

249

#### Van Kerkhove et al.



**Figure 4.** (A) Practice 1 – general food preparation by age and gender. (B) Practice 2 – slaughtering and removing internal organs by age and gender.

Principal component analysis of food preparation variables

The first principal component (practice 1), which accounts for approximately 71% of the total variation in practices between individuals in the survey, consisted of all six of the original food preparation variables (boil, slaughter, cut meat, wash meat, remove internal organs, wash organs) and hence can be interpreted as general food preparation. The second principal component (practice 2), which accounts for a further 13% of the variation, was dominated by the practices of slaughtering and removing internal organs.

The frequency of practice 1 (general food preparation, 71% variation) follows a similar age pattern in males and females with the highest scores between the ages of 16–25, 26–40 and 41–60 (Figure 4A). Subjects >60 years old had lower practice scores than children between the ages of 11 and 15 years.

Practice 2 (slaughtering and removing internal organs) shows greater differences by gender with this practice predominately undertaken by males (Figure 4B). There are significant differences in practice 2 by gender among subjects with males reporting higher scores than females across all age groupings (two-sample *t*-test P < 0.001).

## Other poultry contacts of adults and children

Regular contact with poultry for adult subjects (n = 2400) also includes using faeces for manure (56.6%; no variation by gender), touching sick or dead poultry with bare hands (49.7% in males versus 40.6% in females, P < 0.001), caring for fighting cocks (5.0% in males versus 1.4% in females, P < 0.001), and preparing wild birds for food (36.4% in males versus 19.3% in females, P < 0.001).

Among children (n = 1200) household responsibilities include feeding poultry (77.3%), gathering poultry and placing in designated areas or cages (43.5%), gathering/touching eggs (45.6%), cleaning poultry faeces (44.2% in males versus 37.4% in females, P = 0.02) and treating sick poultry with traditional medicines (18.5%).

Within the recall period, 35.9% of children reported that they had usually played with birds that were alive (42.5% male versus 29.0% female, P < 0.001), 2.7% reported playing with sick birds and 4.2% reported playing with dead birds (no gender difference). Thirty-two per cent of children removed feathers from sick/dead birds (no gender difference) and 16.3% of children bathed or swam in ponds (no gender difference) in which poultry had access; of those 37.8% reported doing this every day. Twelve per cent of adults (n = 799) reported swimming, bathing or fishing in ponds where poultry have access. Among all subjects who responded to this question (n = 1999), there are no gender differences in reported swimming/bathing in ponds; however, this reported activity was highest in children between the ages of 11 and 15 (16.5%) followed by children between the ages of 1 and 10 (16.2%) compared with adults.

A small number of children were involved in the care of fighting cocks (5.7%; n = 68; Table 1). Among children



Figure 5. Exposure risk scores by age and gender.

250

(n = 1200) 6.7% feed fighting cocks; 2.6% touch bloody fighting cocks; 2.8% clean feathers; 1.3% clean trachea with a swab or feather; 1.8% share water from the same bottle; 0.5% kiss, suck or lick wounds; and 0.5% blow into the beak of a fighting cock (the latter three are practices that occur during fighting cock matches). Twenty-eight per cent of children reported attending fighting cock matches compared with 11.3% of adults (P < 0.001) (Correction added after publication 20 November 2008: the words 'adults' and 'children' were inadvertently transposed). Among children, attendance at fighting cock matches was higher among males than females (35.0% versus 20.6%; P < 0.001). Adults reported attending matches on average once per week with the highest proportion of attendance among

males between the ages of 16 and 25 years (31.7%).

#### Estimates of exposure risk

Based on the identified patterns of contact and assumptions of transmission risk ( $\beta$ ; Table 1), estimates of exposure risk were calculated for each subject and analysed stratified by age and gender (Figure 5). Overall, the exposure risk was higher among males than females for subjects above the age of 10 (11–15 age group, P = 0.002; 16–25 age group P < 0.001; 26-40 age group, P < 0.001; 41-60 age group, P < 0.001; 61+, P < 0.001). In both males and females exposure risk varies by age with the greatest risks among males between the ages of 26-40 and 16-25 (Figure 5). We also observed a high degree of variability in risk (as seen in the large confidence intervals). Of the 3600 subjects, there were 590 subjects with an exposure risk score above the 90th percentile of the sample. These subjects were predominately male (72.6%) with a median age of 30 (IQR range 21-42).

## Discussion

Our results demonstrate that most of the population in rural Cambodia is in frequent contact with domestic poultry, with an estimated 52% of the population carrying out on a regular basis at least one of the practices that we considered of high risk of effective transmission if the bird is infected. We also found that the frequency of exposure to poultry was higher in our study population than that reported in the control subjects used in the Vietnamese<sup>10</sup> and Thai<sup>9</sup> case-control studies, suggesting that contact patterns in Cambodia may differ from those in these neighbouring countries. However, at present there are no other similar studies from these countries to enable a direct comparison to be made. Given the widespread exposure to poultry, it is perhaps surprising that only a small number of H5N1 cases have been reported in Cambodia (seven to date). Although there is considerable scope for underreporting of human cases the small number of cases may be due to several factors – the lower density of poultry per  $km^2$  in Cambodia compared to Thailand and Vietnam,<sup>26</sup> the low probability of people dealing with an infected domestic bird (i.e. low H5N1 prevalence and/or a short duration of infectiousness), and a low probability of effective viral transmission.

Within Cambodia, the typical diet consists primarily of white rice and fish products; animal products compose less than 8% of the daily energy supply.<sup>24</sup> Eating poultry as a source of protein is usually reserved for special occasions, typically weddings and national holidays [e.g. Khmer New Year (April), Chinese New Year (January/February)] and food preparation of poultry therefore differs seasonally.

It is assumed that the probability of risk from preparing and consuming poultry is negligible if food preparation is conducted under strict hygienic conditions.<sup>16</sup> The use of personal protective equipment (i.e. gloves, rubber boots, face masks, aprons) of the subjects in our study areas when in contact with poultry was negligible. Few individuals were in possession of these items in their homes with less than 5% of subjects reported wearing such items when handling poultry. Inactivation of H5N1 on the surface of poultry can occur when the animal is boiled, therefore if poultry are boiled before defeathering as is the case in Cambodia, the risk of exposure during defeathering is reduced. Furthermore, WHO guidelines state that cooking above temperatures of 70°C will inactivate H5N1 in meats and organs, therefore boiling before defeathering would also reduce exposure potential of individuals cutting/washing meat or internal organs.<sup>27</sup>

Even though contact was widespread, there was substantial variation in the frequency of different practices, which although differing in magnitude according to practice provided evidence that the potential risk of transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans is not uniform across age and gender even amongst populations living in close proximity to poultry. Public awareness campaigns and risk behaviour modification intervention programmes should therefore be targeted accordingly.

Males between the age of 26 and 40 reported practices of contact with poultry that give rise to the highest H5N1 transmission risk potential, followed closely by males between the age of 16 and 25. This population group differs from the age and sex distribution of the 357 confirmed H5N1 human cases that occurred up to 29 January 2008, in which an excess of cases were observed in children and no differences observed between genders; however, the group with the highest exposure in our study is more similar to the age/sex distribution of the confirmed Thai cases (n = 25). The mean age of cases was 22 years and 64% of cases were male.<sup>7</sup> Such socio-demographic differences in human cases of H5N1 may be because contact patterns with poultry differ between countries; however, it is also

© 2008 The Authors Journal Compilation © 2008 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses, 2, 155–163

#### Van Kerkhove et al.

suggestive that the variation in H5N1 incidence by age may not be due to exposure alone and that there may be differences by age in intrinsic immunologic susceptibility to infection, pre-existing immunity against human influenza A virus and/or clinical presentation of disease.

This semi-quantitative risk assessment has several limitations and lacks the power of a formal quantitative risk assessment because of epidemiological data gaps and uncertainties of H5N1 pathogenesis in the host species. To improve future assessments a number of areas would need to be strengthened. First, data are urgently needed on the prevalence of H5N1 in poultry species in regions where H5N1 is recurrent or endemic in domestic poultry flocks. These data are likely to be influenced by the use of biosecurity measures on farms and in backyard farming settings. While H5N1 poultry outbreaks in countries are reported, because infection may remain asymptomatic in some host species (e.g. ducks), it is difficult to infer prevalence from poultry outbreak reports alone. Prevalence estimates in poultry will allow us to fully understand the probability that a farm or animal is infected with H5N1 (P, Figure 1).

Secondly, improved knowledge is needed on all the potential routes of transmission of H5N1 from poultry to humans and the prevalence of such practices in human populations. We have evaluated what we believe are the main potential routes in which people can become infected with H5N1; however, we currently lack sufficient data from the confirmed H5N1 cases around the world to fully evaluate other potential risk factors for infection such as the role water and other environmental factors play in transmission.<sup>28</sup> Transmission could also include oral ingestion, conjunctival or intranasal inoculation from contaminated water while drinking, swimming or bathing or from faeces while caring for poultry<sup>29</sup> and may explain why more children than adults are infected. Furthermore, asymptomatic cases may occur because of low concentrations of viruses in the environment.

Thirdly, an understanding of the influence of genetic and/or immunological factors on transmission is urgently needed since there has been limited yet inefficient humanto-human transmission.<sup>30</sup> Lastly, virus transmission potential should not be treated as equal across contact practices. Empirical data are needed on virus survival in poultry during food preparation practices, in poultry waste (i.e. poultry scrap, faeces), in soil and in water under different environmental conditions. In addition, data – either experimentally produced or collected during field investigations – are urgently needed on the persistence of H5N1 in poultry tissues. Specifically, which organ, tissue or secretion, if any, has the greatest potential for poultry-to-human transmission. One way of estimating this is to quantify the viral concentrations in various tissues under a variety of conditions (e.g. days post-infection, whether or not the animal is exhibiting symptoms, by vaccination status, etc.).

Collaboration between human and animal health sectors is essential to understand the risk of transmission between domestic poultry and humans. Current exposure estimates are too general to explain the current pattern or to predict future cases of H5N1 infection in human populations. Rapid, systematic and standardized collection of detailed information on poultry contact patterns in suspected human outbreaks of H5N1 would improve our understanding of transmission from poultry to humans.

## **Acknowledgements**

The authors thank UNICEF for providing the funding for the study. We are very grateful to Sorn San, Vutha Chhim and Nget Kiry from the National Veterinary Research Institute (NaVRI), Department of Animal Health and Production and SreyPech Lim and the Cambodian interviewers for their collaboration in the conducting the survey. We especially thank all the study participants, the Village Chiefs, and District and Provincial Veterinarians for their generous assistance in the survey.

## References

- 1 Writing Committee of the Second World Health Organization Consultation on Clinical Aspects of Human Infection with Avian Influenza AV. Update on avian influenza A (H5N1) virus infection in humans. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:261–273.
- 2 Vong S, Ly S, Sek M, Holl DPB. Environmental contamination during A/H5N1 outbreaks in Cambodia. 2006 Bangkok International Conference on Avian Influenza 2008: Integration from Knowledge to Control, January 23–25, Bangkok, Thailand, 2007.
- **3** WHO. World Health Organization: review of latest available evidence on potential transmission of avian influenza (H5N1) through water and sewage and ways to reduce the risks to human health. World Health Organization, 2006. http://www.who.int/water\_sanitation\_health/emerging/h5n1background.pdf.
- **4** Beato M, Toffan A, De Nardi R, Cristalli A, Terregino C *et al.* A conventional, inactivated oil emulsion vaccine suppresses shedding and prevents viral meat colonisation in commercial (Pekin) ducks challenged with HPAI H5N1. Vaccine 2007; 25:4064–4072.
- **5** Isoda N, Sakoda Y, Kishida N, Bai G, Matsuda K *et al.* Pathogenicity of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus, A/chicken/Yamagu-chi/7/04 (H5N1) in different species of birds and mammals. Arch Virol 2006; 151:1267–1279.
- 6 Mase M, Tanimura N, Imada T, Okamatsu M, Tsukamoto K et al. Recent H5N1 avian influenza A virus increases rapidly in virulence to mice after a single passage in mice. J Gen Virol 2006; 87:3655–3659.
- **7** WHO. World Health Organization: avian influenza, 2006–2007. http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian\_influenza/en/ [accessed on 6 June 2008].
- 8 Ji-Ming C, Ji-Wang C, Jian-Jun D, Ying-Xue S. A survey of human cases of H5N1 avian influenza reported by the WHO before June 2006 for infection control. Am J Infect Control 2007; 35:467.
- **9** Areechokchai D, Jiraphongsa C, Laosiritaworn Y, Hanshaoworakul W, O'Reilly M *et al.* Investigation of avian influenza (H5N1) out-
#### Transmission potential of H5N1 from poultry to humans

break in humans – Thailand, 2004. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2006; 55:3–6.

- 10 Dinh PN, Long HT, Tien NTK, Hien NT, Mai LTQ *et al.* and the World Health Organization/Global Outbreak Alert and Response Network Avian Influenza Investigation Team in Vietnam. Risk factors for human infection with avian influenza A H5N1, Vietnam, 2004. 2006 http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/EID/vol12no12/06-0829.htm.
- 11 Buchy P, Mardya S, Vong S, Toyoda T, Aubin J-T et al. Influenza A/H5N1 virus infection in humans in Cambodia. J Clin Virol 2007; 39:164–168.
- 12 Vong S, Goghlan B, Mardy S, Holl D, Seng H et al. Low frequency of avian-to-human transmission of H5N1 in Southern Cambodia, 2005. Emerg Infect Dis 2006; 12:1542--1547.
- **13** Codex Alimentarius Commission. Principles and Guidelines for the Conduct of Microbiological Risk Assessment. CAC/GL-30. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1999.
- 14 OIE, ed. Risk Analysis. Paris: World Organization for Animal Health (OIE), 2005.
- **15** FAO, OIE, WHO. Food and Agriculture Organization of the Untied Nations, World Organization for Animal Health and the World Health Organization. Technical Workshop on Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza and Human H5N1 Infection. Proceedings 2 August 2007, Rome, Italy, 2007.
- **16** Greiner M, Muller-Graf C, Hiller P, Schrader C, Gervelmeyer A *et al.* Expert opinion based modelling of the risk of human infections with H5N1 through the consumption of poultry meat in Germany. Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr Heft 2007; 3/4:98–107.
- 17 Bennett S, Woods T, Liyanage W, Smith D. A simplified general method for cluster-sample surveys of health in developing countries. World Health Stat Q 1991; 44: 98–106.
- 18 NIS. National Institute of Statistics. General Population Census of Cambodia, National Institute of Statistics, Ministry of Planning, Phnom Penh, Cambodia. In: National Institute of Statistics C, ed. Phnom Penh, Cambodia, 1999:1–408.
- **19** Cattell RB. The scree test for the number of factors. Multivariate Behav Res 1966; 1:245–276.

- **20** Swayne DE. Understanding the complex pathobiology of high pathogenicity avian influenza viruses in birds. Avian Dis 2007; 51:242– 249.
- 21 Hulse-Post DJ, Sturm-Ramirez KM, Humberd J, Seiler P, Govorkova EA *et al.* Role of domestic ducks in the propagation and biological evolution of highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza viruses in Asia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102:10682–10687.
- 22 Perkins LEL, Swayne DE. Pathobiology of A/Chicken/Hong Kong/220/97 (H5N1) avian influenza virus in seven gallinaceous species. Vet Pathol 2001; 38:149–164.
- **23** Webster RG, Hulse-Post DJ, Sturm-Ramirez KM, Guan Y, Peiris M et al. Changing epidemiology and ecology of highly pathogenic avian H5N1 influenza viruses. Avian Dis 2007; 51:269–272.
- **24** FAO Nutrition Country Profile Cambodia. FAO, Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization, 1999:1–24.
- **25** Das ASE, Thomas C, Swayne DE, Suarez DL. Detection of H5N1 high-pathogenicity avian influenza virus in meat and tracheal samples from experimentally infected chickens. Avian Dis 2008; 52:40–48.
- 26 FAOSTATS 2006–2007. http://faostat.fao.org/ [accessed on 12 July 2008].
- 27 World Health Organization and International Food Safety Authorities Network (INFOSAN). Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza Outbreaks in Poultry and in Humans: Food Safety Implications. No. 7/2005 [accessed on 24 April 2008].
- **28** Vong S, Ly S, Sek M, Holl D, Buchy P. Environmental Contamination during Influenza A Virus (H5N1) Outbreaks in Cambodia, 2006. Emerg Infect Dis, 2008; 14:1303–1305.
- **29** de long MD, Cam BV, Qui PT, *et al.* Fatal Avian Influenza A (H5Ni) in a Child Presenting with Diarrhea Followed by Coma. Vol. 2005; 352:686–691.
- **30** Kandun IN, Wibisono H, Sedyaningsih ER, Yusharmen , Hadisoedarsuno W *et al.* Three Indonesian Clusters of H5N1 Virus Infection in 2005. N Engl J Med 2006; 355:2186–2194.

**Appendix B: Questionnaires for rural Cambodians:** 

Village Chief

Head of Household

**Adult Subjects** 

**Child Subjects** 

### H5N1 survey among backyard poultry farmers Questionnaire for Village Chief កំរងសំនូរ សំរាប់ប្រធានភូមិ

Today Date://	Interviewer's name
lage: <b>ភូមិ</b>	Province 13g
structions to Interviewer: ការណែឆាំសំរាប់អ្នកសូរ	
ងសំនូរនេះប្រើសំរាប់សូរប្រធានភូមិ ។ សូមអានព្រប់សំនូរទាំងអស់ និង ធ្វើតាមការរំ មិនមានកំណត់សំតាល់ថាអោយរំលង ។ សើនបើអ្នកមានចម្ងល់ផ្សេង១ទាក់ទងនឹងកំរងសំនូរ សូមទូរស័ព្ទទាក់ទងទៅ ឈ្មោះ លេដែលបំពេញកំរងសំនូរចប់សព្វត្រប់ សមទុករក្សាទុកកំរងសំនូរជាមួយគ្នាដោយចា	លៃនាំក្នុងការរំលងសំនូរ ទៅកាន់ផ្នែកផ្សេង១ នៃកំរងសំនូរ ។ សូមតូសចំលើយលើរាល់សំនូរដែលបានសូរ និង សូមកុំរំលងសំនូរ ម៉ាវ្យេ ដែលមានលេខ012 802 475 ឬ ទៅ ឈ្មោះ សុវត្ថិ ដែលមានលេខ012 322 031 ។ ត់ទៅតាមផ្ទះនិមួយ១ រហូតដល់ចប់ថ្ងៃនិមួយ១។
1 Family Name: នាមត្រកូល	2 First Name: ตาษอูด
3 Sex កេទ 1∐ Male ប្រុស	2[] Female ស្រី
4 Age អាយុ years old	ផ្ទាំ
5 Address Village ក្វមិ	6 Occupation មុខរបរ
Commune ឃុំ	7 Education level reached :
District ស្រុក	0[] Never attended school មិនដែលរៀនសោះ 3[] High school វិទ្យាល័យ
Province រេវត្ត	1[] Primary បឋមសិក្សា 4[] Higher នុត្តមសិក្សា
	2[] Secondary មព្យមសិក្សា 5[] Pagoda រៀននៅវត្ត
8 In what country were you born? តើអ្នកកើតនៅទីណា:	*
1[] Cambodia កម្ពុជា 2[] Vietnam វៀតណ	រាម 3[] Thailand ថៃ 9[] Other (specify) ជ្យេងបញ្ចាក់
9 What is the primary religion of your village? កើប្រា	ជាជនក្នុងភូមិរបស់អ្នក ភាគច្រើនកាន់សាសនាអ្វី?
1[] Buddhist ព្រះពុទ្ធ 2[] Muslim ឥស្លារ	3 [] Catholic សាសនាគ្រីស 9[] Other (specify) ផ្សេងបញ្ចាក់
10 How many people live in your village? តើភូមិរបស់អ្ន	កមានប្រជាជនប៉ុន្មាននាក់? <u> </u> people Year
11 How many households are in your village? តើភូមិរបស់អ្ន	កមានផ្ទះប៉ុន្មានខ្នុង? <u> </u> households Year
12 When was this data collected? កើតលេខខាងលើ អ្នកស្រ	បង់នៅពេលណា?
ក្នុងរយៈពេល ទនៃ ចុងក្រោយនេះ តេ មានអ្នកដែរទញមានទាំតាម 14 How often do they visit your village to purchase cl [a] For chickens មាន់ [b] For ducks ទា 15 Where do they take the poultry? តើពួកគេ យកមាន់ទា វ័	រ្ទះ បុម្មតែងពា ទាក្សាជារួចរបសេរ្ទណ៍ nickens and ducks? កើព្វកគេចូលមករកទិញមាន់ទាក្នុងភូមិរបស់អ្នក ប៉ុន្មានដង ក្នុងទអាទិត្យ? times a week 99[_] Don't know times a week 99[_] Don't know ដលប្រមូលទិញបាន ទៅលក់បន្តនៅឯណាខ្លះ (ឈ្មោះជ្យារ. ភូមិ, ឃុំ, ស្រុក) 99[_] Don't know
[a]	[b]
16 Can you identify them by name and/or phone number? What are their names? ព្ភកកោឈ្មោះអ្វីខ្វះ? [a][b] [d][b] [d][b] [g][h] [j][h] [j][k] [m][n]	เกีมรุกญาณ์ เญาะ เบรก ឬ เณรรรงผัฐ รบผัฐ กรณัฐะเรา?       1 Yes, Continue       0 No, Go to Q#12         From which villages?       Do you know how to contact them?         ŋ ก เกษ กรรา?       เณรรรรมผัฐ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผัฐ รบผัฐ รบผัฐ รบผัฐ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผู้ รบผู้ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผัฐ รบผู้ รบผู้ รบผู้ รบผู้
ទៅអនាគត តើអកអាច សាកសួរពួកគេ ដើម្បីដឹងឈ្មោះ ប្រភព និ	ង លេខទូរស័ព្ទ បានឬទេ?
18 How far is the nearest public health center (km)? កើ	មណ្ឌលសុខភាព ដែលជិតជាងគេមានចំងាយបំន្មានគីឡូម៉ែត្រ ពីទីនេះ? Km
18a What is the name of this public health center? កើ	មណ្ឌលសុខភាពនោះឈ្មោះអ្វី?
18b What are the roads leading to the nearest public he	ealth center made of? តើផ្លូវទៅមណ្ឌលសុខភាពដែលជិតជាងគេនោះ កលាធអារអ្វវ
1[] Dirt ៨វថី 2[] Paved ផ្លូវក្រា	លបេតុង ឬ កៅស៊្វី 3 🗋 River ផ្លូវទឹក 9 🗋 Others ផ្សេងបញ្ចោក
19. How for is the pearest hospital (km)? In Barnar	ដែលជិតជាងគេប័ន្មានគីឡូ ពីទីនេះ?
10 Nithet is the name of this hospital? If HE IIN 91	នាះឈ្មោះអ្វី?
Therefore the answering my questions	អរគុណដែលបានឆ្លើយសំន្ទរ របស់យើងខ្ញុំ
mank you for answoring my que	

### H5N1 KAP survey among backyard poultry farmers Questionnaire for Head of Household កំរងសំនូរសំរាប់មេគ្រូសារ

Today Date://	Interviewer's name:
GPS	Province         Village         Family         Subject number           ID Code
nstructions to Interviewer: ការណែនាំសំរាប់អ្នកសួរ	
រងសំនូវនេះប្រើសំរាប់សូវអ្នកដែលជាមេត្រួសារ ។ មេត្រួសារអាចជាបុរស ឬ ស្ត្រី ។ សូមអាន រូមតុសចំលើយលើរាល់សំនូវដែលបានសូរ និង សូមកុំរំលងសំនូវ បើមិនមានកំណត់សំគាល់ថាល រូមសរសេរលេខកូដ នៅផ្នែកខាងលើ ខាងស្តាំ ទំព័រនិមួយ១របស់កំរងសំនូវ ។ ការសរសេរលេខ រុននឹងធ្វើការបញ្ចូលទិន្នន័យ ។ បូសិនបើអ្នកមានចំងល់ផ្សេង១ទាក់ទងនឹងកំរងសំនូវ សូមទូរស័ព្ទទាក់ទងទៅ ឈ្មោះ ម៉ាវ្យេ រែ ពលដែលបំពេញកំរងសំនូវចប់សព្វគ្រប់ សូបទុករក្សាទុកកំរងសំនូវជាមួយគ្នាដោយចាត់ទៅតា	គ្រប់សំនូរទាំងអស់ និង ធ្វើតាមការណែនាំក្នុងការលោតរំលងសំនូរ ទៅកាន់ផ្នែកផ្សេង១ នៃកំរងសំនូរ ។ អាយរំលង ។ ខក្ខដនេះមានសារៈសំខាន់ណាស់ ព្រោះថាទំព័រមុខរបស់កំរងសំនូរ និងត្រូវផ្តាច់ចេញ ហើយទុកដោយឡែក ដលមានលេខ ០១២ ៨០២ ៤៧៥ ឬ ទៅ ឈ្មោះ សុវត្ថិ ដែលមានលេខ ០១២ ៣២២ ០៣១ ។ មផ្ទះនិមួយ១ រហូតដល់ចប់ថ្ងៃនិមួយ១។ បន្ទាប់ពីនោះទើប ទំព័រមុខនឹងត្រូវផ្តាច់ចេញពីកំរងសំនូរ ។
អ្នកសូរអានទៅអ្នកឆ្លើយ: សូមអរគុណដែលបានយល់ព្រមចូលរូមក្នុងការសិក្សារបស់យើងខ្ញុំ ។ ជាដំបូងខ្ញុំសូមសូរសំនូរទាក់ គ្រប់ចំលើយរបស់អ្នកទាំងអស់ នឹងត្រូវទុកជាការសំងាត់ ។ បើអ្នកមានចម្ងល់ ឬ មិនយល់សំនូរ ដូចនេះ ខ្ញុំសូមចាប់ផ្តើមសូរ:	ក់ទងនឹងខ្លូនអ្នកផ្ទាល់ និង ត្រូសាររបស់អ្នក។ សូមមេត្តាជួយឆ្លើយឱ្យបានគ្រប់សំនូរតាមដែល អាចធ្វើទៅបាន។ ដែលខ្ញុំបានសូរ សូមប្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសូរជាថ្មី។
Demographic information of respondent ពត៍មានផ្ទាល់ខ្លួន	រ របស់អ្នកឆ្លើយ
Respondent: (F	Record only surname)
2 Age 新政       」」 wate [jji0]         2 Age 新政       」」」 years old 就         3 Address 新Ňយ設留 [a] Village 京單       」」」         6 Coupation 時名101       [b] Commune 11]         9 What is your religion?       1         6 Kat is your religion?       1         9 What is your religion?       1         6 Kat is your religion?       1         9 What is your religion?       1         6 Kat is your religion?       1         11       Cambodia         12       Cambodia         13       Buddhist         14       0         15       Education level reached:         16       Rever attended school       1         17       Primary       2         18       Verer attended school       1         11       Primary       2         12       S       1         13       0       1         14       0       1         15       1       1         16       1       1         15       1       1         16       1       1         17       1       1         16       1	
សូមអាន ខ្ញុំរស់នៅក្នុង	ប្រទេសកម្ពុជា
សូមសរសេរ	

ID Code |\_\_\_\_| |\_\_\_| |\_\_\_|

ION A QUESTIONS TO HEAD OF FAI	MILY ONLY	សំនូរសំរា	ាប់សូរមេគ្រូសារ		in the second		
low many people in total live in the house	e? តើសព្វថ្ងៃមានមនុវ	ប្សទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មាននាក់រស់	នៅក្នុងផ្ទះនេះ?				1 1 1
low many children 15 years old and your	nger live in the hous	e ? តើសព្វថ្ងៃ មាន	រក្មេងអាយុ ចាប់ពី១៥ឆ្នាំ ចរ	ពកាម ប៉ំនានទ	ពក់រស់នៅក្នុងកំខ្ម	1909	
Nhat is your house made of?       តើផ្ទះរបស់អ្នកសាងសង់អំពីអ្វី?         1[] Wooden house       2[] Cement house       3[] Straw/wood       4[] wood and cement       9[] Other (specify)         ផ្ទះឈើ       ផ្ទះថ្ន       ផ្ទះស្លឹក       ឈើផង ថ្មផង       ផ្ទះអូទ្យត, បញ្ញាក់							
s the house built on piles high up above t	he ground? តើផ្ទ	ះរបស់អ្នកសាងសង់ មាន	ជើងសសរ ខ្ពស់ផុតពីដី ដែរប	<b>119</b> ?	J	If 1Yes	0[ 1 No
n your house, do you have (check all that	apply)? ក្នុងរុ	ដ្ទះរបស់អ្នក. តើមានអ្នកម	រានឧបករណ៍ដូចបានរេវូបរារ	រ៉ានេះដែរទេ?			
[a] Bicycle ກໍນໍ່	1[] Yes	0[_] No	[e] Telephone	ទរស័ព	1[]Yes	0[ 1 No	
[b] Motorcycle ម៉ូតូ	1[] Yes	0[_] No	[f] Television	ទរទសនើ	1[ ] Yes		
[c] Car ឡាន	1[] Yes	0[_] No	[g] Radio	រិទ្ធា	1[ ] Yes		
[d] Cart 119:	1[] Yes	0[_] No		ើរុ	1 103		
s there an open water well in the hous	seyard? (observati	០ តើ នៅជះរបស់អក មា	ទមណងពោង លេទ 2		1[ ] Vos	0[ ] No	
s there a water pump in the houseyar	d? (observation)	តើ នៅផះរបស់អក មា	ទម្លាប់អស់រំ ប្រទេ 2				
s there a pond in the houseyard? (obs	servation)	តើ នៅផះរបស់អក មា	ន តេញំង បេស១៤ត ខែស	SG 9			KNO Coto
Is pond water used in your househo	old for bathing?		ท โดงแท ก็ โดงฉุบ พากี	19.	1 Yes		A6
តើ អ្នកដងទឹកត្រពាំង / ស្រះ នោះ មកប្រើសំរ	ាប់មុជ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្ន	ក្រ ដែរឬទេ ?					
Is pond water used in your househo	ld for washing clo	thes?			1[] Yes	0[_] No	
ו איז	លេជោកតិកាខាអាវ នៅក្ ld for cookina?	ក្នុងផ្ទះរបសអ្នក ដេរឬទេ ៖	2		1[ ] Vos	0[ 1 No	
តើ អ្នកដងទឹកត្រពាំង / ស្រះ នោះ មកប្រើសំរា	ល់ដាំស្លូ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់រ	អ្នក ដែរឬទេ ?					
Is pond water used for your animals	(drinking, bathing	, playing)?			1[] Yes	0[_] No	
តើ អ្នកប្រើទឹកត្រពាំង / ស្រះ នោះ សំរាប់សត្វរ	បស់អ្នក ដែរឬទេ (ឧ្. ទេ	ឋាងគោក្របី, សត្វជីក, ចុន	3លេង) ?				
Lo ducks or geese have access to y	our pond (ducks f	rom neighbourhood	l are applicable)?		1[] Yes	0[_] No	
Does your pond providd your family	with food e.g. anir	nals (fish, frog, shri	mp,) or vegetable	s?	1[]Yes	0[ ] No	
តើ ត្រពាំង / ស្រះ មាន ត្រី ឬ សត្វ ( កង្កែប, កំ	ពីស) ឬ បន្លែផ្សេង១	សំរាប់គ្រូសាររបស់អ្នក យ	រកមកធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ ?				
Do you raise fish in your pond (natu	ral fish is not appli	cable) ?	υ		1[] Yes	0[_] No	
តើ អ្នកដាក់ចិញ្ចឹមត្រី នៅក្នុងត្រពាំង / ស្រះ នេ	ាះ ដែរឬទេ ?						
ow going to ask you some question	s about your pou	ultry flocks.	ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្តទាក់ទងនឹងទ	ទាន់ទាដែលអ្នក	ចិញ្ចិ៍ម		
/hat animals have you raised since the Kh	nmer New Year?	ចាប់តាំងពីបុណ្យចូល	រឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក តើអ្នក មានចិញ្ចឹ	មែសត្វអ្វីខ្លះ, ចំ	នូនបុន្មាន?		
Chickens # []	[e] Singing birds	#	[i] Pigs	# <u> </u>	]		
មាន់	លលក, សេក, ស	ភរិកា ។ល។	ជ្រូក				
gn gn	[f] Pigeon	#	្រ្យ Dogs	#			
01	Ial Kruoch	#1 1	[k] Vaccinate	ed dogs agai	ns rabies	#	
	ក្រច		ឆ្កែដែលបា	ទចាក់វាំក់សាំងរ	ការពារជំងឺឆ្កែឆ្កួត		
Geese #	[h] Fighting cocks	#	[I] Cattle / b	uffalo #			
ព្វាន	មាន់ជល់		តោ ឬ ក្រមែ	វ័			
[m] Other animal	#	Specify					
[n] Other animal	#	Specify					

p if no chickens or ducks		Skin of more than the
Questions related to poultry raising ពារចិញ្ចឹម មាន់ និង ទា	Chickens mg	Skip of respondent does not own ducks
A7 What was their age at purchase (ave flock age in months)?		Ducks gy
តើនៅពេលដាក់ចិញ្ចឹមដំបង សតអានអាយរ៉េនាន?		a    weeks 99[_] DK
Where were they purchased?	សប្តាហា 0[] <1 week	សប្តាហ៍ 0[] <1 week
តើអកទិពាមកពីទឹកនៃងណាខះ? កងភមិដែលខំរស់ទៅ	D []	b [_]
(ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន) ក្នុងស្រុកដែលខំរស់នៅ (ភូមិផេរង)	сЦ	с []
In your province	d I I	
ក្នុងខេត្តដែលខ្ញុំរស់នៅ ( ស្រុកផ្សេង)		a 🗋
In other province	e [_] Province:	e [] Province:
ទិញមកពីខេត្តផ្សេង	ខេត្ត	ខេត្ត
In other country	f [_] Country:	f [] Country:
ទិញមកពីប្រទេសផ្សេង	ប្រទេស	ប្រទេស
Born here from the last generation កើតនៅក្នុងដុះប្រឆេនំតែមុង	a []	g [_]
Buy from market for raising	b [ ]	
ទិញពីផ្សារមកចិញ្ចឹម		n []
.9 Type of raise : Birds always kept in closed building	i []	i []
រប្បេបចិញ្ចឹមមាន់ទា ចិញ្ចឹមដាក់ក្នុងទ្រុងបិទជិតជានិច្ច		
Birds raised in fenced park	j 🗋	jЦ
(ចលេយអាចមានច្រេន) ចញ្ចមដាកក្នុងទធ្លាបទជត		
Birds free ranging in farmyard អោយដើររកសីដោយសេរី ខាងកង បរិវេណផះ	k []	k []
Birds free ranging in and outside farmyard		1[]
អោយដើររកស៊ីដោយសេរី ខាងក្នុង និង ខាងក្រៅ បរិវេណផ្ទះ		
Birds allowed to go to rice fields or lake	m [_]	m [_]
ក្យេងដើររកស៊ីតាមវាលស្រែ ឬ តាមបឹង		
0 What was the lifespan of your last flock of poultry?	n    months	n    months
ជាទូទៅ តើអ្នកចិញ្ចឹមមាន់ទា រយៈពេលប៉ុន្មានខែ ទើបអាចលក់ ឬ ហូបបាន?	18	18
1 Does your house have a fence around it? តើផ្ទះរបស់អ្នកមានរបងព័ន្	ទ្ធជុំវិញជិតដែរឬទេ? 1	If NO, Go to
2 Do the fences keep your poultry inside your property? តើរបងព័ន	រ្វជុំវិញអាចឃាំងជិតមិនឱ្យសត្វចេញចូលបានដែ	វរប្មទេ? 1∐ Yes 0∐ No
ltry selling practices ការលក់ដូរបសុបក្សី		
now going to ask you some questions about your poultry selling	g practices. ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្តចាក់ទង	នឹងការលក់ដូរមាន់ទារបស់អ្នក
3 Do you sell chickens or ducks? តើអកលក់ មាន់ ប ទា ដែរបទេ?	1[]Yes 0[]No	If NO, skip to A32
[a] Since the Khmer New Year, have you sold CHICKENS from your h	ome? 1[]Yes 0[]No	If NO, skip to A19
<sup>គិតចាប់តាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក នៅនឹងផ្ទះ តើអ្នកលក់ <b>មាន់</b> ដែរឬទេ ?</sup>		
[b] How many times?	[c] Do you sell chickens alive,	prepared or both?
តើអ្នកលក់ <b>មាន់</b> បានប៉ុន្មានដងហើយ គិតចាប់តាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	តើលក់បែបណា? រស់. ធ្វើបើ	ាយ ឬ ទាំង២យាង?
L times since Khmer New Year	1 Only live 2	Only prepared 3 Both
ចំនួនលើក	លក់តែរស់ លក់តែ	ធ្វេរបាយ មាង២យាង

A15 T	o whom d	o vou sell?				ID	Code	_		_
10 10	តីអ្នកលក់ទេ	អំឱ្យអ្នកណាខ្លះ?	aPeople i អ្នករស់នេ b[Middlem ឈ្មួញមក	in your villager វាក្នុងភូមិជាមួយគ្នា nen from outside village ពីខាងក្រៅភូមិ	c[] d[]	Middleme ឈ្មូញូមកពី Middleme	n from Vietr វេវ្យំតណាម n from Thail វិជ	and	e[] Othe ផ្សេងទេ្យត	r (specify)
lf A16	used a n H	niddleman: ow many times តពោវនៅអ្នកពេល	<mark>បើអ្នកលក់ទៅឱ្យ ឈ្មួញដែល</mark> since the Khmer New Ye	<b>វដើរមិញតាមផ្ទះ</b> ear did you use a middle	eman to se	ell poultry [C	HICKENS]?		L 11	imes If 0, skip to A1
A17	H	ow many middle	ចូលស្នាខ្មេរមក តេអ្នកលក <b>មា</b> ន emen did you sell to since	រ របសអ្នក ទៅឱ្យឈ្មួញដែល A Khmer New Year?	បដើរទិញ ជ	ានបុន្មានដង? 	l midd	lemen		
140	Fi M	តចាបតាងពបុណ្យ។ /bat is the	ចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក តើ អ្នកលក់ <b>មា</b>	<b>ន់</b> របស់អ្នក ទៅឱ្យ ឈ្មួញបុទ្ទ	រាននាក់?				33	
A18	VV	final is the name	of the midddlemen that y	you use?	Whe	re are they f	rom (Village	, Province)?		What is their phone #?
		างพื้อมีเกษอนสี่ประกุ	ា មាន របស់អ្នក ទោំឲ្យ មានព	ឈ្មោះអ៊្វីខ្លះ?	តើល្	រូញទាំងនោះ ម	កពីទីណាខ្លះ?	(ភូមិ, ខេត្ត)		លេខទូរស័ព្ទឈ្មួញ
		ame:		[t	p]				[c]	
		ame:		[e	9]				[f]	
19	[a] Since	e the Khmer Nev	w Year, have you sold DI		<u>]</u>				[i]	
	គិតចាប់ត [b] How តើអក	ាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំរំ many times? លោក <b>ព</b> ាពនាំនាន	ខួរមក នៅនឹងផ្ទះ តើអ្នកលក់ ទ	រា ដែរឬទេ ?		1[] Yes [c] Do you s	0[] No sell DUCKS	If NO alive, prepared	<b>), skip to A</b> or both?	\$24
	L	times sinc	e Khmer New Year	ច្រលរត្តពន្ធរមក?		តើលា	បែបណា? រត	រ់. ធ្វើហើយ ឬ ទាំង	រ២យ៉ាង?	
20 Te		ចំនួនលើក				1[] Or លក់តែរស់	nly live i	2[_] Only pre លក់តែធ្វើហើយ	pared (	3[_] Both ទាំង២យ៉ាង
20 10	whom do	o you sell?	a[] People in	your villager	c[]	Middlemen	from Vietna	m e[	] Other (	specify)
	dimonina	រត្យដំណោរទី៖:	អ្នករលានា	ក្នុងភូមជាមួយគ្នា		ឈ្មូញូមកពី វេ	<b>វ្</b> តណាម	ផ្ដេ	រុងទេ្យត _	
				en from outside village	q[]	Middlemen	from Thailar	nd		
22	តិត Hor	ចាប់តាំងពីបុណ្យចូ w many middler	លឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក តើអ្នកលក់ <b>ទា</b> រា nen did you sell to since l	បស់អ្នក ទៅឱ្យឈ្មូញដែលដើ Khmer New Year?	រទិញ បានបុ	ន្នានដង?	middle	ן ז men	imes a moi 99[_	nth <b>If 0, skip to A24</b> ] Don't know
3	Wh	ចាប់ពាណលុណ្យចូរ at is the name o	លស្នាខ្មេរមក តេ អ្នកលក <b>ទា</b> រ of the midddlemon that us	បសអ្នក ទៅឱ្យ ឈ្មូញបុន្មាន 	នាក់?					
	កើល	ពេលខែ ពេទ ពេងកាទ (	mine middulemen inat yo	ou use?	Where	e are they fro	m (Village,	Province)?	M	/hat is their phone #?
,	-1 -1	นึ่งแหลงนี้แทกแ	ដោម ទ្រទៅ កម្មលាប ខេត្តថ	ពេញ ទេអិនីនះ	តេឈ្មូព្	្យូទាងនោះ មក	ពទណាខ្លះ? (	ភូមិ, ខេត្ត)	រៃ	លខទូរស័ព្ទឈ្មូញ
L.	aj Nar di Nar	ne:		[b]					[c]	
[9	g] Nan	ne:		[e]					[f]	
- [a	a] Do you	sell chickens a	t the market or outside of	f vour village?		11 1 Yes	0[ 1 No	IENO		
ĩ	តីអ្នកយក	មាន់ ទៅលក់នៅជ	រារ ប នៅកៅភមិរបស់អក រ៉ែ	Emra?				II NO,	SKIP to A2	.0
[t	] How m	any times since	the Khmer New Year did	you sell chickens?	ſ	cl Do vou se	ll chickens :	alive prepared o	or both?	
	ĩ	តីអ្នកលក់ បានប៉ឺនា	នេងហើយ គិតចាប់តាំងពីបណ	/ចលឆាំខែរមក?	L	តើលក់បែប	ណា? រស់, ធើ	ហើយ ប ទាំង២យ៉ា	าน?	
		times	since Khmer New Year	Uy a *		1[] Only liv	re 2[	] Only prepare	d 3∐	Both
Durin	a the les	ចនួន				លេកតេរស		លកតេច្នេហេយ	ទាំ	ង២យាង
โต ร้อง	ig the las	st <b>2 months</b> , wh	iere did you sell your chic	kens [market and any	where else	e outside the	village]?		a .	-
0.0	ចុងរព្រាយ	នេះ តេអ្នកមានលា	ក <b>មាម</b> ទៅការដួងណាខ្លះ? ( អ	ាចជាផ្សារ ឬ កន្លេងដទេក្រេ	ាភូម)	(សូរ	រតូសកន្លេងល	ñ [a], [b], [c] î	ហយបពេញ្	រតមានក្នុង [1], [2], [3] )
			[1] If Market, Name:	[2] Quantity [	3] Provin	ce [4	] District	[5] Villa	age	[6] Distance (km)
	a[]	Vietnam								
	b[ ]	Thailand								
	c[ ]	Location 1								
	L Jb	Location 2								
		Location 2							-	
	e	Location 3								
	f	Location 4								

g[]

Location 5

						ID Code	_!!	! !!	_
426 [a] Do	you sell DU	JCKS at the	market or outside of your v	illage?	1[_] Ye	es 0[_] No	If NO, skip to	A28	
តើរ	អ្នកយក <b>ទា</b> ខ	ទាលក់នៅផ្សារ	ឬ នៅក្រៅភូមិរបស់អ្នក ដែរឬទេ	1?					
[b] How many times since the Khmer New Year did you sell ducks?				[c] Do	you sell chickens alive	, prepared or both?	?		
តើអ្នកលក់ បានប៉ុន្មានដងហើយ គិតចាប់តាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?			តើ	លក់បែបណា? រស់. ធ្វើហើយ	រ ឬ ទាំង២យ៉ាង?				
	L	times s	since Khmer New Year		1[]	Only live 2[] C	only prepared	3[_] Both	
		ចនួនវ	លកគតចាបតាងពបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំ	ខ្ទរមក	លក់	តែរស់ លក់រំ	តៃធ្វើហើយ	ទាំង២យ៉ាង	
A27 During	g the last 2	months, who	ere did you sell your ducks	[market and anyw	where else ouside t	he village]?			
0 180	ងក្រោយនេះ	តេអ្នកមានលក	ទ <b>ទា</b> ទោកន្លេងណាខ្លះ? ( អាចជា	ផ្សារ ឬ កន្លែងដទៃប្រេ	ព្រាំភូមិ)	(សូមគូសកន្លែងលក់ [a]	l, [b], [c] ហើយបំរ	ពញូពត៌មានក្នុង [1], [2], [3] )	
		1	[1] If Market, Name:	[2] Quantity	[3] Province	[4] District	[5] Village	[6] Distance (km)	-
	a	Vietnam	1				[o] vindge		
	b[_]	Thailand	1						
	c	Location 1							1
	d[ ]	Location 2							
	e[]	Location 3	3						
	f[]	Location 4							
		Location 5							
128 In cel		u ever sell th	e whole flock together?	enero	א נפנובטני נדופס נ				
120 m goi	ioral, de je		e mille neer tegether :	មាំទីខេ	ក សេត្តរាបរា មាងមាត	លេពទ្រុង ដេរឬទេ ក្នុង១៤៤	יפחו?		
129 How	long usually	y is your husb	pandry for before you sell of	ut the flock?	តើអ្នកចិញ្ចឹម មាន់	ទា រយៈពេលប៉ុន្មានខែទើបប	ានលក់ចេញម្តង?	months	
430 Do yo	ou sell poult	try viscera?	តើអ្នកព	រក់ ត្រឿងក្នុងមាន់ទា	ដែរឬទេ?			1[] Yes 0[] No	
431 Do yo	ou sell poult	try feathers?	តើអ្នកព	រក់ ស្លាប ឬ រោម មា	ន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?			1[]Yes 0[]No	
432 Do yo	ou sell poult	try's eggs ?	តើអកព	រក់ ពងមាន់ ប ពងទា	ដែរបទេ?	1[ ] Yes	0[ 1 No	If NO. Go to Q# A33	-
32a	Do you wa	ash them befo	ore selling ?	1[]	Always wash	2[] Sometimes	0[] Never		
	កើអ្នកមានព	ហាងសំអាត ពងរ	មាន់ ឬ ពងទា ដែរឬទេមុននឹងលា	ń?	លាងរាល់ដង	លាងម្តងម្កាល	មិនដែល	លាងសោះ	
oultry tra	nsport pra	ctices	ការដឹកជញ្ជូនមាន់ទា					State States	
n now g	oing to as	sk you some	e questions about your	poultry transp	oorting practices.	ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្	ទោក់ទងនឹងការដឹកជញ្	ា្ធនមាន់ទារបស់អ្នក	
433 Do yo	ou transport	t poultry by ve	ehicle to trade ? តើអ្នកម	ពនដឹកជញ្ជូន មាន់ ឬ	ទា យកទៅលក់ ដែរឬប	g? 1∐Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q# B1	
134	[a] Chicke	ns ដឹកជា	ពាន មាន់? 1[]Yes	0[ ] No		[b] Ducks ដឹកជំពាន	s 91? 1∐	Yes 0∐No	
125	IA/h at the se	af achiele de	ч — 		J~~man	τ <sup>ο</sup> υ.	(នំហើមមោនមាន។	สือ คำมาอน้ำก็ไห	
100	what type	or venicle do	you use ? ពេអ្នករ	ប្រយាជនទង្វលោបប	ពីក្រុង		Concentracian		
	a[] B	Bicycle ñ	법 c[] Own	n car ឡានផ្ទាល់	ខ្លួ	e	Other (specify)	/)	
	b[] N	lotorbike ម្អ៊ី	ត្ d[] Tax	រ ទ្យានឈ្នួល	i If Taxi, Go to Q	#A37	ផ្សេងទៀត		
136	How often	do you wash	your vehicle after trade ?		1[]	Everytime 2	Sometimes	0[] Never	
	តើអ្នកមានព	ហងសំអាតយាន	ជំនិះរបស់អ្នក រាល់ដង ដែរឬទេទេ	ពលត្រលប់ពីលក់វិញ។	?	លាងរាល់ដង	លាងម្តងម្ភាល	មិនដែលលាងសោះ	
137	What is the	e longest dist	ance to your trade destinat	ion ?	 ۲.۰	kilomerters			
100	តេចងាយផ្លូវ	វឆ្ងាយជាងគេ ដែ	លៃអ្នកដកមានទាទៅលក មានច	ងាយបុន្មានឥឡូមេត្រ	ពធ្វះរបសអ្នក?		ucko l		
438	How many	birds can yo	u carry on your vehicle?	a Ch	ickens	U U	100KS [		
_	តេអ្នកអាចផ្ទុ	កមានទាបានបុន្	ន្ទនក្បាលក្នុងពេលដក១លេក១?	ចម្ល	នេមាន	e	ក្នុងថា		
439 Do yo	u use cage	s to transport	t birds? តើអ្នកមានប្រើប្រ	ទ្រុង ឬទេក្នុងពេលដឹក	ជញ្ជូន? ា	]Yes 2[_]No		If No Go to Q# B1	
140 Ho	w often do	you use cage	es to transport birds?	1[_	] Everytime	2[] Sometimes	0 Nev	19	
តើ	អ្នកមានប្រើប្រ	ទុង រាល់ដង ឬទ	ទ ក្នុងពេលដឹកជញ្ចូនមាន់ទា?		រាល់ដង	ម្តងម្កាល	Other (specify)	WPU FFU 10	
+41	Wha	t are they ma	ade of?	ו_ Wood	b Plastic	ເບັນເບ.	ថេមេទៅត	(ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន)	
140	តើទ្រុ	ងដែលអ្នកប្រើព	សរាបដកជញ្ចូន ធ្វេអពអ្វ?	1100	W1	11 1 Yes	0[]No		
142	Do y	ou stack cag	es on your vehicle?	nàmentoria					
142	តេអ្ន	ក ដាកទ្រុងត្រូត	លេគ្នា ដេរឬទេនោពេលអ្នកដកម	nsenenon?	202	1[]]Yes	0[ ] No		
140	Do y	ou have a tra	iy to catch faecal matter un	derneath each ca	ige :				
144	តេអ្នា	n មានដាក់ខ្មប់កំ	ណៅអ្ន លោបព្រជាបាមកាលពូណេ	each time you tra	nsport birds?	1[]Yes	0[_] No		
	Do y	ou clean cage	es used for transport alter ( តេទ្យេអ្នកពាំដង ដែរប្រទេ ពេលគេ	លប់ពីលក់វិ៣?					
	ហង្ក	ាចារបារបារា		~					

ECTION	B. QUESTIONS ABOUT FIGHTING COCK OWNERSHIP (Head of the family only) សំនូវទាក់ទងនឹងកាវចិញ្ចឹម មាន់ដល់
'm now g	going to ask you some questions about your fighting cocks. ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្តទាក់ទងនឹងការចិញ្ចឹម មាន់ជល់ របស់អ្នក
B1 How B2 Did y តើអ្ន	many fighting cocks do you have at home? តើអ្នកមានចិញ្ចឹមមាន់ជល់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល? II <b>If 0, Go to Q#C1</b> you buy any new fighting cocks within the last 2 months? 1[] Yes 0[] No <b>If NO, Go to Q#B5</b> កមានទិញមាន់ជល់ថ្មីទៀតទេ ក្នុងរយៈពេល ២ខែ ចុងក្រោយនេះ?
B3	How many did you buy? តើអ្នកទិញមាន់ជល់ថ្មីប៉ុន្មានក្បាលថែមទៀត?
B4	Where did you buy them from? តើអ្នកទិញមាន់ជល់ថ្មីមកពីកន្លែងណាខ្លះ? [day / month/ year] ថ្ងៃ ខែ ឆ្នាំ
	a[] Vietnam       [b] When did you buy?       /_/         c[] Thailand       [d] When?       /_/         e[] Home village       [f] When?       /_/
	g[] Other1 (Village/District/Province) [h] When?/
	i [_] Other2 (Village/District/Province) [j] When?/ /
	k[]         Other3 (Village/District/Province)         [I]         When?         /
	m[] Other4 (Village/District/Province)         [n] When?         //
Br	where did you sell them?
B8 Hay	re any of your fighting cocks been sick since the Khmer New Year? 1[] Yes 0[] No If NO, Go to Q# B12
តើ	រាន់ជល់របស់អ្នក មានឈឺខ្លះទេ គិតចាប់តាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?
B9 B10	What were the symptoms តើមាន់ជល់ដែលឈឺ ចេញរោគសញ្ហាអ្វីខ្លះ? How many sick fighting cocks died since the Khmer New Year? II ក្នុងចំណោមមាន់ជល់ដែលឈឺ តើមានប៉ុន្មានក្បាលងាប់ គិតចាប់លតាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក? ចំនួនមាន់ជល់ដែលឈីងាប់
B11	What do you do with dead cocks? តើអ្នកយកមាន់ជល់ដែលឈឹងាប់ទៅធ្វើអ្វី? <mark>(ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)</mark> a[] Eat b[] Sell c[] Bury d[] Burn e[] Other (specify) ធ្វើហូប លក់ កប់ចោល ដុតចោល ផ្សេងទៀត
B12 Wh	ere do you keep your fighting cock? 1[] In house 2[] Under house 3[] In yard 4[] Other places
	តើអ្នកចិញ្ចឹមមាន់ជល់ដាក់នៅកន្លែងណា? ក្នុងផ្ទះ ក្រោម ផ្ទះ ក្នុងទីធ្លាផ្ទះ កន្លែងផ្សេងទៀត
B13	Are they kept separately from other poultry at home? តើអ្នកដាក់មាន់ជល់ ដាច់ដោយឡែកពី មាន់ទា ដទៃដៃរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No
B14 Do	you attend cock fighting events? តើអ្នក លេងជល់មាន់ ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No <b>If NO, Go to Q# C1</b>
B15	How many times a week do you attend a cock fight? តើអ្នក លេងជល់មាន់ ប៉ុន្មានដងក្នុង១អាទិត្យ? l  Times per week 0[] less than once a week
B16 B17	How many different fighting rings cockpits do your cocks fight during the last two months? ក្នុងរយៈពេល ២ខែ ចុងក្រោយនេះ តើអ្នកយកមាន់ទៅជល់នៅប៉ុន្នានសង្ឃេន?

	. QUESTIONS TO HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS សំពូរសំរាប់ សមាជិកគ្រួស	រារ ទំខេរ			
oultry mor	tality reporting ការផ្តល់ដំណឹងអំពី សត្វមាន់ទាងាប់				
m now go	ing to ask you some questions about poultry mortality.	ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្តទាក់ទង	ទើងការផ្តល់ដំព	ហឹងអំពី មាន់ទាងាប់	
C1 Have តើ មា	you experience poultry mortality in the since the Khmer New year? ន់ទា របស់អ្នក មានងាប់ខ្លះទេ <b>តិតចាប់លតាំងពីបុណ្យចូលអ្នាំខ្មែរមក</b> ?	1∐ Yes	0[_] No	If NO	D, Go to Q# C7
	What is the total number of birds raised since the Khmer New Year? (the sub	ject may need so	me time to t	hink about their ar	nswer)
C2T	តេមាន <b>ចនួនមាន សរុប</b> ដែលបានចញ្ចម ទាំងអស់បុន្មានក្បាល ចាប់ពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	a[]	Chickens	ចំនួនមាន់ សរុប	
C3T	តើមាន <b>ចំនួនទា សរុប</b> ដែលបានចិញ្ចឹម ទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល ចាប់ពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	b[]	Ducks	ចំនួនទា សរុប	
C4T	តើមាន <b>ចំនួនមេមាន់ សរុប</b> ដែលបានចិញ្ចិម ទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល ចាប់ពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	c[]	Hens	ចំនួនមេមាន់ សរុប	II
	Of those, how many of each species were sick from illness since the Khmer N	ew Year?			
C2S	តើមាន <b>មាន់ ដែលឈឺ</b> សរុបទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	a[]	Chickens	ចំនួនមាន់ ឈឺ	
C3S	តើមាន <b>ទា ដែលឈឺ</b> សរុបទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	b[_]	Ducks	ចំនួនទា ឈឺ	<u> </u>
C4S	តើមាន <b>មេមាន់ ដែលឈឺ</b> សរុបអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	c[]	Hens	ចំនួនមេមាន់ ឈឺ	
010	Of those that were sick from illness, how many died from illness since the Khr	ner New Year?			
C2	តើមាន <b>មាន់ងាប់ ដោយជំងឺ</b> អស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	a[_]	Chickens	ចំនួនមាន់ងាប់	
C3	តើមាន <b>ទាងាប់ ដោយជំងឺ</b> អស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	b[]	Ducks	ចំនួនទាងាប់	
C4	តើមាន <b>មេមាន់ងាប់ ដោយជំងឺ</b> អស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	c[_]	Hens	ចំនួនមេមាន់ងាប់	
C5 Did y	rou report poultry's mortality ? 1[] Yes 0[_	] No If NO, O	Go to Q# C7		
	តើ អ្នកបានរាយការណ៍ប្រាប់អ្នកណា ដែរឬទេ អំពី មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ដែលងាប់ ?				
C6	To whom do you report? តើ អ្នកបានរាយការណ៍ប្រាប់ទៅអ្នកណាខ្លះ?		(ចំរើ	បីយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំ	អានចំលើយ)
	a[] Village chief ប្រធានភូមិ		d[] D	istrict vet staff	ពេទ្យសត្វស្រុក
	b[] Village health staff / Health center ពេទ្យភូមិ ឬ នៅមណ្ឌលសុខភាព		e[] P	rovincial vet staff	ពេទ្យសត្វខេត្ត
	c[] Village animal health worker / Vet staff ពេទ្យសត្វស្ម័គ្រចិត្តតាមភូមិ ឬ ពេទ្យ	សត្វភូមិ	f[] C	other (specify)	ផ្សងទៀត
C7 If the	are is poultry mortality, what would make you report poultry mortality?		(ចំពើ	បីយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំ	អានចំលើយ)
	ເສຍອາແລະລະລະ ລະພະເຈລີ ເລຍອີລະບີດແຮງ ເປັດແຮ້ອິເພຣແຜ່ນແຮງແມ້ນໍ້ຄື ເມຣິດ ແ	ស់អត ដែលងាប់ ?			
	ាមដល់សារណ៍ដោយដែន មានបានក្នុងដែនមិនដែរ ដែលស្នើឲ្យស្នាសារណ៍ដោះ ទោះ ។ Miter ។ Miter ។ Miter ។ Miter ។ Miter ។ Miter	ale fleek die			
	a[] Sudden death cvvr មាន់ទា ងាប់រហ័សពេក មា	iole llock die ន់ទា ទាំងហ្វូងងាប់អ	ស់រលីង		•
	b( ) Half of flock die d[ ] Oti	her:			
	មាន់ទា ងាបអស់ពាក់កណ្ដាលហ្វូង ផ្ដែ	រុងទៀត			
C8 If the	ere is a wild bird death, would you report it? 1[] Yes 0[] No				
ប្រសិ	នបើអ្នកជួបប្រទះ សត្វស្លាបព្រៃដែលងាប់ តើអ្នកនឹងទៅរាយការណ៍ ដែរឬទេ ?				

ractices	when	mortality occurred ការអនុវត្តនៅពេលមាន មាន់ទាងាប់			A CARLES CARD
C9 If you	u enco	ounter poultry mortality in your flocks, what do you do with dead poultry?			
ទៅផ	ាលដេ	វមាន មានទាងាបក្នុងផ្ទះរបសអ្នក តើអ្នកយក មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ដែលងាប់ ទៅធ្វើអ្វីខ្លះ?		(សូមអានចំ	លើយ)
	[a]	Bin បោះចោលនៅធុងសំរាម 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[b]	Bury ກິນໍເຫັນ 1[]Yes 0[]No	lf	no, skip to d	
		[c] Can you point out where you buried them? [Check <b>Yes</b> only when they can show you when t	nere they burie	d poultry]1[_] Ye	s 0[] No
	5-13	មួមបង្ហាញការដ្ឋបាលសក្សកំបានកប់ [ តួស YES នៅពេលណាដែលគេអាចបង្ហាញកន្លែងកប់ ]			
	[a]	Burn ມຸຄິເຫັດ 1[] Yes 0[] No	lf	no, skip to f	
		សូមបង្ហាញកន្លែងដែលអ្នកបានដុត [ តួស YES នៅពេលណាដែលគេអាចបងាពាកនែងដត]	here they burn	ed poulti 1[_] Ye	s 0[]No
	[f]	Feed other animals ពោះអោយសត្វផ្សេងស៊ី 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[g]	Prepare for selling ធ្វើលក់ 1[]Yes 0[] No	If ,	no skin to i	
		[h] Where did you sell? តើអក ហេតទៅលក់ ទៅឯណា? (Village Commune District Prov	inco)	no, skip to t	
	[1]	Prepare for food การหระหิจระรับการและเป็น 11 1 Ves OF 1 No	ince)		
	61				
	IJ		ITI	no, skip to l	
		[K] Where did you sell? តេអ្នក យកទោលក នោជាលោ? (Village, Commune, District, Prov	ince)		
	[1]	Give away to neighbor ឱ្យទៅអ្នកជតខាង 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[m]	Throw into water sources បោះចោលទៅក្នុងទឹក 1 Yes 0 No			
	[n]	Throw away ត្រវែងចោល 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[0]	Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត			
C10 What still	at do y ពេលដែ	ou do <u>if/when</u> you have <b>sick poultry</b> in your flocks ? លអាន អាន់ទាលពី កុងជុះរបស់អក តើអកុយក មាន់ទា របស់អក ដែលលើ ទៅធើអីខះ?	(8	าหมาดช่ณาีกา	
Wo	uld yo	nu:			
[a]	Qua	rantine separately from other in the flocks? ដាក់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ដាច់ដោយឡែកពី មាន់ទាង់ទៃទៀត	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[b]	Slau	ighter for selling? សំលាប់យកសាច់លក់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	lf no, skip to e
		[c] Where did you sell? តើអ្នកយកទៅលក់នៅឯណា? (village, commune, district, Province	)		
		[d] Did you use a middleman? តើអ្នកមានលក់ទៅឱ្យឈ្មេញដើរទិញមាន់ទាដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[e]	Slau	ighter for food? សំលាប់យកសាច់ធ្វើម្ហូប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
ព្រ	Give	e to neighbors for consumption? ខ្លាំទៅអកជិតខាងយកទៅធើមប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[0]	Soll	alive? ່ດເຮັດລິຟາຣາ	1[] Yes	0[_] No	lf no, skip to
[9]	oon	(b) Whore did you sell? Friserseric dust stellarm? (village, commune, district, Province	.)		<u></u>
			1[ ] Yes	0[_] No	
		[] Did you use a middleman វោងក្មាងលោកភាពស្រីណីហិកានសាលាភ្លាន៖	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	
[]	Do r	iothing? មិនបានធ្វើអ្វីទាំងអស់			
[k]	Othe	er (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត			

ា1 What do you do with <b>remaining poultry that survived</b> in the flock ? តើអ្នកយក មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ដែលនៅសល់ពីឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ ទៅធ្វើអ្វីខ្លះ?			
Would you:	េល្ហ	ษุมเมอเเยอ)	
[a] Quarantine separately from other in the flocks? ដាក់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ដាច់ដោយឡែកពី មាន់ទាដ៏ទៃទៀត	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[b] Slaughter for selling? សំលាប់យកសាច់លក់	1[_] Yes	0[ ] No	lf no, skip to
[c] Where did you sell? តើអ្នកយកទៅលក់នៅឯណា? (village, commune, district, Province)			e
[d] Did you use a middleman? តើអ្នកមានលក់ទៅឱ្យឈ្មួញដើរទិញមាន់ទាដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[e] Slaughter for food? សំលាប់យកសាច់ធ្វើម្ហូប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
ក្រា Give to neighbors for consumption? ឱ្យទៅអ្នកជិតខាងយកទៅធ្វើម្ហូប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[g] Sell alive? លាក់ទាំងរស់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	lf no, skip to j
[h] Where did you sell? តើអ្នកយកទៅលក់នៅឯណា? (village, commune, district, Province)			
[i] Did you use a middleman? តើអ្នកមានលក់ទៅឱ្យឈ្មួញដើរទិញមាន់ទាដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
្យ Do nothing? មិនបានធ្វើអ្វីទាំងអស់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[k] Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត			
nowledge and attitude ចំណេះដឹង និង ឥរិយាបទ		and the second	Res 18-1
C12 Do you think it's important to report poultry mortality? 1[] Yes If YES, Go	to Q# C12b		
តើអ្នកគិតថាការរាយការណ៍ អំពី មាន់ទា ងាប់ មានសារៈសំខាន់ដែរឬទេ? 0[] No If NO, Go te	o <b>Q#</b> C12a		
9[] Don't know If DK, Go to	o Q# C13		
C12a <mark>If NO,</mark> Why is it not important? ហេតុអ្វីបានជាអ្នកគិតថាការរាយការណ៍ អំពី មាន់ទា ងាប់ <u>មិនមាន</u> សារៈសំខាន់?	(ចំលើយអាច	មានច្រើន, កុំអានចំ	លើយ)
a[] No help from vet staff or authorities ព្រោះមិនមានជំនួយពីពេទ្យសត្វ ឬ អាជា្ញធរ	d[] Don't kno	w ชิธอีน	
b[] Too few death ព្រោះមាន់ទាងាប់តិចតូច	e[] Other (sp	ecify) ផ្សេងរ	ទ្យំត
c[] Poultry are not important (like pigs or cattles) ព្រោះមាន់ទាមិនសំខាន់ដូចសត្វពោក្របីទេ			
C12b <b>If YES,</b> Why is it important? ហេតុអ្វីបានជាអ្នកគិតថាការរាយការណ៍ អំពី មាន់ទា ងាប់ <u>មាន សារះសំខាន</u> ់?	(ចំលើយអាច	មានច្រើន, កុំអានច់	រំលើយ)
a[] It could be Al ព្រោះអាចមានជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី	c[] Don't kno	ow ชิธธิ์น	
b[] We can have advices from VAHWs ព្រោះគិតថាអាចទទួលបានការណែនាំពីបុគ្គលិតពេទ្យសត្វ	d[] Other (sp	pecify) ផ្សេង	ទ្យត
C13 If you report mortality, what do you expect in return? បើអ្នករាយការណ៍ តើអ្នកចង់បានអ្វីខ្លះត្រលប់មកវិញ?			
C13a And from whom? តើអកចង់បានពីអកណា?			
C14 What do you think discourages villagers to report poultry mortality?			
តាមយោបល់របស់អ្នក តើអ្វីខ្លះដែលធ្វើឱ្យអ្នកភូមិមិនចង់ទៅរាយការណ៍ អំពីមាន់ទាដែលងាប់?	(ចលេយអាច	មានច្រេង, កុអាង am to report	
a[] Fear of poultry culling c[] Fear of panic in the village e[] Don't kn	ow where/to wh ទាប្រាប់អ្នកណា, នេ	ៅទីណា	
ខ្លាចតែមកសលាបមានទារបស់ពួកគេអល់ ខ្លាចធ្វើរៀមនៅកំពោយ ច្រូវទីស្រីទីទោះអង្គរក្លាំ dr. 1. Dop't know f[] Poultry :	are not importar	t like cattle	
b Problems with selling לך בסור אומי – שרמילידאל מינט ארא פון ארא ארא שרא שרא ארא שרא שרא שרא שרא שרא	ាសត្វតូចតាច មិនសំ	ខាន់ដូចតោ ក្របីទ	9
្តាំបែរបារមេនាមារបបរាន art 1 Other2 (coocify) ដែងដែលពីពី			
C15 What do you thick would belo encourage farmers to report poultry's mortality ?			
តាមយោបល់របស់អ្នក តើអ្វីខ្លះដែលអាចជួយលើកទឹកចិត្តអ្នកភូមិឱ្យ ទៅរាយការណ៍ អំពីមាន់ទាដែលងាប់?	(ចំលើយអាច	មោនច្រើន, កុំអាន	ចំលើយ)
a[] Awareness / education on the risk of Al d[] Incentive	g [	្រ Ask them to សើរសំឱវតាម	ទៅរាយការណ៍
ការអប់រំអំពីគ្រោះថ្នាក់បណ្តាលមកពីជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ការផ្តល់ជារង្វានដលអ្នកទោរាយការណ៍	ice h	[] Other (spe	cify)
<ul> <li>b[] Help from authorities (drug, food, training)</li> <li>e[] Buying sick or dead pound at lower provide a down of the second pound at lower provide a down of the second pound at lower provide at lower prov</li></ul>	ថោក១	ផ្សេងទៀត	
c[] Compensation in case of culling f[] Don't know			
មានជាសំណងក្នុងករណីសំលាប់មាន់ទា មិនដឹង			

For the way think out a site of the second state of the second sta	ID Code
C16 what do you think authorities would do if you reported mortality in your flocks? តើគិតថាអាជាធរករធើអីខ៖ ទៅពេលដែលអ្នក ទៅរាយការលាំ អំពីអាច់ការដែលមករំទ	
C17 If your poultry were culled, what do you expect?	
ក្នុងករណី មាន់ទារបស់អ្នកត្រូវសំលាប់ តើអ្នកគិតចង់បានអ្វីខ្លះជាសំណងត្រលប់មកវិញ?	(สิบมีพบตรชาวเพื่อ สำหาวรับมีคร
a[] Replace poultry សងជា មាន់ទា មកវិញ c[] Don't know ផ្ទៃអ្នង	
b Money back សងជា លយ អកវិញ d[] Nothing និទ្យាប់អា	eเล่า เล่า เล่า เล่า เล่า เล่า เล่า เล่า
	នអូទាងអស
C18 Do you attend cock fighting events? តែអ្នកទៅលេង ឬ មើលដល់មាន់ដែរឬទេ?	1∐ Yes 0∐ No
តើអ្នកមើលថែទាំ សំអាតមាន់ជល់ ( ឬ ជួយមើលថែទាំមាន់ជល់) ដែរបទេ?	1∐ Yes 0∐ No I <b>f NO, Go to Q#</b> C21
C19a How many days per week you take care of your cocks?	
រោកការចាប់ការបានការបានប្រកាស់ និងការបានប្រកាស់ និងការបានប្រកាស់ និងការបានប្រកាស់ និងការបានប្រកាស់ និងការបានប្រក	00 បុន្មានច្ចេ ក្នុង១អាទត្យ?                                 times per week
C19b Do you wear gloves or masks when caring your cocks? 1[] Alv	ways 2 Sometimes 0 Never
តេអ្នកមានពាក់ស្រោមដេ ឬ មាស ដេរឬទេ នៅពេលដេលអ្នកមេលថៃទាំ សំអាតមាន់ដល់? ពា	ក់ជានិច្ច ពាក់ម្តងម្ភាល មិនដែលពាក់សោះ
C20a Do you: Touch bloody cocks? តើអ្នកមានប៉ះពាល់មាន់ជល់ដែលមានហូរឈាម ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes 0[] No
C20b Blow the beak? តើអ្នកមាន ផ្លុំ ចំពុះមាន់ជល់ ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes 0[] No
C20c Kiss, Suck or lick wounds? តើអ្នកមាន បឹតរបួសមាន់ដល់ ដៃរឬទេ ?	1[_] Yes 0[_] No
C20d Share water from the same bottle used for drinking or spraying? តើអ្នកមាន ព្	ប្រីទឹករូមជាមួយមាន់ជល់ ដែរឬទេ ?    1[_] Yes   0[_] No
C20e Clean the trachea by swab or feather? តើអ្នកមាន សំអាតបំពង់ក មាន់ជល់ ដោយ	យកសំឡី ឬ ស្លាបត្បាល់ ដែរឬទេ ?    1[_] Yes   0[_] No
C20f Clean feathers? តើអ្នកមាន សំអាតស្លាប និង រោម ឱ្យមាន់ជល់ ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes 0[_] No
Practices ការអនុវត្ត	
l'm now going to ask you some questions about your daily life. ខ្ញុំស្នមសួរ	បន្តទាក់ទងនឹង ជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃរបស់អ្នក
C21 Do you touch sick or dead poultry with bare hands ? តើអក ប៉ះពាល់ មាន់ទាឈឺ ប ង	ាប់ ដោយដៃទទេ ដែរបទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No
C22 Do children in your household play (touch and catch) with poultry?	1[] Yes 0[] No 9[]DK
តើក្មេងៗនៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក មានប៉ះពាល់ ឬ លេង ជាមួយមាន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?	
C23 Do your children swim in ducks ponds ? តើកូនរបស់អ្នក ទៅមុជ ហែលទឹកលេង ក្នុងស្រះដែ	លមានទាចុះ ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No 9[]DK
C23a Do you swim or fish in water (ponds) where poultry have access?	1[] Yes 0[] No 9[]DK
តើអក មជទឹក ប លេងទឹក ប បាចរកត្រី កងទឹក (ខ្ម. ស្រះ. ត្រពាំង ឬ បឹង) ដែលមានទាចុះ ដែរឬទេ?	
C24 Do you take dead chicken or poultry from yard for food ? តើអ្នកមានរើសយក មាន់ទារ	ដែលងាប់ យកមកធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ? 1∐ Yes 0∐ No
C24a Do you remove feathers from sick poultry? តើអក បោចរោម មាន់ទាដែ	លឈី (ធើម្មប) ដែរឬទេ? ា∐ Yes 0∐ No
C25 Do you take doad wild birds from field for food? เส็นธุญญัญชาต ญละไต้ใต้เรียงหารกา	វាល យកមកធើមប ដែរបទេ? 1 Yes 0 No
	۳ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲
ozo bo you eat wild birds? តែអ្នកប្បូបសាចលត្វស្លាប់ ព្រៃ ដោយទេ?	រនៅដ្ឋារជ័យផ្ទេ? 1[]Yes 0[]No
C27 In your family, are you responsible for going to the market (buying food)?	
C27a Have you ever bought poultry from the market for food ? តើអ្នកមានទញមានទាពផ្សា	

				ode []]			_
28 Do you c តើអ្នក ធ្វើមូ	ook or help in cooking poultry for y រូប ឬ ជួយធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ?	our family ?	1[] Everyday រាល់ថ្ងៃ	2[_] Sometimes ម្តងម្កាល	0[_] Neve មិនដែល	r វសោះ	
29 Do you:	Boil birds?	តើអ្នក ស្ងោរចំអិនមាន់ទា ខែ	ដរឬទេ?		1[]Yes	0[ ] No	
Эа	Slaughter/ bleed birds?	តើអ្នក អារក សំលាប់ មាន់	ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[]Yes	0[ ] No	
Эb	Cut meat?	តើអ្នក កាប់,ហាន់ សាច់មារ	ន់ សាច់ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[]Yes	0[ ] No	
9c	Wash meat?	តើអ្នក លាង សាច់មាន់ សា	ច់ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[] Yes	0[ ] No	
€	Remove internal organs from bi	rds៍ តើអ្នក វះយកត្រឿងក្នុង ម	ពន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[] Yes	0[_] No	
Эе	Wash internal organs?	តើអ្នក លាង គ្រឿងក្នុង មា	ាន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[] Yes	0[_] No	
f Do you e	at raw or half cooked <b>chicken</b> eggs (e	ggs with runny yokes)?	តើអ្នក ហូប ឬ ហុត [	<u>ាងមាន់</u> ឆៅ ឬ ចំអិន នេ	ដែរព្នៅ ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No
}g Do you e	at raw chicken meat? តើអ្នក ហូប	ម្ហូបដែលធ្វើពី <u>សាច់មាន់</u> ឆៅ ដែរ	រឬទេ ?			1[] Yes	0[_] No
n Do you e	at <b>chicken</b> meat that is pink in color (	nas "pink spots")?	តើអ្នក ហូប <u>សាច់មា</u> រ	<u>ន់</u> ដែលចំអិន នៅឆៅ ក្រ	ហេមដុំ១ ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No
Do you e	at raw or half cooked <b>duck</b> eggs (egg	s with runny yokes)?	តើអ្នក ហូប ឬ ហុត រួ	<u>ាងទា</u> ឆៅ ឬ ចំអិន នៅ	វ៉រព្នៅ ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No
Do you e	eat raw <b>duck</b> meat? តើអ្នក ហូប	ម្ហូបដែលធ្វើព <u>ីសាច់ទា</u> ឆៅ ដែរឬា	ig ?			1[] Yes	0[_] No
c Do you e	eat <b>duck</b> meat that is pink in color (has	"pink spots")?	តើអ្នក ហូប <u>សាច់ទា</u>	ដែលចំអិន នៅឆៅ ក្រប	៣មដុំ១ ដែរឬទេ ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No
30 Have yo	ou ever <u>prepared</u> wild birds for food	l? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់ ធ្វើ.កាប់ សាច់	សត្វស្លាបព្រៃចំអិនធ្វើម្ហូ	រ ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
31 Do you	prepare poultry near pond, river, w	ater well?		1[]Yes 0[]	No 9[] No	pond/rever/ oper	water well
តើអ្នក ម	នេយកមាន់ទាទៅធ្វើ នៅក្បែរ ត្រពាំង ព្រែក	ទន្លេ ឬ អណ្ដូង ដែរឬទេ?			មិន	មាន ត្រពាំង ព្រែក ទ	អន្លេ ឬ អណ្ដូង
32 Do was	h poultry products directly in the w	ater source (pond/river)?		1[]Yes 0[]	No 9[] No	pond/rever	
តើអ្នក ម	នេយកមាន់ទាទៅ លាងផ្ទាល់ នៅក្នុង ត្រពាំង	ព្រក ឬ ទន្លេ ដែរឬទេ?			មិន	មាន ត្រពាំង ព្រែក ថ្	្ម ទន្លេ
33 Do you	care or help care for poultry? តើរូ	ក មានជួយមើលថែទាំ មាន់ទា រែ	ដររឺទេ?	1[_]	Yes 0∐ No	o <b>If NO, g</b>	o to Q35
3a H	ow many times a week do you clea	n your poultry cages/area	as ? តើអ្នក សំអាត ទ្រ	ទុងមាន់ទា ប៉ុន្មានដងក្នុង	១អាទិត្យ?	times per	week
34 W	hen caring for poultry: នៅពេរ	រដែលអ្នក ថែទាំ សំអាត ទ្រុងមាន	ន់ទា			0[] <1 time a we	ek
la	Do you wear plastic bags over ha	nds? តើអ្នក មានពាក់ថង់ផ្លា	ស្ទឹក ការពារនៅដៃ ដែរ	បូទេ?	1[]Yes 0[]	] No	
lb	Do you have any gloves in your h	ousehold? តើអក មានត្រេ	ភាមដៃជ័រ ដែរឬទេ នៅប្	ក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក?	1[]Yes 0[_	] No <b>If NO, G</b>	to C34d
lc	How often do wear gloves w	hen touching poultry?	1[_] Eve	ryday 2[_	] Sometimes	0[] Never	
	าโอพ อกเอา นอ พอลา ยูเองออ ก	a salvansisemnismians	ពាក់រ	ាល់ដង	ពាក់ម្នងម្នាល	មិនដែលពាក់	សោះ
Id	តេអ្នក ពាកស្រោមដេ វាលេដងដេរបូរ	our bousebold? sesse	មានតែកេសើមស័រ ក បំរំ	ង ដែរបទេ នៅកងផះ?	1[] Yes		), Go to
in the second se	Do you nave any rubber boots in	ar hosts when caring for	r poultry?	] Evervday 2[	] Sometimes	0[] Never	
re.	How oftern do you wear rub តើអក ពាក់សែកេជើងជ័រ ក វែង រាល់ដងដែ	ឬទេ នៅពេលធ្វើការសំអាតទ្រុង	មាន់ទា?	ពាក់រាល់ដង	ពាក់ម្តងម្កាល	មិនដែលពាក់	រសោះ

ID Cod

Do you have any aprons in your household?	
How oftern do you wear an aprop when caring for poulte 2	
ig เก็มก แก้มาไกมแบบ บาทิมที่มีแนน เม่นการและการ เรื่อง เราต่อง	
ចំនើងលញ្ចក់សោះ មិនដែលពាក់សោះ ចំនឹងសារ សារ សារ សារ សារ សារ សារ សារ សារ សារ	
h Do you have any masks in you household? តើអ្នក មានម៉ាស់ (របាំងមុខ) ដែរឬទេ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក? 1 Yes 0 No If NO, Go to C35	
How often do you wear face mask when caring for poultry? 1[] Everyday 2[] Sometimes 0[] Never	
តែអ្នក ពាកមាស (របាងមុខ) ការពារ រាល់ដងដែរឬទេ នៅពេលប៉ះពាល់ ថៃទាំ មាន់ទា? ពាក់រាល់ដង ពាក់ម្តងម្កាល មិនដែលពាក់សោះ	
5 Do you, personally, feed your poultry ? តើអ្នក ឱ្យចំណី មាន់ទា ដោយខ្លួនឯង ឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No <b>lf NO, Go to C36</b>	
a How many times a week do you, personally, feed poultry? តើអ្នក ឱ្យចំណី មាន់ទា ប៉ុន្មានដង ក្នុង១អាទិត្យ?    Times 0[] <1 time a week	
6 Do your poultry go in rice fields or lake ? តើមាន់ទារបស់អ្នកចេញដើររកស៊ី តាមវាលស្រែ ឬ បឹង ដែរឬទេ? 1∐ Yes 0∐ No	
7 Do you use poultry faeces for manure ? តើអ្នកប្រើលាមកមាន់ទា សំរាប់ធ្វើជី ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No	
8 Have you ever been to Vietnam ? តើអ្នក ធ្លាប់ទៅដល់ប្រទេសវៀតណាម ដែរឬទេ? 1∐ Yes 0∐ No <b>If NO, Go to C39</b>	
a How many times <u>per month</u> do you go to Vietman? តើអ្នក ទៅប៉ុន្មានដង ក្នុង១ខែ?  times per month 0[_] <1 time a month	
b Do you go there for trade (sell or buy) poultry or poultry products? អ្នក ទៅដើម្បីលក់ . ទិញ មាន់ទា តើមែនឬទេ? 1 Yes 0 No <sup>If no, g</sup>	jo to C39
c Which provinces do you go to sell/buy? អ្នក ទៅដល់ខេត្តណាខ្លះ?	
9 Have you ever been to Thailand ? តើអ្នក ធាប់ទៅដល់ប្រទេសថៃ ដែរបទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No If NO. Go to C40s	
a now many times per month do you go to Thailand? តេអ្នក ទោបុន្មានដង ក្នុង១ខេ? [] times per month 0[] <1 time a month	
b Do you go there for trade (sell or buy) poultry or poultry products? អ្នក ទៅដើម្បីលក់ . ទិញ មាន់ទា តើមែនឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No If no, g	jo to C40s
c Which provinces do you go to sell/buy? អ្នក ទៅដល់ខេត្តណាខ្លះ?	
c hygiene practices ការអនុវត្ត អនាម័យជាមូលដ្ឋាន	
s Do you have soap in your household? តើ អ្នកមានសាប៊ូ ឬទេ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក ? 1[] Yes 0[] No	
0 Do you wash your hands with soap after you touch poultry? 1[] Yes 0[] No If NO, Go to C40b	
តើអ្នក លាងដៃជាមួយសាប៊ូ ដែរឬទេ ក្រោយពេលប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទា?	
a How often? កើអក ពាង ជាមកសោរ៊ា រាព់ដងដែរបនេ? 1[] Everytime 2[] Sometimes 3[] Rarely	
b If you have no soap or run out of soap, what do you use instead of soap to wash your hand?	
បើអ្នកធានសាប៊ តើអក ប្រើអីជំនស សំរាប់លាងដៃ?	
1 Which water source do you usually use in your bousehold? គ្រើមគ យក្ខខ្មគម មក្ខខ្មគម សំពេញសំពង់ត្រង់ត្រង់ត្រង់ត្រង់ត្រង់ត្រង់ត្រង់ត្រ	
a[] Open water well c[] Ponds e[] Lake [] Other (specify)	
ទឹកអល្លងយោង ទឹកចេញ៉ង់ សេះ ទឹកបឹង ផេរងទៅត	
b[] Water well with pump d[] Water tap f[] River	
ទឹកអណងសប់ ទឹកម៉ាស៊ីន ទឹកទន្លេ	

ID Code		
---------	--	--

242 lf pond or l	ake or river does, poultry h ង ប ទទេ តើ មាន មាន់ទា ចុះទៅក	as access to those wate ងទឹកនោះដែរបនេ?	er sources as well?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't Know
ប ត្រពោង ប	er source do you used to b	athe?	តើអ្នក ងួតទឹកអី នៅឯណា ?			ទំលើយអាចមានកើន)
a[b[	] Open water well ទីកអណ្ដូងយោង ] Water well with pump ទីកអណ្ដូងស្នប់	c[] Ponds ទីកត្រពាំង. ស្រះ d[] Water tap ទីកម៉ាស៊ីន	e[] Lake g[_ ទឹកបីង f[] River ទីកទន្លេ	] Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត		
2b lf pond or បើ ត្រពាំង បី	lake or river, do poultry hav រឹង ឬ ទន្លេ តើ មាន មាន់ទា ចុះទៅក្ន	ve access to these wate រុងទីកនោះដែរឬទេ?	r sources?	1∐ Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't Know
owledge abou	t Al / bird flu ចំណេះដី	ងអំពី ជំងឺត្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី				
now going t	to ask you some question	ns about avian influenz	za. ខ្ញុំសូមសូរា	បន្តចាក់ទងនឹង ជំងឺត្រុនផ្ត	ាសាយបក្សី	
C43 Have you	heard of AI / bird flu? តើអ្ន	កេច្លាប់លឹអំពី ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយប	រក្សី ដែរឬទេ?     1[	]Yes 0[]No	If NO, G	Go to C47
a[] b[] c[] 441 What ក្នុងចំរោ C45 Hav C45a N	Village vet staffs ពេទ្យសត្វភូមិ Health staff / health center ពេទ្យភូមិ ឬ នៅមណ្ឌលសុខភាព Village chiefs ប្រធានភូមិ would you consider to be you ណាមប្រភពទាំងនោះ តើប្រភពមួយ ve you taught your children What have you taught them តើអក្យបាប់ កូន១អ្នក យ៉ាងដូចម្តេច;	d[_] Radio រិទ្យុ er e[_] Television	g[] Public poster ផ្ទាំងរូបភាពអប់រំ h[] Brochures កូនស្យេវិភៅអប់ er i [] NGO health វត្តអប់រំរបស់អង្គ nformation? (open questio មោនអំពី ផ្តាសាយបក្សិ៍ ដល់អ្នក កូន១អ្នក ឬ ក្មេង១ អំពីជំងឺគ្រុនផ្គ	តាមភូមិ ថ្លៃច១ education sessions ការនានា on) បានច្រើនជាងគេ ? កសាយបក្សី ដែរឬទេ?	j∐ Som សមា k∐ Othe ផ្សេង 1∐Yes	neone in the family ជិតគ្រួសារ er (specify) រទៀត  0_ No If NO, Go to C46
C46 In your o	own words, what is bird flu ? a[] Poultry disease ជាជំងឺមាន់ ទា b[] Can kill poultry หาธุសំលាប់ មាន់ ទា	ា តាមយោបល់របស់អ្នក ថ (duck/chicken) c∐ d∐ បាន	តើ ជំងឺត្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ជាអ្វី? Human disease el ជាជំងឺមនុស្ស Can kill human f អាចសំលាប់ មនុស្ស បាន	_] Pig disease ជាជំងឺជ្រូក _] Wild bird disea ជាជំងឺសត្វស្លាបព្រៃ	<b>(ចំលើយអាចម</b> g[_] ( ase h[_] ( n	<b>រានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ</b> ) Can be transmitted to humar អាចឆ្លងមកមនុស្សបាន Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត
C47 Could yo តើអ្នកគិត។ :48 Do you t	ou tell if your flock were infe ថា មាន់ទារបស់អ្នក ធ្លាប់មានឆ្លងជំងឺ think your poultry are are at	ected by Al? ក្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ពីមុនមក ដែ t risk of being infected w	1[] រប្មទេ? ith Al? 1[]	Yes 0∐No S Yes 0∐No S	Don't kno	w

a mee dickens are sick. Do you know what are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in CHICKENS? 1 [_Yes an analysis fit an analysis in a provide the set of				ID Code	
anama made if a graphinnang itan ĝignangina ma interestori (income analogo in graphinnang) itan sedigoginamunĝi itan sedigoginamungi itan sedigoginamungi itan sedigoginamungi itan sedigogi itan sedi	49 When c	hickens are sick, Do you know what	are SYN	MPTOMS that make you suspect of AI infection	n in CHICKENS2 11 1 Yes
By What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of AI Infection in CHCKENS?       9 □ Don't know If DK, Go to CS1         gf menung ägsfakuräjägtmansigne spå fakuräjägtmansigne       chiffur staturäjagtmansigne spå fakuräjägtmansigne       chiffur staturäjagtmansigne         al Sudden death (1-2 days)       1 Stop laving eggs       k □ White / cloudy / blind eygs         antittal fakuräjägtmansigne       autivitä       fightal         antittal fakuräjägtmansigne       autivitä       fightal         antittal fakuräjägtmansigne       fightal fightal fightal fightal fightal       fightal fighta	នៅពេល	មាន <u>មាន់ឈ</u> ី តើ អ្នកស្គាល់រោគសញ្ញា ដែលធ្វើឱ្យ	អ្នកសង្ស័យ	រថា <mark>មាន់</mark> ទាំងនោះ មានជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ដែរបទេ?	0[] No If NO, Go to C51
if instant in Signifacting Signifactory Signifactor	50 What a	re SYMPTOMS that make you suspe	ect of AI	infection in CHICKENS?	9[] Don't know If DK, Go to C51
a)       Sudden death (1-2 days)       (1)       Stop laying eggs       k)       White / cloudy / blind eyes         a)       Sudden death (1-2 days)       (1)       Stop laying eggs       k)       White / cloudy / blind eyes         b)       Sudden death in large number       g)       Eat less / Stop eating       (1)       Officult/Fast Breathing         d)       Motionless / Sleepiness       h)       Volet / swellen combs and wattles / head       m)       Leg weakness         a/n / thin       thinting in a strat mark in the combs and wattles / head       m)       Leg weakness       strat         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram       strat       strat         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram       strat         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       thinting in run fram         a/n / thin       thinting in run fram       th	តើ រោគវ	បញ្ហា អ្វីខ្លះដែលធ្វើឱ្យអ្នកសង្ស័យថា <u>មាន់</u> ដែលព	បីទាំងនោះ	មានជំងឺត្រនផាតរាកបក្រើ?	
attraß       kill       While / cloudy / blind eyes         attraß       ignal       ignal         gil Sudden death in large number       al Eat less / Stop eating       II Difficul/Fast Breathing         attraß       iffand       finntinitigu         attraß       attraß       finntinitigu         attraß       giffand       finntinitigu         attraß       giffand       finntinitigu         attraß       giffand       finntinitigu         attraß       giffand       finntinitigu         attraß       figstaffand       figstaffand         attraß       figstaffand       figstaffand         attraß       figstaffand       figstaffand         attraß       figstaffand       figstaffande         attraß       <	a	Sudden death (1-2 days)	f[]	Stop laving eggs	(ចំលេយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)
kulden deah in large number antinifjärtimtytägartjäartyta antinifjärtimtytägartjäartyta di Motonless / Stepeinsss       h_L Violet / svollen combs and wattles / head in m hattig antinifjärtimtytägartjäartyta antin / täh       in m hattig antinifjärtimtytägartjäartyta antinifjärtimtytägartjäärtytäärtytäärtytäärtytäärtytäärtäärtytäärtäär		ងាប់លឿន ៍ ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ី		ពញាំពង	k White / cloudy / blind eyes
antral]erdiargiagetgiagnan intradig unknjg	b[]	Sudden death in large number	9[]	Eat less / Stop eating	ភ្នែកស
c] Motionless / Sleepiness       h		ងាប់លឿនហើយក្នុងចំនួនច្រើនក្បាល		ถ้าปกป ก หร่งก็จะกั	Difficult/Fast Breathing
dim / rith	c[]	Motionless / Sleepiness	h[]	Violet / swollen combs and wattles / hand	ពបាកដកដង្ហើម
d) Seizure / Spining       i) Nextrigue unitation       gatta         gums / täfturs       gatta       n         gums / täfturs       gatta       n         gums / täfturs       gatta       n         gums / täfturs       gatta       gatta         gums / täfturs       gatta       gatta         gums / täfturs       gatta       gatta         gatta       unijäñtign-rutjtaitaa       gatta         gatta       gatta       gatta         gatta       unijäñtign-rutjtaitaa       gatta         gatta       gatta       gatta         gatta       unijäñtign-rutjtaitaa       gatta         gatta       gatta       gatta         gatta<		សំកុក / ដេក	_	ហើមយ៉ាកកាល ទឹង សិលាបង់	m [] Leg weakness
umit       / Litting       ain y unit       n         umit       / Litting       ain y unit       n         all       Bleeding          Eye / nose discharge       o  Raffled feathers         unjuänig       unjuänign/unu       unjuänign/unu       gitynu y unu         si When ducks are sick. Do you know what are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       1  Yes         si When ducks are sick. Do you know what are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       1  Yes         si Mat are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       1  Yes         si Mat are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       9  Don't know         si Mat are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       9  Don't know         si Muta are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       9  Don't know         si Muta are SYMPTOMS that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       9  Don't know         si Muta are SYMPTOMS       that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       9  Don't know         si Muta are SYMPTOMS       that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       9  Don't know       10 K, Go to C53         si Muta are SYMPTOMS       that make you suspeet of AI infection in DUCKS?       1  Diff.out/YF as the suspeet are statistic to loady / bit with suspeet are statinfigh. Suspeet are stat infight are stat infight are statistic t	d	Seizure / Spining	11	Neck Twist	ទនជេង
ell Bleeding     jiii Eye / nose discharge     oiii Raffied feathers       istiguant     iutjäntgn/rutjtaktaa     iganju inte       iutjäntgn/rutjtaktaa     iganju inte       iutouse anali istiguante     pii Other (Specify)       iutouse analistiguante     pii Other (Specify)       iutouse of All infection in DUCKS?     iutouse of All infection in DUCKS?       iutouse of All infection in DUCKS?     iutouse of All infection in DUCKS?       iutouse of All infection in analignation of All infection in		ប្រកាច់ / ដើរវិល១	-	995 11 1155	n 📋 Diarrhea
isignum	e[ ]	Bleeding	111	Eve / nose discharge	រាត
نال المسيرة المرابقة         الإلام المسيرة الحرية         الإلام المسيرة الحرية <ul> <li>الإلام المسيرة الحرية</li> <li>الإلام المسيرة الحرية</li> <li>الإلام الحرية&lt;</li></ul>		ចេញឈាម	, _		• [] Raffled feathers
Ident (speen)     Ident		~		รอุโรลแรงีแกรอุโรยรณ์ม	ជ្រុះស្លាប ឬ រោម
St When ducks are sick, Do you know what are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       1 Yes         intnature mut fit gravantineaum fit durigging the grave in a stating grave in the set of the set of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of Al Infection in DUCKS?       9 Ont know         st Must are Symptome and the Symptom and Symptom and Symptom and Symptomeset Symptomeset and Symptomeset Symptom and Symptomes					Decity)
situates and it if yraginitiation and ital interformed subsect of All infection in DUCKS?       1 Yes         situates and it if yraginitiation and ital interformed subsect of All infection in DUCKS?       0 No If NO, Go to C53         s2 What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of All infection in DUCKS?       9 Don't know       10 No If NO, Go to C53         s2 What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of All infection in DUCKS?       9 Don't know       10 No If NO, Go to C53         s2 What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of All infection in DUCKS?       10 No If NO, Go to C53       9 Don't know       10 No If NO, Go to C53         s2 What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of All infection in DUCKS?       10 No If NO, Go to C53       9 Don't know       10 No If NO, Go to C53         s2 What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of All infection in DUCKS?       10 No If NO, Go to C53       9 Don't know       10 No If NO, Go to C53         s2 What are SYMPTOMS that make you suspect of All infection in DUCKS?       10 DifficultyFast Breathing       10 DifficultyFast Breathing         al Sudden death in large number       9 Eat less / Stop eating       11 DifficultyFast Breathing       11 DifficultyFast Breathing         al Motionless / Sleepiness       h Exercite Y with an Unitating that the thing that	51 When	ducks are sick. Do you know what an	SYMP	ារដូងមៀត TOMS that make you areas to (ALL) ( ហើ	
If បាកសញ្ចា អ្វីខ្វះដែលធ្វើឱ្យអ្នកសង្ស័យជា <u>ល</u> ដែលឈឺទាំងនោះ មានដំងឺព្រុទ្ធផ្កាសាយបញ្ជី? <ul> <li>i Sudden death (1-2 days)</li> <li>f Stop laying eggs</li> <li>k White / cloudy / blind eyes</li> <li>មាប់លឿន ' ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ' លាប់លង</li> <li>i Stop laying eggs</li> <li>k White / cloudy / blind eyes</li> <li>មាប់លឿន ' ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ' លាប់លង</li> <li>i Stop laying eggs</li> <li>k White / cloudy / blind eyes</li> <li>មាប់លឿន ' ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ' លាប់លង</li> <li>i Stop laying eggs</li> <li>k White / cloudy / blind eyes</li> <li>មាប់លឿន ' ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ' លាប់លង</li> <li>i Stop laying eggs</li> <li>k White / cloudy / blind eyes</li> <li>i ស្វី ស អ្ន</li> <li>i Stop laying eggs</li> <li>k Wike / cloudy / blind eyes</li> <li>i Motionless / Sleepiness</li> <li>M Violet / swollen combs and wattles / head</li> <li>i Difficult/Fast Breathing</li> <li>i Wita / i stop / i ship i</li></ul>	52 What a	re SYMPTOMS that make you suspe	ect of AI	infection in DUCKS?	9[] Don't know If DK, Go to C53
al Sudden death (1-2 days)       f Stop laying eggs       k White / cloudy / blind eyes         autituitigs * 9 - b tig*       autituita       fgn au         bl Sudden death in large number       g Eat less / Stop eating       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitigstrüttungsteigertijtergrunt       fiotatagi ty shäljt the shäljt the shäljt tig shäljt tig       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitigstrüttungsteigertijtergrunt       fiotatagi ty shäljt the shäljt tig       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitigstrüttungsteigertijtergrunt       fiotatagi ty shäljt tig shäljt tig       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitigstrüttungsteigertijtergrunt       fiotatagi ty shäljt tig shäljt tig       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitigstrüttungsteigertijtergrunt       fiotatagi ty shäljt tig shälltig       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitigstriegertijtergrunt       full shälltigsträg       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitiergrunt       full shälltigsträg       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autituitiergrunt       full shälltigsträg       I Difficult/Fast Breathing         autitut       Neck Twist       n Difficult/Fast Breathing         autitut       full Neck Twist       n Difficult/Fast Breathing         autitut       full Shälltigsträg       full Shälltigsträg         autitut       full Shälltigsträg	តើ រោត	បញ្ហា អ្វីខ្លះដែលធ្វើឱ្យអ្នកសង្ស័យថា <u>ទា</u> ដែលឈឹ	ទាំងនោះ ម	រានជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី?	(ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន, កំអានចំលើយ)
រាប់ឈឿន * ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ * លាប់លេ វីក្អាកស b(	a[]	Sudden death (1-2 days)	f	Stop laying eggs	k [] White / cloudy / blind eyes
b()Sudden death in large number 확한다켓킹 strüturg ងចំនួន ប្រើនក្បាល ដាល់កហ្លឺ strüturg ងចំនួន ប្រើនក្បាល លៃងសូវ ឬ អត់ស៊ីចំណី លែងសូវ ឬ អត់ស៊ីចំណី លែងសូវ ឬ អត់ស៊ីចំណី លោងក្លាល និង សិរណង់ ទំនាង អា (Violet / swollen combs and wattles / head m (Leg weakness សំកុក / ដេក tហី struting និង សិរណង់ ទំនាំង សិរណង់ 		ងាប់លឿន ៍ ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ី		ឈប់ពង	ភ្នែកស
มทบัณประเทียสฎาณ       ใชปลงรับ บู สต่ญี่ชัดกี       ติฉุกสะกะปรฐิษ         cl	рП	Sudden death in large number	g [_]	Eat less / Stop eating	I Difficult/Fast Breathing
<ul> <li>c[ Motionless / Sleepiness h [] Violet / swollen combs and wattles / head m [] Leg weakness ນໍ່ຖຸກ / ដេក ເບິ້າຍນ້ຳຖຸກຜ និង សិរណង gន់ជើង</li> <li>d] Seizure / Spining i [] Neck Twist n [] Diarrhea ທ [] Diarrhea ທີ່ [] Other (Specify) ເຊິ່ງມີເຊິ່ງຄື</li> <li>3 How is Al spread among poultry / birds? ເຄີຍຊື່ມຄູເສຍຸດແມ່ນຕ່າງ ເຊິ່ງມີເຊິ່ງຄື [] Other (Specify) ເຊິ່ງມີເຊິ່ງຄື</li> <li>3 How is Al spread among poultry / birds? ເຄີຍຊື່ມຄູເຊຍຸດແມ່ນຕ່າງ ເຊິ່ງມີເຊິ່ງຄື [] Other (Specify) ເຊິ່ງມີເຊິ່ງຄື</li> <li>3 How is Al spread among poultry / birds? ເຄີຍຊື່ມຄູເຊຍຸດ ໄດ້ເຊຍ ອີດ [] Other (with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware ທີ່ ເຮົາເຫດີນຄູຍຄູຍອີດ ຄູກຳ ໃຜດເຜີ້? ຄູງກຳ ໃຜດເຜີ້? ຄູງກຳ ໃຜດເພີ້? ຄູງກຳ ໃຊ້ມີເຫດີ?</li> <li>b) Contact with infected faeces? ຄູ Don't know ທີ່ ເຮົາເຫດີມຄູຍຫຼາຍອີດ ຄູກຳ ໃຊ້ເຄດເພື້? ເຮົາເຊຍີຊື້ມີຊື່ມຊື້ມ ຊີຍຊື້ມ ຄູງກຳ ໃຊ້ເຄດເພື້? ເຮົາເຊຍີຊື້ມີເຊຍີຊີ້ມີ ຊີຍຊີ້ມີ ຄູງກຳ ໃຊ້ເຄດເພື້? ເຮົາເຊຍີຊື້ ອີດ [] Other (Specify)</li></ul>		ងាប់លឿនហើយក្នុងចំនួនច្រើនក្បាល		លែងសូវ ឬ អត់ស៊ីចំណី	ពិបាកដកដង្ហើម
<ul> <li>សំកុក / ដេក ហើមដាំក្បាល និង សិរណង់ ទង់ជើង</li> <li>d Seizure / Spining i Neck Twist n Diarrhea</li> <li>ប្រកាច់ / ដើវវិល១ ទង់ក ឬ បត់ក ភគ</li> <li>el Bleeding j Eye / nose discharge o Raffled feathers</li> <li>ចេញឈាម ហ្យើវទឹកភ្នែក/ហ្សើវសំបោរ ជ្រុំរសួល ឬ រោម</li> <li>p Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត</li> <li>3 How is AI spread among poultry / birds? តើដំងឺគ្រុនផ្លាសាយបក្សី ឆ្លងរាលដាលក្នុងចំណោម មាន់ ទា ដោយរប្បបណា? (ចំណើយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំណើយ)</li> <li>al Contact with another infected/sick birds d□ Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware មានមនុស្សមកពីក្រៅ ដោយមានដាប់ថែមរោគតាមខ្លួនចូលមក?</li> <li>b Contact with infected faeces? e□ Don't know</li> <li>ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយលាមតាមាន់ទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈឺ? មិនដឹង</li> <li>c Contact with other contaminated feed f □ Other (Specify)</li></ul>	c[]	Motionless / Sleepiness	h []	Violet / swollen combs and wattles / head	m [] Leg weakness
di Seizure / Spining       i Neck Twist       n Diarrhea         บุทาช์ / นี้มีใบๆ       93่ก ឬ บล่าก       กล         el Bleeding       j Eye / nose discharge       o Raffled feathers         เชตภูณาษ       เบๅเ๋รคีกรัฐก/เบๅiงเ้าตม       เปล่ะญาบ ឬ เกษ         p [] Other (Specify) เม่มหายาร       เช่ะเพิ่มขาบ ฐ เกษ         3 How is Al spread among poultry / birds?       เลี่นี้มีเธรฐ่างกายกระบุรีม และบบที่มี รูเล่ากอย่างเป็นการ       เช่ะเพิ่มขาบ ฐ เกษ         ail Contact with another infected/sick birds       d Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware         บ้ะแกม่งธรายร่าง ฏกา ใส่มณฑี?       ยามระสุญษาก็เก่า เกษายามะบบร์เหมาะการของเรี่งเปลา         bil Contact with infected faeces?       e Don't know         บ้ะแกม่ามระเพลายามระสุญายากฐานที่ (ส่มณฑี?       เมื่มสีสี         contact with other contaminated feed       f Other (Specify)         contact with other contaminated feed       f Other (Specify)		សំកុក / ដេក		ហើមជាំក្បាល និង សិរណង់	ទន់ជើង
บุทาธ์ / ដើវវិល១       gán ឬ บล์ก       กล         el       Bleeding       j i Eye / nose discharge       o i Raffled feathers         ชิตภูณาษ       ហៀวยึกรัฐก/เบ่างเง้ากม       หุ่ะญาบ ឬ เภษ         p i Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត       pi Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត         3 How is Al spread among poultry / birds?       เล็นชีตูธฐสางของหุ่ารู้ และการสางของหุ่ารู้ และการสางของหุ่ารู้ และการสางของหุ่ารู้ และการสางของหุ่าระดูการ         ai       Contact with another infected/sick birds       d Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware         ช้ะเกณ่ณฎษาตร้อง สาการ       ei Don't know         ช้ะเกณ่ณาะหาร่าง การ       មិនสีง         ci Contact with other contaminated feed       f Other (Specify)         ci Contact with other contaminated feed       f Other (Specify)	d[]	Seizure / Spining	i 门	Neck Twist	n [_] Diarrhea
e[] Bleeding       j [] Eye / nose discharge       o [] Raffled feathers         ចេញឈាម       ហ្សាំទឹកភ្នែក/ហ្សាំរសំបោរ       ជ្រុះស្លាប ឬ រោម         p [] Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត		ប្រកាច់ / ដើរវិល១		ទន់ក ឬ បត់ក	រាគ
ចេញឈាម ហៀវទឹកភ្នែក/ហៀវសំពោរ ជ្រុះស្លាប ឬ រោម p [] Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត 3 How is AI spread among poultry / birds? តើជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្ស៊ី ឆ្លងរាលដាលក្នុងចំណោម មាន់ ទា ដោយរបៀបណា? (ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ) a[] Contact with another infected/sick birds d[] Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware បំរះពាល់សត្វមាន់ទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈឺ? មានមនុស្សមកពីក្រៅ ដោយមានជាប់មេរោគតាមខ្លួនចូលមក? b[] Contact with infected faeces? e[] Don't know បំរះពាល់ជាមួយលាមកមាន់ទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈឺ? មិនដឹង c[] Contact with other contaminated feed f[] Other (Specify)	e[]	Bleeding	jЦ	Eye / nose discharge	o [_] Raffled feathers
P [] Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត         33 How is Al spread among poultry / birds? តើជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ឆ្លងរាលដាលក្នុងចំណោម មាន់ ទា ដោយរប្បើបណា? (ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)         a[] Contact with another infected/sick birds       d[] Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware         ប៉ះពាល់សត្វមាន់ទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈឺ?       មានមនុស្សមកពីក្រៅ ដោយមានជាប់មេរោគតាមខ្លួនចូលមក?         b[] Contact with infected faeces?       e[] Don't know         ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយលាមកមាន់ទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈឺ?       មិនដឹង         c[] Contact with other contaminated feed       f[] Other (Specify)         multiple       Contact with other contaminated feed         f[] Other (Specify)		ចេញឈាម		ហ្យេរទឹកភ្នែក/ហ្សេរសំបោរ	ជ្រុះស្លាប ឬ រោម
<ul> <li><sup>33</sup> How is Al spread among poultry / birds? เតีน้น็ตุรสุทงาบบาที่ มูนภางนำงกฎนธิ์เณาย ยาร่ 9า เน่าบาทใบณา? (ชิเณียมาชยามเซ็ม, กุ่มามชิเณียว)</li> <li>a) Contact with another infected/sick birds d) Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware บารถางชิมธุษาร่อา ฐาว่า ในจากมี?</li> <li>b) Contact with infected faeces?</li> <li>b) Contact with infected faeces?</li> <li>c) Don't know บารถางนำยุยาดายกายร่อา ฐาว่า ในจากมี?</li> <li>c) Contact with other contaminated feed</li> <li>f) Other (Specify)</li> </ul>				p 📋 Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត	
<ul> <li>a□ Contact with another infected/sick birds         <sup>1</sup> ① Contact with virius brought in by people, their clothing or footware         <sup>1</sup> ⑦ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □</li></ul>	53 How is	Al spread among poultry / birds? តើ	ជំងឺត្រុនផ្កា	សាយបក្សី ឆ្លងរាលដាលក្នុងចំណោម មាន់ ទា ដោយរបេប្រណ	n? (ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)
บ้ะตาดังธฐษาร์ รา ฐาภ ในดาณี?       ยารยรุសุเษทติเกา เป็าเป็นเยารถาบัเยเกศตายอูรธูดชุษท?         b) Contact with infected faeces?       e) Don't know         บ้ะตาดั่นำยุยนดายทุษทร่ารา ฐาภ ในดาณี?       ยิรยีน         c) Contact with other contaminated feed       f () Other (Specify)         รายน้ำอานไปอานารีในอานาร์ในอานาร์ในอานาร์ในอานาราย       เริ่นประสาร	a[]	Contact with another infected/sick b	irds	d[] Contact with virius brought in by	people, their clothing or footware
b       Contact with infected faeces?       e       Don't know         บ้ะเทเง่น้ายู่เบเงายาร์ อาการ์ ในจะเมือง       ยิธสิน         c       Contact with other contaminated feed       f       Other (Specify)         รายน้ำอาการ์ ในจะเมาะในจะเมาะสายของสายแนวที่       เรียงประเทศได้		ប៉ះពាល់សត្វមាន់ទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈឺ?		មានមនុស្សមកពីក្រៅ ដោយមានជាប់មេរ	រាគតាមខ្លួនចូលមក?
បះពាលជាមួយលាមកមានទា គ្នាវា ដែលឈ? មនដង  C Contact with other contaminated feed f [] Other (Specify)	рÜ	Contact with infected faeces?		e[] Don't know	
	c[ ]	បះពាលជាមួយលាមកមានទា គ្នាវ៉ា ដែលឈិ?	d	មនដង fll Other (Specify)	
		my ប៉ុះពាល់ ស៊ី ចំណីសតមិនសាតវ័ដលមានដ	មហាក	ដោមនៅត	

		ID Code	_		_
C54 Car C55 Ho a[_ b[_	n humans get Al? តើមនុស្សអាចឆ្លងជំងឺក្រុនផ្ដាសាល w can humans catch Al? តើជំងឺក្រុនផ្ដាសាល ] Contact with sick/dead poultry c[] Ea ការប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទាឈឺឬស្លាប់ បរិ ] Contact with poultry feces d[] Ea ការប៉ះពាល់អាចម័សត្វ បរិ	បបក្សីដែរឬទេ? 1[]Yes 0[]No 9[] Don't k បបក្សីឆ្លងមកមនុស្ស ដោយរបៀបណា? ting undercooked poultry products e[] Cor កោតមាន់ទាមិនទាន់ឆ្អិនល្អ "សាច់ ស៊ុត" ting raw poultry products (eggs / blood pudding) f [] កោតឆ្អៅ " ស៊ុត សាច់ ឈាម" g[] Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត	now <b>If No</b> ( ចំលើយអា atact with cont ការប៉ះពាល់សំរ Don't know មិនដឹង	o or Don't ki ចេមានច្រើន, កុំ aminated fa ការៈកសិដ្ឋានមា	<b>iow, skip to C56</b> <b>អានចំលើយ</b> ) irm equipment នផ្នុកមេរោគ
056 Do	o you think Bird flu can kill (is fatal for) humans?	ទី តើអ្នកតិតថា ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី អាចសំលាប់មនុស្សបាន ដែ	រប្មទេ? 1[] Ye	s 0[]No	9[_] Don't know
c57 In	Cambodia, Have there been any fatal human c	cases of Al?	1[ ] Yes	0[ 1 No	9[1] Don't know
10	a you think AI can be transmitted to HUMANS I	or កើមកតិតជា ជំងឺកេទជាសារបកើជមមកបទសា កាប		0 110	
,58 U	Eating well cooked poultry's products ?	រល់គេបាន ស៊ុក មាន់នាវិងល៍មានចំនឹនចិនទួល។	1[]Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[a]	Eating well cooked poultry's products ?	ប្រមេសថ ស៊ុន ចាន់ចារែសបានចកនង្គនស្អះ	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[b]	Eating undercooked poultry's products :	บุเบเบเซ เบุห ฮาลฮหมง ของการ เกระตุษะกว่าตุษาการ	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[C]	Eating poultry eggs from healthy chickens?	ບູບເພຍາລະເອດ ເປດເດີດກະເຮດເຮດີອກເຊ	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[d]	Eating poultry bought from market?	บุบญายุยาสยา เฉพายุบุนายากาสุมหะ	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[e]	Eating your own poultry prepared at nome?		1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	9[] Don't know
[f]	Eating poultry imported from outside Cambod	a? ប្បីបសាចមានថា ដេលនាចូលមកពេក្រា ប្រទេលកម្ពុជា?			9[ ] Don't know
[g]	Swimming in ponds?	មុជទកក្នុងស្រះ			
[h]	Touching wild birds ?	ប៉ះពាល់សត្វស្លាបព្រៃ?	1 Yes		
[1]	Eating wild birds?	ហូបសាច់សត្វស្លាបព្រៃ?	1 Yes		
[]	From other people?	ពីមនុស្សម្នាក់ ទៅ ម្នាក់ទៀត	1[] Yes		
[k]	Touching healthy poultry ?	ប៉ះពាល់សត្វមាន់ទា អត់មានជំងឺ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[]	Touching sick or dead poultry with bare hand	s? ប៉ះពាល់សត្វមាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ងាប់ ដោយដៃទទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] Don't know
[m]	Touching poultry faeces?	ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយលាមកសត្វមាន់ទា?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[n]	From sexual contact?	តាមការរួមភេទ	1[] Yes	0[] No	9[_] Don't know
[0]	Touching poultry blood?	ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយ ឈាមសត្វមាន់ទា?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[p]	Slaughtering poultry ?	សំលាប់មាន់ទាធ្វើម្ហូប?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[q]	Using the same cutting board for poultry and	food products?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
	ប្រើជ្រុញតែ១ រូម សំរាប់ សាច់មាន់ ទា និង បន្លែ សាច់ គ្រប់	មុខ ដ៏ថៃទៀត?	are hands)?		
C59	Do you think AI can be transmitted to CHILDRE	N by touching / playing with sick / dead poundy (Mar 2 moi អ លេង ជាអយ អាន់ទាដែល ឈឺ ប ងាប់ ដែរឬទេ?	1∐ Yes	0[] N	lo 9[] Don't know
C60	តេអ្នកគតថា កូនក្មេង អាចឆ្លងជងគ្រុងធ្គាសាយបក្ស ដោយ បទ Do you know any Al / Bird Flu sings and sympto តើអ្នកស្គាល់រោគសញ្ចជំងឺគ្រុនផ្កាសាយបក្សី នៅក្នុងខ្លួន <b>មនុស្</b>	oms in <u>HUMANS</u> ? 1[]Yes 0[]។ <b>្ធ ដែឬទេ</b> ?	No <b>if NO, G</b>	io to C61	
C60a	What are those signs and symptoms? a[Difficult/fast breathing ពិបាកដកដង្ហើម b[Fever គ្រេនកៅ	ប្រសិនបើដឹង, តើរោគសញ្ញាទាំងនោះមានអ្វីខ្លះ? c[] Cough e[] Sore throat ក្អក ឈឹករ d[] Muscle Ache f[] Other (Specify) ឈីសាច់ដុំ ផ្សេងទៀត	(ចំលើយអាវ	ទមានច្រើន, កុំវ	វានចំលើយ)

C61 Do you believe you can protect your poultry and yourself from AI?	
តើអ្នកជឿថា អ្នកអាចការពារ មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក និង ខ្លួនអ្នកផ្ទាល់ មិនឱ្យឆ្លងជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី បាន ដែរឬទេ?	No 9[] Don't know
C62 Do you think touching sick/dead poultry can cause fever?	1[]Yes 0[]No
តើអ្នកគិតថា ការប៉ះពាល់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ដោយសារជំងឺ អាចបង្កអោយកើតគ្រូនក្តៅ ដែរឬទេ?	
C62a Have you experience any fever after touching sick or dead (died from illness) poultry?	1[]Yes 0[]No If NO Go to D1
តើអ្នកធ្លាប់ កើតត្រុនក្តៅ ដែរឬទេ ក្រោយពីបានប៉ះពាល់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ដោយសារជំងឺ ?	
C62b Did you seek medical treatment for your symptoms?	11 1 Yes OF 1 No
បើមាន តើ នៅពេលនោះ អ្នកបានស្វែងរកការព្យាបាលនៅទីណា ដែរឬទេ ?	
D. QUESTIONS ON WILD BIRD MIXING (For head of the household only)	and a startification of the starting of the st
Next, I'd like to ask you a few qustions about wild bid mixing with your flocks.	ចព្វីស្លាប់ស្ត្រ (លោកពេសេត្រ្យីមារ)
ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្តទាក់ទងនឹង ការលាយឡំគ្នារវាង មាន់ទារបស់អ្នក និង សត្វស្លាបព្រៃ	
D1 Do your poultry mix with wild birds? 1[] Everyday 2[] Sometime	
តើមាន់ទារបស់អ្នក ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយសត្វស្លាបព្រៃរាល់ថ្ងៃដែរឬទេ? រាល់ថ្ងៃ ម្តងម្កាល	មិនដែលសោះ
D1a What kind of wild birds? តើសត្វស្លាបព្រៃនោះជាសត្វអ្វី?	
D1b Where do they mix? a[] Lake b[]	Rice field c[ ] Farm
តើមាន់ទារបស់អ្នក ទៅប៉ះលាយឡំជាមួយសត្វស្លាបព្រៃនោះ នៅឯណា? បឹង	ភាលស្រែ កងចាផះ ប កសិដាន
D2 Have you noticed any dead wild birds around your poultry areas? 1[] Yes 0[] No	
តើអ្នកមានដែលឃើញសត្វស្លាបព្រៃ ងាប់នៅក្បែរ១ផ្ទះរបស់អ្នកដែរឬទេ?	
D3 Do other animals (e.g. dogs, cats) carry dead wild birds onto your property? 1[] Yes	0[] No 9[] Don't know
តើមាន ឆ្កែ ឆ្នា ពាំ សត្វស្លាបព្រៃដែលងាប់ ចូលមកក្នុងបរិវេណផ្ទះរបស់អ្នកដែរឬទេ?	
E. QUESTIONS ON ECONOMIC IMPACT OF BIRD FLU (For head of	กรรถอาการเหลียญี่รู้ใสายเสอาร (อำการ์สายเสอาร)
household only)	ក្រុងស្ថាលយប់ក្រស់ណាក់ស្រ្តីសំពី (សំពីសំពីសំពី)
Lastly, I'd like to ask you a few questions about income from poultry. ចុងក្រោយនេះ ខ្ញុំស្ទមសួរអំពីក្រ	ជាក់ចំណូលរបស់អ្នក ដែលបានមកពីការចិញ្ចឹមមាន់ទា
	If NO or Don't know, skip to
E2 How much income do you generate per year from the sale of poultry?	99[] Don't know E2b
តើក្នុង១ឆ្នាំ អ្នកអាចរកប្រាក់ចំណូលបានប៉ុន្មាន ពីការលក់ មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក? Add currency (Reil, Bath, Dollar)	មិនដឹង
E2a What do you mainly spend it on? តើអ្នកចំណាយ ប្រាក់ដែលបានមក ពីការលក់ មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ទៅលើវ	
a[] New poultry b[] School fee c[] Medical fee d[] Repaying loan	e[] Pagoda f[] Clothes g[] Food
ថ្លៃទិញមាន់ទាថ្មីយកមកចិញ្ចឹម ថ្លៃការរៀនសូត្រ ថ្លៃព្យាបាលជំងឹ សងថ្លៃជំពាក់គេ	ទៅវត្ត ថ្លៃសំល្យេកបំពាក់ ថ្លៃម្ហូបអាហារ
h [_] Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទៀត	
lf you stopped selling poultry, how would it affect your household economy? បើសិនជាអ្នកណ	ចប់ចិញ្ចឹម មាន់ទា តើអ្នកនឹងបាត់ប្រាក់ចំណូលច្រើនក៏រិតណា?
1[1] No problem 2[1] Decrease half of income 3[] Decrease most of income	4[] Lose all income 9[] Don't know
ត្រូវប្រាក់ចំណូល ១ភាគធំ	បាត់ប្រាក់ចំណូលទាំងស្រុង មិនដឹង
E3 Have you ever vaccinated your poultry against AI? 1[] Yes 0[] No 9[] DK	If NO or Don't know, go to Observation
ត្រីអកចាប់បានចោត់ វ៉ាត់សាំង ការបារមាន់ណូរបស់អក ប្រឆាំងនិងជំងឺជាសាយប្រកិរី ដែរប្រទេ ?	
F3a If voc which floate 2 11 1 Chickon flocks only 2[ ] Duck Flocks only	3[] Both Chicken and duck flocks
million nocks?	ចាក់ឱ្យទាំងមាន់ ទាំងទា
שווינטלעות ? דו האן נהשוא שוויקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי שווקווושי	s study is very important.
Please accept this token of our appreciation as a thank you. (Hand out compensation k	it)
ខ្ញុំបានបញ្ចប់សំនូរទាំងអស់ហើយ ដូចនេះ ខ្ញុំសូមអរគុណ ដែលអ្នកបានចំណាយពេលវេលា ឆ្លើយសំនូរទាំងអស់នេះ	٩
ការចូលរួមផ្តល់ចំលើយរបស់អ្នក ពិតជាមានសារៈសំខាន់ណាស់ ។ ខ្ញុំសូមជូនកញ្ចប់នេះ ទុកជាវត្ថុអនុស្សាវីរិយ៍ ។	

DBSERVATION Interviewer: Please take a few moments and fill in the following observational supress								
ការសង្កេត សូមបំពេញចំលើយខាងក្រោម ដោយធ្វើការសង្កេតនៅក្នុងបរិវេណផ្ទះ								
O1 See any DUCKS in the property ឃើញមាន ទា នៅក្នុងទីធ្លា 1[] Yes 0[] No <b>If NO, Go to Q# O5</b>								
O2 Ducks in pond	ឃើញមាន ទា នៅក្នុងត្រពាំងទឹក	1[]	Yes 0[_	] No 9[_] Do	n't have pond	តានតេពាំង	ดีก	
03 Ducks are free raging ឃើញមាន ទា ដើរដោយសេរី ក្នុងធ្លាផ្ទះ 1[] Yes 0[ ] No								
04 Ducks have contact pigs	ឃើញមាន ទា ទៅនៅលាយឡំជាមួយ[	ជ្ជូក 1[]	Yes 0[_	] No				
O5 See any CHICKENS in the prop	perty ឃើញមាន មាន់ នៅក្នុង	ទីធ្លា	1[_] Y	es 0∐ No	lf N	IO, Go to Q#	08	
06 Chickens are free ranging	ឃើញមាន មាន់ ដើរដោ	យសេរី ក្នុងធ្លាផ្ទះ	1[] Y	es 0[_] No				
07 Chickens have contact wit	th pigs ឃើញមាន មាន់ ទៅនៅ	លាយឡាំជាមួយជ្រូក	1[_] Y	es 0∐ No				
O8 See poultry scrap (feathers) of	on the property ឃើញ មានសំណ	ល់ពីធ្វើមាន់ទា នៅក្នុង	រទីធ្លា (ស្លាប)	1[] Yes	0[_] No			
09 See poultry faeces on the prope	erty ឃើញលាមកមាន់ទា	រាយប៉ាយ នៅក្នុងទីផ្ទ	ភ្	1∐ Yes	0[_] No			
ស្រោមដេ O11 See anyone wearing protective ឃើញុង្នកកំពុងសំអាតទ្រុងមាន់ទា ហើយ	ស្បែកជើងជិរ ឃ្លួប ឬ ក វ៉ៃង ម៉ាស់ material while caring for or prepar មានពាក់ សម្ភាះពាក់ការពារ	ing poultry for fo	អាវិការពារ oo 1[_] Yes	មិន 0[_] No	ឃីញូមានអ្វីទាំអរ	ប់		
F. Dengue Questions (For head of ho	usehold only) សំនូវ ទា	ក់ទងនឹងការអន្តរាគម	ន៍ លើជំងឺត្រុនឈ	មេ				
Have you received any of these ma តើអ្នកបានទទួលសម្ភារៈ ឬ សកម្មភាពអប	aterials or activities for dengue control រ៉ាំ ដូចរឿបរាប់ខាងក្រោមនេះ ដែរឬទេ នៅក្នុង	in your household រភូមិ ឬ ក្នុងគ្រួសារ រប	d or your villag រស់អ្នក ?	e ?				
Materials of activities		[a] This year	[2007]		[b] Previou [befor	s years e 2007]		
សម្ភាវៈ ឬ សកម្មភាព		បានទទួល ក្នុងរួ	រាំ ២០០៧		បានទទួល មុន	រឆ្នាំ ២០០៧		
F1 Impregnated bednet	មុងជ្រលក់ថ្នាំ	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	
F2 Abate (larvicide agent)	ថ្នាំអាបេត	1[]]Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	
F3 Jar's lid (normal or impregnated)	គំរបពាង ( មាន ឬ គ្មាន ជ្រលក់ថ្នាំ)	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	
F4 Spraying in the household	ការចុះជាញ់ថ្នាំមូស	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	
F5 Dengue education session	ការចុះអប់រំ តាមផ្ទះ ឬ ភូមិ	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	
F6 Dengue posters or brochures	ផាំងរបភាព ប ក្រដាសពត៌មាន អប់រំ	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] DK	

### H5N1 KAP survey among backyard poultry farmers Questionnaire for Adult Family Member

ករងសនូរ សរាប សមាជកគ្រួសារ ជាមនុស្សពេញវ័យ							
Today Date:/ // Interviewer's name:							
GPS     Province     Village     Family     Interviewed member       Image: Image							
Instructions to Interviewer: ការណែឆាំសំរាប់អ្នកសូរ							
ក់រងសំនូរនេះប្រើសំរាប់សូរ សមាជិកត្រួសារ ដែលជាមនុស្សពេញវ័យ ។ សមាជិកត្រួសារ អាចជាបុរស ឬ ស្ត្រី ។ សូមអានគ្រប់សំនូរទាំងអស់ និង ធ្វើតាមការណែនាំក្នុងការលោតរំលងសំនូរ ទៅកាន់ផ្នែកផ្សេង១ នៃកំរងសំនូរ ។ សូមគូសចំលើយលើរាល់សំនូរដែលបានសូរ និង សូមកុំរំលងសំនូរ បើមិនមានកំណត់សំគាល់ថាអោយរំលង ។ សូមសរសេរលេខក្ខុដ នៅផ្នែកខាងលើ ខាងស្តាំ ទំព័រនិមួយ១របស់កំរងសំនូរ ។ ការសរសេរលេខកូដនេះមានសារៈសំខាន់ណាស់ ព្រោះថាទំព័រមុខរបស់កំរងសំនូរ នឹងត្រូវផ្តាច់ចេញ ហើយទុកដោយឡែក មុននឹងធ្វើការបញ្ចូលទិន្នន័យ ។ ប្រសិនបើអ្នកមានចំងល់ផ្សេង១ទាក់ទងនឹងកំរងសំនូរ សូមទូរស័ព្ទទាក់ទងទៅ ឈ្មោះ ម៉ាវេៗ ដែលមានលេខ ០១២ ៨០២ ១៧៥ ឬ ទៅ ឈ្មោះ សុវត្ថិ ដែលមានលេខ ០១២ ៣២២ ០៣១ ។ ពេលដែលបំពេញកំរងសំនូរចប់សព្វគ្រប់ សូបទុករក្សាទុកកំរងសំនូរជាមួយគ្នាដោយចាត់ទៅតាមផ្ទះនិមួយ១ រហូតដល់ចប់ថ្ងៃនិមួយ១ ។ បន្ទាប់ពីនោះទើប ទំព័រមុខនឹងត្រូវផ្តាច់ចេញពីកំរងសំនូរ ។							
អ្នកសូរអានទៅអ្នកឆ្លើយ: សូមអរគុណដែលបានយល់ព្រមចូលរូមក្នុងការសិក្សារបស់យើងខ្ញុំ ។ ជាដំបូងខ្ញុំសូមសូរសំនូរទាក់ទងនឹងខ្លួនអ្នកផ្ទាល់ និង ត្រួសាររបស់អ្នក ។ សូមមេត្តាជួយឆ្លើយឱ្យបានគ្រប់សំនូរតាមដែល អាចធ្វើទៅបា គ្រប់ចំលើយរបស់អ្នកទាំងអស់ នឹងត្រូវទុកជាការសំងាត់ ។ បើអ្នកមានចម្ងល់ ឬ មិនយល់សំនូរដែលខ្ញុំបានសូរ សូមប្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសូរជាថ្មី ។ ដូចនេះ ខ្ញុំសូមចាប់ផ្តើមសូរ:							
Demographic information of respondent ពត៌មានផ្ទាល់ខ្លួន របស់អ្នកឆ្លើយ							
Respondent:     (Record only surname)							
1 Sex 1,79 IL Male UN ZL Female (N							
2 Age אונש 3 Address אונאיזיאים (a) Village מעל   [c] Distict (גווי)							
Image         Image <thimage< th=""> <thi< td=""></thi<></thimage<>							
4 occupation       មុខរបរ         5 Education level reached:       0 Never attended school       1 Primary       2 Secondary       3 High school       4 Higher         ក៏រិតសិក្សា       មិនដែលបានចូលវេរ៉ុន       បឋមសិក្សា       អនុវិទ្យាល័យ       វិទ្យាល័យ       ព្រោយវិទ្យាល័យ							
ទំរស់នៅក្នុងប្រទេសកម្ពុជា 1_ Yes 0_ No							
7 Can you write "Cambodia has many palm trees"? សូមអ្នកឃ្លានេះ       ប្រទេសកម្ពុជាមានដើមព្នោតច្រើន       1 Yes       0 No							
8 Where were you born? 1[] Cambodia 2[] Vietman 3[] Thailand 9[] Other (specify) តើអ្នកកើតនៅទីណា? កម្ពុជា វេវ្យិតណាម ថៃ ផ្សេងទ្យេត, បញ្ជាក់ 9 What is your religion? 1[] Buddhist 2[] Muslim 3[] Catholic 9[]							
តើអ្នកកាន់សាសនាអ្វី? សាសនាព្រះពុទ្ធ សាសនាអ៊ីស្លាម សាសនាគ្រីស្ត ផ្សេងទៀត. បញ្ជាក់							
សូមអាន ខ្ញុំរស់នៅក្នុងប្រទេសកម្ពុជា							
សូមសរសេរ							

CTION C	C. QUESTIONS TO HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS សំនូរសំរាប់ សមាជិកគ្រូសារ ទូទេ	1		
ultry mor	rtality reporting ការផ្តល់ដំណឹងអំពី សត្វមាន់ទាងាប់			
now go	oing to ask you some questions about poultry mortality. ខ្ញុំសូមព	រូវបន្តទាក់ទង	ទើងការផ្តល់ដំល់	ហឹងអំពី មាន់ទាងាប់
C1 Have តើ ម	a you experience poultry mortality in the since the Khmer New year? ពន់ទា របស់អ្នក មានងាប់ខ្លះទេ <b>តិតចាប់លតាំងពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក</b> ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q# C7
	What is the total number of birds raised since the Khmer New Year? (the subject m	ay need so	me time to t	hink about their answer)
2T	តើមាន <b>ចំនួនមាន់ សរុប</b> ដែលបានចិញ្ចឹម ទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល ចាប់ពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	a[]	Chickens	ចំនួនមាន់ សរុប
BT	តើមាន <b>ចំនួនទា សរុប</b> ដែលបានចិញ្ចឹម ទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល ចាប់ពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	p[]	Ducks	ចំនួនទា សរុប
4T	តើមាន <b>ចំនួនមេមាន់ សរុប</b> ដែលបានចិញ្ចឹម ទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល ចាប់ពីបុណ្យចូលឆ្នាំខ្មែរមក?	сЦ	Hens	ចំនួនមេមាន់ សរុប
	Of those, how many of each species were sick from illness since the Khmer New Ye	ar?		
2S	តើមាន <b>មាន់ ដែលឈឺ</b> សរុបទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	a[]	Chickens	ចំនួនមាន់ ឈឹ
3S	តើមាន <b>ទា ដែលឈឺ</b> សរុបទាំងអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	ЪЦ	Ducks	ចំនួនទា ឈឹ 🦳 🔄
C4S	តើមាន <b>មេមាន់ ដែលឈឺ</b> សរុបអស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	c[]	Hens	ចំនួនមេមាន់ ឈឹ
	Of those that were sick from illness, how many died from illness since the Khmer Ne	w Year?	7.9.	
C2	តើមាន <b>មាន់ងាប់ ដោយជំងឺ</b> អស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	a[]	Chickens	ចំនួនមាន់ងាប់
C3	តើមាន <b>ទាងាប់ ដោយជំងឺ</b> អស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	рŪ	Ducks	ចំនួនទាងាប់
C4	តើមាន <b>មេមាន់ងាប់ ដោយជំងឺ</b> អស់ប៉ុន្មានក្បាល?	c[]	Hens	ចំនួនមេមាន់ងាប់
C5 Did	you report poultry's mortality ? 1[] Yes 0[] No	If NO, C	Go to Q# C7	
	តើ អ្នកបានរាយការណ៍ប្រាប់អ្នកណា ដែរឬទេ អំពី មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ដែលងាប់ ?			
C6	To whom do you report? តើ អ្នកបានរាយការណ៍ប្រាប់ទៅអ្នកណាខ្លះ?		(ចំរើ	បីយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)
	a[] Village chief ប្រធានភូមិ		d[] D	District vet staff ពេទ្យសត្វស្រុក
	b[] Village health staff / Health center ពេទ្យភូមិ ឬ នៅមណ្ឌលសុខភាព		e[] P	Provincial vet staff ពេទ្យសត្វខេត្ត
	c[] Village animal health worker / Vet staff ពេទ្យសត្វស្ម័គ្រចិត្តតាមភូមិ ឬ ពេទ្យសត្វភូមិ	j	f∐ C	Dther (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត
C7 If th	nere is poultry mortality, what would make you report poultry mortality?		(ចំពើ	លីយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)
	ເຜຍອາແລວເລດ ແລະ ເຮັບລາຍັດເຮັດແລະ ໂຍດແຮ້ອິເນສເຜີດແຮກແມ່ນແຮງແມ່ນ້ຳ	ដែលមាប់ ?		
	ាររបស់ទៅទៅសារសារសារសារស្ថិតស្វារណ៍ អារម្មរានអ្នកទទួសនាម តារ បាជាម នាមនាមបររោះនេះ ស្វាស់សារ ទេពថា ការសារសារសារស្ថិតស្វារណ៍ អារម្មរានអ្នកទទួលនិងនាម តារ បាជាម នាមនាមបររោះនេះ	ock die		
	a[] Sudden death c whole in មាន់ទា ងាប់រហ័សពេក មាន់ទា ទាំ	ងហ្វូងងាប់អ	ស់រលីង	
	b[] Half of flock die d[] Other:			
	មាន់ទា ងាបអស់ពាក់កណ្តាលហ្វង ផ្សេងទៀ	ភ		
C8 If th	here is a wild bird death, would you report it? 1[] Yes 0[] No			
3177	សិនបើអកជមយនេះ សត្វសាបពៃដែលងាប់ តើអកនឹងទៅរាយការណ៍ ដែរឬទេ ?			

ractices	when	mortality occurred ការអនុវត្តនៅពេលមាន មាន់ទាងាប់			
C9 If yo	u enco	unter poultry mortality in your flocks, what do you do with dead poultry?			
1511		រទាំង ទាំងទាំងលើក្នុងផ្ទះរបល់អ្នក តែអ្នកយក មានទាំ របស់អ្នក ដែលងាប ទៅធ្វើអ្វីខ្លះ?		(សូមអារ	រចំលើយ)
	[a]	Bin ជោះចោលនៅធុងសំរាម 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[b]	Bury ກິບໍ່ເຮົາເປັ 1 Yes 0 No	lf	no, skip to d	
		[c] Can you point out where you buried them? [CheckYes only when they can show you wh សមបងាពាក់នៃងដែលអ្នកបានកប់ [ បុស្ស YES នៅពេលពេលដែលនេះបាននៅមួយក្នុងស្ថិត អ្នកទាំង	ere they burie	d poultry]1[_] \	′es 0∐ No
	[d]				
		[e] Can you point out where you burned them? [CheckYes only when they can show you wi	If	no, skip to f	
		សូមបង្ហាញកន្លែងដែលអ្នកបានដុត [ តូស YES នៅពេលណាដែលគេអាចបង្ហាញកន្លែងដុត ]	lere they built		
	[f]	Feed other animals បោះអោយសត្វផ្សេងស៊ី 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[g]	Prepare for selling ធ្វើលក់ 1[] Yes 0[] No	lf	no, skip to i	
		[h] Where did you sell? តើអ្នក យកទៅលក់ នៅឯណា? (Village, Commune, District, Provi	nce)		
	[i]	Prepare for food យកមកចំអិនធ្វើម្ហូប 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[]]	Sell carcass លក់មាន់ទាងាប់ទាំងមូល 1[] Yes 0[] No	lf	no, skip to l	
		[k] Where did you sell? តើអ្នក យកទៅលក់ នៅឯណា? (Village, Commune, District, Provi	nce)		
	[1]	Give away to neighbor ឱ្យទៅអ្នកជិតខាង 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[m]	Throw into water sources ពោះចោលទៅក្នុងទឹក 1[] Yes 0[] No			
	[n]	។ Throw away ត្រវែងចោល 1[_] Yes 0[_] No			
	[0]	Other (specify) ដោងទៅត			
C10 Wha នៅ1 Wo	at do ) ពេលដែ uld yc	ou do <u>if/when</u> you have <b>sick poultry</b> in your flocks ? របមាន មាន់ទាឈឺ ក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក តើអ្នកយក មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ដែលឈឺ ទៅធ្វើអ្វីខ្លះ? u:	()	បូមអានចំលើយ)	
[a]	Qua	rantine separately from other in the flocks? ដាក់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ដាច់ដោយឡែកពី មាន់ទាង់ថៃទៀត	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[b]	Slau	ghter for selling? សំលាប់យកសាច់លក់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	lf no, skip to e
		[c] Where did you sell? តើអ្នកយកទៅលក់នៅឯណា? (village, commune, district, Province)			
		[d] Did you use a middleman? តើអ្នកមានលក់ទៅឱ្យឈ្មួញដើរទិញមាន់ទាដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[e]	Slau	ghter for food? សំលាប់យកសាច់ធ្វើម្ហូប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[f]	Give	to neighbors for consumption? ឱ្យទៅអ្នកជិតខាងយកទៅធ្វើម្ហូប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[g]	Sell	alive? លក់ទាំងរស់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	lf no, skip to j
		[h] Where did you sell? តើអកយកទៅលក់នៅឯណា? (village, commune, district, Province)			
		[i] Did you use a middleman? តើអ្នកមានលក់ទៅឱ្យឈ្មួញដើរទិញមាន់ទាដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[i]	Dor	othing? អ៊ីនបានធើអីទាំងអស់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[L]	0#	r (anacifu) sedstas a			

C11 What do you do with remaining poultry that survived in the flock ?			
តើអ្នកយក មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក ដែលនៅសល់ពីឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ ទៅធ្វើអ្វីខ្លះ? Would you:	(ស្ន	មអានចំលើយ)	
[a] Quarantine separately from other in the flocks? ដាក់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ដាច់ដោយអែកពី មាន់ទាដ៏អែនេះគ	11 1 Yes	0[ ] No	
[b] Slaughter for selling? សំលាប់យកសាច់លក់	11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		lf no, skip to
[c] Where did you sell? តើអកយកទៅលក់ទៅលោ? (village, commune, district, Province)	I Tes		e
[d] Did you use a middleman? เร็นธรรณณระหาศิกรณระหารีเลื้อและหารีเลื้อและหารีเลื้อและหารีเลื้อและ			
(a) Sloughtor for food? รังการเพราะการกับสี่งาน เกิดเป็นสายปฏิเญิญเตาร์ (เป็นสายมีการกับสาย เกิดเป็นสายปฏิเมิญเตาะการการการการการการการการการการการการการก	1 Yes	0[_] No	
[e] Slaughter for food ? សលាបយកសាចរផ្ទម្លាប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[f] Give to neighbors for consumption? ឱ្យទៅអ្នកជិតខាងយកទៅធ្វើម្ហូប	1[] Yes	0[_] No	Mara akin ta
[g] Sell alive? លក់ទាំងរស់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	j
[h] Where did you sell? តើអ្នកយកទៅលក់នៅឯណា? (village, commune, district, Province) _			
[i] Did you use a middleman? តើអ្នកមានលក់ទៅឱ្យឈ្នូញដើរទិញមាន់ទាដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[j] Do nothing? មិនបានធ្វើអ្វីទាំងអស់	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
[k] Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត			
Knowledge and attitude ចំណេះដឹង និង ឥរិយាបទ			
C12 Do you think it's important to report poultry mortality? 1 Yes If YES, Go	to Q# C12b		
តើអ្នកគិតថាការរាយការណ៍ អំពី មាន់ទា ងាប់ មានសារៈសំខាន់ដែរឬទេ? 0[] No If NO, Go t	o Q# C12a		
9[] Don't know If DK, Go t	o Q# C13 (ដំលើពាមាធ	ยาดเหรือ สำหาด	ះលើកា
		ណាក់ពុ , ឧទ្យរណ៍ច មចិតនិ	310007
a No help from vet staff or authorities ព្រោះមនមានជនួយពពេទ្យសត្វ ឬ អាជ្យធរ		ow មនដង	
b[] Too few death ព្រោះមាន់ទាងាប់តិចតូច	e[] Other (sp	pecify) ផ្សេងរ	ទ្យត
c[_] Poultry are not important (like pigs or cattles) ព្រោះមានទាមនសខានដូចសត្វគោក្របទេ			_
C12b <b>If YES,</b> Why is it important? ហេតុអ្វីបានជាអ្នកគិតថាការរាយការណ៍ អំពី មាន់ទា ងាប់ <u>មាន សារះសំខាន</u> ់?	(ចំលើយអាច	មានច្រើន, កុំអាន	ចំលើយ)
a[] It could be Al ព្រោះអាចមានជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី	c[_] Don't kn	ow ชิธอีน	
b We can have advices from VAHWs ព្រោះគិតថាអាចទទួលបានការណែនាំពីបុគ្គលិគពេទ្យសត្វ	d[_] Other (s	pecify) ផ្សេងវ	ទៅត
C13 If you report mortality, what do you expect in return? បើអ្នករាយការណ៍ តើអ្នកចង់បានអ្វីខ្លះត្រលប់មកវិញ	?		
C14 What do you think discourages villagers to report poultry mortality?	េះលើកមោត	เขาดเหรืด สำมาด	ចំណើញ)
តាមយោបលរបស់អ្នក តែអ្វខ្លះដែលធ្វើខ្សូអ្នកភូមិមិនចំជាទៅរាយការណ៍ អត់មានទាំដល់ដោះ a[] Fear of poultry culling c[] Fear of panic in the village e[] Don't ki	now where/to wh	nom to report	
្ហាចតេមកសំលាប់មាន់ទារបស់ពួកគេអស់ ខ្លាចធ្វើឱ្យមានការភ័យជ្រួលច្របល់នៅក្នុងភូមិ មិនសឹងរ	ទៅប្រាប់អ្នកណា. ទេ	នាទីណា	
b[] Problems with selling d[] Don't know f[] Poultry	are not importat	nt like cattle លោកទាំងពួកភា គេបីរី	G
ខ្លាចលក់មាន់ទាលែងបាន មិនដឹង មានទារ	លេត្វតូចពាច មងព	លាក្រសារ ព្រះប	
g[_] Other? (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត			
C15 What, do you think, would help encourage farmers to report poultry's mortality ?	(ចំលើយអា	ទមានច្រើន, កំអាន	ចំលើយ)
តាមយោបល់របស់អ្នក តេអូខ្លះដែលអាចជួយលោកមកចត្តអ្នកភូមិឌ្យ ទៅរាយការណ៍ រដាំងនោះដែលដាំង។	g [	_] Ask them to	o report
a Awareness / education on the isk of Ar and a state		ស្នើរសុំឱ្យគារ	ត់ទៅរាយការណ៍
b[] Help from authorities (drug, food, training) e[] Buying sick or dead poultry at lower p	h h	Other (spe	cify)
ជំនួយពីអាជ្ញាធរ ( ខ្មះ ថ្នាំ, ចំណីសត្វ, វគ្គបណ្ដុះបណ្ដាល) ជួយទិញមាន់ទាដែល ឈី ឬ ងាប់ ដោយតណ	มษทย	កេរិការទៀត	
c[] Compensation in case of culling f [] Don't know មានជាសំណងក្នុងករណីសំលាប់មាន់ទា មិនដឹង			

ID Code	_	_	
C16 what do you think authorities would do if you reported mortality in your flocks? តើគិតថាអាជ្ញាធរតួរធ្វើអ្វីខ្លះ នៅពេលដែលអ្នក ទៅរាយការណ៍ អំពីមាន់ទាដែលងាប់?			
C17 If your poultry were culled, what do you expect? ក្នុងករណី មាន់ទារបស់អ្នកត្រូវសំលាប់ តើអ្នកគិតចង់បានអ្វីខ្លះជាសំណងត្រលប់មកវិញ?	- (ចំលើយអាចមា	នេះច្រើន, កុំអានចំ	ឈើយ)
a[] Replace poultry សងជា មាន់ទា មកវិញ c[] Don't know មិនដឹង e[] Oth	er(specify)	ផ្សេងទេ្យត	
b[] Money back សងជា លុយ មកវិញ d[] Nothing មិនចង់បានអ្វីទាំងអស់			
practices ការអនុវត្ត			C. See Star
C18 Do you attend cock fighting events? តើអ្នកទៅលេង ឬ មើលជល់មាន់ដែរឬទេ? 1 Ye C19 Do you care or help care for fighting cocks? 1 Ye តើអ្នកមើលថែទាំ សំអាតមាន់ជល់ (ឬ ជួយមើលថែទាំមាន់ជល់) ដែរឬទេ?	es 0∐1 es 0∐1	No No If NO, C21	Go to Q#
C19a How many days per week you take care of your cocks? តើអ្នកមើលថែទាំ សំអាតមាន់ជល់ ប៉ូនានថៃ កង១អាទិត?		l times per w	veek
C19b Do you wear gloves or masks when caring your cocks? 1[] Always 2[] Sor តើអ្នកមានពាក់ស្រោមដៃ ឬ ម៉ាស់ ដែរឬទេ នៅពេលដែលអ្នកមើលថែទាំ សំអាតមាន់ជល់? ពាក់ជានិច ពាក់	0[] • netimes		< ពោក់សោះ
C20a Do you: Touch bloody cocks? តើអ្នកមានប៉ះពាល់មាន់ជល់ដែលមានហូរឈាម ដែរបទេ ?		1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No
C20b Blow the beak? តើអ្នកមាន ផ្ទំ ចំពុះមាន់ជល់ ដែរបទេ ?		1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No
C20c Kiss, Suck or lick wounds? តើអកមាន បឹតរបសមាន់ដល់ ដែរបទេ ?		1[]Yes	0[ ] No
C20d Share water from the same bottle used for drinking or spraving? តើអ្នកអាន ហើនករអជាអញអាន់ជល់ ដែរប	itg 9	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No
C20e Clean the trachea by swab or feather? តើអកអាន សំអាតហេរ៉ាក អាន់ដល់ ដោយយោកសំណី រោងសារ	G 9	1[]Yes	0[ ] No
C20f Clean feathers? តើអកុមាន សំអាតសាហ និង ហេម ឱ្យមាន់ដល់ ដែលធេ ?		1[] Yes	0[ ] No
Practices การหลาก			
l'm now going to ask you some questions about your daily life. ខ្ញុំសូមសួរបន្តទាក់ទងនឹង ជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃរប	រស់អ្នក		
C21 Do you touch sick or dead poultry with bare hands ? តើអ្នក ប៉ះពាល់ មាន់ទាឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ ដោយដៃទទេ ដែរឬទេ?	1∐ Yes	0[_] No	
C22 Do children in your household play (touch and catch) with poultry? តើក្មេង១នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក មានប៉ះពាល់ ឬ លេង ជាមួយមាន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[]DK
C23 Do your children swim in ducks ponds ? តើកូនរបស់អ្នក ទៅមុជ ហែលទឹកលេង ក្នុងស្រះដែលមានទាចុះ ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[]DK
C23a Do you swim or fish in water (ponds) where poultry have access?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[]DK
តើអ្នក មុជទឹក ឬ លេងទឹក ឬ បាចរកត្រី ក្នុងទឹក (ឧ. ស្រះ. ត្រពាំង ឬ បឹង) ដែលមានទាចុះ ដែរឬទេ?			
C24 Do you take dead chicken or poultry from yard for food ? តើអ្នកមានរើសយក មាន់ទាដែលងាប់ យកមកធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរប្	រ្ទ? 1∐`	Yes 0∐	No
C24a Do you remove feathers from sick poultry? តើអ្នក បោចរោម មាន់ទាដែលឈឺ (ធ្វើម្ហូប) ដែរឬទេ?	1[]`	Yes 0∐	No
C25 Do you take dead wild birds from field for food? តើអ្នកមានរើសយក សត្វព្រៃដែលងាប់តាមវាល យកមកធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ?	• 1□`	Yes 0∐	No
C26 Do you eat wild birds? តើអ្នកហូបសាច់សត្វស្លាបព្រៃ ដែរឬទេ?	1[]`	Yes 0∐	No
C27 In your family, are you responsible for going to the market (buying food) ? តើអ្នកទៅផ្សារទិញម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
C27a Have you ever bought poultry from the market for food ? តើអ្នកមានទិញមាន់ទាពីផ្សារ មកធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	

			ID C	ode	_	<u> </u>	_
28 Do you តើអ្នក ព្រើ	cook or help in cooking poultry fo ទ្វ័ម្ហូប ឬ ជួយធ្វើម្ហូប ដែរឬទេ?	r your family ?	1∐ Everyday រាល់ថ្ងៃ	2[_] Sometimes មងមាល	0[] Neve ਸੋਤਟਿਪ	er	
29 Do you	: Boil birds?	តើអ្នក ស្ងោរចំអិនមាន់ទា	ា ដែរឬទេ?	9 O -	1[ ] Ves		
.9a	Slaughter/ bleed birds?	តើអ្នក អារក សំលាប់ មា	ន់ទា ដែរបទេ?		1[ ] Ves		
9b	Cut meat?	តើអ្នក កាប់.ហាន់ សាច់ម	រាន់ សាច់ទា ដែរបទេ?		1[ ] Yes		
.9c	Wash meat?	តើអ្នក លាង សាច់មាន់ ត	ហច់ទា ដែរបទេ?		1[ ] Yes		
9d	Remove internal organs from	birds៍ តើអ្នក វិះយកត្រឿងក្នុង	មាន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[] Yes	0[ ] No	
9e	Wash internal organs?	តើអ្នក លាង គ្រឿងក្នុង	មាន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?		1[_] Yes	0[ ] No	
f Do you	eat raw or half cooked chicken eggs	(eggs with runny yokes)?	តើអ្នក ហូប ឬ ហុត	<u>រាងមាន់</u> ឆៅ ឬ ចំអិន នៅជ័	រព្នៅ ដែរឬទេ ?		0[ ] No
9g Do you	eat raw <b>chicken</b> meat? តើអ្នក បុ	ាប ម្ហូបដែលធ្វើពី <u>សាច់មាន់</u> ឆៅ ដែ	ដរប្មទេ ?			1[] Yes	0[ ] No
h Do you	eat chicken meat that is pink in color	(has "pink spots")?	តើអ្នក ហូប <u>សាច់មា</u>	<u>ទ</u> ់ ដែលចំអិន នៅឆៅ ក្រប	មេដំ១ ដែរបទេ ?	1[_] Yes	0[ ] No
i Do you	eat raw or half cooked duck eggs (eg	gs with runny yokes)?	តើអ្នក ហូប ឬ ហុត (	ាងទាឆៅ ប ចំអិន នៅជ័ររ	ពា ដែរបទេ ?	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No
j Do you	eat raw <b>duck</b> meat? តើអ្នក ឬ	ល មូបដែលធើពីសាច់ទា ឆៅ ដែរប	UIG ?		d 4	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No
k Do you	eat duck meat that is pink in color (h	as "pink spots")?	ំ តើអក ហេរេសាច់ទា	ដែលធំអិន នៅឆៅ កេហទ	ម៉េត ដែរពេធ ១	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No
30 Have y	you ever prepared wild birds for fo	od? តើអកចាប់ ចើ.កាប់ សារ	ចំតតេសារើពេចំអិនចើមរ	រ ដែរបចេ?	1[]Yes	0[ ] No	
31 Do voi	prepare poultry near pond, river.	water well?	្រះ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តខ្វាតខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្វាត្តិ ខ្ទាត្តិ ខ្ទាត្តិ ខ្ទាត្តិ ខ្ទាត្តិ ខ្ញាត្តិ ខ្ទាត្តិ ខ្ញាត្តិ ខ្ញា	1[]Yes 0[]N	9[] No		water well
តើមក រ	ກອະເສເກດແກ່ເຮັບເຫັ້ນ ເສ ເສ ເສ	1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2			o در ارد ش		
22 Dowo	ngrunning spiritica ginenerationwale		2	41 1 1 1 1 1 1		មាន ត្រោង ត្រោម	រន្លេ ឬ អណ្ដូឯ
32 D0 Wa	sn poulity products directly in the	water source (pond/river)	<i>(</i>		о 9 <u>0</u> ио	pona/rever	
តេអ្នក ទ	រានយកមានទាទៅ លាងផ្ទាល់ នៅក្នុង ត្រពាង	រ ព្រៃក ឬ ទន្លេ ដៃវឬទេ?			មន	រមាន ត្រពាំង ព្រែក ប្	្រទន្លេ
33 Do you	a care or help care for poultry?	អ្នក មានជួយមើលថែទាំ មាន់ទា	ដែរវីទេ?	1[] Y	es 0∐N	o lf NO, g	o to Q35
3a ⊦	low many times a week do you cle	ean your poultry cages/are	eas ? តើអ្នក សំអាត ទ្រ	រុងមាន់ទា ប៉ុន្មានដងក្នុង១	អាទិត្យ?	times per	week
34 V	Vhen caring for poultry: នៅពេ	លេដែលអ្នក ថែទាំ សំអាត ទ្រុងមា	ន់ទា				ек
4a	Do you wear plastic bags over h	ands? តើអ្នក មានពាក់ថង់ផ្ត	តុស្ទិក ការពារនៅដៃ ដែរប្	បូទេ? 1[	]Yes O[_	] No	
4b	Do you have any gloves in your	household? តើអ្នក មានព្រ	សាមដៃជ័រ ដែរឬទេ នៅរុ	រុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក? 1L	]Yes 0[_	] No If NO, G	o to C34d
4c	How often do wear gloves	when touching poultry?	1[_] Eve	ryday 2∐ S	ometimes	0[] Never	
	តើអ្នក ពាក់ស្រោមដៃ រាល់ដងដែរប្	រទេ នៅពេលប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទា?	ពាក់រា	ល់ដង ពា	ក់ម្តងម្ភាល	មិនដែលពាក់	សោះ
4d	Do you have any rubber boots in	i your household? តើអ្នក	មានស្បែកជើងជ័រ ក វែរ	រ ដែរឬទេ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះ?	1[] Yes	0[] No [f NO C34f	, Go to
4e	How oftern do vou wear ru	bber boots when caring fo	or poultry? 1[	]Everyday 2[]S	ometimes	0[] Never	
	តើអ្នក ពាក់ស្បែកជើងជ័រ ក វែង រាល់ដងរំ	ងរឬទេ នៅពេលធ្វើការសំអាតទ្រុង	រមាន់ទា?	ពាក់រាល់ដង ពា	ក់ម្តងម្ភាល	មិនដែលពាក់	សោះ

	Do you have any apropo in your household?
341	How offern do you waar an ance when as in f
49	risus misurimus pointwitteres columnianti ") in initial Everyday 2[] Sometimes 0[] Never
	ំផេន្ទា ជាកែន ការពារ រាលដងដេរឬទេ នៅពេលបះពាល ថែទា មានទា? ពាក់រាល់ដង ពាក់ម្តងម្កាល មិនដែលពាក់សោះ
4h	Do you have any masks in you household? តើអ្នក មានម៉ាស់ (របាំងមុខ) ដែរឬទេ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក? 1[] Yes 0[ ] No If NO. Go to C35
34i	How often do you wear face mask when caring for poultry? 1[] Everyday 2[] Sometimes 0[ ] Never
	តើអ្នក ពាក់ម៉ាស់ (របាំងមុខ) ការពារ រាល់ដងដែរឬទេ នៅពេលប៉ះពាល់ ថែទាំ មាន់ទា? ពាក់រាល់ដង ពាក់ម្មងមាល មិនដែលពាក់សោះ
35 Do	o you, personally, feed your poultry ? តើអ្នក ឱ្យចំណី មាន់ទា ដោយខ្លួនឯង ឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No <b>If NO, Go to C36</b>
5a	How many times a week do you, personally, feed poultry? តើអ្នក ឱ្យចំណី មាន់ទា ប៉ុន្មានដង ក្នុង១អាទិត្យ?    Times 0[] <1 time a week
36 Do	o your poultry go in rice fields or lake ? តើមាន់ទារបស់អ្នកចេញដើររកស៊ី តាមវាលស្រែ ឬ បឹង ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No
37 Do	o you use poultry faeces for manure ? តើអ្នកប្រើលាមកមាន់ទា សំរាប់ធ្វើដី ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No
38 Ha	ave you ever been to Vietnam ? តើអ្នក ធ្លាប់ទៅដល់ប្រទេសវៀតណាម ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No <b>If NO, Go to C39</b>
За	How many times <u>per month</u> do you go to Vietman? តើអ្នក ទៅប៉ុន្មានដង ក្នុង១ខែ?I times per month 0[_] <1 time a month
3b	Do you go there for trade (sell or buy) poultry or poultry products? អ្នក ទៅដើម្បីលក់ . ទិញ មាន់ទា តើមែនឬទេ? 1 Yes 0 No C39
3c	Which provinces do you go to sell/buy? អ្នក ទៅដល់ខេត្តណាខ្លះ?
39 Ha	ave you ever been to Thailand ? តើអ្នក ធ្លាប់ទៅដល់ប្រទេសថៃ ដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No If NO, Go to C40s
Эа	How many times per month do you go to Thailand? តើអ្នក ទៅប៉ុន្មានដង ក្នុង១ខែ?    times per month 0[] <1 time a month
Эр	Do you go there for trade (sell or buy) poultry or poultry products? អ្នក ទៅដើម្បីលក់ . ទិញ មាន់ទា តើមែនឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No C40s
Эс	Which provinces do you go to sell/buy? អ្នក ទៅដល់ខេត្តណាខ្លះ?
ic hy	/giene practices ការអនុវត្ត អនាម័យជាមូលដ្ឋាន
)s Do	o you have soap in your household? តើ អ្នកមានសាប៊ូ ឬទេ នៅក្នុងផ្ទះរបស់អ្នក ?     1[] Yes   0[] No
10 Do	o you wash your hands with soap after you touch poultry? 1[] Yes 0[] No If NO, Go to C40b
តើ	រអ្នក លាងដៃជាមួយសាប៊ូ ដែរឬទេ ក្រោយពេលប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទា?
)a	How often 2 ເຮັນຮູດກຸບ point point and a state of the service of t
)b If	You have no scap or run out of scap, what do you use instead of scap to wash your hand?
	បើអ្នកគ្មានសាប៊ូ តើអ្នក ប្រើអ្វីជំនួស សំរាប់លាងដែ?
11 W	hich water source do you usually use in your household? តើអ្នក យកទឹកអ្វី មកពីណា សំរាប់ប្រើប្រាស់ក្នុងគ្រួសារ? (ចំ <mark>លើយអាចមានច្រើន</mark> )
	a[] Open water well c[] Ponds e[] Lake g[] Other (specify)
	ទឹកអណ្តុងយោង ទឹកត្រពាំង. ស្រះ ទឹកបឹង ផ្សេងទៀត
	b[] Water well with pump d[] Water tap f[] River
	ទឹកអណ្តូងស្នប់ ទឹកម៉ាស៊ីន ទឹកទន្លេ

the and an lake on river doop, poultry has access to the second	10	
C42 If pond of lake of river does, poultry has access to those water sources as we បើ ត្រពាំង បឹង ឬ ទន្លេ តើ មាន មាន់ទា ចុះទៅក្នុងទឹកនោះដែរឬទេ?	II? 1[]Yes 0[	] No 9[_] Don't Know
C42a Which water source do you used to bathe?       តើអ្នក ងូតទឹកអ្វី នេ         a[]       Open water well       c[]       Ponds       e[]       Lake         ទឹកអណ្ដូងយោង       ទឹកត្រពាំង. ស្រះ       ទឹកបឹង         b[]       Water well with pump       d[]       Water tap       f[]       River         ទឹកអណ្ដូងស្នប់       ទឹកម៉ាស៊ីន       ទឹកទន្លេ	នាំឯណា ? g[_] Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត	(ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន)
C42b If pond or lake or river, do poultry have access to these water sources? បើ ត្រពាំង បឹង ឬ ទន្លេ តើ មាន មាន់ទា ចុះទៅក្នុងទឹកនោះដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes 0[	] No 9[_] Don't Know
Knowledge about AI / bird flu ចំណេះដឹងអំពី ជំងឺក្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី		
I'm now going to ask you some questions about avian influenza.	ខ្ញុំសូមសូរបន្តទាក់ទងនឹង ជំងឺត្រុនផ្តាសាយប	រក្សី
C43 Have you heard of AI / bird flu? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់លឺអំពី ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes 0[] No	If NO, Go to C47
<ul> <li>C44 Where did you hear that information from? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់លឺអំពី ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយប a Village vet staffs d Radio g Public ពេទ្យសត្វភូមិ វិទ្យុ ធ្លាំងរូប</li> <li>b Health staff / health center e Television h Brock ពេទ្យភូមិ ឬ នៅមណ្ឌលសុខភាព ទូរទស្សន៍ កូនស្មេ</li> <li>c Village chiefs f Newspaper i NGO ប្រធានភូមិ កាសែត វគ្គអប់</li> <li>C44 What would you consider to be your MAIN source of Al information? (oper ក្នុងចំណោមប្រភពទាំងនោះ តើប្រភពមួយណា ដែលអ្នកគិតថា បានផ្តល់ពត៌មានអំពី ផ្តាសាយបក្សី</li> <li>C45 Have you taught your children about <i>F</i> តើអ្នកធ្លាប់បង្រៀន កូន១អ្នក ឬ ក្មេង១ អំពី</li> <li>C45 What have you taught them (open question)</li> <li>តើអ្នកប្រាប់ កូន១អ្នក យ៉ាងដូចម្តេចខ្លះ?</li> </ul>	ក្សី មកពីណាខ្លះ? (ចំពើ c poster j [ ភាពអប់រំតាមភូមិ nures k[ វិវភៅអប់រំតូច១ health education sessions រំរបស់អង្គការនានា n question) ដល់អ្នក បានច្រើនជាងគេ ? រំដងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ដែរឬទេ? 1	iយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ) _] Someone in the family សមាជិតត្រូសារ _] Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត [] Yes 0[_] No If NO, Go to C46
C46 In your own words, what is bird flu ? តាមយោបល់របស់អ្នក តើ ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្ដាសាយបក a[] Poultry disease (duck/chicken) c[] Human disease ជាជំងឺមាន់ ទា ជាជំងឺមនុស្ស b[] Can kill poultry d[] Can kill human អាចសំលាប់ មាន់ ទា បាន អាចសំលាប់ មនុស្ស	អ្វី ជាអ្វី? (ចំព e[] Pig disease ជាជំងឺជ្រូក f[] Wild bird disease បាន ជាជំងឺសត្វស្លាបព្រៃ 	រយអាចមានច្រេន, កុំអានចលេយ) g[] Can be transmitted to human អាចឆ្លងមកមនុស្សបាន h[] Other (specify) ផ្សេងទៀត
<ul> <li>C47 Could you tell if your flock were infected by AI?</li> <li>តើអ្នកគិតថា មាន់ទារបស់អ្នក ធ្លាប់មានឆ្លងជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ពីមុនមក ដែរឬទេ?</li> <li>C48 Do you think your poultry are are at risk of being infected with AI?</li> <li>តើអ្នកគិតថាមាន់ទារបស់អ្នកអាចឆ្លងជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ដែរឬទេ?</li> </ul>	1∐ Yes 0∐ No 9∐ L 1∐ Yes 0∐ No 9∐ L	Don't know

			ID Code			
C49 When o	chickens are sick, Do you know what	are SYN	MPTOMS that make you suspect of AL infection			
ទៅពេល	មាន <u>មាន់ឈ</u> ឹ តើ អ្នកស្គាល់រោគសញ្ញា ដែលធ្វើឱ្	អ្ <del>ន</del> ្រកសង្ស័យ	រថា <u>មាន់</u> ទាំងនោះ មានជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ដែរបទេ?		KENS? 1[] Yes 0[] No If NO, Go to C51	
C50 What a	re SYMPTOMS that make you susp	ect of AI	infection in CHICKENS?		9[] Don't know If DK, Go to C51	
តើ រោត	សញ្ហា អ្វីខ្លះដែលធ្វើឱ្យអ្នកសង្ស័យថា <u>មាន់</u> ដែលព	យីទាំងនោះ	ยารนี้นี้เกรรกรกรกรระ			
a[]	Sudden death (1-2 days)	f[]	Stop laving eggs	(	ចលេយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)	
	មាប់ល្បឿន ី ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ី		ດແມ່ດສ	k 📋	White / cloudy / blind eyes	
b[]	Sudden death in large number	[]0	Eat less / Stop eating		ភ្នែកស	
	ងាប់លឿនហើយក្នុងចំនួនច្រើនក្បាល		លែមេសវ ។ មក់ស៊ីចំណី		Difficult/Fast Breathing	
c[]	Motionless / Sleepiness	h[]	Violet / swollen combs and wattles / head		ពបាកដកដង្ហើម	
	សំកុក / ដេក		บก็หน้าหากก จิษ อินกกษ์	m [_	] Leg weakness	
d[]	Seizure / Spining	11	Neck Twist		ទនជេង	
	ប្រកាច់ / ដើរវិល១			n	Diarrhea	
e[]	Bleeding	11	Eve / nose discharge	- 1 1	រាត	
8.3	ចេញឈាម	, ,	ព្រាវធ្វើកតែក /ហៅរទ័រការ	0	Raffled feathers	
	v		n [] Other (Se		ជ្រុះស្លាប ឬ រោម	
				ecity)		
251 When	ducks are sick. Do you know what ar	e SYMP	TOMS that make you support of AL infection in	DUOKO		
ទៅពេល	หาร <b>ดาดที่</b> เสี้ หลุงการ์เกลงเกา เป็กหลือห	STREE LEARS		DUCKS		
1211110		រពេម្យយប	<u>ា ថា</u> ទាំងនេាទ មានជងព្រុងផ្ដល់យោបក្ស ដោបទេ?		0[] No If NO, Go to C53	
052 What a	are SYMPTOMS that make you suspe	ect of AI	infection in DUCKS?		9 Don't know If DK, Go to C53	
តើ រោគ	សញ្ញា អ្វីខ្លះដែលធ្វើឱ្យអ្នកសង្ស័យថា <u>ទា</u> ដែលឈឹ	ទាំងនោះ ម	រានជំងឺត្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី?	(	ចំលើយអាចមានច្រើន, កុំអានចំលើយ)	
a[]	Sudden death (1-2 days)	f	Stop laying eggs	k 📋	White / cloudy / blind eyes	
	ងាប់លឿន ី ១ - ២ ថ្ងៃ ី		ឈប់ពង		ភ្នែកស	
b[]	Sudden death in large number	g [_]	Eat less / Stop eating		Difficult/Fast Breathing	
	ងាប់លឿនហើយក្នុងចំនួនច្រើនក្បាល		លែងសូវ ឬ អត់ស៊ីចំណី		ពិបាកដកដង្ហើម	
c[]	Motionless / Sleepiness	h [_]	Violet / swollen combs and wattles / head	m [_]	Leg weakness	
	សំកុក / ដេក		ហើមជាំក្បាល និង សិរណង់		ទន់ជើង	
d[]	Seizure / Spining	ίЦ	Neck Twist	n [_]	Diarrhea	
	ប្រកាច់ / ដើរវិល១		ទន់ក ឬ បត់ក		រាត	
e[]	Bleeding	jЦ	Eye / nose discharge	∘∐	Raffled feathers	
	ចេញឈាម		ហ្សេរទឹកភ្នែក/ហ្សេរសំធោរ		ជ្រុះស្លាប ឬ រោម	
			p[] Other (Specify) ដោងទៅត			
		i di .				_
,53 HOW IS	Al spread among poultry / birds? fr	ដេងគ្រុនផ្ដា · · ·	សាយបក្ស ឆ្លងរាលដាលក្នុងចណោម មាន ទា ដោយរប្បេបណា	!?	(ចលេយអាចមានច្រេន, កុអានចលេយ)	
a	Contact with another infected/sick b	oirds	d Contact with virius brought in by	people, ເກສານຂອງ	neir clotning or footware	
b[ ]	Contact with infected faeces?		e[] Don't know	Nin Ooal	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
	ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយលាមកមាន់ទា គាវ៉ា ដែលឈឺ?		មិនដឹង			
c[]	Contact with other contaminated fee	d	f[] Other (Specify)			
	contact with other containing ou rot	ea				

		II	.	-
54 Can humans get Al? តើមនុស្សអាចឆ្លងដំងឺព្រ	នផ្តាសាយបក្សីដែរឬទេ? 1[] Yes 0[] No 9[] Don't k	now If No	o or Don't ki	now, skip to C56
355 How can humans catch Al? តើជំងឺគ្រុ al Contact with sick/dead poultry cl ការប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទាឈឺឬស្លាប់ bl Contact with poultry feces d ការប៉ះពាល់អាចម័សត្វ	នផ្តាសាយបក្សិ៍ឆ្លងមកមនុស្ស ដោយរប្ប៉េបណា? ] Eating undercooked poultry products e[] Cor បរិកោតមាន់ទាមិនទាន់ឆ្អិនល្អ ីសាច់ ស៊ុត" ] Eating raw poultry products (eggs / blood pudding) f [] បរិកោតឆ្អៅ ី ស៊ុត សាច់ ឈាម" g[] Other (Specify) ផ្សេងទ្បេត	<b>េចំលើយអា</b> ntact with cont ការប៉ះពាល់សំ <i>រ</i> Don't know មិនដឹង	<b>ចេមានច្រើន, កុំ</b> aminated fa ការៈកសិដ្ឋានមា	<b>អានចំលើយ)</b> irm equipment នផ្ទុកមេរោគ
56 Do you think Bird flu can kill (is fatal for) hu	mans? តើអ្នកគិតថា ជំងឺត្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី អាចសំលាប់មនុស្សបាន ដែ	រឬទេ? 1[] Ye	es 0[]No	9[] Don't know
In Cambodia, Have there been any fatal h	iman cases of AI?			
តើមានមនុស្សស្លាប់ដោយ ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី ដែរឬប	រ នៅប្រទេសកម្ពុជាយើង?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
58 Do you think AI can be transmitted to HUN	IANS by តើអ្នកគិតថា ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សីឆ្លងមកមនុស្ស តាម			
[a] Eating well cooked poultry's products ?	ហូបសាច់ ស៊ុត មាន់ទាដែលបានចំអិនឆ្អិនល្អ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[b] Eating undercooked poultry's products	? ហូបសាច់ ស៊ុត មាន់ទាដែល ចំអិននៅឆៅ មិនឆ្អិនល្អ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] Don't know
[c] Eating poultry eggs from healthy chicke	ns? ហូបពងមាន់ ពងទា?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[d] Eating poultry bought from market?	ហូបសាច់មាន់ទា ដែលទិញយកមកពីផ្សារ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[e] Eating your own poultry prepared at ho	me? ហូបសាច់មាន់ទា ដែលចិញ្ចឹម និង ធ្វើ ដោយខ្លួនឯង?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[] Don't know
If Eating poultry imported from outside C	ambodia? ហូបសាច់មាន់ទា ដែលនាំចូលមកពីក្រៅប្រទេសកម្ពុជា?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[a] Swimming in ponds?	មូជទឹកក្នុងស្រះ	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
Touching wild birds ?	ប៉ះពាល់សតសាបព្រៃ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
Eating wild birds?	រោបសាច់សតសាបពៃ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
Eram other people?	ពីអនសមោក ទៅ មាក់ទៅត	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
I Touching healthy poultry 2	ប៉ះពាល់សតមាន់ទា អត់មានជំងឺ?	1∐ Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[K] Touching field of dead poultry with bor	bande? រ៉ះពាល់សត្ថមាន់ទា ដែលលើ ងាប់ ដោយដៃទទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't know
[I] Touching sick or dead poultry with bar			0[ ] No	9[] Don't know
[m] Touching poultry faeces?	ះខេត្តចូលរាមរបរយអ្នកល្វារះប	1[]Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[n] From sexual contact?	តាមការរួមភេម	1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	9[ ] Don't know
[0] Touching poultry blood?	ប៉ះពាល់ជាមួយ ឈាមសត្វមានទា?	1[ ] Vos	0[_] No	9[ ] Don't know
[p] Slaughtering poultry ?	សំលាប់មាន់ទាធ្វើម្ហូប?	1[]) Yes		9[ ] Don't know
[q] Using the same cutting board for poul	ry and food products?	10,100		
ប្រើជ្រុញតែ១ រួម សំរាប់ សាច់មាន់ ទា និង បន្លែ (	រាច គ្របមុខ ដមេរម្យត? IL DREN by touching / playing with sick / dead poultry (with b	pare hands)?		of 1 Dealth leasure
Co9 Do you think AI can be transmitted to CF	ដាយ ប៉ះពាល់ ឬ លេង ជាមួយ មាន់ទាដែល ឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	; 0[]N	
C60 Do you know any AI / Bird Flu sings and	symptoms in HUMANS? 1[] Yes 0[]	No If NO, G	io to C61	
តើអ្នកស្គាល់រោគសញ្លជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី នៅក្នុងខ្ល	ន <mark>មតុល្យ</mark> ដែឬទេ?			
C60a What are those signs and symptom a[] Difficult/fast breathing ពិបាកដកដង្ហើម	s? ប្រសិនបើដឹង, តើរោគសញ្ញាទាំងនោះមានអ្វីខ្លះ? c[] Cough e[] Sore throat ក្អក ឈឹករ d[] Muscle Ache f[] Other (Specify)	(ចំលើយអា	ចមានច្រើន, កុំរ	វានិចលើយ)
b_ Fever ត្រូនក្ដៅ	ឈីសាច់ដុំ ផ្សេងទៀត			

C61 Do y	ou believe you can protect you	r poultry and yourself from AI?	1[ ] Ye	AL 10 2	- 01	1.5	
តើអ្ន	កជឿថា អ្នកអាចការពារ មាន់ទា របស់អ្នក	។ និង ខ្លួនអ្នកផ្ទាល់ មិនឱ្យឆ្លងជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាសាយបក្សី	បាន ដែរឬទេ?	5 U_K	o 9[	] Don't know	
C62 Do y	ou think touching sick/dead pou	ultry can cause fever?			1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	
តើអ្ន	កតិតថា ការប៉ះពាល់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ឬ	ងាប់ដោយសារជំងឺ អាចបង្កអោយកើតត្រូនក្ដៅ ដែររ	<b>119</b> ?				
C62a Hav	e you experience any fever afte	r touching sick or dead (died from illnes	s) poultry?		1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	IF NO. Costo D1
តើអ្ន	កធ្លាប់ កើតគ្រុនក្តៅ ដែរឬទេ ក្រោយពីបា	នប៉ះពាល់ មាន់ទា ដែលឈឺ ឬ ងាប់ដោយសារជំងឺ ?					II NO, GO to D1
C62b Did	you seek medical treatment for	your symptoms?			1[ ] Yes		
លើម	ទេ តើ នៅពេលនោះ អ្នកបានស្វែងរកការព	ព្រជាលនៅទីណា ដែរឬទេ ?			101103		
l'd like t Please	o thank you for taking the t accept this token of our ap	ime to answer my questions. You preciation as a thank you. (Hand	r involveme	ent in this s asation kit)	tudy is ve	ery importa	nt.
	ខ្ញុំជានបញ្ចប់សំនូរទាំងអស់ល	រាយ ដូចនេះ ខ្ញុំសូមអរតុណ ដែលអ្នកបានចំណាយពេ	លវេលា ឆ្លើយសំនួ	រទាំងអស់នេះ ។			
	ការចូលរួមផ្តល់ចំលើយរបស់	អ្នក ពិតជាមានសារៈសំខាន់ណាស់ ។ ខ្ញុំសូមជួនកញ្ចប់	នេះ ទុកជាវតអន	សរាវិរីយ៍ ។			
OBSERV	ATION Interviewer:	Please take a few moments and fill in th	י ר י ne following o	bservational	survey.		
ការសង្កេត		សូមបំពេញចំលើយខាងក្រោម ដោយធ្វើការស	ង្កេតនៅក្នុងបរិវេព	បផ្ទះ			
01 See	any DUCKS in the property	ឃើញមាន ទា នៅក្នុងទីធ្លា	1[] Yes	0[_] No	lf N	IO, Go to Q#	O5
02	Ducks in pond	ឃើញមាន ទា នៅក្នុងត្រពាំងទឹក	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don'	t have pond	គ្មានត្រពាំងទឹក
03	Ducks are free raging	ឃើញមាន ទា ដើរដោយសេរី ក្នុងធ្លាផ្ទះ	1[] Yes	0[_] No			
04	Ducks have contact pigs	ឃើញមាន ទា ទៅនៅលាយឡំជាមួយជ្រូក	1[] Yes	0[_] No			
O5 See	any CHICKENS in the property	ហើញមាន មាន់ នៅក្នុងទីធ្លា		1[] Yes	0[_] No	If NO	D, Go to Q# O8
06	Chickens are free ranging	ឃើញមាន មាន់ ដើរដោយសេរី ក្នុង	ធ្លាផ្ទះ	1[] Yes	0[_] No		
07	Chickens have contact with pi	gs ឃើញមាន មាន់ ទៅនៅលាយឡំជា	មួយជ្រូក	1∐ Yes	0[_] No		
O8 See	poultry scrap (feathers) on th	ne property ឃើញ មានសំណល់ពីធ្វើមាន	រទា នៅក្នុងទីធ្លា (	ស្លាប,,,)	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
09 See	poultry faeces on the property	ឃើញលាមកមាន់ទា រាយប៉ាយ	នៅក្នុងទីធ្លា		1[] Yes	0[_] No	
010 See	any protective material (used o	r not used) in the property, as listed:	ឃើរ	ាូមានសម្ភាះពាក់	ការពារ (ទោះ	ប្រើ ឬ មិនប្រើ)	នៅក្នុងផ្ទះ ដូចជា:
	a[] Gloves b[]	Rubber boots c[] Masks	d[] A	pron	e[_] None		
	ស្រោមដៃ តែ	ប្បកជើងជ័រ ឃ្លូប ឬ ក វែង ម៉ាស់	អាវិការ	ms	មិនឃើ	ញ់មានអ្វីទាំអស់	
011 See	anyone wearing protective mat	erial while caring for or preparing poultr	y for foot 1	Yes 0[	] No		
ឃើរ	ពូអ្នកកំពុងសំអាតទ្រុងមាន់ទា ហើយមានល	៣ក់ សម្ភាះពាក់ការពារ					

ID Code	1 1	11	 	
oouc	 			

	a backward poultry formers
Chi	d Questionnaire
កំរងសំនួរ សំរាប់កុម	ារ អាយុ ១៥ ឆ្នាំ ឬ តិចជាង
Today Date:// Village ភូមិ	Interviewer's name Province tag
GPS	Province Village Family Interviewed member ID Code                (TK = Takeo, SV = Svey Rieng; PR=Pursat; BM=Banteay Meancheay; Exp. KC010105)
Instructions to Interviewer: ការណែនាំសំរាប់អ្នកសូរ	
កំរងសំនូវនេះប្រើសំរាប់សូរ កុមារអាយុ ១៥ ឆ្នាំ ឬ តិចជាង ។ សូមអានគ្រប់សំនូរទាំងអ	ស់ និង ធ្វើតាមការណែនាំក្នុងការលោតរំលងសំនូរ ទៅកាន់ផ្នែកផ្សេងៗ នៃកំរងសំនូរ ។
សុទតុសចំលើយលើរាល់សំនូរដែលបានសូរ និង សូមកុំរំលងសំនូរ បើមិនមានកំណត់សំគា	ល់ថាអោយរំលង។
សុមសរសេរលេខកូដ នៅផ្នែកខាងលើ ខាងស្តាំ ទំព័រនិមួយ១របស់កំរងសំនូរ ។ ការសរសេ	រវលេខកូដនេះមានសារៈសំខាន់ណាស់ ព្រោះថាទំព័រមុខរបស់កំរងសំនូរ នឹងត្រូវផ្តាច់ចេញ ហើយទុកដោយឡែក
មុននឹងធ្វើការបញ្ចាលទិន្នន័យ ។	
ប្រសិនបើអ្នកមានចំងល់ផ្សេង១ទាក់ទងនឹងកំរងសំនួរ សូមទូរស័ព្ទទាក់ទងទៅ ឈ្មោះ ម៉ា	វេរ៉ូ ដែលមានលេខ012 802 475 ឬ ទៅ ឈ្មោះ សុវត្ថិ ដែលមានលេខ012 322 031 ។
ពេលដែលបំពេញកំរងសំនូរចប់សព្វគ្រប់ សូបទុករក្សាទុកកំរងសំនូរជាមួយគ្នាដោយចាត់	ទៅតាមផ្ទះនិមួយៗ រហូតដល់ចប់ថ្ងៃនិមួយៗ។ បន្ទាប់ពីនោះទើប ទំព័រមុខនឹងត្រូវផ្តាច់ចេញពីកំរងសំនូរ ។
F. Questions for children only សន្ទរ សំរ	ាប់កុមារ
Poultry Handling Behavior in Children ឥវិយាបទរបស់ក្	មារ ក្នុងការប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទា
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនវណាជាអ្នកឆ្លើយនិ	ង សំនូវទាំងនេះ? a[] child កុមារ b[] parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្តាយ
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើ នរណាជាអ្នកឆ្លើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS:	ចំណំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្តាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូរទាំងនេះ
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនរណាជាអ្នកឆ្លើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g	ង សំនូវទាំងនេះ? a[] child កុមារ b[] parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្ដាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្ដាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូវទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?)
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនរណាជាអ្នកធ្វើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g រាល់សំនុរត្រូវសូរអំពីកុមារ (ឧទាហរណ៍ សំនូរសូរថា តើអ្នកចូលវៀនដែ	ង សំនូវទាំងនេះ? a[] child កុមារ b[] parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្ដាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្ដាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូវទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?) អេទេ? មានន័យថា តើកុមារចូលរៀនដែរឬទេ?)
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនវណាជាអ្នកធ្វើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g ពល់សំនូវត្រូវសូវអំពីកុមារ (ឧទាហរណ៍ សំនូវសូវថា កើអ្នកចូលវៀនដែ Read to respondent: I would like to ask you a question or I am speaking too fast, please let r ខ្ញុំចង់សុំសូវអ្នក នូវសំនូវខ្លះៗអំពីជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃវបស់អ្នក។ បើសិនអ្ន ខ្ញុំសុំសូវ ថា:	a សំនូវទាំងនេះ? a child កុមារ b parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្តាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្តាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូវទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?) រេទេ? មានន័យថា តើកុមារចូលរៀនដែរឬទេ?) few questions about your daily life. If you do not understand a me know and I will repeat the question. Ok, lets begin: ក្រមិនយល់ ឬ ខ្ញុំនិយាយលឿនពេក ស្ងូមអ្នកច្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសូវសំនូវនោះ ម្តងទៀត។
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនវណាជាអ្នកធ្វើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g រាល់សំនូវត្រូវសូវអំពីកុមារ (ឧទាហរណ៍ សំនូវសូវថា កើអ្នកចូលវៀនដែ Read to respondent: I would like to ask you a question or I am speaking too fast, please let r ខ្ញុំចង់សុំសូវអ្នក នូវសំនូវខ្លះៗអំពីជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃវបស់អ្នក។ បើសិនអ្ន ខ្ញុំសុំសូវ ថា:	a សំនូរទាំងនេះ? al child កុមារ bl parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្តាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្តាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូរទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?) នេះទេ? មានន័យថា តើកុមារចូលរៀនដែរឬទេ?) few questions about your daily life. If you do not understand a me know and I will repeat the question. Ok, lets begin: ក្រមិនយល់ ឬ ខ្ញុំនិយាយលឿនពេក ស្ងូមអ្នកព្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសួរសំនូរនោះ ម្តងទៀត។
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនវណាជាអ្នកធ្វើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g រាល់សំនូវត្រូវសូវអំពីកុមារ (ឧទាហរណ៍ សំនូវសូវថា កើអ្នកចូលវៀនដែ Read to respondent: I would like to ask you a question or I am speaking too fast, please let r ខ្ញុំចង់សុំសូវអ្នក ន្ធូវសំនូវខ្លះៗអំពីជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃវបស់អ្នក។ បើសិនអ្ន ខ្ញុំសុំសូវ ថា:	a សំនូវទាំងនេះ? all child កុមារ bl parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្តាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្តាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូវទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?) នេះទេ? មានន័យថា តើកុមារចូលវៀនដែរឬទេ?) few questions about your daily life. If you do not understand a me know and I will repeat the question. Ok, lets begin: ក្រមិនយល់ ឬ ខ្ញុំនិយាយលឿនពេក សូមអ្នកប្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសូវសំនូវនោះ ម្តងទៀត។
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនវណាជាអ្នកធ្វើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g ពល់សំនូវត្រូវសូវអំពីកុមារ (ឧទាហរណ៍ សំនូវសូវថា កើអ្នកចូលវៀនដែ Read to respondent: I would like to ask you a question or I am speaking too fast, please let r ខ្ញុំចង់សុំសូវអ្នក នូវសំនូវខ្លះ១អំពីជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃវបស់អ្នក។ បើសិនអ្ន ខ្ញុំសុំសូវ ថា: Child's Surname (only) ឈ្មោះកុមារ	a សំនូវទាំងនេះ? a child កុមារ b parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្តាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្តាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូវទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?) អេទេ? មានន័យថា កើកុមារចូលរៀនដែរឬទេ?) few questions about your daily life. If you do not understand a me know and I will repeat the question. Ok, lets begin: ក្រមិនយល់ ឬ ខ្ញុំនិយាយលឿនពេក សូមអ្នកប្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសូរសំនូវនោះ ម្តងទៀត។
Who is responding to this questionnaire? កើនវណាជាអ្នកធ្លើយនិ N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS: ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g ពល់សំនូវត្រូវសូវអំពីកុមារ (ឧទាហរណ៍ សំនូវសូវថា កើអ្នកចូលវៀនជែ Read to respondent: I would like to ask you a question or I am speaking too fast, please let r ខ្ញុំចង់សុំសួវអ្នក នូវសំនូវខ្លះៗអំពីជីវិតប្រចាំថ្ងៃរបស់អ្នក។ បើសិនអ្ន ខ្ញុំសុំសួវ ថា:          Child's Surname (only)         ឈ្មោះកុមារ         1         Sex of child       កេទរបស់កុមារ	ប្រុស 2□ Female ស្រី
Who is responding to this questionnaire?       เถี ธาณานามุกเมียนธิ         N.B. IF THE PARENT IS ANSWERING QUESTIONS:         ALL QUESTIONS REFER TO THE CHILD (e.g., Do you g         กบ่ณ้รูงเฏูงนุ่งหักีกุษาง (ลอาบาณ์ ณ้รูงนุงชา เสียุกรูดเปลี่น         Read to respondent:       I would like to ask you a         question or I am speaking too fast, please let r         รุ้ชหัญ้ญรมนก ธูงนั้งธูงระวามที่มีมีกิญชาไปรับบญ่มูกฯ เป็ญธิม         รุ้งหุ้ญรมนก ธูงนั้งธูงระวามที่มีมีกิญชาไปรับบญ่มูกฯ เป็ญธิม         ในและ         Child's Surname (only)         เณาะกุษาง         1         Sex of child       เกษรบญ่กุษาง         2       Age of child         มานุ่งบญ่กุษาง       เ	a សំនូវទាំងនេះ? a child កុមារ b parent ឪពុក ឬ ម្តាយ ចំណាំ បើសិនជា ឪពុកម្តាយធ្វើយនិងសំនូវទាំងនេះ o to school? Means does the child go to school?) Inser មានន័យថា កើកុមារចូលវៀនដែរឬទេ?) few questions about your daily life. If you do not understand a me know and I will repeat the question. Ok, lets begin: ក្រមិនយល់ ឬ ខ្ញុំនិយាយលឿនពេក សូមអ្នកប្រាប់ខ្ញុំ ខ្ញុំនឹងសួរសំនូវនោះ ម្តងទៀត។ 

4	Do you have poultry at home? កើជ្នះបុន មានចិញ្ចឹម មាន់ នា ដែយនេះ			
5	Do you help take care of poultry?	1 Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q#6
	Do you:	1[] Yes		
5a	Gather and place poultry in cages? កើអ្នក មានជួយចាប់មាន់ទា ដាក់ក្នុងទ្រុងដែរទេ?	1[]Yes		
5b	Feed poultry? កើមានជួយអោយចំណើមាន់ទាដែរទេ?	1[]Yes		
5c	Treat sick poultry with medicine? តើអ្នកមានជួយរកថ្នាំមកព្យាបាលមាន់ទាល់រីដែរទេ?	1[ ] Vos		
5d	Clean poultry faeces? តើអ្នកមានជួយសំអាតទេងមាន់ទាំងបនេ?			
5e	Touch eggs? កើអកមានជួយបើស ពងអាន់ ពួងនា អែរទេ?	I Yes	0[_] No	
6	Do you have fighting cocks at home?	1 Yes	0[_] No	
7		1 Yes	0[_] No	
-	Feed fighting cocks?	1[] Yes	0[] No RE	AD ALL Q7a-7g
/a	? ទារប្រដៅ ហជន។ ដែប្អូន មានជួយឱ្យចណ មានជល ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
76	louch bloody cocks? តែអ្នកធ្លាបបះពាល់ឈាមរមាន់ដល់ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
7c	Blow the beak? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់បឹកជំពុះមាន់ជល់ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
7d	Kiss, Suck or lick wounds? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់ បីត របួសមាន់ជល់ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
/e	តើអកធាប់បៀមទឹក ពេសអោយទឹកមាន់ដល់ ដែលទ?	1[ ].	01.1.1.	
7f	Clean trachea with swah or feathers?			
70		11187 1	∐Yes 0∐No	
8	Do you wear protective equipments (gloves, boots, aprons) when you care for poultry?	1	[] Yes 0[] No Yes 0[1No	9[]] If no poultry
	តើអ្នកពាក់អ្វីការពារទេនៅពេលដែលអ្នកថែរទាំមាន់ទា?		If NO, Go to Q#9	
	Do you wear: កើអ្នកពាក់		(សូមអានចំលើយ)	
8a	gloves ស្រោមដៃ	0[ ] No	0	
8b	boots សែក្រជើងកវ៉ែង 1[]Yes	0[ ] No	)	
8c	apron ខោអាវការពារយទាក់ 1[]Yes	0[ ] No	)	
8d	face mask การ์เย็าญัยอ 1[] Yes	0[ ] No	)	
9	Do you collect dead birds from outside of your home?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q#10
	ពេលប្រទះឃើញបក្សីងាប់នៅក្រៅផ្ទះ តើអ្នកដែលរើសយកមកផ្ទះដែរឬទេ?			
9a	Are these តើជាបក្សីស្រុក ឬ បក្សីព្រៃ? 1[] domestic poultry សត្វបក្	ស្រុក 2∐ w	ild birds សត្វបក្សីព្រៃ	9[_] Don't Know
10	Do you remove feathers from birds? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់បោចរោម មាន់ទា ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q#11
10a	Have you ever removed feathers from sick/dead birds?	45.12/22		
_	តេអ្នកធ្លាបបោចរោម មានទា ដែលឈរ ងាបដោយជង ដេរទេ?	1 Yes		
11	Do you help prepare poultry for family meals? កើអ្នកជួយធ្វើមាន់ទាសរាប់ធ្វើម្ហូបដែរទេ?	1[] Yes READ ALL	0[_] No 11a- 11g	
11a	Do you: Boil birds? កើអ្នកមានជួយស្មោរមាន់ទាដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
11b	Slaughter/bleed poultry? កើអកមានជួយអារក សំលាប់ មាន់ ទា ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
11c	Cut poultry meat? កើអកមានជយ កាប់សាច់ មាន់ ទា ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
11d	Wash poultry meat? កើមកមានជ័យ លោងសាក់ មាន់ ទា ដែរទេ?	1[_] Yes	0[_] No	
11e	Pomovo internal organs from birds? เรียกมายรับบริเบลโปลกปมาร์ตาไปประ	1[ ] Yes	0[_] No	
11f		1[ ] Yes	0[ ] No	
	wash internation បាននេះ នាងមកអ្នករាយដែលជាលា ពារទេស			

ID C	ode				

12 Do you hunt/catch wild birds? តើអ្នកបាញិរីចាប់សត្វបក្សីព្រៃដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q#13
12a Do you catch wild birds with bare hands? តើអ្នកចាប់សត្វបក្សីព្រៃនិងដៃទទេដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
13 Do you:		1941 - 14 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
13a Touch/Play with birds that are alive? កើអ្នកចាប់មាន់ទា (រស់) លេងដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
13b Touch/Play with sick birds? កើអ្នកលេងជាមួយមាន់ទាឈីដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
13c Touch/Play with dead birds? តើអ្នកមានរើស មាន់ទាងាប់ យកមកលេង ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
13d Attend cock fighting matches? តើអ្នកមានទៅមើលជល់មាន់ដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	
14 Do you have bath or swim in ponds where poultry have access to?			
តើអ្នកង្វតរីហែលទឹកក្នុងស្រះដែលមានមាន់ទាហែលលេងដែរទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	If NO, Go to Q#15
14a How many times per week? បើផ្ទាប់ តើអ្នកង្វតវីហែលប៉ុន្មានដងក្នុង១អាទិត្យ?			
1[_]1-3 ដង 2[_]3-5 ដង 3[_]5-6 ដង 4[_]everyday	រាល់ថ្ងៃ		
15 Do you wash your hands after touching poultry? 9[] If no poultry			
តើអ្នកលាងដៃបានរាល់ដង ដែរទេ ក្រោយពេលប៉ះពាល់មាន់ទារូច? 1[_] Always 2[_	] Sometimes	0[] Never	If Never, Go to Q#16
15a Do you use soap? តើអ្នកលាងជាមួយសាប៊ូ បានរាល់ដងឬទេ? 1[] Always 2[	] Sometimes	0[] Never	
Skip if parent is answering for the child បើអាណាព្យាបាលជាអ្នកឆ្លើយជំនួសក្	ម្រាវ (ដែលក្មេងពេរ	ក) សូមបពា្ចប់កំរងសំនុ	ព្វត្រឹមនេះ
Attitudes			
16 Can you tell if poultry is sick/ill? តើអ្នកដឹងថា មាន់ទា ណាឈី មាន់ទា ណាមិនឈីទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No <b>If NO or</b>	9[_] Don't Know <b>DK, Go to Q#17</b>
16a If Yes, how can you see that a chicken or ducks is sick? មាន់ទា ពេលវាឈី	តើវាធ្វើទុក្ខយ៉ាងព	មិចខ្លះ?	
			1010 0-4-0#40
17 Have you ever heard of bird flu? តើអ្នកធ្លាប់លីអពី ជងផ្តាសាយបក្សិ ដែវទេ?	1[] Yes		If NO, GO to Q#19
18 Where did you hear about bird flu? (check all that apply) កើអ្នកបានលើ	រ៉មកពីណាខ្លះ?		
a[] family សមាជិកគ្រូសាវ e[] TV ទូវទស	າງຣ໌		
b[] school/teacher សាលាវៀនវីគ្រូ f[] Village chief មេភូមិ	Ĵ		
c[] poster ផ្ទាំងរូបភាពអប់រំ g[] Village Vet បុគ្គលិ	កពេទ្យសត្វភូមិ		
d[] radio វិទ្យុ h[] others ជ្រេង	າ		
19 Can you get bird flu? តើបួនគិតថា ខ្លួនបួន អាចឆ្លងជំងឺផ្តាសាយបក្សីពី មាន់ទា ដែរឬទេ?	1[] Yes	0[_] No	9[_] Don't Know
20 How can you get bird flu? (open question) បើអាចឆ្លង តើបួនគិតថាវាឆ្លងមកបួន តាមណា, អ	ច្ឆងយ៉ាងដូចម្ដេច?	lf N	IO or DK, Go to Q#21
21 How can you protect yourself from getting bird flu? តើប្អូន គួរធ្វើយាំងដូចម្តេចខ្លះ ដើម្បីក	ការពារកុំអោយឆ្លងជំ	វំងីផ្តាសាយបក្សី មកខ្ល្	នប្អូនបាន?
***************************************			

# Appendix C: Interviewer Training Manual

Phase 1: November – December 2006 Phase 2: November – December 2007



### Interviewer Training Manual

## KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES AND PRACTICES (KAP) SURVEY OF BACKYARD POULTRY OWNERS AND THEIR FAMILIES

### Instructions

You have been hired to participate in a KAP survey of backyard poultry owners and their families. Your principal role is to conduct interviews with the study participants. Your role is very important for this study.

The purpose of the survey is to evaluate poultry handling behaviors of backyard poultry owners and their understanding of avian influenza ("bird flu"). Your task is to interview the subjects included in this study. The quality of your data collection is directly responsible for the quality of the data that will be used in this study.

You will be working in teams and your team responsibilities include:

- Inform village chief of purpose of study and obtain permission to include his village
- Identify households in village (5-6 households per village) to include in study
- Data collection: interview subjects
- Keep study files in order
- Maintain appropriate time schedule
- Report questions/problems to supervisor
- Provide feedback to supervisor

This manual provides details of your responsibilities. Please read this manual carefully. You can refer to this throughout the duration of the study if you have questions. You may also contact the supervisors at:

Maria Van Kerkhove 012 802 475

Sowath Ly 012 322 031

Interviewer Training Manual – H5N1 Survey in 6 Geographic Areas

288

1
Phase 1: November – December 2006 Phase 2: November – December 2007

Please enter your information here:

Name:\_\_\_\_\_

Phone number:\_\_\_\_\_

Email address:

Phase 1: November – December 2006 Phase 2: November – December 2007

### Procedures

You will be working in teams of 5 (1 team leader, 3 interviewers and 1 local guide). Each team will be provided a car and driver. Your role as a team is to administer the questionnaires to thirty people per village per day. Below is an outline of your procedures for each village your team visits. You and your team will be responsible for completing 5 villages per week (1 village [30 interviews] per day). Each step is described in detail below this flowchart.



At the end of the day, team leader will pay compensation to local guide (\$5) At the end of each day, you must have completed 10 male and 10 female adults (5 head of household and 15 adult) and 10 children

Interviewer Training Manual – H5N1 Survey in 6 Geographic Areas

3

Procedures in detail:

Step 1: Meet with village chief, explain study objectives to the village chief, get verbal consent to include his village, administer the "village chief" questionnaire

Each morning, you and your team will be driven to your assigned village. You must first find and meet with the village chief or vice village chief. Prior to your visit, the village chief will be contacted by IPC staff who will provide background of the study and arrange your visit.

The team leader will explain to the village chief that we would like to include their village in this KAP study of poultry handling behavior. In your explanation, you should include the following information:

- We would like to include 30 people from his village in the study,
- We will need one day to complete the questionnaires,
- There are no risks to his villagers to participate in the survey, and
- That we will compensate each participant for his or her time. Compensation includes a kit of thick rubber gloves and a bar of soap (worth approximately \$1).

Once the village chief agrees, the team leader will administer the VILLAGE CHIEF QUESTIONNAIRE (Appendix A). This is a short, one-page questionnaire. Ask the village chief to sketch an outline of the village, identifying roads, location of houses and boundaries of village.

Ask the village chief if he would like to accompany you as the local guide for the day. If he cannot, ask if he can provide a local guide. The local guide will be compensated \$5/day.







### Step 2: Identify households to include in study

After you've obtained verbal consent from the village chief and administered the VILLAGE CHIEF QUESTIONNAIRE, ask your local guide to bring you to the center of the village. From the center of the village, choose a direction to work through the village by spinning a pen on a flat surface. In that direction, you will choose ever N<sup>th</sup> house.

The sampling plan for:

- Team A include every 9<sup>th</sup> house
- Team B include every 3<sup>rd</sup> house
- Team C include every 6<sup>th</sup> house
- Team D include every 9<sup>th</sup> house

Using the example of the village sketch shown in Figure 1, we can show movement of Team B in orange. Houses are numbered from the center of the village, House 1, House 2, House 3, etc. Households 3, 6, 9, 12, etc (colored in red) should be included in the study.

Interviewer Training Manual – H5N1 Survey in 6 Geographic Areas

Phase 1: November – December 2006 Phase 2: November – December 2007



Figure 2. Selection of households

# Within each village you must complete a questionnaire for 10 adult (16 yrs old and older) males, 10 adult (16 yrs old and older) females and 10 children (15 and younger).

- For example, if you interview 6 people/household, you must visit 5 households to complete 30 interviews.
- For example, if you interview 5 people/household, you must visit 6 households to complete 30 interviews.

### Step 3: Obtain informed consent from household participants

Go as a team to your first household.

#### Team Leader:

Parents or guardians (e.g., grandparents) must be at home. If parents or guardians are not home, go to the next assigned household. The team leader will read the information sheet (Appendix B) to the entire family and identify the head of household and *at least four* other household members (adults and children) to include in the study. After you read the information sheet to the family, have each participant sign the informed consent form. If the participant is 17 years old or younger, the parent or guardian must sign the consent form for the participant. Each study participant must have a signed informed consent form before the interview takes place.

Once signed, store all informed consent forms in the team leaders binder.

Interviewer Training Manual – H5N1 Survey in 6 Geographic Areas

6

If members of the household are not home at the time of the initial visit, the team leader should make an appointment to revisit the house when the other residents are home. These people should be included in the 30 total interviews that you complete in your village.

## Step 4: Administer Questionnaires

At each house, the team should interview all residents that are present. These should include: 1 head of household (adult male or female), and any adults (either gender) and children (boy or girl).

The team leader is responsible for making sure that at the end of each day, your team has completed:

- (1) 1 Village Chief Questionnaire
- (2) 5 Head of Household Questionnaires ] 10 Adult Male
- (3) 15 Adult Questionnaires

∫ 10 Adult Female

(4) 10 Child Questionnaires

**Team leader:** Your team only needs to complete 5 Head of Household Questionnaires per day. If you visit more than 5 households per day, you only need to interview adults and children at the remaining households to reach your goal of 31 interviews per village.

Four questionnaires have been created for this survey. Below is a description of each questionnaire:

### 1- Village Chief Questionnaire (Appendix C)

A one-page questionnaire should be filled out by the team leader. These short questionnaires aim to collect basic information about the village (e.g., number of households, nearest health center) and data on middlemen that visit the village. The team leader will fill out 1 village chief questionnaire per village.

### 2- Head of household questionnaires (Appendix D)

This questionnaire is intended for the head of the household (an adult male or female) living in the house. This questionnaire is long and is intended for only ONE (1) family member per household. This questionnaire contains questions on addressing questions of poultry ownership, raising, mixing, movement (trading, selling and transport), fighting cock ownership, extent of wild bird mixing; poultry handling behavior, mortality reporting, knowledge and attitudes about AI. One interviewer (Interviewer #1) will be responsible for administering the head of household questionnaire only (5/day).

# 3- Adult family member, not head of household, who is 15 years old or older (Appendix E)

This questionnaire is intended for all other adults (not the head of household) residing in the household. This questionnaire contains some of the same questions as the "head of household questionnaire" however it is shorter in length. The questionnaire contains questions addressing poultry handling behavior, mortality reporting, knowledge and attitudes about AI. The

Interviewer Training Manual – H5N1 Survey in 6 Geographic Areas

remaining two interviewers (Interviewer #2 and #3) will be responsible for administering 7-8 the adult family member questionnaires per day.

### 4- Children under 15 years old (Appendix F)

The third questionnaire is very short and intended only for children less than 15 years old, specifically addressing poultry handling behavior. Your objective is to ask the child these questions directly, however if the child cannot answer questions directly, you should address questions to the parent or guardian. The remaining two interviewers will be responsible for administering 5 child questionnaires each per day.

### Filling in the Questionnaire

### **Questionnaire ID coding**

At the top of each questionnaire, there is a location where the interviewer should fill in the participant ID. For each participant you should fill in a two letter ID for *PROVINCE*, where PV code for Prey Veng KC code for Kampong Cham

A two digit ID for *VILLAGE* 01 – 20 (see attached list for Village)

A two-digit code for *FAMILY*. For example, the first family you interview should be coded 01, the second family you visit should be coded 02, etc.

A two-digit code for *INTERVIEWED MEMBER*. For example, the first person you interview in the household should be coded 01, the second family member should be coded 02.

Members of the same household will have the SAME family code, but different interviewed member code. For example, during your *first* household visit in Banteay Meanchey, village 01, you should code the head of household family member:

The *second* family member should be coded:

B_  _M	_0_  _1_	0_  _1	0_  _2
Province	Village	Family	Interviewed Member

### **GPS** Coding

With your GPS meter, record the coordinates at the front door of the house you are visiting. These coordinates should be written on the questionnaire in the box indicated below. Be sure to record these coordinates on the head of household questionnaire.

GPS

# Procedures for asking questions in structured interviewers

Your role as an interviewer is to conduct structured interviews with backyard poultry owners. You need to ensure uniform answers from ALL respondents. We want to make sure that all interviews are conducted exactly the same way. Steps 1-8 below provide instructions on how to conduct structured interviews.<sup>1</sup>

- 1) Read the questions exactly as they are worded in the questionnaire
- 2) Read each question slowly
- 3) Ask the questions in the order that they are presented in the questionnaire
- 4) Ask every question that applies to the respondent (all questions that are not appropriate for the respondent will be indicated with "skip" instructions)
- 5) Repeat the whole question if it is misheard or misunderstood
- 6) Use only <u>allowable</u> probes. For example:
  - a. If a respondent does not answer a question completely, you can ask "What do you mean exactly?" or say "I don't think that I understand." "Could you explain that a little?"
  - b. Other allowable probes include: For questions that ask to define quantity, if the respondent it too vague (e.g., once or twice a month) you can ask "Can you be more exact?" For open-ended questions, if you feel the respondent has provided an incomplete answer, you can ask "Is there anything else that you can think of?"
- 7) Do not add apologies or explanations for questions unless they are printed in the questionnaire
- 8) Provide feedback to the respondent. For example, say "thank you," "uh-huh" or "ok" while the respondent is answering questions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Adapted from Armstrong BK, While E and Saracci R. Principles of Exposure Measurement in Epidemiology, Monographs on Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Oxford University Press, 1995.

### Step 5: Review and store completed forms

Before you and your team leave the household, a<u>ll team members should take a few minutes to</u> look over their completed questionnaires. The team leader is responsible to ensure that:

- There is an answer for EVERY question that is appropriate for the respondent in the questionnaire. If you do not, you will need to re-ask the participant.
- The participants ID code is written in the top right hand corner of each page of their questionnaire.
- The GPS code for the household is written on the front page of each questionnaire filled out at that household.

All completed forms (consent forms, questionnaires) should be stored in the "COMPLETED FORMS" binder. Keep all forms for each household together and clip together with a paper clip.

### Maintaining interviewing timing

The team leader is responsible for maintaining time throughout the day. It will be essential to keep your team on schedule throughout the data collection. Your team will be responsible for completing 5 villages per week; this means completing 1 village (30 interviews) each day. We only have one week to complete each study area.

Check List:

Below is a list of the tasks you must complete during each household visit.

Check when complete	Description of task
Obtain inform	ned Consent
	The village chief has given verbal consent
	The team leader has read the information sheet to all household members and answered any questions of the family
	I have a signed informed consent sheet from ALL participants in the household
	I have filed all signed informed consent sheets in the team leaders binder
	Make appointment for household members not at home during initial visit
Fill out quest	ionnaire
	I have written my initials in the space provided at the top of the questionnaire
	I have assigned an ID number to each participant
	I have written the ID number on the top of each page of the participants questionnaire
	I have recorded the GPS coordinates for the house and written the coordinates on each participant from this household
	Interviewer 1 has administered a head of household questionnaire
	Interviewer 2 has administered a household adult questionnaire #1
	Interviewer 3 has administered a child questionnaire #1
	Interviewer 2 has administered a child questionnaire #2
	Interviewer 3 has administered a household adult questionnaire #2
, , , , , ,	The team has completed 5 questionnaires from this house
	I have given a compensation kit to each participant
Checking th	e questionnaire
	All questionnaires have been checked for completeness
Storing que	stionnaires
	I have stored all completed questionnaires in my binder
At the end o	f each day:
	My team has completed 31 interviews, including
	<ul> <li>10 adult males &gt; 15 years old</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>10 adult females &gt;15 years old</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>10 children ≤ 15 years old</li> </ul>
	1 village chief
	<ul> <li>Team leader, provide compensation (\$5) for local guide</li> </ul>

Phase 1: November – December 2006 Phase 2: November – December 2007

# KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES AND PRACTICES (KAP) SURVEY OF BACKYARD POULTRY OWNERS AND THEIR FAMILIES

### Contract For Interviewer

I \_\_\_\_\_\_ agree to work as an interviewer in the Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices

(KAP) Survey of Backyard poultry owners and their families. I understand my responsibilities

described in the training manual. By signing this contract, I agree to:

- 1. Work <u>as a team</u> to interview 30 adults and children in one village each day
- 2. To complete 5 villages per week
- 3. To work all four weeks of the survey
  - a. Kampong Cham: 28 November 3 December 2007
  - b. Rest day: 4 December
  - c. Prey Veng: 5 December 9 December 2007
- 4. I understand that I will be paid \$15/day; including travel days and that I will be paid half of the amount earned each week of the survey (\$45). My remaining salary will be paid at the *completion* of data collection.
- 5. The cost of travel will be taken care of by IPC.
- 6. I understand that the cost of food and guest house is my own responsibility

Signed

Name Printed: Interviewer Date: 21 Nov 2007 Maria Van Kerkhove Institut Pasteur du Cambodge Date: 21 Nov 2007

# Appendix D: Consent Forms in English and Khmer

# ភារសិត្សាពី ចំណេះដ៏១, ឥរិយាមថ សិខ ការអនុទត្ត (KAP) ពត៌មានសំរាប់អ្នកចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សា

យើងខ្ញុំសូមអោយអ្នកចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សាស្រាវជ្រាវអំពីងំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាស់សាយបក្សី ។ គោលបំណងនៃលិខិតយល់ ព្រមនេះគឺ ផ្តល់ជូនលោកអ្នក នូវពត៌មានដែលលោកអ្នកត្រូវការដើម្បីជាជំនួយក្នុងការសំរេចចិត្ត ថាតើគួរចូល រូមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះឬអត់ ។ យើងខ្ញុំនឹងអានលិខិតយល់ព្រមនេះអោយអ្នកស្តាប់ ។ អ្នកក៏គួរតែអានលិខិតយល់ ព្រម និង ពត៌មាននេះដោយយកចិត្តទុកដាក់ ។ លោកអ្នកអាចសួរយើងខ្ញុំបានទាក់ទងនឹងគោលបំណង នៃការ សិក្សាស្រាវជ្រាវ អ្វីដែលយើងខ្ញុំចង់អោយអ្នកធ្វើ គ្រោះថ្នាក់ និង ផលប្រយោជន៍ដែលលោកអ្នកទទួលបាន សិទ្ធិរបស់លោកអ្នកក្នុងនាមជាអ្នកស្ម័គ្រចិត្ត និងអ្វីផ្សេងទៀតទាក់ទងនឹងការស្រាវជ្រាវ ឬ លិខិតនេះដែល លោកអ្នកមិនទាន់យល់ច្បាស់ ។ នៅពេលគ្រប់សំនូររបស់អ្នកត្រូវបានឆ្លើយតបហើយ លោកអ្នកអាចសំរេចចិត្ត បានថាគួរចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះ ឬ អត់ ។ ម្យ៉ាងវិញទៀត យើងខ្ញុំចង់អោយអ្នកដឹងថា យើងខ្ញុំបានទាក់ទង ទៅប្រធានភូមិរបស់អ្នកហើយ ហើយគាត់បានយល់ព្រមអោយយើងខ្ញុំធ្វើការសិក្សានៅក្នុងភូមិរបស់អ្នក ។

> អាស័យដ្ឋានទាក់ទងរបស់អ្នកអង្កេត: ម៉ារីយា វាន់ ឃើកឃូវ វិទ្យាស្ថានប៉ាស្ទ័រ័កម្ពុជា. ផ្នែក អេពីដេមីសាស្ត្រ ភ្នំពេញ. កម្ពុជា <u>maria@pasteur-kh.org</u> ទូរស័ព្ទ: (៨៥៥) ១២ ៨០២ ៤៧៥

# លេតុផលនៃការសិត្យាៈ

យើងខ្ញុំសូមអោយអ្នកចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សាដើម្បីរកអោយឃើញពីរបៀបដែលមនុស្សពេញវ័យ និង កុមារ មាន ទំនាក់ទំនង ជាមួយបសុបក្សី (មាន់, ទា...) នៅតាមផ្ទះ។ ប្រសិនបើ អ្នកចង់ចូលរួម គេនឹងសួរអ្នកទាក់ទងនឹង ការចិញ្ចឹមបសុបក្សី, ឥរិយាបថ នៃការគ្រប់គ្រងបសុបក្សី, ការរាយការណ៍ពីការស្លាប់របស់បសុបក្សី និង ចំនេះដឹង និង តរិយបថ ចំពោះមុខ ជំងឺគ្រុនផ្តាស់សាយបក្សី។

អ្នកមិនមានព្រោះថ្នាក់ទាំងអស់ក្នុងការចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះ ។

ប្រសិនអ្នកមានសំនូរអំពីការសិក្សានេះ អ្នកអាចសូរក្រុមអ្នកធ្វើការសិក្សានៅពេលដែលពួកគេចុះជួបអ្នក។

# សិន្និតូចការបដិសេន ឬ ឧតុទ្ទូលចេញ:

អ្នកមានសិទ្ធិក្នុងការចូលរួម ឬ មិនចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះ។ បើសិនជាអ្នកជ្រើសរើសចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សា នេះ អ្នកមានសិទ្ធិដកខ្លួនចេញនៅពេលក្រោយ។

# ការអត្សាការសំខាត់

ពត៌មានផ្ទាល់ខ្លួនរបស់អ្នក នឹងរក្សារទុកជាសំងាត់ និង មិនចែកចាយដល់ អ្នកណាម្នាក់ក្រៅពីអ្នកអង្កេតចំបង។ វិទ្យាស្ថានប៉ាស្ថ័រកម្ពុជានឹងបង់លេខនៅលើកំរងសំនួរដែលអ្នកបានឆ្លើយ និង រក្សាពត៌មាននេះនៅកន្លែងដែល មានសុវត្ថិភាព។ រាល់ពត៌មានដែលយើងខ្ញុំប្រមូលបានពីអ្នក នឹងត្រូវបង់ លេខដូចលេខនៅលើកំរងសំនួរ។ យើងខ្ញុំ នឹងមិនអាចដឹងថាលេខណាមួយជាលេខរបស់អ្នកទេ។

# តំលៃ/ការចំណរយក្លួចការចូលរួម

មិនមានការបង់ប្រាក់ទេក្នុងការចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះទេ ហើយអ្នកនឹងមិនទទួលបាននូវកំរៃអ្វីពីការចូលរួម ក្នុងការសិក្សានេះទេ គីមានតែ "កញ្ចប់ឧបត្តម្ភ" រួមមាន ស្រោមដៃជ័រ និង សាប៊ូដុំ ដែលនឹងប្រគល់អោយអ្នកជាការតបស្នងចំពោះការចំណាយពេលវេលារបស់អ្នក។

# **เ**กษพื้ณธยั

តណៈកម្មាធិការក្រមសីលធម៌កម្ពុជា ក្រសួងសុខាភិបាល និង គណៈកម្មាធិការក្រមសីលធម៌ របស់ មហា វិទ្យាល័យ London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine បានយល់ព្រមអនុញ្ញាតិ ឱ្យធ្វើការការសិក្សារនេះហើយ។

# สารเพิสุราถี ยํณោะ2ีอ, สงียราชส ล๊อ สารหลุธสู (KAP) ณิอิสยงช่าญช

ខ្ញុំបានអានពត៌មានដែលទាក់ទងនឹងការសិក្សានេះ ឬ បានស្តាប់ការពន្យល់ និង យល់ពីអ្វីដែលគេត្រូវការពីខ្ញុំ និង ពីអ្វីដែលនឹងកើតមានដល់ខ្ញុំ នៅពេលដែលខ្ញុំចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះ ។ គ្រប់សំនូវរបស់ខ្ញុំត្រូវបានឆ្លើយដោយបុគ្គលិករបស់គំរោង ។ ខ្ញុំដឹងថា ខ្ញុំអាចដកខ្លួនពីការសិក្សានេះពេលណាក៏បានដោយពុំចាំបាច់មានបញ្ជាក់ពីហេតុផល ។

# หูหยุญ**เขหาย**ุ od ឆ្<del>លាំ</del> ឬ ឈើស:

ខ្ញុំយល់ព្រមចូលរូមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះ ។ ខ្ញុំយល់ថាការចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះជាជំរើសរបស់ខ្ញុំ ។ ខ្ញុំដឹងថា ខ្ញុំអាចបដិសេធ មិនចូលរូមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះពេលណាក៏បានដោយមិនមានទទួលការពិន័យ ។

.....

ហត្ថលេខារបស់អ្នកចូលរួម

ថ្ងៃខែឆ្នាំ

# សំរាច់គុមារអាយុត្រោមអាយុត្រោម ១៤ ឆ្លាំ:

ខ្ញុំយល់ព្រមអោយកូនខ្ញុំចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះ ។ ខ្ញុំយល់ថាការចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះជាជំរើសរបស់ខ្ញុំ។ ខ្ញុំដឹងថា ខ្ញុំ អាចបដិសេធមិនអោយកូនខ្ញុំចូលរួមក្នុងការសិក្សានេះពេលណាក៏បានដោយមិនមានទទួលការពិន័យ ។

ហត្ថលេខារបស់ឪពុកម្តាយ ឬ អាណាព្យាបាល	ីថ្ងខែឆ្នាំ
ឈ្មោះរបស់កូន (សរសេរ)	
 ហត្ថលេខារបស់អ្នកអង្កេត	ិថ្ងៃខែឆ្នាំ

### **Knowledge Attitudes and Practice (KAP) Survey INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPANTS**

#### Investigator's statement:

We are asking you to be in a research study about bird flu. The purpose of the consent form is to give you the information you need to help you decide whether or not you want to participate in the study. We will read the consent form to you. You should also read the Information Sheet and the Consent Form carefully. You may ask questions about the purpose of the study, what we are asking you to do, the possible risks and benefits from the study, your rights as volunteer, and anything else about the study or the Consent Form that is not clear. When all your questions have been answered, you can decide whether you want to participate. This process is called "informed consent". In addition, we also would like you to know that your village Chief has been contacted. He approved that we conduct the study in your village among those who are willing to participate.

> Contact details of investigator: Maria Van Kerkhove Institut Pasteur du Cambodge Epidemiology Unit Phnom Penh, Cambodia <u>maria@pasteur-kh.org</u> Mobile: (855) 12 802 475

#### Reason for the Study:

You are being asked to participate in a study to find out how adults and children interact with backyard poultry. If you wish to participate, you will be asked a series of questions about poultry ownership and raising practices, poultry handling behavior, poultry mortality reporting, and knowledge and attitudes about bird flu.

There are no risks to joining this study.

If you have any questions throughout the study, you can ask the study team when they visit you.

#### **Right to Refuse or Withdraw:**

You are free to join the study or not. If you choose to join the study, you are free to drop out later. If you do not join the study, you can still get medical treatment as you have done in the past.

#### **Confidentiality:**

We will not record your name on the questionnaires. Personal information and information related to your behavior will be kept private and will not be shared with anyone other than the principal investigator. The Institut Pasteur, Cambodia will assign a number to your questionnaire and will keep this information in a secure place. Any facts that we collect about you will be labeled with this number. We will not have any way of knowing what number is assigned to you.

#### Cost / payment to participate:

There is no cost to you for participating in the study. You will not be paid for joining the study but a "compensation kit" containing rubber gloves and soap will be provided to you as a compensation of your time.

#### **Ethical Considerations:**

The Cambodian Ethical Committee, Ministry of Health and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Ethical Committee have approved this study.

### Knowledge Attitudes and Practice (KAP) Survey CONSENT FORM

I have read the information sheet concerning this study or have understood the verbal explanation and understand what will be required of me and what will happen to me if I take part in the study.

My questions have been answered by project staff.

In understand that at any time I may withdraw from this study without giving a reason.

### PARTICIPANTS 18 YEARS OLD AND OLDER

### I AGREE TO BE PART OF THIS STUDY. I UNDERSTAND THAT BEING PART OF THIS STUDY IS MY CHOICE. I UNDERSTAND THAT I CAN REFUSE TO BE PART OF THE STUDY AT ANY TIME WITHOUT PENALTY.

Parents or guardians' signature

Date

FOR CHILDREN UNDER 18 YEARS OF AGE:

### I AGREE FOR MY CHILD TO BE PART OF THIS STUDY. I UNDERSTAND THAT BEING PART OF THIS STUDY IS MY CHOICE. I UNDERSTAND THAT I CAN REFUSE TO HAVE MY CHILD BE PART OF THE STUDY AT ANY TIME WITHOUT PENALTY.

Parents or guardians' signature

Date

Child's Name (printed)

Investigator signature

Date





Unicef logo	

# Appendix E: Ethics Approval Forms from LSHTM and the Cambodian Ministry of Health



ເຮັດ ເຮັດ MINISTRY OF HEALTH ສຸດລະສອງເຮົາກາະລາສົ່ງສູຮເດັນສອິ ພໍກອ່ສາາງເຮາຮຽກຮັດເອສາດເຂັດນລາສໍລອລ້ອຍຂຸດເງ ational Ethics Committee for Health Research

 ព្រះរាទាននារចក្រភម្ពុទា KINGDOM OF CAMBODIA ទាត់ សាសនា ព្រះមទារក្សត្រ NATION RELIGION KING

រាជចានីភ្នំពេញ, ថ្ងៃទី.08.ខែ.11...ឆ្នាំ200 6

Dr. Sirenda Vong Principal Investigator

Project: Knowledge, Attitudes and practice survey to evaluate poultry handling behaviour among backyard poultry owners and their families and poultry market merchants : a crosssectional survey of 4 geographicareas

**Reference:** November 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2006 NEC meeting minute

Dear Dr. Sirenda Vong,

I am please to notify you that your project entitled "Knowledge, Attitudes and practice survey to evaluate poultry handling behaviour among backyard poultry owners and their families and poultry market merchants: a cross-sectional survey of 4 geographic areas" has been approved by the National Ethics Committee for Health Research in the meeting on November 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2006.

The principal investigator of the project shall also submit a copy of the progress and final report to the committee's secretariat at the National Institute of Public Health at #2 Kim Il Sung Blvd., Khan Tuol Kok, Phnom Penh, Cambodia.( Tel: 855-23-880-345, Fax: 855-23-880-346)

Regards,

Chairman

H.E. Prof. ENG HUOT

 , <u>and and an</u>	$\{ V $	ELE
 .1 5	NGV	2005
·*************************************		STELL

### LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

#### **ETHICS COMMITTEE**

.

.



APPROVAL FORM Application number:	5064
Name of Principal Investigator	Maria Van Kerkhove
Department	Epidemiology and Population Health
Head of Department	Pat Doyle

Title: The epidemiology of highly pathogenic avian influenza in Cambodia: Evaluating the movement of poultry and the extent of interaction between poultry and humans as measures of the risks of sustained transmissions in poultry and onward transmission to humans

Approval of this study is granted by the Committee.

Chair T.W. Meade Professor Tom Meade

Date 20 November 2006

Approval is dependent on local ethical approval having been received.

Any subsequent changes to the consent form must be re-submitted to the Committee.

# **Appendix F: Questionnaires for Poultry Traders**

**Market Sellers** 

Middlemen

## H5N1 Survey of Wet/Live Market Merchants

oday Date://		Interviewe	r's name:			
Ques	tions for wet market	/ live market	workers			
ame of Market			1.			
illage	ID Code	Province	Village	Market 5	Subject #	
Commune	(TK = Take	o, SV = Svey Rie	eng; PR=Pur	sat; BM=Bantea	y Meancheay	)
District	GPS	<u> </u>				_!
Province						_
nstructions to intervewer The following series of questions are to be informed verbal consent before observation Do not record the respondant's name anyw Write the ID Code at the top of each page	filled out by the you th ns are recorded. where on the questionr of this questionnaire ir	nrough observ naire. n the space pr	ations of t ovided (uj	he market. Notes the market of the market	You must of nd corner o	btain f the page)
beenvational Questions: Market Level		Alivo	Dead	Whole	Part	Organs
What animals are sold at this market? Other animals Other animals Other animals Ane multiple species of birds caged toge Are multiple species of birds caged toge Are ANY birds roaming freely at this market? Are there faeces an the ground at the market Are there faeces an the ground at the market Che remaining questions should be ans cocation of Stall Description of Stall Description of Stall (location)	<ul> <li>☐ Chickens</li> <li>☐ Geese</li> <li>☐ Singing birds</li> <li>☐ Fighting cocks</li> <li>☐ Ducks</li> <li>☐ Pigs</li> <li>☐ Cows</li> <li>☐ Fish</li> </ul> ther at this market? ther at this market? ther at this market? ther at the STALL wered at the STALL	0 	alls	1 Yes 3 Poultry 1 Yes 3 Yes	0[_] No is already 0[_] No	dead
		Albert	Deed	W/holo	Part	Organs
Observational Questions: Stall Level 7. What animals are sold at this stall?	<ul> <li>Chickens</li> <li>Geese</li> <li>Singing birds</li> <li>Fighting cocks</li> <li>Ducks</li> <li>Pigs</li> <li>Cows</li> </ul>					
□ Other animals	☐ Fish	🗆				
<ul> <li>3. Are multiple species of birds kept togeth</li> <li>b) How are birds stored at this stall?</li> <li>c) 9a If caged, are there trays to ca</li> <li>c) Are there faces an the ground at the</li> </ul>	ner at this stall? [] All Caged 4[] Some caged/se atch faecal matter und stall?	2[_] Free r ome free roar lerneath each	oaming ning cage?	1[_] Yes 3[_]Poultry 5[_] Tied to 1[_] Yes 1[_] Yes	0[_] No y is already ogether 0[_] No 0[_] No	dead

	ne are to be asked directly to the				
questions will be kept	confidential. Their name will not	appear an	<ul> <li>Assure the merchant where on this question</li> </ul>	t that the answers to th maire and their information	e following
be shared with anyon	e without their consent.				
11. Respondent:	1[] Male 0[] Female				and the stand
12. Age	years old				
13. How long have yo	bu been trading at this market?				
14 What type of trad	s than 1 yr 2[]Between 1-	-2 yrs	3[] Between 2-3 yrs	4[] More than	3 yrs
14. What type of trad	1[] Sell poultry only	1[] Buy p	oultry only	1[] Sell & buy poultry	,
al de contente				Mala E-mal	
15. How many people	are working at the stall today?				
15a How many peopl	e are responsible for preparing po	oultry for sa	le?		
	the second s			How many M/F are	
Is his do	one at the market or at home?		re	esponsible for each ta	ask?
155	Boiling	□ home	market		
150	Bleeding	□ home	market		
150	Defeathering				
150	Removing internal organs				
150	Evisceration before selling?				
16. Are birds boiled (	scalded) before defeathering?	Linome	L market		
17. Are there separat	e areas for each of the above task	(s?			
18. Are the merchant	s wearing				9 DK
18a	□ gloves			1[]Yes 0[]No	
18b	□ boots			1[]Yes 0[]No	
18c	aprons			1[] Yes 0[] No	
18d	□ face mask (plastic)			1 Yes 0 No	
18e	□ face mask (cotton)			1[]Yes 0[]No	
18f	□ other			1[] Yes 0[] No	
19. Are equipment ci	saned after each use (after each b	bird)?	4/2		9 DK
21. Is there a separat	area for slaughtering and selling	er each bir	u)?		
22. How are carcasse	es and other waste disposed of?	g :			
		1.1.1.1.1.1			
23.How many times a	a week do you clean your poultry o	ages/area	s?    time	saweek 99 [] Nev	
23a When y					er
	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?			1[]Yes 0[]No	er
24. How many middle	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? men do you buy from?	/ 	0 if the obtain poultry	1[] Yes 0[] No themselves	er
24. How many middle 24a Where	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? men do you buy from?	/ 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK	1[] Yes 0[] No themselves	er
24. How many middle 24a Where o	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from?   to they/you bring poultry from? Province	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District	1[_] Yes 0[_] No themselves Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from?	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District	1[ ] Yes 0[ ] No themselves Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[_] 2[_]	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? men do you buy from?   do they/you bring poultry from? Province Vietnam Thailand	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District	1[ ] Yes 0[ ] No themselves Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[ 2[_] 3[3	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? amen do you buy from? [	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District	1[_]Yes 0[_]No themselves Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[_] 2[_] 3[_] 4[_]	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from? [ do they/you bring poultry from? Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District	1[_]Yes 0[_]No themselves Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[2 2[3 3[ 4[25.Where were your	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from? [	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District	1[_]Yes 0[_]No themselves Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[_] 2[_] 3[_] 4[_] 25.Where were your	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from? [ do they/you bring poultry from? Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia chickens last purchased from? Province	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District District	1[_]Yes 0[_]No themselves Village Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[2 2[3 3[ 25.Where were your 1[	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from? [	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District District	1[_]Yes 0[_]No themselves Village Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[ 2[ 3[ 4[ 25.Where were your 1[ 2[	ou clean, do you use disinfectant? emen do you buy from? [ do they/you bring poultry from? Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia chickens last purchased from? Province Vietnam Thailand	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District District	1[_]Yes 0[_]No themselves Village Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1[ 2[ 3[ 25.Where were your 1[ 2[ 3[3[	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  do they/you bring poultry from?  Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia chickens last purchased from?  Vietnam Thailand Cambodia chickens last purchased from?  Province Vietnam Cambodia Cambodia	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9 ] DK District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1 2 2 3 3 4 25.Where were your 1 2 3 3 4 4	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  do they/you bring poultry from?  Province Vietnam Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Chickens last purchased from?  Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia		0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1 2 2 3 3 4 25.Where were your 1 2 3 3 3 4 3 3	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  do they/you bring poultry from?  Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Lucks last purchased from?	, 	0 if the obtain poultry 9 9] DK District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village         Village       Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1 2 3 3 4 25.Where were your 1 2 3 3 4 26.Where were your	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  do they/you bring poultry from?  Province Vietnam Cambodia		0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village         Village       Village         Village       Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1 2 2 3 3 4 25.Where were your 1 2 3 3 4 3 1 2 6.Where were your 1	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  be they/you bring poultry from?  Province Vietnam Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Cambodia Lambodia La		0 if the obtain poultry 9 9] DK District District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village         Village       Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1 2 2 3 2 5.Where were your 1 2 3 4 3 2 6.Where were your 1 2 2 6.Where were your 1 2 2	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  Derivince  Vietnam  Thailand  Cambodia  Thailand  Cambodia  Cambodia  Thailand		0 if the obtain poultry 9[_] DK District District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village         Village       Village	er
24. How many middle 24a Where 1 2 2 3 2 5.Where were your 1 2 3 3 4 2 6.Where were your 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ou clean, do you use disinfectant?  amen do you buy from?  Derovince Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia Chickens last purchased from?  Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Cambodia Lucks last purchased from?  Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Lucks last purchased from?  Province Vietnam Thailand Cambodia Lucks last purchased from?		0 if the obtain poultry 9 9] DK District District District	1[]Yes       0[]No         themselves       Village         Village       Village         Village       Village	er

27 How many times a	week de un		1 1 2					
27a Chickens	week do you	receive live a	animals?	071 8				
28. How many animals	do vou rece	ive in each sh	inment?	27b Ducks		answer 7	for everyday	1
28a Chickens				28b Ducks		1 . 1		
29.How are your anim	nals transport	ed?			′ ! <u></u> !!_			
29a Chickens	1[] Moto 2	Car 3	Truck	29b Ducks	1[] Moto	2[] Car	3[] Truck	
Origin of Poultry	a monthe die	Lyou obyour a	analisa anton					
30a If no, w	here do vou r	eceive animal	s from?	is from the same	e location?		1[] Yes	0[] No
	Province	Die	trict				1 Yes	
1 [] Vietnam		013	thet		Chickens#	Ducks #	Other (#)	
2 [ ] Theiland								
		-						
S Cambodia								
4 🗋 Cambodia								
5 [] Cambodia								
6 [] Cambodia								
7 [] Cambodia								
33. What do you do v 33a Where	1 [] bring h do you live: 1	at you are una ome 2 [	able to sell du ] slaughter/ki	ring the day?	: Village:			
34.During the last 6 r	nonths, have	e you received	or sold poult	ry to other place	es you have	nt mentione	ed?	01 1 10
34a If yes, where	,						I res	
		Province	Land States	District		Village	Chickens	Ducks
1[]	Vietnam							
2[	Thailand							
3[	Cambodia							
4[	Cambodia							
Seasonality in poul	try trading a	ctivities						
35. Which months an	e peak seaso	ns (l.e., seaso	ons when you	sell more than the	the normal a	during thi	s month	
monur		Ch:	akanay J		Ducks		- 1 1	
a		Chi	ckens:		Ducks	· II	-	
b		Chi	ckens:		Ducks	;  l-		
c		Chi	ckens:		Ducks			
d		Chi	ckens:		Ducks	-	-	
36 Do you	have a mobi	e phone num	ber?					
00-14	contact you	again?	1[]	es Ul No				

H5N1 Survey of Middler	men
------------------------	-----

Today Date://	Interviewer's name:
Verbal consent given? 1∐ Yes 0∐ No Signa	ature of Interviewer
Questions	s for MIDDLEMEN
Province Subject Number	
Location of Interview:	1[_] Market Specify:
GPS	0[_] Other <b>Specify:</b>
Demographic information of respondent	
D1 Sex ePT 1[] Male Rbu:2[] Fem	ale RsI
D2 Age GayIII years old qñaM	
D3 Address Gas <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> yda[a] Village	PU
[b] Commune	Xu
[c] Distict	Rs
[d] Province	ext

### H5N1 Survey of Middlemen

### Page 2

3 Where are th	e villages located w	where you <b>BUY</b> chickens	and ducks?	# visits each	Quantity each	purchased week?	Are anii (3) d	mals (1) ali ead, not pr	ve, (2) prepared repared when
	Province	District	Village	week	Chickens	Ducks	11 1 0	purcha	ased?
a 1[] Vietnam				<u> </u>	l <mark>   </mark>				
2 2 Thailand							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
c 3[_] Cambodia #1							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
d 4[_] Cambodia #2							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
e 5[_] Cambodia #3							1[] A	2[_] P	3[] D/NP
8f 6[_] Cambodia #4							1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
g 7[ ] Cambodia #	5						1[] A	2[_] P	3[] D/NP
h 8[_] Cambodia #	3						1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3i 9[_] Cambodia #	7						1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3j 10[_] Cambodia ♯	8						1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3k 11[_] Cambodia #	9						1[] A	2[] P	3[] D/NP
3I 12[_] Cambodia #	:10						1[] A	2[_] P	3[] D/NP
Ansporting poultry How are your animal 4a. Chicke 4b. Duc 6 Are chickens and	s transported? ns 1[_] Moto 2 ks 1[_] Moto 2 ducks mixed durin	>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	5. Do you transpo 5a <b>Chick</b> 5b <b>Du</b> y birds can you carry	rt birds dea ens 1[_] Ali cks 1[_] Ali on your ve	d or alive o ve 2[_] De ve 2[_] De hicle?	r both? ad 3[ ad 3[ 7a <b>Ch</b> i	_] Both _] Both <b>ickens:</b>  _	

H5N1	Surve	y of	Middlemen
------	-------	------	-----------

How many locations (market or house) do you SELL poultry?			ls this a			How many animals do	
	Where are the locations and how far are they from your purchasing village?			ket or	from village	you sell each week?	
	Province District Vi	lage	[H]o	use?	purchased	Chickens	Ducks
0a	1[] Vietnam		ШМ	Пн	km		
0b	2[] Thailand		ШМ	Пн	km		
0c	3[_] Cambodia Loc1		ШМ	Цн	km		
0d	4[_] Cambodia Loc2		ШМ	ЦН	km		
l0e	5[_] Cambodia Loc3		ШМ	Цн	km		1
10f	6[] Cambodia Loc4		ШМ	Цн	km		
10g	7[] Cambodia Loc5		ШМ	Цн	km		
11a	Do you sell (to a market or house) on the same day that you purchase poul	trv? 1[]	Always	; 2[]	Sometimes	0[] Never	·
11b	What do you do with poultry that you are unable to sell during the day?						
110	1 [] bring home 2 [] send them to sloughter						
	2 ] bring to other medicity >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	11c Where?					
	3 Dring to other markets >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	11d Where?					
	4 [] bring them back to other farms >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	11e Where?					
	5 [] other >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	11f Where?					
Purc	chasing animals						
12a	Do you purchase poultry in Vietnam? 1[] Yes 0[] No 14a At	what weight do you p	ourchas	e CHICK	ENS?	k	g
120 13a	Do you sell poultry to Vietnam? 1 Yes 0 No 14b At	what weight do you p you purchase dead	animals	2	) 1[]Yes		g
13b	Do you sell poultry to Thailand? 1[] Yes 0[] No 15b Do	you purchase sick a	nimals?	,	1[] Yes	0[]No	
	16 Are there any other purchasing criteria?	Please explain:					
	To file there any other parenaoing enteria.						
Seas	sonality in poultry trading activities						
17. V	Which months are peak seasons (I.e., seasons when you sell more than the	normal amount of po	ultry)?				
	Month Maximum # (or range) of Chickens and Du	cks sold during this	month				
	a Chickens:	Ducks:		<u> </u>	_		
	b Chickens:	Ducks:			_		
	c Chickens:	Ducks:					
	d Chickens:	Ducks:			1		
10	8 Do vou have a mobile phone number?						

ID CODE: 1\_

### H5N1 Survey of Middlemen

Page 4

Sketch poultry movement of subject